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INTRODUCTION

1.1 Purpose
The purpose of the Town’s Fraud Plan is to communicate:
•
•

•
•

The Town has zero tolerance for fraud, corruption and misconduct.
The Town’s commitment to:
- providing the highest levels of scrutiny and controls to mitigate the risk of fraud
prevent fraud, corruption and misconduct; thereby enabling the community and all
stakeholders have confidence in the integrity of decision making;
- transparency, probity and accountability in decision-making processes;
The steps the Town has taken to implement the recommendations of the Office of the Auditor
General Audit report dated August 2019.
The approach the Town takes to prevent, detect, respond and monitor fraud or corrupt
activities.

1.2 Scope
The Town’s Fraud Plan provides a framework that enables all fraud-related incidents to be handled,
and if necessary investigated, in a systematic and efficient manner. In addition, it extends to an
operational fraud risk register. The register identifies fraud risks across the organisation and controls
to mitigate these risks. These tools assist in managing fraud to enable the Town to act in an
appropriate and lawful manner within a risk-conscious culture.
The Town’s Fraud Plan is a vital tool that contributes towards achieving community aspirations of good
leadership and governance.
The Fraud Plan applies to:
•
•
•
•

Elected members;
CEO;
All employees, contractors and consultants (including, but not limited to, those engaged by
an agency or people on secondment); and
Volunteers.

The Town minimises opportunities for fraud, corruption and misconduct by applying Australian
Standard AS 8001-2008 on Fraud and Corruption Control.
Essential elements of a strong fraud framework are:

Planning

Prevention

Detection

Response

184

Source: Fraud and Corruption Control Victorian Auditor-General’s Report, March 2018,
https://www.audit.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/2018-03/20180328-Fraud-and-Corruption.pdf

1.3 Legislation
The framework that regulates or guides fraud, corruption and misconduct matters in local
government can be found in legislation and Standards:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995
Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 2003
Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
State Records Act 2000
Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996
Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996
Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
Local Government (Rules of Conduct) Regulations 2007
Australian Standard 31000:2008 Risk Management Guidelines
Australian Standard 8001:2008 Fraud and Corruption Control

FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND MISCONDUCT

2.1 Reasons for increase in fraudulent activities
•

The objective to increase efficiencies can result in reducing employee numbers. This can
have a knock-on effect of limiting adherence to internal controls or effective risk
management.
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•

Rapidly changing environments that fail to manage emerging risks effectively, including the
risks presented when transitioning from manual to digital systems.

•

Increased reliance on digital systems provides opportunities for cyber hacking where
moneys can be moved across various accounts making it impossible to follow an audit trail.

•

Manual systems rely on human intervention to maintain audit trails – this could be open to
abuse.

•

Rapid changes in pace for businesses and the inability to keep up with the workload and
pressures of the job.

•

Disenfranchised employees with a motive/incentive to commit fraud, eg, gambling debt,
financial hardships.

2.2 Fraud
“Dishonest activity causing actual or potential financial loss to any person or entity including theft of
moneys or other property by employees or persons external to the entity and where deception is used
at the time, immediately before or immediately following the activity. This also includes the
deliberate falsification, concealment, destruction or use of falsified documentation used or intended
for use for a normal business purpose or the improper use of information or position for personal
financial benefit.
The theft of property belonging to an entity by a person or persons internal to the entity but where
deception is not used is also considered ‘fraud’ for the purposes of AS8001:2008.”

2.3 Corruption
“Dishonest activity in which a director, executive, manager, employee or contractor of an entity acts
contrary to the interests of the entity and abuses his/her position of trust in order to achieve some
personal gain or advantage for him or herself or for another person or entity. The concept of
‘corruption’ can also involve corrupt conduct by the entity, or a person purporting to act on behalf of
and in the interests of the entity, in order to secure some form of improper advantage for the entity
either directly or indirectly.”
Under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003, persons can make disclosures about corrupt or
improper conduct and detrimental action in relation to the activities and functions of a local
government. The Act affords protections to any person who wishes to make a disclosure. The Town
of Mosman Park Public Interest Disclosure Procedure outlines how the Town meets its obligations
under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003.

2.4 Secret commission (bribes)
Australian Standard 8001:2008 defines “secret commission” as:
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“A payment in money or in kind which will or is intended to cause a person to act in a way that is
contrary to the interests of his or her principal or employer, is contrary to the principal’s or
employer’s policy on a given issue or is against the public interest. Secret commissions, by definition,
will typically be paid without the knowledge or express or implicit agreement of the principal or
employer and include payments intended to influence the outcome of a specific action or event as
well as the actions generally over a period of time”

2.5 Serious misconduct
Under the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 2003, serious misconduct refers only to corrupt or
criminal conduct described in s.4(a), (b) and (c) of the Act, which occurs when a public officer:
(a) acts corruptly or corruptly fails to act while performing their duties; or
(b) corruptly takes advantage of their position for the benefit of any person; or
(c) commits an offence which carries a penalty of 2 or more years imprisonment. 2

2.6 Minor misconduct
Under the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 2003, minor misconduct is defined in s.4(d) of the
Act and occurs if a public officer engages in conduct that is significant enough that it could
reasonably lead to termination of the officer’s employment if proved. Minor misconduct occurs if a
public officer engages in conduct that:
(a) adversely affects the honest or impartial performance of the functions of a public authority
or public officer, whether or not the public officer was acting in their public officer capacity
at the time of engaging in the conduct;
(b) involves the performance of functions in a manner that is not honest or impartial;
(c) involves a breach of the trust placed in the public officer; or
(d) involves the misuse of information or material that is in connection with their functions as a
public officer, whether the misuse is for the benefit of the public officer or the benefit or
detriment of another person; and
(e) constitutes, or could constitute, a disciplinary offence providing reasonable grounds for
termination of a person’s office or employment.
COMMITMENT TO CONTROLLING RISKS OF FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND MISCONDUCT
The Town minimises the incidence of fraud, corruption and misconduct through an integrated
organisation wide fraud risk management approach, the main features of which include:
•
•

a regular program of identifying and prioritising fraud risk management; and
developing, implementing, and regularly reviewing strategies to prevent and detect
fraud, corruption and misconduct.
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To achieve this, the Town will:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

develop an operational fraud risk register to identify risks, monitor and report how
they are being managed;
regularly review the Town’s Fraud, Corruption and Misconduct Control Plan;
encourage and promote professional and ethical practices for elected members and
employees;
develop and implement fraud, corruption and misconduct reporting and decisionmaking processes;
use all available avenues to recover funds or other property lost through fraudulent
activity;
instigate appropriate responses, including prosecutions, for any incidences of fraud,
corruption and misconduct;
implement disciplinary action as detailed in the Town’s Code of Conduct;
review operations to test the effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls;
identify planning and resource requirements to implement the Fraud, Corruption and
Misconduct Control Plan;
develop and implement fraud, corruption and misconduct prevention methods (e.g.
background checks, training, segregation of duties, continuous monitoring and review
of transactions);
develop and implement fraud, corruption and misconduct detection methods (e.g.
fraud detection controls, internal controls, implementation of controls and
investigating reports of fraud and corruption); and
develop and implement response procedures (i.e. categorise the incident, confirm,
conduct investigation, undertake review, manage, and contain).

3.1 Risk appetite for fraud, corruption, and misconduct
The Town has zero tolerance for fraud, corruption, and misconduct.

3.2 Code of Conduct
The Town’s Code of Conduct applies to all elected members, committee members and employees. It
imposes a responsibility not to commit fraud or act corruptly, to actively prevent and detect
potential fraud, and to immediately report any evidence of corrupt or fraudulent activity. Penalties
for fraudulent or corrupt behaviour may be a disciplinary process, dismissal of employees or criminal
charges.
The Code of Conduct sets out standards of behaviour the Town expects from elected members,
committee members and employees.

3.3 Policies
The Town’s Risk Management Policy guides the development of organisational wide capabilities to
effectively manage risk. The policy details how to identify and assess significant risks and ensure
appropriate treatments are developed and implemented.
The Town’s Procurement Policy details elements of a procurement culture that promotes and
demonstrates high stands of probity.
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3.4 Training
To raise awareness of fraud, corruption and misconduct, the Town conducts or facilitates regular fraud
awareness training for all elected members, the CEO and employees.
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Role
Chief Executive Officer

•
•
•
•
•
•

Responsibility
Overall accountability for effectively managing the Town’s fraud,
corruption and misconduct operational risks;
Reporting to Council on management of fraud, corruption and
misconduct risks; and
Ensure accountability and transparency in the management of fraud,
corruption and misconduct risks, except where matters can lawfully
be kept confidential;
Reporting suspected fraud to the necessary authorities, including
discharging statutory reporting obligations;
Commencing civil and/or criminal proceedings in matters involving
allegations of fraud or corruption;
Ensuring the Town’s insurers are given notice of claims involving
fraud or corruption.

Council

• Effectively manage the Town’s strategic risks including fraud,
corruption and misconduct risks;
• Oversight of the Town’s Risk Management Plan including the Fraud,
Corruption and Misconduct Control Plan.

Audit Committee

• Monitor, review and make recommendations to Council on all risk
related matters including management of fraud, corruption and
misconduct risks.

Senior Governance Officer

• Develop, implement and review the Fraud, Corruption and
Misconduct Control Plan every two years;
• Manage the fraud operational risk register and development of risk
treatment action plans;
• Collaborate with others to monitor and report on the effectiveness of
internal controls to manage fraud risks and the requirement for an
internal audit;
• Manage delivery of an annual fraud awareness training program for
elected members and staff;
• Develop, implement and maintain a Fraud, Corruption and
Misconduct Incident Register;
• Provide advice on fraud, corruption and misconduct matters;
• Manage the complaints and investigation procedures;
• Develop and implement fraud, corruption and misconduct policies
and procedures;
• Manage and maintain all statutory registers;
• Prepare quarterly reports to the Audit Committee/Council on fraud,
corruption and misconduct risk management.
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Role
Leaders

Responsibility
• Foster an organisational culture that supports good governance,
ethics, integrity, accountability and leadership;
• Assist in implementing strong internal controls to prevent fraud,
corruption and misconduct;
• Promote to staff the importance of fraud awareness training;
• Ensure there is a sound understanding of the importance of declaring
conflicts of interest and when such declarations should be
considered; and
• Be aware of signals or triggers that may suggest opportunities or
suspicions for fraud.

Manager People and
Culture

• Ensure adequate background checks are carried out when vetting
potential new staff;
• Ensure induction training for all staff extends to fraud awareness
training; and
• Implement appropriate disciplinary measures for employees in
accordance with the Town’s Grievance Management Procedure, Fair
Treatment Procedure and Discipline Procedure

All Elected Members and
Employees

• Adhere to the Town’s Code of Conduct;
• Adhere to all Council policies, including those relating to fraud,
corruption and misconduct;
• Declare conflicts of interest and gifts – real or perceived; and
• Attend relevant training to increase awareness of fraud, corruption
and misconduct obligations.

FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND MISCONDUCT PREVENTION

4.1 Risk Assessment
Fraud risks are identified in the operational fraud risk register. Assessment of these risks is done in
accordance with the risk management framework provided in the Town’s Risk Management Policy.
The operational fraud risk register is reviewed every year in conjunction with the annual training
program. The Fraud, Corruption and Misconduct and Control plan is reviewed every 2 years
Fraud risk management is reported quarterly to the Town’s Audit Committee.

4.2 Implementing and maintaining an appropriate organisational culture
All employees receive the following training:
•
•

Attend any induction training programs that are relevant to their roles and extend to
training to raise awareness of the Town’s expectations with regard to fraud and misconduct,
ethical decision-making and procurement policy and procedures;
Annual refresher course/questionnaire/training;
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•

Information about what’s on the Town’s intranet, website and promapping portal which
includes the most recent versions of policies and procedures; and

4.3 Maintaining a strong internal control system and strong internal control culture
The Town strives to maintain robust internal controls to mitigate fraud risks. These include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Developing, implementing and regularly reviewing a Fraud, Corruption and Misconduct and
Control Plan;
Developing an operational fraud risk register and effectively managing identified risks;
Maintaining a Fraud Incident Register;
Implementing an organisational structure with clear reporting channels and accountabilities;
Reviewing delegations and subdelegations annually;
Training programs for elected members and employees including: obligations to declare all
real or perceived conflicts of interest and gifts; fraud awareness; policies and procedures
relevant to fraud risk;
Conducting pre-employment screening of potential employees including police clearances,
evidence of qualifications, working rights, licenses including working-with-children checks;
Where possible, rotating roles where opportunity for fraud is a high risk;
Conducting appropriate checks and screening of contractors/providers who provide services
to the Town;
Developing a Public Interest Disclosure Procedure;
Maintaining a comprehensive asset register;
Where resourcing allows, segregating:
- purchasing, receipting of goods and accounts payable functions;
- duties to write-off assets and disposal of the asset;
Ensuring all supporting documents are attached for any reimbursements/expense claims and
approved by manager;
Reconciling credit card purchases monthly; and
Developing and implementing a comprehensive procurement framework

FRAUD DETECTION/INVESTIGATION
Warning signs should not be ignored. Awareness of these can mitigate the possibility of a potentially
fraudulent activity taking place. Warning signs can be in the form of unexpected resignations,
excessive spending, drawers locked unnecessarily, or unreconciled accounts.
An investigation where fraud is suspected or reported will be initiated internally or externally
depending on the circumstances. The CEO will determine what type of investigation is to be
conducted.
Consideration is given to areas where an internal audit may be prudent, over and above audits done
by the Office of the Auditor General carries out. The CEO will approve all and any internal audits.
FRAUD REPORTING CHECKLIST
The Town’s Code of Conduct provides that every elected member, committee member, and
employee has a responsibility not to engage in fraudulent, corrupt activity, and to immediately
report any such activity.
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Confidentiality/anonymity is to be maintained throughout the reporting process. If necessary, the
veracity of the reporting will be confirmed through an independent investigation.
The following fraud reporting checklist provides steps to be taken if a report of alleged fraud is
made:
Step

Actioned

Discloser to maintain confidentiality to protect identity(s) and to
prevent destruction of evidence
Immediately inform supervisor/manager of suspicion or instance of
fraud. If not appropriate to inform supervisor/manager, inform
either the CEO or Manager People and Culture or Senior Governance
Officer
Document all information required in the Fraud and Corruption
Incident Register (refer c.5.4 of the Town’s Fraud, Corruption and
Misconduct Control Plan)
Collect all evidence related to the alleged suspicion/activity, eg,
invoices, contracts, purchase orders, cheques, data stored on
computer(s)
Store all evidence securely
Prepare an inventory of each item acquired including the date, time,
location, where it’s stored
CEO to determine if accused person is to be removed from the role,
or access to information limited, whilst an investigation is
undertaken
Conduct investigation ensuring natural justice is given to accused
person
CEO to consider recommendations of investigation and take steps to
implement

5.1 Internal reporting
Suspicions or instances of fraudulent behaviour or activities are to be reported in the first instance
to an employee’s supervisor or manager. Once received, the matter is to be escalated to the Senior
Governance Officer for further action.
If a report involves an employee’s supervisor, manager or the Senior Governance Officer, or, if a
complaint was not acted upon once reported, the employee is to report the matter directly to the
CEO, or the Manager People and Culture, or the Senior Governance Officer.
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5.2 External reporting
The Town’s external reporting channels include:
•
•
•

Corruption and Crime Commission (CCC)
Public Sector Commission (PSC)
West Australian Police Service

Under the Corruption Crime and Misconduct Act 2003, the CCC deals with matters alleging serious
misconduct. The PSC deals with matters alleging minor misconduct. The Act stipulates the CEO has
an obligation to notify the:
•

CCC in writing, of any suspected or any instances of concerns regarding a serious misconduct
as soon as is reasonably practicable after the CEO became aware of the matter; and

•

PSC as soon as practicable, in writing, if the CEO suspects on reasonable grounds that a
minor misconduct has occurred.

5.3 Public Interest Disclosure/whistleblower protection
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003, requires the Town to appoint a Public Interest Disclosure
Officer (PID Officer), to whom disclosures made under the Act can be properly made. The Town’s PID
Officers are the Senior Governance Officer and Manager People and Culture.
The Act facilitates the disclosure of public interest information by anyone who believes that a
government official or agency is not acting in the public interest. It provides protections to people
who make disclosures.
The Town’s Public Interest Disclosure Procedure provides detailed Information about public interest
disclosures, including how they can be made.

5.4 Fraud and corruption incident register
The Fraud and Corruption Incident Register includes the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Date and time of incident;
Date and time of report;
Details of the fraud allegation including whether it is considered the alleged act is ongoing;
Parties responsible for allegedly committing the fraudulent act;
Parties who may have knowledge of the alleged act or other alleged conspirators;
Details of all witnesses;
Estimated value of loss/potential loss, including collateral losses (eg damage to the
reputation/brand); and
Action taken following disclosure of the incident

As part of the reporting obligations for fraud, corruption and misconduct, findings (if any) are
confidentially reported every quarter by the CEO to the Audit Committee.

27
13

REVIEW OF FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND MISCONDUCT CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS
The operational fraud risk register is reviewed every year in conjunction with the annual training
program.
The Fraud, Corruption and Misconduct and Control plan is reviewed every 2 years

6.1 Contact information
Town of Mosman Park
'Memorial Park'
Cnr Bay View Terrace and Memorial Drive
Mosman Park WA 6012
or
Post Office Box 3
Mosman Park WA 6912
Town of Mosman Park
Senior Governance Officer
Ph 9383 6600
Town of Mosman Park
Manager People and Culture
Ph 9383 6600
DEFINITIONS
CEO means Chief Executive Officer of the Town of Mosman Park
Elected members means elected members of the Council of the Town of Mosman Park
Fraud Plan means Fraud, Corruption and Misconduct Control Plan
Town means Town of Mosman Park
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6.3
Attachment 1 – Audit Log

Outstanding
Year
Report Type
2015
Interim Audit Report
Officer Responsible
Target Date
ICT Coordinator
Dec-17
Issues raised
IT Controls - We discussed with the IT/GIS Officer about the
general controls operating at your computer installation.
Generally, the controls appear to be satisfactory. However,
the following matter was noted and is brought to your
attention: We noted that whilst there are actual procedures
for data backup and disaster recovers in place, the Town does
not have a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to
provide continuity of data processing operations in the event
of a major disaster or business disruption. Therefore, it does
not have assurance it can recover its computer system
following a disaster or disruption in data processing
capability.
Management Response
Administration believed that certain documented
undertakings contained within the Hosted Managed Service
Agreement with Civica in relation to service level
agreements, specific requirements for software support
services and data backup obligations ensured Council’s
interests were fully and properly protected in relation to loss
of data and business continuity.
The auditor now recommends that Council develop a
complete disaster recovery plan covering all aspects of
disaster recovery and business continuity and administration
will now develop a plan in accordance with that
recommendation and this plan will be presented to Council
for adoption later in 2015.

Meeting & Date
OCM Number
Auditor/Consultant
OCM -26/05/2015
OCM-101-2015
Macri Partners
Revised Target Date
% Complete
Date Completed
Dec-20
75%
Auditor’s Recommendation
We recommend that the Town develop a disaster recovery plan as soon as possible and the plan should
be tested periodically and updated as changes occur. This will ensure the uninterrupted availability of all
key business resources required to support essential (or critical) business activities.

Action Taken
A draft business continuity plan was prepared by LGIS mid 2016. It was noted that this did not include a
disaster recovery plan. Finalisation of the document has been on hold until the development and
implementation of an IT Infrastructure plan. The new hosting/infrastructure implementation was
completed June 2018. The Town migrated all services and data away from Civica to an on premise
environment, which has invalidated any previous disaster recovery procedure progress. Now that the
migration is complete, work on both a disaster recovery plan (DRP) and an IT strategy has been reestablished. The actual recovery capability of the business has improved to sub-1 hour for complete
restoration of failed systems in the event of total system loss. Supporting documentation will be
provided by the managed services provider supporting the new infrastructure. There has been a slight
delay in development of the DRP as it was considered the development of an ICT Strategy Plan was a
priority. The DRP will be worked on in the new financial year due to resourcing and other priority
projects. The Town does have appropriate Disaster Recovery coverage, it’s the documentation that’s
missing. The formal DRP documents is currently not in place. However, we have an ability to run our
systems from TechBrain Data Centre, should the situation arise. The DRP document will be created and
tentative date of completion in 6 months.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log

Current
Year
Report Type
2020
Interim Audit Report
Officer
Target Date
Manager Finance
Oct-20
Issues raised
Unrecognised assets (significant) - The Town has not recognised land
and building assets* in which it has a 25% registered proprietorship in
its financial statements.
*This is in reference to the land and buildings at 1 Gibney Street
Cottesloe, known as the Wearne Hostel.

Management Response
The Town will be seeking independent advice before making changes to
our existing exclusion approach to ensure veracity.

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
Auditor/Consultant
TBC
Office of the Auditor General
% Complete
Date Completed
100%
Oct-20
Auditor’s Recommendation
1. The Town to recognise retrospectively its share of interest in the Property
as a Prior Year Adjustment in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
2. The Town should not recognise its share of interest in any improvements or
additions to the Property since the date of signing of the Original Lease for the
year ended 30 June 2020 and prior years.
3. The Town in conjunction with the other 3 LGE undertake one valuation for
the Property at 30 June 2020 and use this valuation as the basis for the value
to be adopted in their respective financial statements for the financial year
ended 30 June 2020
4. The Town in conjunction with the other 3 LGE to seek accounting advice to
determine whether the arrangement is a service concession arrangement
under AASB 1059 for the financial year 2020-21 and act accordingly
Action Taken

An external review has been completed on the recommendation to
bring the Town’s share of the Wearne Hostel (25%) into the Town’s
financial statements. The Town’s share will now be included in the final
2019/20 financial statements.

30

Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
2020
Officer Responsible
Senior Accountant

Report Type
Interim Audit Report
Target Date
Jun-20

Issues raised
Deficiencies in Reconciliations (significant)

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete
100%

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed
Jun-20

Auditor’s Recommendation
Reconciliations should be prepared timely and independently reviewed with
evidence of preparation and review being documented.
The reconciliations should be properly kept for accountability and to comply
with section 6.5 of the Local Government Act 1995.

Management Response
The reconciliation process is being reviewed to ensure all of the
mentioned deficiencies will not occur moving forward.

Action Taken
The completion of timely reconciliations including independent reviews is now
actively completed and evident through the Town’s financial month end
process.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
Report Type
2020
Interim Audit Report
Officer Responsible
Target Date
Manager Finance
Jun-20
Issues raised
Segregation of Duties over Procurement (significant)

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
Auditor/Consultant
TBC
Office of the Auditor General
% Complete
Date Completed
100%
Jun-20
Auditor’s Recommendation
The Town should review its current procurement processes by placing
independent reviews to ensure appropriate segregation of duties

Management Response
The new processes implemented since the adoption of the new
Procurement Policy (at the May OCM) should meet these segregation
of duties requirements.

Action Taken
The segregation of duties relating to the Town’s procurement process has
now been reviewed, upon the rollout of the new procurement policy which
was completed after the interim audit.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
Report Type
2020
Interim Audit Report
Officer Responsible
Target Date
ICT Coordinator
Jun-20
Issues raised
Unrestricted User Access (significant)

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete
100%

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed
Jun-20

Auditor’s Recommendation
The Town should obtain a system user profile/access report to ascertain each
user's access rights to each financial system module and restrict staff's access
where appropriate.
Full access (i.e. edit and read) should be restricted to a small number of
authorised officers to ensure the integrity of the system and data. Any other
senior officers who are involved in the review process of the system should be
granted read only access.

Management Response
The issues raised in the Audit have been rectified, the ongoing process
is being reviewed to ensure controls are in place to stop this from
reoccurring.

Action Taken
The user access issues were rectified immediately. The Town’s ICT
Coordinator has now set up an ongoing process to ensure these are reviewed
moving forward.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
2020
Officer Responsible
Manager People & Culture (Payroll)

Report Type
Interim Audit Report
Target Date
Dec-20

Manager Finance (PPE)
Issues raised
Policies on Payroll and Property, Plant and Equipment (moderate)

Management Response
The policies mentioned will be reviewed to ensure they reflect the
Town's existing processes.

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed

Auditor’s Recommendation
The Town should review its current policies and procedures for
comprehensiveness and consistency. Updates to these policies and
procedures should be communicated to all employees on a timely basis.

Action Taken
The Town’s property, plant & equipment (PPE) policy, as well as the payroll
policy were reviewed by the OAG, and questions raised about how well these
portray existing processes. These policies will be reviewed by the relevant
officers and changes recommended accordingly, in line with current process.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
2020
Officer Responsible

Report Type
Interim Audit Report
Target Date

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target
Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed

Senior Accountant
Dec-20
Issues raised
Review of Supplier Master File (moderate)

50%
Auditor’s Recommendation
Management should perform a periodic review of the supplier master file to
remove inactive, old, unused or duplicate records.

Management Response
The supplier master file review is in progress. We will introduce a
periodic review moving forward to ensure this does not happen again.

Action Taken
The Town’s supplier master file review identified several duplicated and
inactive suppliers. These have now been reviewed and are being updated.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
2020
Officer Responsible
Manager People & Culture

Report Type
Interim Audit Report
Target Date
Jun-20

Rates & Revenue Officer
Issues raised
Independent Review of Daily Cash Receipt and Banking Deposit Listing
(moderate)

Management Response
This process is now in place.

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete
100%

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed
Jun-20

Auditor’s Recommendation
The Town should ensure the daily cash receipt and banking deposit listing are
signed by a second employee to evidence independent review and cash
counting.

Action Taken
A second employee is now completing an independent review and count of
the daily cash receipts and bank deposit listing to reduce the identified risk of
theft, fraud and error going undetected.
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Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
Report Type
2020
Interim Audit Report
Officer Responsible
Target Date
Manager Finance
Jun-21
Issues raised
Inadequate Rates Debtor Follow-up Process (moderate)

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed

Auditor’s Recommendation
Management should take appropriate action to recover long outstanding
debts without delay and ensure the all debts are recovered within the credit
period offered.
Management should also review the existing allowance for impairment of
debts and consider the adequacy of these balances for financial reporting at
year end.

Management Response
Noted. The Debt policy has since been reviewed and the recovery of
debts will be a key focus for the finance team moving forward.

Action Taken
The Town’s debt recovery policy has since been reviewed and updated, and
the recovery of rates debt is now a key focus for the finance team.

37

Attachment 1 – Audit Log
Year
Report Type
2020
Interim Audit Report
Officer Responsible
Target Date
Senior Accountant
Jun-21
Issues raised
Asset Stocktake not Undertaken (moderate)

Meeting & Date
OCM – 24/11/2020
Revised Target Date

OCM Number
TBC
% Complete

Auditor/Consultant
Office of the Auditor General
Date Completed

Management Response
The Town will look to complete the stocktake process in line with the
asset valuation reviews.

Action Taken
The Town will generate a new process for the completion of an asset
stocktake.

Auditor’s Recommendation
The Town should ensure that periodic stocktakes are carried out to confirm
the existence of assets.
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Auditor General’s overview
This report contains the findings from our audit on how 3 large public
entities manage their obligations under the Working with Children
(Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004. It follows our October 2019 audit
on how the Department of Communities administers the Working with
Children Check process.
Working with Children Checks are an important part of every
organisation’s suite of controls to protect the children in their care. The
public has every right to expect that public sector entities demonstrate the highest standards
in implementing these controls to help keep children safe.
We found all the entities we audited understand the need for Working with Children Checks,
and they had some systems in place to administer their obligations. However, we found gaps
in processes, errors in record keeping, and shortcomings in performance monitoring. These
gaps increase the risk that entities may not be able to ensure everyone who needs a
Working with Children card, has one.
In this report, we have opted to de-identify the findings to allow us to progress the audit,
while reducing pressure on agencies at the frontline of the State’s COVID-19 response. We
have provided each entity with detailed findings relevant to their organisation, so they are
aware of the gaps in their systems and can take appropriate action. Entities’ audit
committees should monitor the timely implementation of those actions and my Office may
conduct a follow-up audit in due course.
The issues we found serve as timely reminders. I encourage all organisations who work with
children, public sector or otherwise, to consider the findings in this report. All entities should
review their Working with Children control environment and where necessary implement the
recommendations. This will help to ensure organisations are meeting their obligations to help
keep children safe.
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Executive summary
Introduction
This audit follows on from our previous reports on how the Department of Communities
(Communities) manages the Working with Children Check process. 1 The audit assessed
whether the WA health system, the Department of Justice and the Department of Education
complied with their obligations to ensure everyone on their sites who needed a Working with
Children Card (Card) had one. Collectively, the entities had more than 80,000 staff and a
large number of volunteers, higher education students, and contractors engaged in childrelated work.
The recommendations in this report are generally applicable across the public sector and to
any other organisations where individuals work with children, and we encourage all entities to
assess their own practices against the matters raised in the report. We have de-identified the
findings in this report but have provided each entity with detailed findings to act on.

Background
The Working with Children Check is a compulsory screening strategy in Western Australia for
individuals who work with children. Under the Working with Children (Criminal Record
Checking) Act 2004 (Act), no one may engage in prescribed child-related work without a
valid Card, an active application, or an exemption. 2 This is an important control to help
organisations keep the children in their care safe.
Individuals apply for a Card through Communities, who assesses the application. In deciding
whether to issue a Card, Communities considers information such as whether an individual’s
criminal record and behaviour indicates they pose a risk to children. Communities can either
issue a Card, decline the application (called a negative notice) or issue an interim negative
notice while it conducts additional assessment.
Cards expire after 3 years, and individuals must renew their Card before it expires to keep
working with children. Communities continually monitors cardholders, and can revoke a Card
if it believes the individual poses a risk. If Communities revokes a Card, it notifies the
individual’s employer(s) as listed in the Communities database. As a result, it is important
that employers notify Communities when hiring employees for child-related work.
While it is an individual’s responsibility to apply for a Card, the Act also sets requirements for
employers. Section 22 of the Act outlines when not to employ people in child-related work.
For example:
•

if they do not have a valid Card or application in process

•

if they are aware the person has an interim negative notice or if the person has worked
for them for more than 5 days in a year without a Card.

To provide a safe environment for children, entities must be sure that all individuals working
with children are suitable (Figure 1). At a minimum, entities need to:
•

identify which positions require a Card under the Act

•

meet all the requirements of section 22 of the Act

1

OAG 2014 Report 15: Working with children checks and OAG 2019 Report 10: Working with Children Checks – Follow up

The Act provides a list of child-related work categories, as well as exemptions – see OAG 2019 Report 10: Working with Children
Checks – Follow up. Appendix 1
2
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•

ensure all students over 18, contractors and volunteers working with children on site
have valid Cards

•

check with Communities that Cards of new employees are still valid

•

notify Communities when hiring new employees, so Communities can notify them if it
revokes an employee’s Card

•

maintain accurate and complete records of Cards and applications for all individuals on
site to meet the requirements of section 42 of the Act. Section 42 requires employers to
provide Communities with evidence that they have complied with the Act, if requested.

Source: OAG

Figure 1: Examples of individuals within an entity that may need a Card.

Communities provides guidance on working with children obligations and templates for
recordkeeping, which entities and individuals can access through Communities’ website.
Entities can check the validity of existing Cards or the status of applications before
individuals start work using an individual’s surname and either the application or Card
number, and also notify Communities of any change in employees.

Audit conclusion
None of the 3 entities we audited fully complied with their Card obligations and they could not
be sure that everyone who needs a Card, has one. All 3 entities understood the need for
Cards, but control weaknesses create the risk that unsuitable individuals could work with
children.
All the entities had policies requiring individuals working with children who needed a Card, to
have one. However, these policies were not always followed. Further, practices across
operational areas varied in effectiveness, and information was often decentralised. As a
result, entities did not have a complete understanding of whether everyone working with
children has a Card.
When individuals start working with children, the audited entities do not always check that
Cards are valid or inform Communities of these new hires. This means entities may not be
made aware when Communities revokes a Card and there is a risk that entities could allow
unsuitable employees to work with children.
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Findings
A lack of corporate direction and monitoring has
contributed to inconsistent management of obligations
The 3 audited entities did not consistently manage their records to meet their Card
obligations. For example, we found 1 entity had not identified the positions that need a Card,
some operational areas did not understand what information needed to be recorded, and all
entities’ records were incomplete and contained errors. These gaps in controls mean that
entities cannot be sure all individuals who need a card have one.

Card recording is inconsistent
All 3 entities recorded Card details. Each took a different approach:
•

a centralised database of all individuals onsite, updated by operational areas, that
directly checks the Card status of employees against the Communities database. This
provides a good, consistent approach for all individuals

•

a centralised database of employees only that is updated by a dedicated area within
the entity. Cards of relevant tertiary student placements, volunteers and contractors are
recorded in decentralised spreadsheets maintained by individual operational areas. As
a result, approaches for tertiary students, volunteers and contractors can vary

•

decentralised spreadsheets for all individuals on site maintained by individual
operational areas. As a result, approaches to recording information can vary.

Without consistent recording of key information, entities cannot be sure their records meet
their obligations, which increases the risk of unsuitable individuals working with children. In
Case study 1, we found an entity inconsistently recorded Card information for students,
contractors and volunteers. This entity did not capture information for these Cards in a
central system and had not provided direction to their operational areas on what to record.
As a result, while some areas had detailed records, others did not.
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Case study 1: varying practices within a single entity
At 1 entity we reviewed a large operational area to see how well 8 of its business units recorded
tertiary student, contractor and volunteer Card information. We found varying practices between the
business units, with 4 units capturing detailed information, 2 units sighted Cards but did not record
information, 1 took copies of Cards but did not create a register, and 1 did not keep records (Figure
2). The entity told us that the universities process all tertiary students through a database that
requires students to have Cards. However, we could not find evidence entity staff checked this
system. As a result, 3 of the business units cannot be sure that all individuals working on site have
valid Cards.
Number of
business units
Appropriate
details recorded

4

Records capture Card number, name and expiry date.

2

Records do not record Card number or expiry date,
however, they do note staff sighted a Card.

1

Copies of Cards taken, but no searchable records
created.

1

No information recorded.

Limited details
recorded

No tracking

Approaches to capturing Card information

Source: OAG based on entity data

Figure 2: Varying business unit approaches to recording Card information within 1 entity.

Incomplete and incorrect records prevent entities from knowing if all
employees have a Card
Not all central records identify employee positions that require a Card. We found 1 entity
relied on its operational areas to identify these positions, as it did not have a central listing,
while the other 2 entities had flagged positions that needed a Card within their HR systems.
Without a central listing of positions, entities cannot be certain everyone who needs a Card
has one.
Card record systems all had missing or incorrect information. All entities’ record systems had
fields for essential Card information for employees, including:
•

name

•

date of birth

•

Card number

•

Card expiry date.

However, we found 5,783 (6.9%) of the 83,713 records had errors or gaps. These included
incorrect Card numbers, alternate spelling of surnames and incorrect expiry dates (Figure 3).
In 412 cases, the entities’ records showed Cards as valid for longer than they actually were.
These issues would prevent entities from checking if Cards were valid, or in some cases,
knowing when a Card has or is about to expire.
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Issues identified in entities’ records

Number of records
with issue*

Card number not recorded

80

Card number assigned to multiple individuals in the entity’s records

6

Card number was not a real Card number

238

Surname in entities’ record spelt differently to Communities’ record

2,903

Date of birth different to Communities’ records

8

Expiry date different to Communities’ records

2,549

(* 1 record had multiple errors)
Source: OAG

Figure 3: Missing or incorrect employee information in the 3 entities’ records.

While most employees had valid Cards, we found employees in all 3 entities whose Cards
had expired. We did not find any employees working with children with a negative notice or
an interim negative notice. We could match 80,486 records to Communities’ database at a
point in time and found 80,196 (99%) employees had valid Cards. 3
For those 290 Cards that had expired, the majority had been expired for more than 5 days
and more than half had been expired for more than 90 days (Figure 4). Entities would not
have met their obligations under section 22 of the Act if they allowed these individuals to
work with children for more than 5 days in a year. We have provided a list of these
employees to each relevant entity, for follow-up purposes.

Number of employees

160

136

140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

42

44
28

19
1 to 5

6 to 30

31 to 60

61 to 90

15
91 to 120

Days since Card expired

6
121 to 999

1,000 or
more

Source: OAG

Figure 4: Expired Cards across all 3 entities, at 4 November 2019. 4

Executive teams do not adequately monitor how well their entities manage
Cards
Entities do not have a good understanding of how well they manage Card obligations. None
of the executive teams at the 3 entities received detailed information on how Card obligations
were met across their operations. One entity’s executive team did not receive any reports on
3

Comparing entity records to a snapshot of the Communities Working With Children database from 4 November 2019

4

This table excludes employees who were on leave on 4 November 2019, as they were not working with children on that day
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how well Cards were managed. The other 2 entities only provided their executive team with
the total number of expired Cards, without information on how long Cards had been expired
or a breakdown by operational areas. Periodic performance monitoring by executive teams is
an effective way for entities with diversified and decentralised operations, like the 3 we
audited, to identify and address systemic compliance issues.
In the 2 entities with centralised data systems, operational areas receive reports when
employee Cards expire or are due to expire. This helps these operational areas proactively
manage compliance.

Entities may not know when Cards have expired or been
revoked
Automated and manual processes to check Cards are not fully effective and increase the risk
that entities could allow unsuitable individuals to work with children. We found:
•

at the entity with automated Card checks against the Communities database, these
checks were not always effective. Staff did not add all individuals to the record system
and as a result, the automated process could not check all Cards. This automated
system could provide the entity with an effective control. However, for it to be fully
effective, all individuals need to be entered

•

entities cannot be sure manual checks were done. The 2 entities that relied on manual
processes to check Cards against the Communities’ webpage did not capture if these
checks were performed, and we found no other evidence that they were.

Entities may not be notified when Cards are revoked by Communities, as they do not always
inform Communities of new hires. We checked entities’ Card records against the
Communities database for 5 operational areas, across the 3 audited entities. We matched
690 individuals and found the Communities database did not list the entity as an employer in
53 (7.7%) cases. These Cards were still valid, but Communities would not know to notify the
entities if it revoked the Card. As a result, entities would not be aware they are placing
children at risk if a Card is revoked by Communities.
We acknowledge, that during the audit, 1 of the operational areas improved its processes
and registered existing employees with Communities.

Some policies and procedures do not provide staff with
adequate guidance
Not all policies provided staff with clear guidance on how to manage Card obligations. We
found 1 entity did not have an up-to-date policy or procedures that align to the entity’s current
organisational structure. Instead, operational areas relied on old policies from 2010 that did
not provide guidance on which positions in the new structure needed a Card and referred
staff to non-functioning hyperlinks. Up-to-date policies and procedures help staff fulfil their
duties to manage Card obligations. The entity told us it is reviewing its policies and hopes to
complete this work in 2020.
While the other 2 entities had central policies, we found some staff were unaware of existing
policies. We interviewed staff who managed Cards and found some were not familiar with
their entity’s working with children policy. Entities should actively promote awareness of their
policies to reduce the risk of them not meeting their working with children obligations. We
note that 1 entity developed an online training package about their policy in February 2019,
which only 1.5% of staff had completed in the 10 months up to our audit.
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Recommendations
All public sector entities who work with children, including those not sampled in this audit,
should consider the findings in this report and implement the recommendations where
appropriate, by 31 December 2020. To ensure they manage their working with children
obligations, all entities should:
1. review their policies and procedures and communicate these to staff
2. ensure their Card records:
a. identify all positions that require a Card and ensure that all individuals in those
positions have a Card
b. capture sufficient information to track and monitor the Card status of all individuals,
including Card number, surname, expiry date and where necessary, date of birth.
c. are complete and accurate
3. ensure all Cards are valid by:
a. checking the Cards of all individuals against the Communities database, before they
start working with children
b. registering new employees with Communities
c. re-checking all Cards, at least once per year
4. monitor how they manage Card obligations through regular, detailed reporting on entity
compliance to executive.

Response from audited entities
The 3 entities we audited generally accepted our recommendations and confirmed where
relevant they would amend their policies, procedures and systems to improve Working with
Children controls.

51
Working with Children Checks – Managing Compliance | 9

Audit focus and scope
This audit assessed whether the entities within the WA health system, the Department of
Justice and the Department of Education complied with their working with children
obligations. We focused on the following criteria:
•

Have the entities identified all positions that require a Working with Children Card?

•

Do the entities ensure all positions that require a Working with Children Card have a
valid Card or application in process?

We reviewed the entities’ approaches to managing their Card obligations for all individuals
engaged in child-related work on their sites. This includes employees, as well as tertiary
students, contractors and volunteers.
During the audit we:
•

reviewed entity policies and procedures

•

reviewed entity Card recordkeeping systems

•

checked more than 83,000 entity records against a snapshot of the Department of
Communities’ database from 4 November 2019, to identify the number of individuals
working for audited entities who had valid Cards

•

interviewed key staff within the WA health system, the Department of Justice and the
Department of Education, across both central and operational areas.

This was a performance audit, conducted under section 18 of the Auditor General Act 2006,
in accordance with the Australian Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3500
Performance Engagements. We complied with the independence and other ethical
requirements related to assurance engagements. Performance audits focus primarily on the
effective management and operations of entity programs and activities. The approximate
cost of undertaking the audit and reporting was $464,830.
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Auditor General’s overview
The sustainable management of waste is an important issue for the
community. There are many examples across the world of the dire
consequences to human health and the environment when waste is
poorly managed. Community expectation regarding waste
management is high and there is a strong desire to understand how
State and local government (LG) entities manage waste, what goes in
each of our household bins and where our recyclable materials will
end up.
This audit assessed whether LG entities plan and deliver effective waste services to their
communities. We also assessed whether the State Government provided adequate support
to LG entities for local waste planning and service delivery. We last audited the State
Government’s role in waste management in 2016 in our report, Western Australian Waste
Strategy: Rethinking Waste.
The State Government’s Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy 2030 clearly
outlines the actions the government, industry and the community need to take to meet
community expectation. The strategy set ambitious targets, including recovering 65% of
municipal solid waste from households in the Perth and Peel regions and 50% in major
regional centres, by 2020. LG entities collect and process this waste stream, often with the
support of the private operators they contract.
While the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER) and the Waste
Authority have substantially improved their support to LG entities in the last 5 years, the
proportion of waste that is recycled in Western Australia has not changed, and the State’s
performance sits below the national average. High rates of contamination in recycling bins,
inconsistent and irregular waste education, limited local recycling infrastructure and markets
for recycled commodities, are issues that prevent wider adoption of better practice waste
management techniques. As a result, few LG entities are on track to meet the 2020 targets.
It is pleasing to see the many examples of better practice waste management from LG
entities, but only a handful were consistently using them. For example, organic material
typically accounts for half of household waste, and is therefore our single biggest opportunity
to recycle. Using green waste collected from households to produce mulch for community
parks and gardens, or composting food and garden organics to develop fertilisers, can
significantly increase waste recovery. In addition, separating and recycling bulk rubbish is
another simple way for LG entities to recover more waste and contribute to meeting the
State’s waste targets.
The audit found that local, regional and statewide waste planning is inadequate. Few LG
entities had waste plans but DWER has been working closely with entities to help them
develop individual plans. The Waste Authority flagged State infrastructure planning as
essential back in 2012, but little progress has been made. It remains a key initiative that
government, industry and the community need to progress to ensure waste truly becomes a
valued resource. Given recent international export bans on recyclable materials, the planning
and development of local recycling facilities within the state is becoming increasingly urgent
to help provide certainty to stakeholders, create opportunities for local recycling industries,
and protect our local environments and public health.
I encourage all LG entities to consider the findings in this report. Making a concerted effort to
use available practices to avoid and recover more waste is the key to continuing to improve
the State’s waste and recycling performance.
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Executive summary
Introduction
This audit assessed whether local government (LG) entities plan and deliver effective waste
management services to their communities.
We focused on LG waste management and progress towards achieving targets and
objectives set in the first Western Australian Waste Strategy: Creating the Right Environment
(Waste Strategy 2012) and subsequent Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy
2030 (Waste Strategy 2030). The audit also assessed State Government support for LG
entities and followed up on recommendations to State government entities from OAG’s
Western Australian Waste Strategy: Rethinking Waste audit completed in 2016.

Background
Waste management challenges
Poorly managed waste poses a threat to human health and the environment. However, if
managed well, it can become a valuable material that can be reused, reprocessed or
recycled. Solid waste is typically managed as 1 of 3 streams:
•

municipal solid waste (MSW or waste 1) – waste from households and public places
collected by LG entities or their contractors

•

commercial and industrial – waste originating from commercial and/or industrial
activities (e.g. metals, paper, cardboard, plastic, food organics, glass, timber)

•

construction and demolition – waste material generated from commercial, government
or residential building and demolition sites.

In 2017-18, Western Australian (WA) households produced over 1.5 million tonnes, or about
600 kilograms (kg) per person, of waste. 2 The amount of waste households generated
decreased by a reported 26 kg per person from 2014-15 to 2017-182, as did the amount sent
to landfill. However, the proportion of waste recovered had not changed. The State’s total
waste recycling rate of 53% in 2016-17 for all waste streams was still below the national
average of 58%.
Factors such as population growth, environmental concerns and changes in technology and
international markets for recycled materials have continued to increase the need for
sustainable waste management.
In 2018, China announced it would stop importing contaminated recyclable materials as part
of its National Sword policy. This placed additional pressure on LG entities, who had to find
alternative solutions for managing recyclable materials. Other countries such as Malaysia,
Thailand and Vietnam also declared restrictions on importing waste. In response, the Council
of Australian Governments (COAG) agreed to a phased ban on the export of waste plastic,
paper, glass and tyres. This will commence in January 2021.
Waste management is a shared responsibility. All levels of government, business, industry
and the community generate waste, and all have a role to play in adopting best practice

1
MSW is collected from households and LG entities through waste and recycling collections, but can also include some
commercial waste.
2

ASK Waste Management (2019). Recycling Activity in Western Australia 2017-18.
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approaches to manage that waste. The State Government oversees and guides the waste
and recycling system in WA (Table 1).
Entity

Responsibilities

Waste Authority

•

provides strategic and policy advice to the State
Government

•

implements policies and programs consistent with the waste
strategy

•

applies funding from the Waste Avoidance and Resource
Recovery Account (WARR Account) to strategic initiatives

•

collates waste and recycling data from LG entities to
produce the annual Census of Western Australian Local
Government Waste and Recycling (LG Census)

Department of Water and
Environmental Regulation
(DWER)

•

supports the Waste Authority

•

is responsible for waste legislation, policy, planning, and
licencing and regulation

Department of Local
Government, Sport and
Cultural Industries (DLGSC)

•

provides support and advisory services to LG entities,
including helping them improve waste management
planning

Table 1: Responsibilities of State government entities

LG entities play a critical role in managing MSW, which makes up 34% of the State’s waste. 3
Many LG entities deliver these waste services ‘in-house’, while others use private
contractors. Some LG entities have joined to form regional councils as a way of sharing
waste management. LG entities can provide a range of waste, recycling and organic material
collection services; drop-off facilities; and waste education and behaviour change programs
to their communities.

Legislation and waste strategies
The Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007 (WARR Act) is the principal
legislation for waste management in the State. The WARR Act aligns with the key principles
of the National Waste Policy 2018: Less Waste, More Resources. It also contributes to
Australia’s international commitments, such as the United Nations’ Sustainable Development
Goals, adopted by world leaders in 2015. One of these goals focuses on ‘responsible
consumption and production’ and another 8 of the 17 relate to improving resource recovery
and waste management. 4
The WARR Act establishes the role of LG entities to provide waste services in line with the
waste hierarchy (Figure 1). It also requires the Waste Authority prepare a waste strategy and
provides the Chief Executive Officer of DWER with the power to require LG entities prepare
waste plans. These plans aim to align LG entities’ waste planning processes with the State’s
waste strategy, and to protect human health and the environment. DWER has requested
Perth and Peel LG entities prepare waste plans by March 2021.

3

ASK Waste Management (2019). Recycling Activity in Western Australia 2017-18.

4

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdgs
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Source: OAG adapted from the Waste Authority

Figure 1: Waste hierarchy based on the WARR Act

The Waste Strategy 2012 was the first statewide plan developed for WA. It described the
cooperative effort needed to reduce waste disposed in landfill and increase resource
recovery. It set targets to divert 65% of metropolitan MSW from landfill by 2020 and 50% for
major regional centres (MRC). Improving the way we manage waste in WA relies heavily on
the choices that individuals make in buying and using products and how they dispose of
them.
In February 2019, the State Government released the Waste Strategy 2030. It set targets for
the community and waste managers. This strategy was developed in consultation with
government, industry and the community. It set a new benchmark for community expectation,
shifting the State’s approach to waste management to focus on avoiding and recovering
waste, and protecting the environment.
The Waste Strategy 2030 also introduced the ‘circular economy’ model where energy and
materials are retained for as long as possible. Instead of ‘waste’, materials became
‘resources’. This was a move away from a linear ‘take, make, use and dispose’ economic
model. The Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Action Plan (Action Plan) supported
the Waste Strategy 2030, outlining 8 headline strategies and 57 actions.

Audit conclusion
In WA, kerbside waste collection at the LG level is largely effective. However, local, regional
and statewide waste planning, and tailored support for LG entities, is inadequate. This has
limited the effectiveness of waste management and the State’s ability to meet its long-term
targets.
Most LG entities deliver waste collection and drop-off services that are highly valued by their
communities. However, many LG entities are not effectively encouraging waste avoidance,
nor maximising the recovery of waste by reusing, reprocessing and recycling. As a result,
few are on track to help the State meet its Waste Strategy 2030 targets for 2020 to increase
waste recovery to 65% in the Perth and Peel region, and 50% in major regional centres
(MRC).
Waste planning by LG entities is inadequate and inconsistent, as most do not have their own
up-to-date waste plans. Nearly 80% of LG entities contract out their kerbside waste collection
services. However, they do not directly impose waste recovery targets on the private waste
contractors, who typically focus on collecting waste. Preparing waste plans and contracts
that clearly align to the Waste Strategy 2030 and address risks is an important step to help
LG entities meet waste targets.
We found examples of good practice in recovering waste across the sector, but LG entities
have not consistently adopted these. They include regular and consistent education,
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incentives for the community to avoid and reduce waste, and efforts to recover a greater
proportion of organic waste and bulk wastes, such as white goods, mattresses and timber. If
LG entities are to progress the State’s vision to become a sustainable, low-waste society,
such initiatives need to be widely implemented.
The Waste Authority and Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER) have
substantially improved their support to LG entities since our last audit in 2016. However, both
can do more to assist LG entities, particularly those in regional areas. A lack of infrastructure
planning and accurate waste and recycling data, along with guidance on better practice
waste recovery, has left LG entities to plan and manage community waste based on their
own local needs and available infrastructure, which may not be consistent with the State’s
plans and objectives.

Key findings
LG entities deliver essential waste collection and drop-off services but few are
likely to meet State and community expectations to avoid and recover waste
LG entities and their contractors provide regular waste collection and drop-off services that
are valued by their community. We reviewed 20 community scorecards, which surveyed
community feedback on LG performance between 2017 and 2019. Three quarters of the
responses ranked waste collection services as the highest performing area for the LG
entities, who received an average positive rating of 92% for weekly waste collection services.
These results show that the community and other stakeholders are confident that LG entities
will regularly collect and dispose of their household waste.
Most LG entities are unlikely to meet State and community targets to increase waste
recovery by 2020 and 2025, and do not always provide public information on their progress.
In 2017-18, the waste recovery rate for the Perth and Peel region was 41%, and for the
MRCs, 28%. This was well short of the targets of 65% for Perth and Peel, and 50% for
MRCs. At the time, none of the 33 Perth and Peel LG entities and only 1 of the 5 MRC LG
entities (City of Bunbury) had met the targets. LG entities need to do more to manage waste
in line with current community and State expectations, to avoid and recover more waste, and
contribute to a circular economy.

State and local waste planning and data capture is inadequate
State planning for significant risks, including recycling, has been poor. Key State government
entities have been aware of the potential impact of insufficient waste processing
infrastructure since 2012. However, the required planning and proactive response to mitigate
the risks, such as reduced access to international markets and limited local waste facilities,
has not been timely, nor adequate. This had increased the amount of waste that ends up in
landfill, which is contrary to the State’s objective to protect the environment.
There is still no State waste infrastructure plan, despite the Waste Authority identifying this
as a priority in 2012 in the first Waste Strategy. As a result, there is limited guidance on the
location and type of waste infrastructure. This is evident with the approval of 2 proposed
waste-to-energy facilities located within 5 km of one another in the south of Perth (Appendix
1). The 2 operating material recovery facilities are also in the south metropolitan area. This
imbalance in the location of waste infrastructure further increases the risk that waste facilities
may not meet the long-term needs of their communities and the State.
LG waste management planning is also inadequate and not all plans are easily accessible to
the community. We found that only 7% of LG entities across the State had a waste plan on
their website to provide transparency on their waste activities. Further review of our sampled
LG entities showed that none had public waste plans and only 3 of 7 had a waste plan for
their LG or region that met WARR Act recommendations. Without good plans that are
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publicly available, the community and other stakeholders cannot hold LG entities
accountable, nor can they ensure that waste management activities align with the State’s
strategic direction.
Nearly 80% of LG entities contract out kerbside waste collection services but they have not
required their contractors to help meet the State’s waste recovery targets. Our review of the
main contracts from our sampled LG entities showed that none had obligations or targets for
contractors to improve rates of waste recycling or reprocessing. Services focused mainly on
timely waste collection and transport. This is a missed opportunity for LG entities to ensure
contractors are also contributing to State recovery targets.
Limited guidance from DWER on how LG entities classify and allocate waste costs means
that the full cost to deliver waste and recovery services is unknown. LG entities reported that
they spent $297 million in 2017-18 on waste services. However, because there was no clear
or consistent approach to how LG entities allocate these costs, the potential for variation in
reporting is high. Improved consistency in allocating and reporting the cost of waste services
will allow LG entities to choose waste services that provide value for money, improve waste
recovery and meet community expectations.
The LG Census relies on data that LG entities self-report and there are limited controls to
check its accuracy. We found examples of LG entities reporting the same tonnes of waste
collected in multiple years, as well as variation in the way LG entities categorise and record
waste streams.
However, State government entities have recognised that the poor quality waste and
recovery data reported by LG entities means that government and industry are limited in their
ability to monitor progress and make informed decisions. DWER and LG entities have
improved data capture in the last 3 years, and the Waste Authority outlined further
improvements in a Waste Data Strategy released in November 2019. This should allow LG
entities to better monitor the efficiency and effectiveness of the waste services they deliver.

Wider uptake of existing better practice waste management methods could be
key to improving waste recovery
LG entities are not all using a range of well-known and available practices that can improve
waste recovery. The most significant of these are community waste education and behaviour
change programs. LG entities, their private waste contractors and others in the sector all
produce slightly different waste education materials. Bin tagging programs that reduce
contamination are available to all LG entities and their contractors, but are not widely used.
Inconsistent messaging and limited use of behaviour change programs increases the risk of
bin contamination and contributes to recyclable materials ending up in landfill.
There is poor uptake of the State’s waste messaging programs to encourage waste
avoidance and recovery by LG entities. The Waste Authority first produced a WasteSorted
toolkit in 2018 to help LG entities communicate with their residents. However, the 7 audited
LG entities do not use it. Each prefer to use their own or their contractors’ graphics and
messages, some of which were developed prior to 2018. It is important for all entities to
provide regular and consistent community messaging about waste avoidance and recovery
to households, industry and government.
Results from LG entities that have adopted the 3-bin food organics and garden organics
(FOGO) collection system have been positive, yet uptake has been limited. The Cities of
Melville and Bunbury reported annual waste recovery rates of over 60% from 2016-17 to
2018-19, which was much better than the State average of 25% in 2017-18. Each had
adopted a 3-bin FOGO system or used alternative waste treatment to separate and process
organic waste, and provided regular and consistent waste education. This approach to waste
avoidance and recovery was not evident at the other LG entities we sampled, though these
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LG entities reported constraints that prevented them from adopting a 3-bin FOGO system.
Separating and reprocessing FOGO, which is typically over a third of MSW, can significantly
increase waste recovery rates. For those LG entities already using a 3-bin system to collect
garden organics (GO), the transition to FOGO may require a change in processing
infrastructure, along with associated approvals and licensing by DWER.
Financial incentives for households to avoid or reduce waste are rare but can be effective in
facilitating behaviour change. We identified only 2 LG entities that offered financial rewards
to residents for reducing their waste. Bunbury charges ratepayers less for smaller size waste
bins and the Town of Cambridge does not charge for the yellow-lid recycling bins. These
simple, cost effective incentives can help change behaviours and reduce the amount of
waste disposed to landfill.
Bulk verge waste can be recycled but often ends up in landfill. All 33 Perth and Peel LG
entities and all 5 MRC LG entities, offered verge collections or bulk bins in 2017-18. Around
two-thirds of smaller regional LG entities provided drop-off facilities instead. For the Perth
and Peel LG entities:
•

6 sent all bulk waste to landfill in 2017-18

•

only 4 recycled 50% or more

•

the remaining 23 recycled an average of 20%.

Recycling bulk waste offers effective recovery of a range of commonly disposed items such
as metal, cardboard, wood and mattresses.

The State Government has made good progress since 2016, but LG entities
need more support to address local challenges
The State Government has implemented many of the recommendations from our 2016 audit
(Appendix 2). But WA’s waste recycling rate of 53% in 2016-17 was still 5% below the
national average. 5 The DWER and Waste Authority have addressed 13 of our 16 audit
recommendations. They are currently addressing the remaining 3, however 2 critical
recommendations to prepare a State waste infrastructure plan and comprehensive better
practice guidance are not complete. Implementing these outstanding recommendations is
crucial to help LG entities plan and deliver waste services for their communities, and improve
the State’s waste recovery.
A combination of local challenges and a lack of tailored support from State government
entities prevents LG entities from recovering more waste. LG entities indicated that there was
limited opportunity to interact directly with the State government entities that provide waste
management guidance. LG entities may also prioritise local issues, such as managing litter
or illegal dumping, above Waste Strategy 2030 headline strategies. Without engaging with
individual LG entities, particularly in more remote areas, State government entities are
unlikely to understand fully the challenges each LG faces, nor offer the support needed for
them to recover more waste.
There is unspent landfill levy funds that the Waste Authority can effectively use to progress
the State’s waste management objectives. The unspent balance of the WARR Account had
grown from $30 million in 2015-16 to $40 million in 2018-19. The purpose of the funds is to
promote programs for the management, reduction, reuse, recycling, monitoring or
measurement of waste. These reserves can help to better support a range of Waste Strategy
2030 initiatives.

5

National Waste Report 2018
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Recommendations
The Waste Authority and Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER)
should work together to:
1. provide support to LG entities by:
a. preparing a State waste infrastructure plan to ensure alignment with the State
planning framework
b. identifying local Perth, Peel and regional reprocessing facility requirements and
markets for recyclable materials, particularly for organic materials
c. continuing to develop better practice guidance for LG entities to manage key waste
streams and problematic wastes
d. engaging with individual Perth, Peel and regional LG entities to help understand,
identify and address their local challenges, risks and waste management
requirements
2. support LG entities to improve the accuracy of their waste and recycling data in
line with the Waste Data Strategy by:
a. providing additional training and guidance for LG entities on data collection, reporting
and quality control requirements
b. developing and implementing appropriate controls to minimise the risk of inaccurate
data supplied by contractors
3. provide LG entities with materials that explain the cost and environmental benefits
of adopting a 3-bin FOGO system
4. engage with LG entities to develop consistent and regular statewide messages,
education and behaviour change programs for all LG entities and contractors that
align with Waste Strategy 2030 targets.
Waste Authority response: Recommendations supported
DWER response: Recommendations supported
LG response: LG entities in our sample supported the recommendations for the Waste
Authority and DWER. Full responses from LG entities for each of the recommendations,
where provided, are included in Appendix 3
Implementation timeframe: December 2021
The Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC), Waste
Authority and DWER should work together to:
5. provide guidance for LG entities to collect and publicly report consistent waste
and recovery financial and performance data.
DLGSC response: Recommendation supported
Waste Authority response: Recommendation supported
DWER response: Recommendation supported
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LG response: LG entities in our sample supported the recommendations for the Waste
Authority and DWER. Full responses from LG entities for each of the recommendations,
where provided, are included in Appendix 3
Implementation timeframe: progressively through to December 2022
LG entities should:
6. provide regular community updates on efforts to recover waste and meet Waste
Strategy 2030 targets and seek community feedback where appropriate
7. consider preparing waste plans, which demonstrate how the LG will contribute to
relevant Waste Strategy 2030 headline strategies. These plans should be publicly
available
8. include performance measures in contracts with service providers to recover more
waste without adding significant costs
9. consider providing incentives for the community to minimise waste production.
LG response: LG entities in our sample generally agreed with the recommendations and
indicated that they were preparing waste plans and considering initiatives to improve
waste management and help achieve Waste Strategy 2030 targets. Full responses from
LG entities for each of the recommendations are included in Appendix 3.
Implementation timeframe: December 2021
Under section 7.12A of the Local Government Act 1995, all audited entities are required to
prepare an action plan addressing significant matters relevant to their entity for submission to
the Minister for Local Government within 3 months of this report being tabled in Parliament
and for publication on the entity’s website. This action plan should address the points above,
to the extent that they are relevant to their entity, as indicated in this report.

Response from entities
The Waste Authority, Department of Water and Environmental Regulation, Department of
Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries and the 7 audited LG entities generally
supported the audit findings and accepted our recommendations.
Appendix 3 includes the full responses.
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Audit focus and scope
The audit objective was to determine whether local government (LG) entities plan and deliver
effective waste management services to their communities.
We based our audit on the following criteria:
•

Are waste services planned to minimise waste and meet community expectations?

•

Do LG entities deliver effective waste services?

•

Does the State Government provide adequate support for local waste planning and
service delivery?

The audit focused on waste services delivered by LG entities to progress towards achieving
targets and objectives set in the first Western Australian Waste Strategy: Rethinking Waste
(Waste Strategy 2012) and subsequent Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy
2030 (Waste Strategy 2030). We assessed 3 Perth and Peel and 3 regional LG entities of
varying sizes:
•

City of Belmont (Belmont)

•

City of Bunbury (Bunbury)

•

City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder (Kalgoorlie-Boulder)

•

City of Kwinana (Kwinana)

•

City of Melville (Melville)

•

Shire of Broome (Broome).

We audited Mindarie Regional Council, but did not assess their management of specific
waste streams or waste and recycling data.
The audit also assessed State Government support for LG entities and followed up on
recommendations to State government entities from OAG’s Western Australian Waste
Strategy: Rethinking Waste audit completed in 2016. This included auditing the following
State government entities:
•

Waste Authority

•

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER)

•

Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC).

We did not look at actions by the private sector waste industry, or the management of
construction and demolition waste, commercial and industrial waste, controlled waste, liquid
waste, mining waste and waste water.
In undertaking the audit we:
•

reviewed plans, policies, strategies, guidelines, budgets and financial statements,
industry and LG waste and recovery data, meeting minutes and other documents from
the Waste Authority, DWER, the 7 audited LG entities and publicly available documents
on statewide LG websites

•

analysed DWER’s LG Census waste and recovery data from July 2016 to June 2018,
including assessment of how LG entities were tracking to meet Waste Strategy 2030
community and waste manager targets, and contributing to State targets (Table 3)
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Note: there are limitations in the use of the available data. Not all LG entities reported
waste and recycling data. Because DWER did not validate the data, we could not
guarantee its accuracy. This issue is discussed later in the report
•

analysed LG Census waste and recovery data from July 2018 to June 2019 for the 6
audited LG entities (excluding Mindarie Regional Council)

•

reviewed DLGSC’s MyCouncil waste and recovery data for LG entities for 2016-17 and
2017-18

•

interviewed staff from the Waste Authority, DWER, DLGSC and the 7 audited LG
entities

•

interviewed Perth, Peel and regional stakeholders, community members, private waste
operators, LG entities and key agencies with a role in managing waste in WA, including
WA Local Government Association (WALGA), Waste Management and Resource
Recovery Association Australia (WMRR), Bunbury-Harvey Regional Council, Eastern
Metropolitan Regional Council, Southern Metropolitan Regional Council (SMRC), Suez,
Cleanaway and ASK Waste Management

•

reviewed published national and international literature on waste management,
including national waste reporting

•

attended 3 presentations on waste management organised by WALGA and LG
Professionals

•

conducted site visits to 3 Perth and Peel and 5 regional waste facilities, which included
landfills, material recovery facilities (MRF), waste transfer stations and organics
processing facilities

•

reviewed submissions from LG entities and industry stakeholders.

This was a performance audit, conducted under Section 18 of the Auditor General Act 2006,
in accordance with Australian Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3500
Performance Engagements. We complied with the independence and other ethical
requirements related to assurance engagements. Performance audits focus primarily on the
effective management and operations of entity programs and activities. The approximate
cost of undertaking the audit and reporting was $450,500.
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Audit findings
LG entities deliver essential waste collection services but
few are likely to meet State targets to recover more waste
Communities value their LG waste collection and drop-off services
LG entities collect and dispose of their community’s waste. Almost all of the State’s LG
entities that reported waste and recycling data (132 of 139) offer a weekly or fortnightly
kerbside waste collection service and drop-off facilities (Table 2). Only 19 LG entities
reported using a third kerbside bin to collect GO or FOGO. Regional LG entities collect
kerbside waste, however only 65% collect kerbside recycling. These essential services help
to protect community health and the environment. 6
Waste service

Perth & Peel
(33 LG entities)

Major regional
centre
(5)

Smaller
regional
(94)

Total %
(132)

Kerbside waste

33

5

93

99% (131)

Kerbside recycling

33

4

60

73% (97)

Kerbside garden organics (GO)

9

2

3

11% (14)

Kerbside food organics and
garden organics (FOGO)

1

1

3

4% (5)

Vergeside bulk waste

33

4

30

51% (67)

Vergeside green waste

31

3

27

46% (61)

Drop-off

32*

5

93

98% (130)

Source: OAG from DWER LG Census data

Table 2: LG waste services reported in the 2016-17 and 2017-18 LG Census. 7 *Most Perth and
Peel LG entities use regional council drop-off facilities

Communities are generally satisfied with LG waste collection and drop-off services. We
reviewed 20 community scorecards, which provided feedback on the performance of LG
service delivery between 2017 and 2019. Respondents gave the LG entities an average
positive rating of 92% for weekly waste collection services. They also ranked these services
as high performing or significant areas of strength for the majority (75%) of LG entities. Our
sample of scorecards, including half from regional and half from Perth and Peel LG entities,
showed a strong positive rating. This reflected community satisfaction across the state.

Most LG entities are not on track to meet waste recovery targets
Community and State expectations for waste management have changed over the last 8
years. The inaugural Waste Strategy 2012 set clear targets to increase the amount of waste
diverted from landfill. The Waste Strategy 2030 shifted the focus to both avoid and recover
waste, by setting targets to recover 65% of MSW in the Perth and Peel region and 50% for
MRCs by 2020, increasing to 70% and 60% respectively, by 2030 (Table 3). These
strategies were developed in consultation with the community, industry and government, and
show the shift in State and community expectations, from solely focusing on waste collection
We have only provided data for the 33 Perth and Peel LGs and 5 MRC LGs defined in the current Waste Strategy 2030. The
Waste Strategy 2012 referred to 31 metropolitan LGs, which excluded Mandurah and Waroona, and defined MRCs as ‘Avon,
Greater Bunbury, Albany, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, Karratha, Peel and Busselton’.

6

7

Note: we used data from the 2016-17 LG Census for LG entities that did not report waste services in the 2017-18 LG Census.

71
Waste Management – Service Delivery | 13

and disposal from households, to waste recovery and waste minimisation. As a result, both
the State and local communities expect LG entities to recover more materials that would
otherwise have ended up in landfill or stockpiled.
Objectives

Avoid – generate
less waste

Recover – recover more
value and resources from
waste

Protect – protect the
environment by managing
waste responsibly

State
targets

2025 – 10%
reduction in waste
generation per
capita

2025 – increase material
recovery to 70%

2030 – no more than 15% of
Perth and Peel regions’
waste is landfilled

2030 – 20%
reduction in waste
generation per
capita

2030 – increase material
recovery to 75%
2025 – all LG entities in the
Perth and Peel region provide
consistent 3-bin kerbside
collection systems that include
separation of food organics
and garden organics (FOGO)
from other waste categories

2030 – all waste is managed
and/or disposed to better
practice facilities

From 2020 – recover energy
only from residual waste
Community
targets

2025 – reduction in
MSW generation
per capita by 5%
2030 – reduction in
MSW generation
per capita by 10%

2020 – increase MSW material
recovery to 65% in the Perth
and Peel regions and 50% in
MRCs
2025 – 67% for Perth and Peel
and 55% for MRCs

2030 – move towards zero
illegal dumping
2030 – move towards zero
littering

2030 – 70% for Perth and Peel
and 60% for MRCs
Waste
manager
targets

2030 – all waste is
managed and/or
disposed using
better practice
approaches

All waste facilities adopt
resource recovery better
practice

2030 – no more than 15% of
Perth and Peel regions’
waste is disposed to landfill
2030 – all waste facilities
adopt environmental
protection better practice
facilities

Source: OAG from WA’s Waste Strategy 2030

Table 3: Waste Strategy 2030 objectives and State and community targets that relate to this
audit 8

The majority of LG entities are unlikely to meet the State’s waste recovery goals. In our
analysis of reported 2017-18 data, the combined Perth and Peel LG entities recovered only
41% of their waste. This fell short of the target to divert 65% of metropolitan waste from
landfill by 2020. The 5 MRCs of Albany, Busselton, Bunbury, Greater Geraldton and
Kalgoorlie-Boulder recovered 28% of their waste, which was also well below their 50%
target.

8

Additional targets are outlined in the Waste Strategy 2030
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Just 4 of the State’s 132 LG entities that reported waste and recycling data had met the
State’s targets to increase the amount of resources recovered from waste by 2017-18. None
of the Perth and Peel LG entities had reached the waste recovery target of 65% (Figure 2).
Of the 5 MRCs, only Bunbury had met the recovery target of 50%, recovering 61% of its
waste (Figure 2). Neither the Waste Strategy 2012 nor the Waste Strategy 2030 provided
targets for smaller regional LG entities. However, a further 3 smaller regional LG entities
reported recovery rates of 51-58%. Each sent all kerbside waste and recycling to landfill, but
recovered a significant portion of drop-off waste delivered direct to a waste facility by
residents. The low recovery rates mean that recyclable materials still end up in landfill,
contrary to State and community expectations.

Source: OAG analysis of DWER LG Census data

Figure 2: LG entity recovery rates reported in 2017-18 compared to the Waste Strategy 2012
and Waste Strategy 2030 targets of 65% for Perth and Peel RCs and 50% for MRCs

Of the 6 LG entities sampled during our audit, only Melville and Bunbury are on track to meet
the Waste Strategy 2030 targets. Both had waste recovery rates of about 60% for 3 years
from 2016-17 to 2018-19 (Figure 3). Bunbury was the first LG to introduce the 3-bin FOGO
system in 2013 and has shown consistently high performance over a 3 year period. Bunbury
and Melville share some characteristics:
•

a 3-bin FOGO system or alternative waste treatment to separate organic waste

•

in-house kerbside collection services conducted by the LG

•

significant investment in regular community education.

The remaining 4 LG entities showed limited signs of improving their waste recovery
performance to the extent needed to meet the State’s recovery targets. However, 1 LG entity
had an agreement to supply residual waste to a waste to energy plant, which it advised
would allow it to meet the State’s 65% recovery target. This arrangement aligned with the
previous Waste Strategy 2012, which aimed to divert waste from landfill. At the time of our
audit, LG entities had limited time to accommodate the change in approach of the new Waste
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Strategy 2030, which aligns with the waste hierarchy (Figure 1) and supports adoption of a 3bin FOGO system.

Source: DWER and OAG with data supplied by the LG entities

Figure 3: Reported recovery rates for the 6 audited LG entities from 2016-17 to 2018-19
showing progress towards meeting Waste Strategy 2030 community recovery targets for 2020.
Note: regional target applies to MRCs only

LG entities do not provide sufficient public information on their waste recovery targets or their
progress to meet these targets. Only 2 of the 6 LG entities sampled in our audit provided this
information on their websites or in annual reports. DLGSC’s MyCouncil website allows the
community to view and compare LG information on services such as waste. It reports tonnes
of waste and recycling collected, but does not provide recovery rates for each LG entity. This
lack of transparency means that the community has limited visibility of what LG entities are
doing to improve waste management outcomes or if they are on track to achieve them.

State and local waste planning is inadequate
State planning for significant risks, including recycling, has been poor
State entities have not adequately managed key waste management risks. The planning and
development of sufficient waste infrastructure and markets for recyclable materials has been
slow, despite the Waste Authority identifying these challenges in 2012. This has led to some
significant problems, which the State now needs to manage closely to avoid incurring further
costs to recycle waste or increasing the amount of recyclable materials that end up in landfill.
For over a decade, WA has relied heavily on China and other international markets to sell
recycled materials, and made little effort to search for alternate markets or reduce
contamination levels, despite early warning signs that China would no longer purchase
contaminated materials. For example, China’s Operation Green Fence policy first introduced
import bans on contaminated waste in 2013 (Figure 4). It progressively tightened inspection
efforts to reduce the amount of this waste entering the country, and in January 2018, further
restricted waste imports under its National Sword policy. In 2017-18, WA exported around
180,000 tonnes of plastic, paper and cardboard. In 2018-19, the Australian Bureau of
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Statistics reported a decline in exports from WA, down to 93,120 tonnes. 9 The reduction of
international markets led to significant increases in the costs for LG entities and MRFs to
manage kerbside recycling. Given the early signs of China’s market changes, the Waste
Authority and DWER could have better prepared for the long-term impact on the State’s
recycling industry.

Source: OAG

Figure 4: Timeline of events affecting Australia's ability to export recyclable materials

This reliance on international markets, lack of local waste processing infrastructure and
limited local markets for the sale of recycled materials, prevents LG entities from recycling
more waste without large increases in cost. COAG’s August 2019 decision to progressively
ban waste exports from Australia from January 2021 has further reduced LG entities’ options
to recover recyclable materials such as glass, mixed plastic, cardboard and paper. The
limited WA recycling industry and local markets for recycled products increases the risk that
more materials that are recyclable will end up in landfills or stockpiled inappropriately.
The Waste Authority’s Community and Industry Engagement Program provided $3.46 million
in 2019 to support general projects and recycling infrastructure projects that improve
recovery and reuse of materials identified in the Waste Strategy 2030. In July 2020, the State
Government also announced $15 million to support local plastic and tyre processing in the
north of WA, and access to industrial zoned land valued at $5 million for processing
infrastructure. This may eventually provide LG entities with local alternative options to
manage recyclable materials.

COAG (2020). Phasing Out Exports of Waste Plastic, Paper, Glass and Tyres. Response Strategy to Implement the August
2019 Agreement of the Council of Australian Governments.

9

75
Waste Management – Service Delivery | 17

WA does not have adequate infrastructure to support a local recycling industry. This is
particularly evident when facilities become unavailable. For example, in November 2019, a
fire in 1 of Perth’s 3 MRFs caused 20 LG entities to send recyclable materials to landfill for
over 3 months while they sourced alternative processing options. Information had not been
released about the cause of the fire at the time of our audit. Similar fires occurred at large
recycling facilities in Victoria between 2017 and 2019. A Victorian parliamentary committee
attributed these fires to insufficient facilities to store and dispose of waste, over-stockpiling
and a reduction in markets for recycled goods. Without adequate waste infrastructure, the
State risks further losses of recyclable materials in fires or to landfill.

There is no State waste infrastructure plan even though the State identified it
as a priority in 2012
There is no overarching plan to support the strategic development of waste infrastructure in
WA. In 2012, the Waste Authority identified the need for a State waste infrastructure plan as
a priority but it has not yet been developed. LG entities therefore lack guidance to support
strategic decision-making and to develop suitable waste infrastructure to meet the long-term
needs of their communities and the State.
Under the Waste Strategy 2030 and the supporting Action Plan, DWER is responsible for the
development of the State’s waste infrastructure plan in consultation with other stakeholders.
The timeline for delivering the plan is unclear, though the Action Plan noted it could take from
3 to 5 years. Without an infrastructure plan, LG entities are left to make local waste
management decisions that may leave some facilities unable to adhere to the waste
hierarchy, under-utilised or redundant. Some examples of these are:
•

regional council 1 – has sent its members’ waste to a resource recovery facility to
extract and reprocess organic waste since 2009. However, if its members adopt a 3-bin
FOGO system, the facility will no longer be needed to process the organic component
of the waste, making it obsolete

•

regional council 2 – invested in an alternative waste treatment facility in 2007 to
separate and process organic waste. The technology was successfully trialled, but
ongoing technical challenges resulted in financial difficulties and voluntary
administration of the group of private companies that owned and operated the facility in
2016. It briefly restarted operating in 2017, but continued problems caused it to cease
receiving waste in February 2018. This means the regional council has to seek other
waste treatment options for its members

•

regional council 3 – has successfully used organic waste from its members who use a
3-bin FOGO system to produce a compost, which complies with Australian standards.
However sourcing regular markets for the product is an ongoing challenge due to
production and transport costs, and farmers’ historic reliance on synthetic fertilisers

•

furthermore, at least 12 of the 33 Perth and Peel LG entities have committed to provide
residual waste to waste-to-energy facilities under construction in Kwinana and East
Rockingham. However, 1 LG has agreed to supply all its kerbside waste for 20 years.
This means the organic materials that could be used to produce mulch and compost
will not be available. This approach does not align with the Waste Strategy 2030
objectives to adhere to the waste hierarchy and adopt a circular economy.

Waste facilities for the Perth and Peel region are not well located for LG entities managing
waste across the north, south and east. In 2015, the Minister for Environment approved the
construction of 2 waste-to-energy facilities in WA, which will be located within 5 km of one
another in the south only, and the 2 operating MRFs are also in the south (Appendix 1). The
lack of local access to key waste facilities means LG entities have to transport waste longer
distances across the Perth and Peel region.
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There has been some progress on land use planning for waste infrastructure, as DWER has
begun working with the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH). In December
2019, they began preparing a ‘planning instrument’ to agree on an approach, which will guide
decision-making for authorities involved in developing waste management infrastructure.

Local waste management planning is inadequate
LG entities have not sufficiently planned their overall and long-term waste management
strategies, and do not generally share plans with their communities. We found that only 7%
of LG entities had a publicly available waste plan on their websites. There was no evidence
that these plans were updated to align with the new Waste Strategy 2030.
Waste plans had not been a requirement under the WARR Act. However, DWER developed
waste plan templates and guidance for LG entities in 2019. All Perth, Peel and MRC LG
entities are required to produce their own individual waste plan by March 2021. For our 7
sampled LG entities, none had public waste plans. However, 3 had a waste plan for their LG
or region that included key elements recommended in the WARR Act. For example, Kwinana
developed its City of Kwinana Waste Management Strategy in 2017 that included an
assessment of:
•

the significant sources, quantities and generators of waste

•

the markets and facilities for waste received by the LG

•

options and strategies to reduce, manage and dispose of waste

•

programs that identify required actions, timeframes, resources and responsibilities for
achieving the strategies and targets.

Without transparent local planning that aligns with the WARR Act and Waste Strategy 2030,
the State and the community are unable to hold LG entities accountable for delivering
effective waste services.
Regional LG entities are not required to develop individual plans, but they could benefit from
having an individual plan to address local issues. For example, Broome’s landfill is nearing
its end of life. The Regional Waste Management Plan for the Kimberley Region identified this
risk in 2013. Lack of adequate planning for a new landfill site, due in part to Native Title
considerations, means that within the next 2 years they will likely need to transport waste
lengthy distances to an alternative landfill. This could increase costs for waste disposal.
Planning and approval for new landfills can take up to 8 years. Preparing standardised waste
plans would help LG entities effectively plan and monitor performance, and address key risks
in a timely manner.

There are no obligations for private waste contractors to meet recovery targets
Nearly 80% of LG entities contract out kerbside waste collection services, yet the contractors
have no targets for the quantity of waste they reprocess, recycle or reuse. We reviewed the
main contracts from our 6 sampled LG entities and found that the contractual arrangements
focused on the timely collection and transport of waste, and the provision of bins. None
included obligations to divert more waste from landfill and increase material recovery.
Without performance measures for waste recovery, contractors may not be incentivised to
divert more waste from landfill. While performance measures for waste contractors may help
improve waste recovery, it does not negate the need for households to correctly separate
and dispose of waste to reduce contamination in the first instance.
A number of Perth and Peel LG entities have agreed to use alternative waste treatment and
waste-to-energy facilities, some of which no longer align with the new Waste Strategy 2030
objectives. LG entities can enter into long-term contracts, which they can extend if they have
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not allowed sufficient time to prepare a new contract. Extending contracts without
considering the regular changes in the waste and recycling industry, increases the risk that
LG entities fail to maximise waste recovery to meet their recovery targets.
The New South Wales Environmental Protection Authority 10 offers an example of better
practice tendering guidance for LG entities to engage waste contractors that could benefit
WA’s LG entities. It includes contract specifications for LG waste services that show how the
contractor is liable for aspects such as:
•

preparing and implementing a contamination management strategy

•

recyclable materials collected that are rejected due to high levels of contamination

•

annual waste audits on recyclable materials.

DWER’s limited guidance on how LG entities should classify and allocate
waste costs means that the true costs to manage waste are unknown
Limited guidance from DWER on how LG entities should classify, allocate and report waste
costs means that the full costs to deliver waste and recycling services are not known. DWER
asks LG entities to provide annual costs for collecting, processing and disposing of waste.
However, they do not provide LG entities with a detailed methodology or guidance on how to
calculate the costs. In 2017-18, 118 of the State’s 132 LG entities that reported, spent a total
of $297 million on waste services. The remainder did not report total waste costs in the LG
Census. With no clear or consistent approach to how LG entities allocate these costs, the
potential for variation in reporting is high, making the data less meaningful for analysis.
Some waste-related expenditure may not be included in the total waste costs reported by all
LG entities. For example, 1 of our sampled LG entities stated that they did not include
overheads for staff associated with waste activities or payments to their regional council for
waste education services in their total waste costs. Improved understanding of the cost of
waste services and consistency in reporting is required. This would allow LG entities to
choose the right mix of waste services to improve waste recovery, provide value for money
and meet community expectations.

Despite some improvement, there were limited controls to ensure data from LG
entities is accurate
LG entities have improved their collection of waste and recovery data since 2016. DWER
provide an electronic template with explanatory notes and guidance for LG entities on how to
report their waste and recycling data. LG entities that use weighbridges and DWER’s
approved procedures to calculate or estimate waste and recycling data further help to
improve data quality. The Waste Authority has more confidence when using this data to
prepare the annual LG Census and to share it with the Commonwealth Government for
national benchmarks.
Limited controls affect the consistency and accuracy of the data LG entities provide to
DWER. LG entities and their contractors do not routinely audit waste and recovery data, and
DWER does not analyse the raw data. The Waste Authority also stated in its 2017-18 LG
Census that the data was not validated. Consequently, the Waste Authority cannot
guarantee the accuracy of the estimates provided by LG entities. Sixteen percent of LG
entities self-reported low confidence in their 2016-17 data and 11% in their 2017-18 data. We
interviewed stakeholders, reviewed the data from these 2 financial years, and found potential
errors and issues that affect its reliability. For example:
New South Wales Environmental Protection Authority (2015). Model Waste and Recycling Collection Contracts User Guide for
Councils https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/your-environment/waste/local-council-operations/resources-for-local-councils

10
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•

DWER advised that measurement of waste sent to landfill can vary by up to 300%
because some LG entities used truck counts and visual estimates to calculate their
waste in the absence of weighbridges:
o

Perth and Peel LG entities and larger regional LG entities such as Albany,
Broome, Karratha, Geraldton and Bunbury used weighbridges, which are more
accurate

o

1 regional landfill only uses its weighbridge for commercial waste, but it does not
use it to measure ad-hoc domestic waste drop-offs from residents

o

2 small regional LG entities reported estimating waste tonnage using historic
waste audit data and observations at the landfill because there is no weighbridge.

•

There are variations in the way LG entities categorise and record waste streams, which
means the data for each waste type is not always comparable. One LG entity did not
report any FOGO waste collected in 2016-17 as DWER’s template did not include
FOGO that year, instead recording it as kerbside green waste. Another LG entity had
not separated household and commercial waste streams, stating that both types of
premises used the same size and colour bins, which the LG entity collected on the
same day.

•

At least 3 LG entities located close to each other reported the same recovery rate of
83%. MRFs can receive recyclable materials from a number of LG entities at the same
time. When this occurs, they only provide an average for the combined LG entities.
This means that recovery data for kerbside recycling bins supplied by each LG entity
may not represent their individual recovery performance.

The data limitations meant that LG entities cannot accurately monitor how effective and
efficient their existing waste management programs and services are. Unreliable information
also limits the State entities’ ability to use the data to understand the nature and volume of
waste types, the fate of recyclable materials and to report progress towards Waste Strategy
2030 targets. Waste data collection is a shared responsibility among LG entities, waste
contractors and the State, but DWER is responsible for statewide coordination and reporting.
After changes made in 2019, LG entities are required to report waste and recycling data
annually to DWER. The Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Regulations 2008
(WARR Regulations) were amended in June 2019. The amendments aim to improve the
accuracy, timeliness and completeness of waste and recycling data. The Waste Authority
also published a Waste Data Strategy in November 2019. It details actions for the Waste
Authority and DWER to improve data collection, verification and reporting and aims to
achieve:
•

more statewide consistency and guidance in data collection and reporting, with
standardised data measures, terminology and waste classifications

•

better resourcing for data collection, auditing and verification processes to increase
data reliability for all stakeholders.

Wider uptake of existing better practice waste management
methods could be key to improving waste recovery
Across WA, LG entities do not use consistent and regular waste education and
behaviour change programs to encourage the community to reduce waste
There is no regular and consistent messaging by LG entities on waste avoidance, resource
recovery and appropriate waste disposal behaviours across WA. LG entities and other waste
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managers in the sector have produced a variety of waste education materials, often with
slightly different messages. For example, in our sampled LG entities:
•

Bunbury provide annual waste and recycling guides with detailed images and text on
bin usage. This includes removing lids from plastic bottles and glass jars, and ensuring
they are clean before placing in recycling bins.

•

Broome provides limited guidance on their website, which does not include graphics or
any directions to remove lids or wash containers.

Inconsistent messaging across the State may have contributed to a poor understanding of
how to dispose of waste correctly, increasing the risk of contamination and causing more
recyclable materials to end up in landfill. Using regular and consistent waste education, with
clear messages, is key to improving waste recovery.
Bin tagging behaviour change programs to encourage correct waste disposal are readily
available, but few of the State’s approximately 100 LG entities that offer kerbside recycling
services use them. In September 2019, WALGA advised that only 11 Perth and Peel and 10
regional LG entities had used its Waste Authority funded bin tagging program, which is
available to all LG entities and is a simple method used across Australia to improve waste
disposal behaviour. WALGA advised that additional LG entities have expressed interest in
using the program, subject to funding availability. A comprehensive bin tagging program
includes a combination of bin tags (Figure 5) to provide direct feedback on the content of
waste, recycling and organic bins, information about what should go in each bin, on-site bin
audits, and incentives and enforcement actions to reduce bin contamination. WALGA’s bin
tagging program in a sample of 3 LG entities over a 6-week period in 2016 showed some
positive results:
•

through bin audits, 2 LG entities with 2-bin systems showed an increase in the
proportion of households that used their recycling bins correctly, from 44% to 64%, and
64% to 76%

•

the other LG entity had a 3-bin system and recorded a smaller increase in the correct
use of both recycling and organic waste bins, rising from 84% to 91%

•

routinely using behaviour change programs such as bin tagging, can improve
community understanding of appropriate waste disposal.
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Source: WALGA

Figure 5: Examples of bin tags for FOGO bins

Community members put many things in their bins, including hazardous wastes such as
batteries, paint and gas bottles. One of our sampled LG entities advised that its waste
contractor had experienced 6 incidents of fire in their trucks in a 6-month period due to
hazardous waste contamination. This highlights the importance of bin tagging or similar
behaviour change programs, along with easy to access disposal options for household
hazardous waste and regular and consistent education to effectively decrease bin
contamination and prevent harm to the public or environment.

Uptake of the State’s messaging to promote consistent waste education is
poor
The Waste Authority first produced its WasteSorted toolkit in 2018 to help all LG entities
communicate consistently with their residents on how to dispose of waste correctly and
decrease bin contamination. However, the 7 LG entities audited do not use it. They advised
that the toolkit, which the Waste Authority updated in 2019, lacked useful detail households
need to reduce bin contamination. Instead, the LG entities developed their own education
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materials (Table 4) or used those supplied by their regional councils or private waste
contractors, some of which were developed prior to 2018. LG entities require flexibility to
develop educational materials, but maintaining consistency in messaging can help avoid
confusion to ensure the community disposes waste correctly. The Waste Authority advised
that 14 LG entities that applied for Better Bins Plus: Go FOGO funding in 2020 have
indicated that they will use elements of the WasteSorted toolkit. The Waste Authority also
plans to launch a state-wide waste campaign in August 2020, targeting waste avoidance,
and improved recycling and recovery.
Source

Examples of waste education materials

Waste Authority’s
WasteSorted
toolkit for LG
entities

LG entity in
partnership with a
private waste
contractor

Sources: Waste Authority, LG entity

Table 4: A sample of waste and recycling bin education materials
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To help address the inconsistent messaging from LG entities, WALGA formed the Consistent
Communication Collective in 2019. The group provides an avenue for State and LG entities
to work with industry partners. It aims to produce clear and consistent messages in education
campaigns. LG entities have scope to tailor the WasteSorted toolkit to meet their local
community’s needs. However, the State still has a key role to play to ensure that entities
work together to produce consistent, evidence-based and regular waste communications
throughout WA, and to promote a shared responsibility to avoid and recover more waste.

LG adoption of the 3-bin FOGO system is limited, even though reprocessing
organic material can significantly increase waste recovery
Few LG entities had the capacity to quickly adopt a 3-bin FOGO system to improve organic
waste recovery following the introduction of the Waste Strategy 2030. In Australia, around
50% of household waste is food and garden organic materials, which presents an opportunity
to recover a substantial proportion of waste. Only 3 of the 33 Perth and Peel LG entities were
using the 3-bin FOGO system by the end of 2019. Another 8 had an existing 2-bin waste and
recycling system but agreed to adopt the 3-bin FOGO system in 2020. The Waste Strategy
2030 identified using the better practice 3-bin FOGO system as a priority for Perth and Peel
LG entities to increase the recovery of household waste.
According to a combination of WALGA and LG entity feedback, and media reports, over half
of the Perth and Peel LG entities were unlikely to swap to the 3-bin FOGO system in 2020.
Of these LG entities:
•

7 already provided a 3-bin garden organic (GO) system but did not collect food scraps,
which can contribute around 35% of household waste. Many of these LG entities used
State funding from the Better Bins program from 2014 to 2019, which offered a
contribution of $30 per household to LG entities to purchase a new third bin for either
GO or FOGO. The transition from GO to FOGO does not require purchase of an
additional kerbside bin, although it is likely to require a change in processing system for
the organic waste, including to manage additional odour and leachate. In addition, LG
entities may need to apply to DWER for a change in waste facility licensing

•

the remaining 15 had a 2-bin system, but preferred to use an alternative waste
treatment facility to remove organic waste from the waste bin or had plans to send
waste to a waste-to-energy facility when commissioned. For example:
o

a Perth and Peel LG entity advised us it chose to retain a 2-bin system, instead
investing in behaviour change to reduce bin contamination and encourage home
composting, and would eventually use a waste-to-energy facility to dispose of
residual waste, consistent with the previous waste strategy. The LG entity
indicated that it can take 2 to 5 years to review an existing approach, engage with
the community on options that consider environmental, social and economic
outcomes, conduct technical assessments, and prioritise resources for significant
investment in infrastructure and community education

o

a MRC LG entity stated that it would retain a 2-bin system, as landfill was
cheaper, compared to the high costs to implement a 3-bin FOGO system and
transport materials to recycling markets (including compost to potential
agricultural markets that are rare in their region).

Some of these LG entities raised additional concerns about swapping to the 3-bin FOGO
system, which included:
•

limited ability to produce compost that meets Australian Standards due to high levels of
contamination
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•

high costs to ratepayers for bin roll-out and ongoing education as the State’s
contribution does not fully cover these costs

•

lack of space for additional bins in commercial areas and multiple unit dwellings

•

future commitments to provide a set minimum annual tonnage of waste that includes
recyclable organic material to a waste-to-energy facility.

Experience from other Australian states and within WA has shown that adoption of the 3-bin
FOGO system increases the chance that LG entities will meet the Waste Strategy 2030
targets more easily.
The abundance of food and garden organic waste makes adoption of the 3-bin FOGO
system an effective method to minimise waste and re-use valuable materials. In 2017, the
Australian Government’s National Food Waste Strategy estimated that $20 billion was lost to
the Australian economy each year through food waste. Australian households lost over
$2,200 a year by wasting food and the commercial and industrial sectors wasted 2.2 million
tonnes of food each year. According to Sustainability Victoria 11, LG entities using a 3-bin GO
system can recover 40-55% of waste while those using a 3-bin FOGO system can recover
60-70%.
Once suitable infrastructure for collection, transport and processing, and end markets are
available, the recovery of FOGO will significantly reduce waste to landfill. It will also help
further protect the environment by freeing up landfill space, and reducing landfill emissions of
methane and carbon dioxide from decomposing organic waste. Using the 3-bin FOGO
system to separate organic waste to produce compost can provide fertiliser to enrich the
nutrient poor soils of WA and will keep valuable resources productive in the circular
economy.
The State first encouraged LG entities to adopt a 3-bin system through its Better Bins pilot
program in 2014. The program offered LG entities a total of $7.5 million to contribute to the
purchase of bins that met the State’s Better Bins Kerbside Collection Program Guidelines,
which included flexibility to collect GO or FOGO. However, LG entities applied for less than
half the funds because they regarded the extra costs required to change as prohibitive. The
State introduced the revised Better Bins Plus: Go FOGO program in 2020 following the
launch of the Waste Strategy 2030, which contributes up to $25 per household. It offers
further funding of $20 million over 6 years to encourage LG entities across WA to swap to the
3-bin FOGO system, separating both food and garden organics. This does not cover the full
costs to support effective rollout of a 3-bin FOGO system.

11

Sustainability Victoria (2017). Changing Behaviours to Improve the Rollout of a New Kerbside Organics Collection Service.
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Case study 1 – Implementing the 3-bin FOGO system produces recovery rates of over
60%
In 2013, Bunbury adopted the 3-bin FOGO system. Bunbury recovered around 60% of their
kerbside waste in 2016-17 to 2017-19 (Figure 3). This was much higher than the average recovery
rate of 27% for all regional LG entities in 2017-18. It was also higher than the 48% average recovery
rate for the 7 Perth and Peel LG entities using a 3-bin GO system in 2017-18.
The SMRC and one of its members, Melville, commenced a trial of the 3-bin FOGO system in
October 2017 (Figure 6). Over 6,700 households received new rubbish and organic waste bins, and
regular and consistent education materials across a range of media. Residents could also attend
community information sessions and provide feedback about the new service. SMRC conducted 2
rounds of bin tagging in February-March and April-June 2018. Community Waste Education Officers
inspected household bins each week for 6 weeks, recording bin contamination. Sampled bins
received a ‘happy’ or ‘sad’ tag. This provided residents with feedback on their performance and how
to improve (Figure 5).

Source: OAG

Figure 6: Melville’s 3-bin FOGO system is publicised on their waste collection trucks
At the end of the trial:
•

recycling bin contamination decreased from 25% to 14%

•

organic bin contamination was 2.6%, which is similar to rates achieved in other states and low
enough to consider composting options if the FOGO is pre-sorted to remove glass, plastic
and other contaminants

•

Melville reported a waste recovery rate of 64% in 2019, which came close to meeting the
Waste Strategy 2030 target of 65%.

Following the successful trial, Melville and 2 other SMRC member LG entities – City of Fremantle
and Town of East Fremantle – all introduced the 3-bin FOGO system in 2019.

LG entities rarely use financial incentives to avoid or reduce waste
Most LG entities charge fixed annual rates regardless of the amount and type of waste
households and commercial premises produce, giving no financial incentives for individual
households and commercial premises to reduce their waste. We identified only 2 examples
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of LG entities that provide significant incentives for the community to minimise waste.
Bunbury charges ratepayers less for smaller size bins and Cambridge does not charge for
the yellow-lid recycling bins. Some LG entities offer other less significant incentives to avoid
waste production, such as:
•

subsidies for purchase of home compost buckets

•

community workshops on sustainable living, composting and worm farming.

A Parliamentary inquiry into the Waste and Recycling Industry in Australia in 2018 noted that
LG entities could introduce weight-based charging to allow ratepayers to reduce their rates.
For example, South Korea introduced a weight-based ‘pay-as-you-throw’ charge on food
waste in 2013. The country now recycles over 95% of its food waste, up from less than 2% in
1995. LG entities can consider financial incentives to increase waste recovery and further
contribute to meeting the State’s waste recovery targets.

Bulk waste can be recycled but often ends up in landfill
A large proportion of bulk vergeside waste is recyclable (Figure 7), yet LG entities often take
it straight to landfill. We found variation across the LG entities, with some making significant
efforts to recycle and some using landfill to dispose of all their bulk waste. For example, in
2018-19, Bunbury did not recycle its collected vergeside bulk waste. In the same year,
Belmont reported recovering 31% of 3,562 tonnes of vergeside bulk waste by recycling steel,
cardboard, wood, green waste and mattresses. Recycling these materials, along with timber
and electronic goods, presents an opportunity for LG entities to increase their recovery rates
and is better for the environment.

Source: OAG

Figure 7: Bulk bin and vergeside bulk waste collection by LG entities

In the absence of State guidance, WALGA developed Better Practice Vergeside Collection
Guidelines and suggested that LG entities should aim to recycle 50% of collected bulk waste.
All 33 Perth and Peel LG entities offered bulk vergeside or bulk bin waste collections in 201718. However of these:
•

6 sent all their bulk waste to landfill

•

only 4 recycled 50% or more and met WALGA’s target

•

the remaining 23 recycled an average of 20% of collected bulk waste.

All 5 MRCs offered bulk waste collections and around two-thirds of the smaller regional LG
entities offered drop-off facilities instead. Recycling bulk rubbish will assist all LG entities to
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contribute to the Waste Strategy 2030 recovery targets and reduce the amount of waste that
ends up in landfill.

The State has made good progress since 2016, but LG
entities need more support to address local challenges
The State Government has implemented many of the recommendations from
our 2016 waste audit but action in 2 critical areas is still required
The Waste Authority and DWER have addressed 13 of the 16 recommendations from our
2016 audit Western Australian Waste Strategy: Rethinking Waste (Appendix 2). However, 2
important recommendations, to prepare a State waste infrastructure plan, and better practice
guidance for waste managers, have commenced but are not complete. There is 1 additional
outstanding recommendation relating to unlicensed waste operators, which is outside the
scope of this audit. LG entities require both infrastructure planning and comprehensive
guidance if they are to deliver better practice waste management across the State.
Some of the 13 key recommendations from our 2016 audit (Appendix 2) that they have
addressed include:
•

clarifying State entity roles and responsibilities

•

consulting with industry, government and the community to develop a new Waste
Strategy 2030 and Action Plan, and waste reforms on proposed changes to legislation,
waste derived materials and a waste levy review

•

preparing a template and guidance for LG entities to prepare waste plans

•

amending regulations to require LG entities to provide annual waste and recycling data

•

establishing the Waste Reform Advisory Group as an avenue for DWER to share
progress with industry stakeholders

•

preparing a Waste Data Strategy to improve data collection, verification and reporting.

The State Government’s Waste Strategy 2030 and associated Action Plan provide
clarification of government, industry and community responsibilities to manage waste,
improve resource recovery and protect the environment. They outline 8 headline strategies
and the types of activities needed to achieve these targets. Six of these headline strategies
are directly linked to our audit scope and involve the delivery of waste services by LG entities
and their communities. The State has already made progress on many of these activities
(Table 5).
Headline strategy
1

2

Examples of activities complete or
underway

Develop statewide
communications to
support consistent
messaging on waste
avoidance, resource
recovery and
appropriate waste
disposal behaviours

WasteSorted toolkit for consistent messaging
to support Perth and Peel LG entities to
adopt a 3-bin FOGO system prepared

LG adoption of a 3-bin
kerbside waste

Waste Authority position statement on
FOGO published

Examples of
actions delayed

Own Your Impact guidance on key waste
strategy initiatives commenced and
behaviour change campaign planned
Preparation of Better Bins Plus FOGO
guidelines
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Headline strategy

Examples of activities complete or
underway

collection system to
separate FOGO

Funding contribution to encourage LG
entities to adopt the 3-bin FOGO system

3

Sustainable government
procurement practices
to encourage use of
recycled products and
support local market
development

Options and priority actions to reduce waste
through State government procurement
identified

4

LG waste plans

Waste plan template, support and guidance
developed

Examples of
actions delayed

Not within the
scope of this audit

Supporting LG entities to meet waste plan
requirements
5

Review the scope and
application of the waste
levy

Consultation commenced for waste levy
review

Not within the
scope of this audit

Improvements to the regulatory framework
for waste underway
Illegal dumping strategies implemented

6

Strategic review of WA’s
waste infrastructure by
2020

Early planning to develop guidance for waste
infrastructure planning

State waste
infrastructure
audit
State waste
infrastructure plan

7

Review and update State
and LG data collection
and reporting systems

Waste Data Strategy published
Developing an online system for mandatory
reporting of waste and recycling data
Annual MyCouncil waste data reporting
publicly available

8

Provide funding to
promote the recovery of
resources from waste

Funding program to support waste avoidance
and recovery established

Reprocessing
feasibility
research

Source: OAG from information supplied by DWER

Table 5: Progress towards meeting headline strategies and examples of activities completed,
underway or delayed as at December 2019

Local challenges and a lack of tailored support from State entities prevent LG
entities from recovering more waste
Local challenges and lack of suitable support from State entities restricts LG entities’ ability
to improve waste recovery. Local waste infrastructure and markets for recycled products are
inadequate, with paper and cardboard, glass and mixed plastics typically sent interstate or
overseas for reprocessing. Even though there are some local facilities to process organic
waste, producing and selling mulch and compost that meet Australian Standards is difficult
due to high levels of contamination. Many of these issues can be resolved through
understanding local environments, the consistent education previously outlined, and support
to develop local reprocessing facilities and end markets that are willing to use recycled
products. This can be as simple as LG entities re-using organic materials collected in their
own parks and gardens.
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Individual LG entities look to the Waste Authority, DWER and DLGSC for guidance on waste
management, and integrated planning and reporting, but described limited opportunity to
interact with staff from these State entities. Each of the 7 LG entities audited provided
positive feedback that DWER had requested more input from LG entities in the last 2 years.
Specifically, their feedback was sought to develop the Waste Strategy 2030 and LG waste
plan templates, and on a series of consultation papers to help reform waste management in
WA. However, the LG entities suggested that State entities could:
•

acquire a better understanding of local challenges by visiting individual LG entities

•

offer additional guidance on how to deliver more effective and efficient services and
construct better practice infrastructure to manage all types of waste

•

help to plan and establish appropriate local reprocessing facilities and markets for
recyclable materials.

Additional State support will give individual LG entities more confidence that their waste
management decisions are better aligned to State recovery priorities and targets.
Some LG entities are not adhering to the State’s waste management priorities, particularly
those in regional areas. Some of the issues and challenges that prevent LG entities from
adopting these priorities are highlighted by regional LG entities and stakeholders that provide
waste services and include:
•

managing littering with limited staff – 1 LG entity employs 4 full-time staff to collect litter
and empty public bins within its main town site, but has only 1 person to attend to other
waste-related work. Many regional LG entities may only have 1 part-time staff member
responsible for managing waste

•

lack of experienced staff and high staff turnover – 1 LG entity reported difficulties in
attracting and retaining staff with appropriate technical knowledge. A waste contractor
servicing another LG stated that they needed 3 to 5 staff to sort recycling, but had an
extremely high turnover of 18 staff over a 6 month period in 2019

•

no or limited local reprocessing industries – 1 waste contractor over 500 km from Perth
advised us that it disposed of mixed plastics and glass to landfill, only sending
separated plastics with recycling labels ‘1’ (PET – polyethylene terephthalate, such as
drink bottles) and ‘2’ (HDPE – high density polyethylene, such as milk and shampoo
containers) and paper and cardboard to Perth, from where it continues interstate or
overseas

•

lack of suitable local waste infrastructure – many landfills may lack suitable
environmental controls and be unmanned with no ability to monitor waste dropped off
or collect gate fees to help fund landfill management and eventual landfill closure and
rehabilitation.

Without adequate engagement with individual LG entities, particularly in regional areas that
generate 35% of the State’s waste, State entities may not fully understand the local
challenges LG entities face or be able to provide appropriate support.
Managing illegal dumping and disposing of tyres are 2 problems that most LG entities face.
Illegal dumping requires valuable resources to collect and dispose of the waste, which can
be hazardous (Figure 8). Even when the waste is dumped on private land or land managed
by State entities, the LG entities can be left to collect and dispose of the waste. Tyres can be
recycled but as they are costly to transport and recycle, they often ended up in landfill (Figure
9). LG entities require guidance on how best to manage these problematic wastes to prevent
environmental harm and maximise resource recovery.
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Source: OAG

Figure 8: Examples of illegal dumping of residential, and construction and demolition wastes
that LG entities were responsible for collecting and delivering to landfill. Clockwise from top
left in the Perth hills, Floreat, Broome and Kalgoorlie-Boulder
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Case study 2 – Tyre stockpiling
All LG entities need to manage used tyres. While tyres can be recycled, they often end up in landfill.
Until 2018, one regional landfill accepted tyres from local households for free and from commercial
clients for a small charge of $44/tonne for local waste.
However, this created a problem as the LG believed that many were brought in from outside the
region to dispose at low cost. Despite recording most of the tyres as waste originating within their
area, the LG noticed that the volume of tyres was too high based on the number of residents.

Source: LG entity

Figure 9: Tyre stockpile at the landfill
Due to tyres being disposed by locals and people from outside the region, a large tyre stockpile
grew (Figure 9), creating a significant fire risk.
To address this risk, the LG prepared a Tyre Management Plan and put them in a separate area at
the landfill. This newly constructed tyre ‘monofil’ will allow them to access the tyres if recycling
becomes a viable option in the future. They also began tackling the problem by using a tyre
declaration form to ask where tyres come from, increasing fees for all tyre disposal, whether local or
not, and limiting the numbers of free tyres disposed per household each year.

Landfill levy funds can be used for waste related projects
The State and LG entities can use reserve landfill levy funds to progress waste management
projects and programs. The WARR Account receives 25% of the landfill levy from
metropolitan waste for use on waste avoidance and recovery activities. However, the amount
of expenditure each year had been lower than the annual amount of receipts from the landfill
levy. Consequently, the unspent balance had increased from $30 million in June 2016 to $40
million by June 2019. The Waste Authority can use the unspent WARR Account reserves to
fund waste-related projects. DWER has advised (Appendix 3) its current approach to these
funds includes an allocation to support the October 2020 implementation of the container
deposit scheme.
The Waste Authority directs WARR Account funds to help implement the Action Plan and
improve waste recovery. It funded Community and Industry Engagement grants to industry,
government and the community for projects to better manage, reduce, reuse and recycle
waste, and for monitoring or measuring waste. The Waste Authority advised us that it
received 90 applications in May-June 2019, requesting over $24 million for its $2.3 million
budget for these grants. The number of applications highlights the interest in developing local
waste solutions.
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Appendix 1: Map of key Perth and Peel waste
infrastructure at December 2019

Source: DWER
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Appendix 2: DWER and Waste Authority progress to
address 2016 audit recommendations
Recommendation

Progress

Status

Clarify and communicate the roles of
each agency

SLA, Governance Charter, Waste
Strategy 2030 and Action Plan
clarify agency roles

Finalise a Service Level Agreement
(SLA) and governance framework

SLA and Governance Charter
finalised

Develop business cases and
implementation plans for all projects
funded by the WARR Account

Business cases developed for all
externally funded projects from
2016-17

Provide regular and comprehensive
progress reporting for all annual
business plans, associated projects and
financial expenditure to the Waste
Authority board

Quarterly internal reporting between
DWER and Waste Authority

Promote key messages to the
community that focus on waste
avoidance and minimisation

WasteSorted toolkit prepared in
2018 and updated in 2019. Own
Your Impact behaviour change
website launched in 2018

Identify and agree on solutions that will
enhance the accuracy of waste and
recycling data to report against Waste
Strategy targets

WARR Regulations amendments
gazetted July 2019 to require LG
entities that provide waste services
to supply annual waste data to
DWER. Waste Data Strategy
released November 2019

Ensure data used to report against the
major regional centre MSW target is
representative of regional WA

MRCs defined in Waste Strategy
2030 and set a benchmark for
smaller regional LG entities

Publicly report annual progress towards
achieving all metropolitan and regional
Waste Strategy targets

Waste Authority annual report and
business plan detail progress

Improve accountability and
transparency of WARR Account fund
expenditure

Waste Authority and DWER
established a Risk and Performance
Committee to monitor WARR
Account funded projects

Improve ways to bring together
metropolitan and regional agencies,
LG, industry and community
representatives to assist knowledge
exchange and strategic waste planning

Waste Reform Advisory Group
established, DWER public
consultations to improve programs
and strategies

This audit
identified
additional action
needed to
encourage LG
entities to
promote
consistent key
messages
This audit
identified
additional action
needed to
address Waste
Data Strategy
recommendations
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Recommendation

Progress

Complete a State waste and recycling
infrastructure plan to ensure alignment
with the State planning framework

State Waste Infrastructure Plan not
started. DWER progressing waste
infrastructure planning with the
DPLH

Provide good practice guidance on
waste avoidance and minimisation,
managing problem wastes and
managing waste and recycling facilities

Waste Strategy 2030 and Action
Plan list developing guidance to
improve waste management. Some
guidance was prepared, for
example: waste plans, FOGO,
waste-to-energy position statement.
However more are needed

Assess the need for the State
Government to adopt a policy of using
recycled products as a way of
encouraging community use of recycled
products

Assessment of need and
opportunities for procurement to
increase recycled product use
conducted

Ensure Waste Strategy implementation
includes planning and projects to
improve resource recovery in regional
WA

Community and Industry
Engagement Program grants
provided to regional recipients.
MRCs to prepare waste plans

Ensure licensed waste operators
provide annual waste and recycling
data

WARR Regulations amendments
gazetted July 2019

Conduct risk assessments of
unlicensed waste operators and
determine what steps need to be taken
to ensure they conform with legislative
requirements

Legislative reform proposed. DWER
and Department of Fire and
Emergency Services conducted
aerial surveys in June 2019 to target
industries that present
environmental risks

Status

Action needed to
produce
guidance on
problem wastes
and managing
waste facilities

This audit
identified
additional action
needed to
support regional
LG entities

Action needed to
assess
unlicensed waste
operators,
monitor landfill
levy avoidance
and manage
waste stockpiling

Source: OAG analysis of information supplied by DWER and Waste Authority
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Appendix 3: Full responses from audited State and
local government entities
Waste Authority
The Waste Authority is pleased to provide comments on this report. It has been working
cooperatively with the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER) in the
implementation of the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy 2030 and the
associated Action Plans and Business Plans, including supporting LG’s waste services.
The Waste Authority, with support from DWER, is continuing to develop better practice
guidance for LG entities to manage key waste streams and problematic wastes. This
includes provision of updated position statements on kerbside waste collection, FOGO, the
waste hierarchy and waste to energy as per Action 1.3. It also supports the Household
Hazardous Waste Program (HHW) including funding and guidelines for the design and
operation of HHW facilities.
The Waste Authority is undertaking further work on better practice guidance documents for
FOGO, kerbside services, vergeside (bulk) waste collection and drop-off services to support
LG entities to adopt better practice waste management.
Both the Waste Authority and DWER continue to engage on a frequent basis with individual
metropolitan and regional LG entities to help understand, identify and address their local
challenges, risks and waste management requirements.
The Waste Authority has developed and is implementing the Waste Data Strategy.
The Waste Authority is supporting LG entities with materials that explain the cost and
environmental benefits of adopting a 3-bin FOGO system. A series of FOGO implementation
forums were conducted in April – June 2020 to support LG entities in planning, community
education and implementation of FOGO services and a FOGO Reference Group with LG and
industry representatives is working with the Waste Authority and DWER to develop a
practical FOGO Rollout Plan.
The Waste Authority is supporting LG through the Better Bins program and Better Bins Plus:
Go FOGO program with a combined investment of $4.6 million in 2020-21 to support LG
entities with the transition costs. This commitment to the Better Bins Plus: Go FOGO funding
program will continue at a similar rate of investment over the next 5 years in alignment with
the Waste Strategy’s Headline Strategy 2 for a consistent 3-bin kerbside collection system,
including FOGO, by all LG entities in the Perth and Peel region by 2025.
The Waste Authority and DWER are working closely together to engage with LG entities to
develop consistent and regular statewide messages, education and behaviour change
programs on waste avoidance, resource recovery and appropriate waste disposal behaviours
in alignment with Waste Strategy targets. The Waste Authority’s WasteSorted Toolkit
provides LG entities with communications materials and is continually revised and updated to
meet the various and developing needs of LG. In addition, the Waste Authority recognise the
value of direct household education and feedback provided through a bin tagging program to
improve household waste sorting behaviour and this program continues to receive Waste
Authority funding.

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
The Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER) continues to work closely
with the Waste Authority and key stakeholders in implementing the Waste Strategy 2030,
including supporting LG waste services.
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As committed to in the current business plan, DWER is undertaking a State waste
infrastructure audit and needs analysis in 2020-21 to determine waste infrastructure required
to meet the objectives of the Waste Strategy. Following this audit, State waste infrastructure
planning will address infrastructure options and technologies to meet the Waste Strategy
targets, land use planning objectives, and the approvals processes for environmental,
planning and licence approvals. The overall objective is to guide infrastructure development
to support the Waste Strategy targets, including that all waste should be managed or
disposed of to better practice facilities by 2030.
DWER supports the Waste Authority to develop better practice guidance to manage key
waste streams and problematic wastes. This has included the provision of updated position
statements on kerbside waste collection, FOGO, the waste hierarchy, waste to energy and
support for the HHW Program. Further work is underway to identify better practice guidance
documents for FOGO, kerbside services, vergeside (bulk) waste collection and drop-off
services to support LG entities to adopt better practice waste management. Market
development research is being undertaken in 2020-21 for sustainable markets for products
such as compost and soil conditioner derived from FOGO processing.
DWER has developed an online reporting system, training support and guidance to facilitate
provision of required waste and recycling data. Improved data will better enable
measurement and evaluation of waste management programs and initiatives, and ensure
resources are directed where they are most effective.
The Waste Authority and DWER are working closely together to engage with LG entities to
develop consistent and regular statewide messages, education and behaviour change
programs on waste avoidance, resource recovery and appropriate waste disposal behaviours
in alignment with Waste Strategy targets.
DWER is supporting LG to align their waste planning processes with the Waste Strategy.
Plans are due 31 March 2021 and annual reporting will commence from 1 October 2022.

Combined Waste Authority and Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation response
Specific responses to recommendations
Recommendation 1 a) – supported
The Waste Authority and DWER are working closely together and supporting LG in Western
Australia.
DWER is undertaking a State waste infrastructure audit and needs analysis as per Action 6.1
in the current Waste Strategy Action Plan to determine the waste infrastructure required
throughout the State to meet the objectives of the Waste Strategy. This will be undertaken in
2020-21. Following this audit, the State Waste infrastructure planning will be undertaken to
develop a plan which addresses the different infrastructure options and technologies
available to meet the Waste Strategy, land use planning objectives, and the approvals
processes for environmental, planning and licence approvals. This is Action 6.3 in the current
Action Plan.
This work will be followed by work (as per Action 6.4 and 6.5) with the Department for
Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) to develop the planning instruments and guidance for
LG and developers for appropriate siting and design of waste facilities including landfills. This
DWER work undertaken in consultation with DPLH, LG and the waste industry as part of
Headline Strategy 6 in the Waste Strategy will ensure a State waste infrastructure plan in
alignment with the State planning framework. The overall objective is to guide future
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infrastructure development to support the Waste Strategy targets, including that all waste
should be managed or disposed of to better practice facilities by 2030.
Recommendation 1 b) – supported
DWER is aware of the need and committed to identifying local metropolitan and regional
reprocessing feasibility research, taking into account known standards, technologies,
viabilities and potential barriers for facilities and markets for recyclable materials, particularly
for organic materials. This is being undertaken as part of Action 6.2 in the current Action
Plan. Specific market development research is being undertaken in 2020-21 for sustainable
markets for the products such as compost and soil conditioner, derived from FOGO
processing as per Action 2.1.3.
Recommendation 1 c) – supported
The Waste Authority, with support from DWER, is continuing to develop better practice
guidance for LG entities to manage key waste streams and problematic wastes. This
includes provision of updated position statements on kerbside waste collection, FOGO, the
waste hierarchy and waste to energy as per Action 1.3. It also supports the Household
Hazardous Waste Program through a funding agreement with WALGA and work is planned
to review, update and publish guidelines for the design and operation of facilities for the
acceptance and storage of HHW (Action 1.2). A social media education campaign targeting
HHW disposal was implemented in 2020 using the WasteSorted toolkit in response to fire
incidents. An intensive behaviour change campaign will launch in August 2020 targeting bin
contamination and hazardous waste disposal.
The current Action Plan includes commitments for further work to identify better practice
guidance documents for FOGO, kerbside services, vergeside (bulk) waste collection and
drop-off services to support LG to adopt better practice waste management (Action 1.4) and
to support LG entities to develop and implement LG waste plans that align with the Waste
Strategy, as per Headline Strategy 4.
Recommendation 1 d) – supported
Both the Waste Authority and DWER continue to engage on a frequent basis with individual
metropolitan and regional LG entities to help understand, identify and address their local
challenges, risks and waste management requirements.
Recommendation 2 a) – supported
The Waste Authority has developed and is implementing the Waste Data Strategy (Action
7.1). DWER has developed an online reporting system (Action 7.2.2), available from 1 July
2020, to enable liable entities to report the required waste and recycling data, as per
Regulation 18C of the WARR Regulations (Part 3A, introduced in June 2019). DWER is
providing additional training support and guidance for all liable entities (including LG entities)
on data collection, reporting and quality control requirements (Action 7.2.1) throughout 202021.
Recommendation 2 b) – supported
DWER is supporting LG entities in developing and implementing appropriate controls to
minimise the risk of inaccurate data supplied by contractors by providing clear guidance on
waste data reporting requirements through the gazettal of CEO notices and approved
procedures, and publishing a range of guidance documents; providing additional training
through webinars; and developing an annual audit program to review methods of collecting
and calculating waste and recycling data.
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Recommendation 3 – supported
The Waste Authority is supporting LG entities with materials that explain the cost and
environmental benefits of adopting a 3-bin FOGO system. The Eastern Metropolitan
Regional Council has developed a business modelling tool that has been made freely
available to all LG entities to use, allowing them to change variables such as bin size,
collection frequency and facilities available to model different costs and benefits of
implementing the 3 bin FOGO system. A series of FOGO implementation forums were
conducted in April – June 2020 to support LG entities in planning, community education, and
implementation of FOGO services. A FOGO Reference Group with LG and industry
representatives working with the Waste Authority and DWER in supporting a highly practical
FOGO Rollout Plan (Action 2.2). Composting guidelines have been recently released by
DWER for consultation.
The Waste Authority is supporting LG entities through the Better Bins program (Action 2.1.1)
and Better Bins Plus: Go FOGO program (Action 2.1.2), with a combined investment of $4.6
million in 2020-21 to support LG entities. Funding for the program in 2020-21 will see the
delivery of FOGO to 323,780 (32%) households in Perth and Peel. This commitment Better
Bins Plus: Go FOGO funding program will continue at a similar rate of investment over the
next 5 years in alignment with the Waste Strategy’s Headline Strategy 2 for a consistent 3bin kerbside collection system, including FOGO, by all LG entities in the Perth and Peel
region by 2025.
FOGO market research is underway in 2020-21 regarding the sustainability of the market for
FOGO-derived materials including compost (Action 2.1.3).
Recommendation 4 – supported
The Waste Authority and DWER are working closely together to engage with LG entities to
develop consistent and regular statewide messages, education and behaviour change
programs on waste avoidance, resource recovery and appropriate waste disposal behaviours
in alignment with Waste Strategy targets (Headline Strategy 1).
The Waste Authority’s WasteSorted Toolkit was launched in 2018, and in 2 years has built
up a substantial folio of branded artwork and templates freely available for use and cobranding by LG entities. The WasteSorted toolkit provides LG entities with a wide range of
materials on appropriate waste disposal and is continually revised and updated to meet the
various and developing needs of LG entities. Use of the WasteSorted toolkit is strongly
encouraged to ensure consistent communications and funding agreements require local
governments to use, or be in alignment with, the WasteSorted Toolkit. The most likely time
for a LG entity to transition to the WasteSorted Toolkit is when communicating a change in
services. Of the 19 local governments that have applied for Better Bins Plus: Go FOGO
funding in 2020, 14 have indicated they will use WasteSorted Toolkit elements.
A State-wide behaviour campaign will launch in late August 2020 targeting waste avoidance,
improved recycling outcomes and increased recovery. This will provide regular and
consistent waste communications throughout WA. LG entities and regional councils will be
provided with the campaign materials to help amplify the messages. DWER works closely
with WALGA and stakeholders through the Consistent Communications Collective.
In addition, the Waste Authority recognise the value of direct household education and
feedback provided through a bin tagging program to improve household waste sorting
behaviour. This program (delivered by WALGA) receives Waste Authority funding and it will
reach a minimum of 10,000 households in 2020-21.
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Recommendation 5 – supported
The Waste Authority and DWER are working closely together and LG entities in WA by
providing guidance for LG entities to collect and publicly report consistent waste and
recovery financial and performance data.
The Waste Authority has developed and is implementing the Waste Data Strategy (Action
7.1). DWER has developed an online reporting system (Action 7.2.2), available from 1 July
2020, to enable liable entities to report the required waste and recycling data, as per
Regulation 18C of the WARR Regulations (Part 3A, introduced in June 2019). These
amendments aim to improve the accuracy, timeliness and completeness of waste and
recycling data available to the community and all stakeholders. Improved data will better
enable measurement and evaluation of waste management programs and initiatives, and
ensure resources are directed where they can be most effective. DWER is providing
additional training support and guidance for all liable entities (including LG entities) on data
collection, reporting and quality control requirements (Action 7.2.1) throughout 2020-21.
In April 2019, DLGSC published waste data reported by LG on the MyCouncil website. It is
intended this continue on an annual basis.
In addition, Headline Strategy 4 of the Waste Strategy focusses on LG waste plans to align
LG waste planning processes with the Waste Strategy. DWER has led extensive consultative
work with local governments, WALGA and the DLGSC on aligning LG waste planning
processes with the Waste Strategy through waste plans. In consultation with these bodies,
DWER developed a resource kit, including a template LG waste plan and guidance
documents, to ensure consistency with the Waste Strategy. These templates have been
completed and distributed. Following a November 2019 notice from the Director General of
the DWER under section 40 of the WARR Act, LG entities and regional councils located in
the Perth and Peel regions and major regional centres are now required to include a waste
plan within their plans for the future, and submit waste plans to DWER by March 2021.
Response in relation to the WARR Account
The State Government must consider any expenditure from the WARR reserves as part of
the State budget process. The Waste Authority itself is not able to determine use of WARR
Account reserves.
Section 79(1) of the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007 establishes that a
special account, namely the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery (WARR) Account, is
to be established under the Financial Management Act 2006.
Section 79(3A) and 79(3B) of the WARR Act requires that the Minister is to credit not less
than 25% of the forecast levy amount to the Department’s operating account under section
73(4) as is specified by the Minister for that financial year. The operating budget associated
with the WARR Account (also referred to as expense limit) is linked to the forecast levy
amount for each financial year, as stated in the State’s Budget Papers.
Section 80 of the WARR Act provides the Minister with powers to allocate funding to
initiatives that are additional to those approved as part of the annual Business Plan prepared
by the Waste Authority.
The Waste Authority business cases for expenditure are developed based on the Waste
Strategy priorities, resource requirements and Minister’s decisions under section 80, in line
with the operating budget (or expense limit) for that financial year (in 2019-20 and in 202021, the expense limit was set at $20.75 million and this is consistent for the next four outyears). It is not open to the Waste Authority to prepare a business plan in excess of the
approved expense limit or to allocate funds unless part of through the business plan
approved by the Minister.
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The WARR Account reserve contains historic under-expenditure from previous years. It is
not part of the WARR Account expense limit. In 2019-20, the expense limit expenditure was
99.8% of the approved budget. The WARR Account reserves are not accessible without
approval from the Expenditure Review Committee through the State budget process.
The State Government committed the WARR Account reserve to underwrite the container
deposit scheme commencing on 1 October 2020 and to provide investment in waste
processing infrastructure to support COAG’s decision to ban the export of certain wastes. An
Expression of Interest process has recently been undertaken in July and August 2020 for
paper and cardboard processing, and for processing plastics and tyres in WA.

Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries
The Local Government Act 1995
The Local Government Act 1995 (the Act) has been under review. This comprehensive
legislative reform is intended to create a modern Act that provides a framework for “agile,
smart and inclusive” LG, delivering better for communities.
A review panel, chaired by David Michael MLA, met from November 2019 until May 2020,
and drew on best practice models in Australia and overseas and closely considered the
extensive feedback from the consultation conducted by DLGSC. The report can be found at
https://www.dlgsc.wa.gov.au/department/publications/publication/local-governmentreviewpanel-final-report
A focal point for the reform is Integrated Planning and Reporting, as the central mechanism
for aligning strategy and operations.
Western Australia Local Government: Community Wellbeing Indicators Study (yet to be
released)
The above study has been undertaken in a timely manner to contribute to the review of the
Act. The study provides the opportunity to consider not just the content of the community
outcome indicators being used by LG entities, but also the quality of them. This aspect of the
study will assist deliberations on how the Act can empower and support LG to better capture
and measure the outcomes that matter to communities, as a core element of strategic
planning.
This can include planning at locality (sub-district), district (City, Town, or Shire), and regional
(multiple contiguous districts) levels, and also includes the potential to better link with desired
State-wide outcomes.
Furthermore, improvements in measurement practice and State-local linkages are not just a
matter for legislation. While the Act provides the overarching intent and framework,
implementation will need to be supported through non-statutory means. To that end, the
study can also shed light on the training, tools, and resources likely to be required to enable
a successful and smooth transition to the new Act.
Local Government Waste Plans
The Waste Strategy focusses on LG waste plans to align LG waste planning processes with
the Waste Strategy. LG entities are the primary managers of Municipal Solid Waste (MSW)
generated in WA and improving LG waste management practices will make a significant
impact on the amount of waste materials recovered.
DWER has led extensive consultative work with DLGSC, LG entities and WALGA on aligning
LG waste planning processes with the Waste Strategy through waste plans.
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Following this consultation, DWER developed and distributed a resource kit, including a
template LG waste plan and guidance documents, to ensure consistency with the Waste
Strategy.
Following a November 2019 notice from the Director General of the DWER under section 40
of the WARR Act, LG entities and regional councils located in the Perth and Peel regions and
major regional centres are now required to include a waste plan within their plans for the
future, and submit waste plans to DWER by March 2021.
Waste plans require LG entities to identify:
•

how they are performing in relation to the Waste Strategy objectives

•

the major waste management challenges for the LG entity

•

strategic waste and resource recovery infrastructure needs.

DWER is supporting LG entities in preparing, reviewing, and reporting on their waste plans.
LG entities will be required to report on the implementation of their waste plans on an annual
basis.
DLGSC will continue to support DWER on the requirement to develop and submit local waste
plans and will investigate incorporation within LG Integrated Planning and Reporting, under
the Act.
WA State Local Government Partnership Agreement
Minister Stephan Dawson MLA attended the WA State Local Government Partnership
Agreement - Leadership Group meeting on 30 October 2019 and discussed the Waste
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy 2030. An Agreement for waste is intended to sit
under the Partnership.
Specific responses to recommendation 5
Supported. DLGSC notes and agrees that improvement to some LG waste management data
is required. It supports:
a) the Waste Authority’s Waste Data Strategy, and
b) DWER’s online reporting system and the new mandatory reporting requirements
together with training support and guidance for LG entities on data collection,
reporting and quality control requirements that will increase accuracy, timeliness, and
completeness of data over time.
In collaboration with DWER, LG waste data has been uploaded to the MyCouncil website to
provide increased transparency around LG waste and recycling performance and encourage
benchmarking and improved performance. The 2018-19 data has been uploaded and
launched. DLGSC will continue to work with the Waste Authority and DWER in this area.

City of Belmont
The City of Belmont appreciated the opportunity to participate in and contribute to the audit
and supports the outcomes and recommendations within it.
The identification of the need for a State waste infrastructure plan and further development in
reprocessing facilities for recyclables and market opportunities for organic materials from
FOGO processing are key areas of interest for the City, and we were pleased to see
reference to these initiatives in the report.
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The City is currently on track with the development of a draft Waste Plan, which will be
endorsed by Council and submitted to the Chief Executive Officer of DWER by 31 March
2021. Identified within the implementation plan of the City’s draft Waste Plan are the
following tasks to improve the effective delivery of waste management services and meet the
targets of the Waste Strategy 2030:
•

introduction of a 3-bin kerbside collection system by 2025

•

continue to improve data collection with an emphasis on illegal dumping

•

improve awareness and the benefits of source separation for customers through
behavioural change programs and consistent messaging.

The City is interested in participating in a future audit to assist with measuring the change
and effectiveness of current initiatives underway.

City of Bunbury
The City of Bunbury accepts the findings and recommendations within the report.

City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder
The City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder’s waste services are delivered effectively and meet our
community’s expectations, however we acknowledge that there is work to be done to meet
the State’s waste diversion targets. Although we support the principle of waste diversion, my
primary responsibility as CEO is to deliver cost-effective waste services, which meet the
needs of our community and local businesses.
The City broadly supports the recommendations of the audit and in particular the
development of a State waste infrastructure plan. We believe this is vital in identifying
market-based solutions to improve waste diversion at a regional scale. This is of particular
significance to regional communities where population sizes and transport distances impede
cost-effective resource recovery at a local level. With these necessary enabling
arrangements in place, LG will be better placed to drive the waste diversion objectives
sought by the State.
We look forward to working collaboratively with the State Government to improve our
progress towards the State’s waste diversion targets.

City of Kwinana
Overall, the City of Kwinana commends the report and its comprehensive assessment of LG
waste management as it relates to an evolving and challenging state, national and
international waste and recycling context.
Importantly, the report highlights the change in the State Waste Strategy from 2012 to 2019
and the slow response from LG to mobilise and respond accordingly. Whilst this may be the
case in most LG authorities, this has not been the case with the City of Kwinana. The City is
one of few LG authorities that prepared its own Waste Management Strategy based on a
comprehensive multi criteria analysis, having regard to the State Waste Strategy 2012
targets and objectives, and should be commended for doing so. It is on this basis that the
City entered into a legal agreement to supply a minimum tonnage of Municipal Solid Waste
(MSW) to Energy from Waste.
Using this approach the City is forecast to meet the recovery targets of the State Waste
Strategy 2012 by late 2021. In changing the [State’s] approach as adopted in the State
Waste Strategy 2030, the Audit fails to recognise that LG entities are not able to be as agile
and responsive to changing strategic directions. The City of Kwinana, like all LG entities, is
accountable to its ratepayers, and as such, needs to ensure that the community is not
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financially disadvantaged by a conflict in timing between City of Kwinana contractual
agreements and changes in State Government strategy. As advised in previous submissions
to the Waste Strategy 2030, the City of Kwinana is of the view that the State has developed a
one size fits all approach in its adopted Strategy. Whilst this has been done to drive a united
vision for waste management in WA, it does not recognise the market conditions, industry
context and the variability in the LG’s capability and legal commitments with respect to
delivering waste services to meet the needs of each local community.
The City of Kwinana is currently in the process of reviewing its current Waste Management
Strategy to accord with the requirement to prepare and submit a Waste Plan by March 2021.
It is proposed that considerations and actions arising for the City of Kwinana from the Audit
findings be incorporated into the City’s Waste Plan preparation. This will ensure that the
City’s approach is integrated, transparent and will enable more effective monitoring of
actions.
It is agreed that a greater range of considerations is required by the State Government to
foster, develop and support emerging best practice across Perth and its regions and within
each LG entity. This comes in many forms and requires the State to allocate funding already
collected from LG to be reinvested into meaningful industry wide solutions that would support
the objective of the State Waste Strategy 2030. This is fundamental to achieving the
objectives of the State Waste Strategy.
Specific responses to recommendations 1 to 4
The City of Kwinana supports the above recommendations but requests that the
recommendations go further in terms of the State's transparency and accountability in
regards to its funds. In order to achieve the objectives of the Waste Strategy 2030,
investment in solutions to currently unviable recovery options, domestic reprocessing
technology and infrastructure, and market development for recovered material products must
be strategically prioritised and supported with the funding that has already been levied.
It is recommended that the approach that is prepared by the State seek to take a tailored
approach where possible to ensure that there is some flexibility and adaptability for each LG
entity without compromising the objectives.
Specific responses to recommendations 6 to 9
It should be noted that LG entities are required to prepare Waste Plans by March 2021. Once
prepared, these are to be made publicly available for all to access and view. The City is
currently in the process of undertaking its modelling of waste management options having
regard to existing commitments and the Waste Strategy 2030 objectives and targets. This
modelling will inform the preparation of the City's Waste Plan and in turn the existing
contracts that are currently in place and subject to review over the next 5 years. It should be
noted, that whilst consideration may be given to the inclusion of performance measures in
contracts to recover waste, the State needs to be mindful that this will only be achieved at an
additional cost, a cost that will be borne by residents. Consideration needs to be given to the
rate of change and all the costs associated with the changes, across the waste service and
in turn the impact on the community, particularly given the current COVID 19 crisis where the
community is already impacted financially through loss of employment. The City needs to
have regard to its ability to subsidise changes to the waste services and the additional cost
burden of such changes over the short term and longer term.
The City is also in the process of appointing a consultant to prepare a Waste Education Plan
to support the City's successful implementation of the Waste Plan, which will include
consideration of a number of mechanisms to help the community make informed choices
around consumables and waste creation. The City already offers incentives in the form of
providing larger recycling bins at no cost to encourage greater recycling. Whilst there may be
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further consideration of other options, this needs to be determined in the context of the total
costs of providing the waste service.

City of Melville
Thank you for this opportunity to participate in the Performance Audit. The City of Melville
was mentioned a number of times positively and the report highlighted some of the essential
priorities required to meet the State’s long term targets like the lack of local, regional and
state-wide waste planning and infrastructure, tailored support for LG entities and the lack of
consistency between LG entities of not adopting best practice waste management and
resource recovery.
Specific responses to recommendations
Recommendation 1
Supported. These are the main concerns for most LG entities in WA and should be the
priority of the state departments to ensure that best practice sustainable resource recovery
options and the creation of local processing infrastructure and markets are available in the
very near future. They will need to be at a reasonable rate and a realistic distance or
valuable renewable material will end up in landfills or at an energy from waste facility at the
detriment to the environment. The risks have been well known for a long time and will require
a direct approach with enforcing producer responsibilities to reduce waste and include
recyclable products in their manufacturing processes and final products.
Recommendation 2
Supported. Considering 80% of LG entities contract out their kerbside collections, amending
the Local Government Act 1995 to include compulsory reporting and validation of reportable
figures will ensure contractors and LG entities are held accountable to recovery targets.
Recommendation 3
Supported. The cost of a best practise resource recovery system is high for many LG entities
but it should not be if local markets and infrastructure are created and once a majority of LG
entities move to a consistent collection, economies of scale are created. Those that opt for a
consistent best practice should be further financially incentivised to do so and those choosing
not to be subjected to higher landfill levies/gate fees. Historically LG entities have never been
a collective and require either enforcement via the Local Government Act 1995, regulations
or to be financially motivated to make a dramatic change.
Recommendation 4
Supported. The City utilised the well-known brand Recycle Right as a consistent source of
information and messaging for both the 3-bin FOGO trial and rollout in 2019 and decided to
continue to use it even after the WasteSorted Toolkit was developed to remain consistent.
Unsure as to why another was created as the existing source of information should have
been built on.
Recommendations 5 and 6
Supported. The City provides via its Annual Report these figures however agree more clarity,
transparency and with increased frequencies of updates are required and the feedback is
more than welcome to assist with improving our service delivery. Our DWER Waste Plans
will be required to pass through Council and therefore become public knowledge however as
above, will need to be on the City website as a minimum.
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Recommendation 8
Supported. Best practise requires continuous improvement. Prior to the 2019 bulk verge
collection, the City engaged a disposal contractor for their bulk verge waste and managed to
divert 35% from landfill on top of the mattresses, e-Waste and fridges with no change to the
gate fee. Environmental benefits of any Tender or Contract should always be ahead of price.
Recommendation 9
Supported. The City investigated financial incentives but as we were moving to a full Citywide FOGO rollout and the learnings from the trial, decided to offer non-financial incentives
to ensure the 3-bin system was used effectively and contamination was reduced to those
residents unable to manage their own waste with the bin sizes supplied. We offered a free
360L recycling bin upgrade, still collected fortnightly and a needs assessment for their redlidded 140L general waste bin and if successful (no food waste or recycling, just a capacity
issue) we swapped their smaller bin for a larger 240L red-lidded general waste bin that was
also still collected fortnightly. Although contradictory to waste reduction and avoidance
behaviour, it offered other options free of charge for the residents to correctly use the 3-bin
system.
The City is also investigating a cloth nappy rebate scheme of 50% of the set up purchase
price and cheaper FOGO bins for commercials properties in an attempt to reduce waste and
food waste to landfill but these won’t be in effect prior to the report. State government
rebates on cloth nappies as well as compostable caddy liners for example or even incentives
for producers to increase their availability and make them cheaper to purchase would also be
of benefit to both LG entities and their residents. If a $150 cloth nappy rebate is available and
only 200 residents take up the option at the cost of $20,000 for example, it will remove
approximately 1,200,000 nappies from landfill.
A subsidised load of FOGO compost to the residents would be a classic example of closing
the loop and a circular economy.
The Performance Audit has identified the main shortcomings in the WA waste industry.
These shortcomings are required to be actioned quickly to maintain the current acute
awareness of waste and to achieve a sustainable best practice resource recovery before it
becomes cheaper and simpler to ignore all tiers on the waste hierarchy and move straight to
disposal or energy recovery and if that occurs, it will be near impossible to re-educate the
residents or get LG entities to change their direction.

Mindarie Regional Council
Many thanks for the opportunity to respond to the recommendations on the audit.

Shire of Broome
The Shire of Broome was pleased to be invited to participate in the audit. The Shire is at a
critical point in relation to waste and recycling with the imminent closure of the local landfill
facility and the conclusion of the kerbside collection contract. The audit report provides an
excellent opportunity for improvement in the design and operation of the new facility and
waste/ recycling operations in general. The findings within the report will assist with the
production of the Shires Waste Strategy, which will inform the direction of operations.
The Shire of Broome is in the process of:
•

developing a local waste strategy that will include both the Kimberley Regional Strategy
and the State Waste Strategy 2012. Expected completion and release early 2021
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•

commencing the writing of a new kerbside collection contract. This may include the
Kimberley regions. Expected implementation 2023-2024. It has been identified that the
current contract is limited in KPI’s for the contractor

•

implementing an education programme to improve knowledge of recycling and the
effects of illegal dumping. Timeframe ongoing

•

commencing composting trials to determine product viability. Completion 2021

•

discussing the 3-bin FOGO system. Green waste is already delivered to the site in vast
quantities, mulched and when there is excess given to the public for free. Organic
waste is being investigated although preliminary results are showing a limited market
and high processing costs

•

the Shire offers 2 weekends for free domestic drop off to the waste facility to encourage
pre cyclone clean-up, pensioners are offered a skip bin delivered once a year to their
property. Recycling is encouraged with these activities

•

investigating reuse options for bulk recyclables within the Kimberley. Completion mid
2021

•

areas of current bulk recycling include: concrete crushing, steel crushing and removal
to Perth, tyre removal to Perth, mulching of green waste/wood. These bulk activities are
costly.
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Glossary
Action Plan

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy 2030 Action Plan

DPLH

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage

DWER

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation

FOGO

food organics and garden organics

GO

garden organics

HHW

household hazardous waste

LG

local government

MRC

major regional centre

MRF

material recovery facility

MSW

municipal solid waste

RC

regional council

SLA

service level agreement

WA

Western Australia

WALGA

Western Australian Local Government Association

WARR Account

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account

WARR Act

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007

WARR Regulations

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Regulations 2008

Waste Strategy 2012 Western Australian Waste Strategy – Creating the Right Environment
Waste Strategy 2030 Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy 2030
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Auditor General’s 2020-21 reports
Number

Title

Date tabled

2

Opinion on Ministerial Notification – Agriculture Digital
Connectivity Report

30 July 2020

1

Working with Children Checks – Managing Compliance

15 July 2020
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MANAGING THE IMPACT OF PLANT AND ANIMAL PESTS: FOLLOW-UP
This report has been prepared for submission to Parliament under the provisions of section
25 of the Auditor General Act 2006.
Performance audits are an integral part of my Office’s overall program of audit and
assurance for Parliament. They seek to provide Parliament and the people of WA with
assessments of the effectiveness and efficiency of public sector programs and activities, and
identify opportunities for improved performance.
The objective of the audit was to assess whether State government entities had effectively
addressed findings from my Office’s 2013 audit Managing the Impact of Plant and Animal
Pests: A State-wide Challenge.
I wish to acknowledge the entities’ staff for their cooperation with this audit.

CAROLINE SPENCER
AUDITOR GENERAL
31 August 2020
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Auditor General’s overview
Protecting Western Australia from the threat of invasive plant and animal
pests is a challenge. Our State’s natural advantages of ocean and desert
borders have helped preserve much of our biodiversity and safeguard our
agricultural industries. However, tourism and trade activity, which is
essential to supporting our standard of living, as well as population
growth test these natural advantages. Vast distances also make
surveillance and enforcement of biosecurity regulations especially
challenging, making productive cooperation with landholders to manage the threat essential.
WA produces nearly one fifth of the nation’s agricultural output by value and the South West
is an internationally recognised biodiversity hot spot. With this economic value and natural
heritage at stake, it is vital that the most serious threats are met with an appropriate and
timely response. To do this effectively, entities need good systems to capture and store
critical information about pest species, including the size, context and distribution of pest
populations, and make it available to landholders so that properly informed risk-based
decisions and actions can be taken.
The responsibility for managing the threat of invasive pest species is a shared one, but State
government entities are charged with a regulatory role that cannot be delegated entirely.
Striking a balance between this role and the need to engage landholders is important as a
means of addressing the decline in regulatory activity (monitoring and compliance) we have
observed since our last audit. It is also important to ensure that funds raised to assist
landholders in managing pests on their lands are put to good use in a timely manner.
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Executive summary
Introduction
The objective of the audit was to assess whether State government entities (entities) had
effectively addressed findings in our 2013 audit Managing the Impact of Plant and Animal
Pests: A State-wide Challenge. 1
Our 2013 audit report found it difficult to verify how effectively entities managed established
pests. The report made 8 recommendations to the then Department of Agriculture and Food
Western Australia that highlighted the need for all stakeholders to collaborate in addressing
this complex challenge (Appendix 1).
Since 2013, under Machinery of Government changes, the Department of Agriculture and
Food Western Australia has been replaced by the Department of Primary Industries and
Regional Development (DPIRD) and the Department of Parks and Wildlife by the Department
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions (DBCA). DPIRD and DBCA were the focus of
this audit.

Background
The challenge
Plant and animal pests damage agriculture, forests, the environment, social amenity and
public health, costing Australia billions of dollars annually. In 2018 the annual cost of plant
pests (weeds) to Australian agriculture was estimated at between $4.5 billion and $6 billion. 2
The cost of animal pests was estimated in 2014 at between $400 million and $800 million. 3
With Western Australia (WA) accounting for 18% of agricultural output for Australia in 201819, pests pose a significant economic risk to the nation and the State while the livelihoods of
producers and communities depend on that production.
In addition to the economic risk to agriculture, pests represent a risk to the biodiversity native
to the State. South West Australia alone is an internationally recognised biodiversity hot spot,
with about half the roughly 6,000 plant species found nowhere else. 4 This area also features
well-known native animals such as the numbat and quokka. Pest animals such as feral cats
and foxes eat native animals that have not evolved to deal with such threats. Pest plants may
outcompete native plants, particularly threatened species, and endanger their long term
survival.
Pest animals and plants can also impact cultural sites, social amenities and human safety.
There are increasing reports of feral camels damaging Aboriginal cultural sites, food sources
and watering holes in the desert regions of WA and wild dogs are encroaching on regional
centres such as Exmouth, endangering human safety. Amazon frogbit, an aquatic weed, has
been found in Perth river systems, impacting river health and risking water quality.

The approach
Managing pests is complex, requiring collaboration among many landholders and other
stakeholders with diverse and sometimes competing expectations and interests. These
Managing the Impact of Plant and Animal Pests: A State-wide Challenge (2013)
McLeod, R. (2018) Annual Costs of Weeds in Australia.eSYS Development Pty Limited. Published by the Centre for Invasive
Species Solutions, Canberra, Australia.
3
McLeod, R. (2016). Cost of Pest Animals in NSW and Australia, 2013-14. eSYS Development
Pty Ltd, 2016. Report prepared for the NSW Natural Resources Commission.
4
Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund, 28 July 2020, Southwest Australia, accessed 19 August 2020, https://www.cepf.net/ourwork/biodiversity-hotspots/southwest-australia
1
2
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include Commonwealth, State and local government entities, Aboriginal communities,
miners, primary producers and lifestyle landowners. The sheer size of the State also
presents challenges. This requires resources to be targeted to where they can be most
effective.
In WA and across Australia, entities use the invasion curve (Figure 1) to guide them in
managing pests. This involves preventing pests from entering the State and eradicating new
arrivals before they can spread, while containing those already here and limiting their
adverse impacts. The idea behind the curve is that it is more cost effective and feasible to
stop pests becoming established than to protect assets and the environment when pests are
already widespread.

Source: OAG, adapted from the Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions, Victoria

Figure 1: Generalised invasion curve for the management of invasive species

The legislation
The Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 (BAM Act) and the Biosecurity and
Agriculture Management Regulations 2013 (Regulations) establish the regulatory framework
for managing pests in WA. Organisms are classified under the BAM Act and Regulations in
categories (Table 1) based on the assessed risk of an adverse impact on other organisms,
humans, the environment and agriculture.
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Pests
Permitted
organism

BAM Act and
Regulations

S11

Permitted
organism
permit
required

Prohibited
organism

R73

S12

Declared pest

S22(2)

Unlisted
organism

S14

Definition

Allowed in
WA

Permit
required to
import

May have an
adverse effect
on another
organism,
humans, the
environment or
agricultural
activities

May have an
adverse effect
on another
organism,
humans, the
environment or
agricultural
activities

Not defined
in category

Where it
applies

Whole State

Whole State

Defined areas
or whole State

Defined areas
or whole State

Not defined

Pest status in
WA

May or may
not be in
WA

Only with a
permit

Generally not
present or in
small numbers
in WA

Present in an
identified area
in WA

May or may
not be in
WA

No. of plants

47,099

13

870

56

Unknown

No. of animals

1,372

0

843

30

Unknown
Source: OAG

Table 1: Classification of organisms under the BAM Act

At 7 June 2020, there were 30 declared vertebrate animal pests and 56 declared plant pests
in WA (Appendix 2).
The BAM Act requires landholders to control declared pests on their land. It provides for
inspections and pest notices directing landholders to exclude, control or stop keeping
declared pests on their property. The BAM Act reinforces these powers with fines of up to
$50,000 for non-compliance.
The BAM Act provides for recognised biosecurity groups (RBGs) as a way for communities
to help control established pests. RBGs are legal entities that represent landholders in a
defined region and may undertake pest management activities in that region. There are
currently 15 RBGs covering about 96% of the State. 5 RBGs are primarily funded by annual
rates paid by landholders, known as the Declared Pest Rate, that the State matches dollar
for dollar to coordinate and carry out pest control programs. These rates are compulsory
although some landholders may apply to have them deferred. The BAM Act requires RBGs
to report on their activity to DPIRD and for DPIRD to publish RBG annual reports on their
website.
The BAM Act also created the Biosecurity Council to advise the Minister for Agriculture and
the Director General DPIRD on biosecurity matters. The Council reports roughly annually,
including recommendations to DPIRD to improve processes and address risks.
RBGs do not cover metropolitan Perth, regional centres or parts of the Wheatbelt, South West and Great Southern regions, an
area totalling 109,000 square kilometres.

5
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Who is responsible
DPIRD is the lead entity in managing pests, with a long-standing focus on controlling
agricultural pests. As well as its responsibilities for biosecurity and regulation under the BAM
Act, it also administers the Fish Resources Management Act 1994.
DBCA is responsible for protecting biodiversity and environmental assets such as threatened
species and conservation reserves and parks from the impact of pests. DBCA is the largest
landholder in WA, with responsibility for 29 million hectares of land conservation reserves
and parks and 91 million hectares of unallocated Crown land and unmanaged reserves. It
administers the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 and has land management
responsibilities under the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 and the BAM Act.
Although DPIRD is responsible for administering the BAM Act, it is ultimately landholders
who are required to control pests on the land they manage. This includes local and State
government entities with landholder obligations, including DBCA, the Forest Products
Commission, Main Roads, Department of Water and Environmental Regulation and
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage. In this way, the responsibility to control pests is
a shared one that crosses property boundaries and all types of landholding.

Conclusion
State government entities have not effectively addressed all findings from our 2013 audit
report, though they have made some progress on 5 of the 8 recommendations. They have
established a framework for collaborating on pest management and released a Statewide
plan that defines roles and responsibilities. Policies and criteria to declare pests have been
approved and the declared pest list reviewed. They are still to fully implement or evaluate key
aspects of the framework and plan, improve transparency of the process for declaring pests,
and create a program to periodically review the threat of potential and declared pests.
Information on the spread, abundance and impact of high priority pests is still not
comprehensive or shared amongst stakeholders, and efforts to manage pests are still not
based on a systematic assessment of the risks they pose. These shortcomings make it hard
to manage Statewide pest risks, effectively allocate operational resources and enforce
legislation.
To help meet its responsibilities and manage the risk to industry, the environment, and
people, DPIRD has increasingly relied on recognised biosecurity groups (RBGs), industry-led
pest management and community engagement to support voluntary compliance. However,
DPIRD has yet to establish comprehensive and systematic monitoring and evaluation
arrangements to demonstrate whether this is an effective regulatory approach and to inform
future strategies.

Key findings
A Statewide collaborative framework, strategy and plan for pests have been
established but gaps remain
Since our 2013 audit, DPIRD has established a framework for the collaborative management
of pests across WA. Entities have developed formal arrangements to collaborate across
entity and land boundaries but these are not always effective. Stakeholders remain
functionally separate bodies with differing priorities whose pest management efforts do not
always align.
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The Plan has not been fully implemented and so does not address the threat
posed by pests
We found that the Plan is comprehensive but only 13 of its 38 actions have been completed.
Entities do not clearly prioritise and periodically review threats according to risk to ensure
efficient use of resources. Crucially, DPIRD has not ranked the highest risk pests nor created
emergency plans, generic or specific, to deal with prohibited species.
The process for declaring pests is still not transparent to stakeholders despite this being
identified as a priority in our 2013 audit. Since then, DPIRD has reduced regulatory activity in
favour of voluntary compliance and community engagement. While this shift aligns with the
national approach, it carries risks that pest management is not consistently carried out or
enforced for all landholders.
Consistent with the shift in approach, there has been an increase in the number and funding
for RBGs which has increased their capacity to assist landholders to manage established
pests. However, DPIRD does not know if they are effective substitutes for enforcement by
entities.

Information on the spread, abundance and impact of pests is still fragmented
and inadequate
DPIRD cannot demonstrate that information on the spread, abundance and impact of high
priority pests is accurate and current. Information on individual pests is still fragmented and
inadequate to plan effective management programs and measure their success. This means
entities do not have an overview of pest populations and their impact to provide a sound
basis for resourcing decisions.
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Recommendations
1. To strengthen the pest management framework, the Department of Primary Industries
and Regional Development (DPIRD) should:
a. address outstanding Biosecurity Council recommendations and review how they are
tracked for completion
b. develop an evaluation framework and performance indicators for pest management
programs, including for recognised biosecurity groups (RBGs)
c. evaluate the Invasive Species Plan and develop a replacement in consultation with
relevant stakeholders.
DPIRD response: Supported
Implementation timeframe: September 2021
2. To improve emergency response planning, DPIRD should:
a. use a risk assessment to identify which species require emergency response plans
and develop them in consultation with stakeholders
b. consider the use of exemplar or generic emergency response plans that can be easily
applied to a number of species.
DPIRD response: Supported
The Department will focus on developing exemplar emergency response plans that can
be used for future responses, rather than creating many plans for species that may not
ever enter WA.
Implementation timeframe: December 2021
3. To improve the process to declare pests, DPIRD should:
a. review and approve the policy and process for declaring pests
b. publish the policy on its website and ensure decision making is transparent and
documented.
DPIRD response: Supported
Implementation timeframe: December 2020
4. DPIRD should schedule regular reviews of the declared pest list to ensure it is accurate
and up to date.
DPIRD response: Supported
A schedule of regular review is supported, and a process for review could be developed
by December 2020. Significant developments may trigger earlier review of individual
species.
Implementation timeframe: December 2020
5. To enhance the completeness, timeliness and accuracy of pest management data,
DPIRD and DBCA should:
a. develop cross-entity agreements that define how and what data is to be shared
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b. create integrated data sets where possible and appropriate
c. engage and share data with landholders.
DPIRD response: Supported
DBCA response: Supported
Implementation timeframe: December 2021
6. To improve reporting from the RBGs, DPIRD should:
a. review reporting requirements to improve the quality, timeliness and simplicity of
reporting
b. publish RBGs’ annual reports, which include the audited financial statement, on the
DPIRD website
c. consider measures to increase RBGs’ compliance with reporting requirements.
DPIRD response: Supported
RBG annual reports are published on the DPIRD website as required under the BAM Act.
DPIRD encourages RBGs to develop and publish monitoring and evaluation reports, as
well as Operational Plans, and will consider further measures to improve this.

Implementation timeframe: December 2020
7. DPIRD should finalise policies for enforcing compliance with regulations and evaluate its
approach to ensure objectives of the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
are being met.
DPIRD response: Supported
Implementation timeframe: June 2021
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Response from the Department of Biodiversity,
Conservation and Attractions
The Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions is responsible for conserving
WA’s biodiversity, managing approximately 29 million hectares of national parks, State
forest and other reserves, and managing the sustainable use and promoting enjoyment of
natural areas and wildlife. We also have responsibilities to manage pests on approximately
91 million hectares of unallocated Crown land and unmanaged reserves outside of
metropolitan areas and townsites.
We undertake this challenge within existing resources. Management and control of pest
species is prioritised to protect native plants and animals, particularly threatened species,
enhance national parks and other reserves to enrich visitor enjoyment and experiences,
and support good relations with our neighbours.
We acknowledge the findings of the audit and will continue to work with the Department of
Primary Industries and Regional Development to improve pest management in WA.

Response from the Department of Primary Industries and
Regional Development
In 2007, the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act (BAM Act) was enacted, followed
by the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Regulations in 2013. This was part of a
transition of the management of biosecurity in WA to a model of true shared responsibility
across industry, governments and community. In particular, there has been a significant
change in the management and control of widespread and established plant and animal
pests in the State, focusing on the development of a community coordinated approach for
these pests, and an emphasis on education, engagement and voluntary compliance.
This change was made taking into account current science and policy, and recognising
that government resources are best focussed on the prevention and eradication of pests
not yet established in the State, rather than the operational management of widespread
pests that should be controlled at a local level. Furthermore, it provided a mechanism to
empower communities to target and manage the widespread and established pests of
most concern to them, and support the responsibilities of landholders under the BAM Act
to control those pests through a community approach.
The development and increase of recognised biosecurity groups as the preferred
community coordinated approach to manage established and widespread declared pests
has enabled us to reprioritise resources to minimise the new and emerging pest and weed
threats coming to WA, and provide the best possible public good outcomes.
It is important also to recognise that the capacity of the Department to provide these
services is impacted by the occurrence of new and emerging biosecurity threats and
priorities, including responses to biosecurity incidents and incursions. Future planning must
ensure that these critical services can be maintained throughout these times.
Whilst much work has been done in this transition, there is much still to do. We recognise
and acknowledge that it must continue to work with stakeholders to strengthen the system
for managing these pests, and minimise the impact on our industries, communities, social
amenity and environment. The findings of this report will be an important part of this work.
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Audit focus and scope
This performance audit followed-up our 2013 audit Managing the Impact of Plant and Animal
Pests: A State-wide Challenge. The objective of the audit was to assess whether State
government entities (entities) had effectively addressed the findings from our 2013 report.
In conducting this audit, we:
•

reviewed legislation, strategies, policies, procedures and other key documents

•

interviewed key staff from the Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development (DPIRD) and the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and
Attractions (DBCA), and members of recognised biosecurity groups (RBGs) and the
Biosecurity Council

•

reviewed minutes from the Biosecurity Senior Officers Group meetings

•

analysed relevant data from entity systems.

The audit focused on the management of invasive species of land based plants and animals.
Plant and animal diseases, invertebrate animals such as insects, microorganisms and
aquatic and marine pests were out of scope.
This was a performance audit, conducted under Section 18 of the Auditor General Act 2006,
in accordance with Australian Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3500
Performance Engagements. We complied with the independence and other ethical
requirements related to assurance engagements. Performance audits focus primarily on the
effective management and operations of entity programs and activities. The approximate
cost of undertaking the audit and reporting was $363,000.
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Audit findings
A Statewide collaborative framework, strategy and plan for
pests have been established but gaps remain
Since our 2013 audit, DPIRD has established a framework (Figure 2) for the collaborative
management of pests across the State. In consultation with relevant entities it released 2
documents that provide the strategic focus of entities’ efforts to manage pests, define the
roles and responsibilities and set out actions to achieve the aims of the strategy. These are:
•

the WA Biosecurity Strategy 6 (Strategy) in November 2016

•

the Invasive Species Plan 7 (Plan) in February 2015.

In November 2016, DPIRD approved policies that define when to declare an organism a pest
under the BAM Act. By establishing the framework, defining the roles of entities and the
criteria to declare a pest, DPIRD has made progress with 2 of the recommendations from our
2013 audit while helping to ensure pests are properly identified and resources are well
targeted.

Source: OAG

Figure 2: Pest management framework
6
7

WA Biosecurity Strategy 2016-2025
Invasive Species Plan for Western Australia 2015-2019
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State government entities have developed formal arrangements to collaborate
across entity and land boundaries but these are not always effective
Entities formalised the Biosecurity Senior Officer’s Group (BSOG) in 2016 as the main forum
where they can collaborate and decide how to best integrate their collective resources to
implement the Plan and Strategy. The BSOG includes senior officers from relevant entities
who share information, discuss issues and coordinate actions. The entities that make up the
BSOG are:
•

DPIRD

•

DBCA

•

Forest Products Commission

•

Department of the Premier and Cabinet

•

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation

•

Department of Health

•

WA Local Government Association

•

Department of Defence (Commonwealth).

By collaborating and exchanging information at BSOG meetings, the participants increase
their knowledge of current issues and better coordinate their approaches to managing pests.
DBCA has used memorandums of understanding (MOUs) and developed policy to support
collaboration with RBGs to manage pests across boundaries between private land and lands
managed by DBCA. In 2018-19, DBCA had MOUs with:
•

Blackwood Biosecurity to manage feral cats, deer, foxes, pigs and rabbits

•

Goldfields-Nullarbor-Rangelands Biosecurity Association for wild dogs

•

Northern Biosecurity Group for wild dogs

•

Wheatbelt Biosecurity Association for wild dogs.

DBCA has also updated its Good Neighbour Guideline and policy to assist relations with its
neighbours. Neighbours include any individual or entity, including local, State and
Commonwealth government entities that own, occupy or manage lands adjacent to lands
managed by DBCA. This collaboration framework enables RBGs to reduce the risk and
damage to agriculture and the environment from pests on State managed land.
Despite arrangements to collaborate, stakeholders remain functionally separate bodies with
differing priorities whose pest management efforts do not always align. We found that DPIRD
is primarily focused on protecting agriculture at a State level and DBCA on protecting
biodiversity, while industry and RBGs tend to focus on the pests that threaten their core
businesses. For example, we found that DBCA baiting for foxes and feral cats can pose a
risk to working dogs on neighbouring farms if they breach fence lines, while the livestock and
working dogs from these farms could adversely impact biodiversity and management
programs if they are not kept on their properties.
This leads entities, industry and community stakeholders to set priorities, allocate funds and
work in partnership based on individual concerns rather than a collective responsibility for the
public interest. It is then hard to effectively collaborate and coordinate pest management.
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The Plan has not been fully implemented and so does not
address the threat posed by pests
We found that the Plan is comprehensive but only 13 of its 38 actions have been completed.
Actions stalled when staff availability and priorities were diverted by organisational
restructures and to deal with emergencies such as the recent discovery of Red Imported Fire
Ants in Fremantle and Queensland fruit fly in the western suburbs of Perth. DPIRD failed to
develop an implementation plan and therefore actions were not prioritised based on risk or
scheduled for completion. Only partially implementing the Plan meant findings from our 2013
report have not been fully addressed.
The Plan also required DPIRD to prepare for the eradication, management or emergency
response to specific pests based on a risk assessment. We found that:
•

DPIRD had not performed risk assessments to identify which species needed a plan

•

no emergency plans were developed for the 13 prohibited species identified in the
Plan, although 1 had an eradication plan and another had a more general response
plan

•

of the 28 species listed as requiring eradication, half had a plan developed but only 5 of
those are now current and approved

•

of the 57 species listed as requiring management control, only 5 have an approved
plan or strategy (wild dogs, feral pigs, camels, horses and donkeys).

Other incomplete actions include:
•

assessing risk and allocating resources accordingly, and estimating future resource
needs

•

identifying pest surveillance gaps, and formalising agreements to share data

•

creating a framework to monitor and evaluate programs.

Without implementing actions from the Plan:
•

stakeholders are less likely to understand their role

•

activity will be less coordinated

•

measures of success will not be established.

The Plan expired in 2019 and entities have not begun work on the replacement that is
needed to ensure Statewide risks of pests are managed. We found the Plan was due for
review in 2017 and was to be evaluated in 2018 but neither of these occurred. While this
does not stop entities pursuing actions set out in the Plan, it risks public and stakeholder
perceptions that these actions are no longer occurring and no longer required. It also creates
a risk that the roles and responsibilities of stakeholders will change over time and become
unclear.

Entities do not clearly prioritise and periodically review threats according to
risk to ensure efficient use of resources
Managing pests effectively requires good, up-to-date information, risk assessment and
prioritisation because pest populations can change rapidly if they are not controlled or
become established in new locations. We found that entities do not clearly prioritise threats
based on current risk assessments and do not review the risk of all pests to agriculture and
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biodiversity regularly enough. This means they still cannot demonstrate that they use
resources effectively to control pests in WA.
DPIRD does not have a schedule to periodically review the threat posed by all pests to
ensure threat assessments are up-to-date, nor a policy for how often this should occur. The
Biosecurity Council recommended review at least every 5 years. 8 This means all species
should be reviewed by 2021, but there is no plan to do so. We found:
•

DPIRD reviewed 81% of declared pest plants and animals once in 2016

•

the Plan intended for DPIRD to review the list of declared pests again 2 years later but
this did not occur.

Lack of regular review means the State does not have up-to-date information on the impact
and threat from declared pests on which to assess risk and base funding.
Not all declared pests are required to be controlled. The 2016 review created the no control
category for pests that DPIRD determined pose a minimal risk to agriculture. DPIRD now
refers to this category as unassigned control as these pests may be managed by RBGs or
other entities to protect local concerns, the environment or society. Pests in this category
require no control action from landholders but RBGs can raise funds through the Declared
Pest Rate to manage them if they choose to. Our analysis noted there are currently 22 pest
animals and plants in this category (Figure 3). The status of pests in this category was to be
reviewed within 2 years but this has not happened. DPIRD advised us that this category is
currently under review.

Source: OAG charts based on DPIRD data

Figure 3: The number of declared pest animals and plants by control category in 2013 (first
audit) and 2020 (follow-up audit)

The feral cat is an example of a declared pest in the unassigned control category. It has
been declared because it kills large numbers of native animals but has a negligible impact on
agriculture (refer case study below). This means that funds can be raised to manage the pest
even though DPIRD considers that control measures should not be enforced.

Advice provided to the Minister on 18 December 2014 regarding the declaration of weeds and vertebrates under section 22 of
the BAM Act

8
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Case study – Feral cats declared in 2019
Cats (Felis catus) were introduced to Australia during European settlement and are now established
across the country, including WA. Feral cats are defined as cats that are living and reproducing in
the wild. They are not owned or socialised and survive on their own in the wild by hunting.
Feral cats were declared a pest in 2019. They are in the unassigned category of management,
meaning landholders are not required to actively manage them as they have a negligible impact on
agriculture. However, they are not completely without risk to agriculture, as feral cats can carry
infectious diseases which may be transmitted to domestic livestock. Humans are also at risk from
these infectious diseases.
They were declared a pest because, there was considerable current and planned activities
undertaken by community groups, industry and government (DBCA), across the State, to limit the
impact of feral cats to biodiversity.

Source: Wikipedia

One estimate put feral cats’ environmental impact at $144 million per year based on the number of
birds killed. 9 According to DBCA, feral cats have played a major role in the extinction of at least 27
native mammal species. In WA, 36 mammal, 22 bird and 11 reptile species are vulnerable to
predation by feral cats.
DBCA conducts baiting and trapping through the Western Shield program to reduce feral cat
numbers on land it manages. DBCA also uses fencing and offshore islands to create environments
free of feral cats to encourage native wildlife to recover.
DPIRD has developed a policy statement to minimise the risks of harm to domestic cats from the
declaration of feral cats as declared pests.

DPIRD has not ranked the highest risk pests nor created emergency plans for
prohibited species
DPIRD has not identified which pests should be its highest priority. DPIRD began ranking the
top 15 plant and animal pests in WA in 2015 to provide more focused guidance on resource
allocations of the invasive species program. However, we found the process was incomplete
and not reviewed. We found 2 plant species prioritised in error and the ranking of animals by
economic impact was not completed as intended. DPIRD cannot demonstrate why 1 pest
should be ranked above another and that resources are used effectively.

McLeod, R. (2004) Counting the Cost: Impact of Invasive Animals in Australia 2004. Cooperative Research Centre for Pest
Animal Control. Canberra

9
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We found little evidence that resource decisions by DPIRD or DBCA are systematically
informed by impact assessments of high risk pests and the costs and benefits of treating
them. The Plan required DPIRD and DBCA to use an assessment of risk to allocate
resources. This partly addressed a Biosecurity Council finding in 2016 that DPIRD’s use of
risk to prioritise activities would benefit from greater rigour, transparency and consistency.
Not carrying out a risk assessment means that entities do not know if funds are used in areas
of greatest need or to greatest effect.
DPIRD has not developed emergency plans for the highest risk prohibited species based on
impact and the likelihood they would be found here. The Plan identified species that might
need emergency plans, but none were developed. We also found no generic emergency
plans have been developed and tested. The Biosecurity Council recommended to do this and
target resources to plans that could apply to more than 1 species. DPIRD has only recently
begun to progress this type of approach but told us it has access to emergency response
plans from other jurisdictions. Clear planning for emergencies provides the best chance to
avoid pests becoming established while not doing so could reduce the State’s overall
biosecurity.
Entities’ experience with emergency response provides some assurance that emergencies
can be managed. While no emergency plans were developed, DPIRD has wide experience
actively responding to pest emergencies such as the discovery of Red Imported Fire Ants at
Fremantle Harbour. DPIRD has also developed an approved State Hazard Plan for Animal
and Plant Biosecurity that defines the roles and responsibilities for preparedness, but only at
a high level. It is likely these experiences are widely applicable.
DPIRD told us that responding to emergencies diverts significant resources away from
planned plant and animal pest activity. From December 2019 to May 2020, DPIRD estimates
these emergency responses occupied over 330 Invasive Species and Environmental
Biosecurity staff days. In February 2018 the Biosecurity Council recommended that a
dedicated fund be created to deal with emergency responses and help minimise the impact
on DPIRD’s normal operations. Without better emergency management, resources will
continue to be diverted away from technical and regulatory activities towards incident
response.

The process for declaring pests is still not transparent to stakeholders despite
this being identified as a priority in 2013
DPIRD has largely followed its policy and criteria to declare pests but some decisions are not
documented. Our review of the 4 pests (feral cats and 3 plant species) declared since the
policy was approved in November 2016 found that DPIRD had not documented the reasons
for declaring 2 of the plant species. Failure to document decisions reduces accountability for
decision making and the integrity of the State’s pest management framework.
DPIRD only assesses requests to declare plants and animals that meet the policy criteria.
However, the policy and criteria are not publicly available. DPIRD told us that it regularly
receives requests that are incomplete or poorly reasoned. We found that DPIRD did not
record its reasons for not assessing these requests. Assessment of incomplete and poorly
reasoned requests can waste departmental resources and the lack of transparency and
accountability for decisions can erode community trust.

DPIRD has reduced regulatory enforcement in favour of voluntary compliance
and community engagement, but this carries risks
Since our last audit, DPIRD has continued to move further away from a risk-based
compliance and enforcement model in managing widespread and established pests. This
aligns with the agreed national framework for pest management. The Department of
Agriculture and Food Western Australia responded to our 2013 audit that its role was
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regulatory and attributed reduced compliance activity to reduced staff numbers. While it is
difficult to make a direct comparison in the context of wider organisational changes, we found
a 47% increase (from 242.3 to 356.5 full-time equivalent) in DPIRD’s Biosecurity and
Regulation staffing from 2012-13 to 2018-19, but less compliance activity.
DPIRD’s approach now favours engaging with the community through activities such as field
days and the Biosecurity Blitz to encourage voluntary compliance. While some enforcement
is still carried out, it is significantly reduced since our last audit. If an effective balance
between regulatory enforcement and community engagement is not achieved, there is a risk
that the emphasis on voluntary compliance will lead some landholders to view pest
management less seriously and under-invest in it. DPIRD’s policies do not articulate how it
will determine this balance and effectively achieve regulatory outcomes.
Our review of DPIRD compliance data found fewer property inspections performed than
during our last audit assessment. Available data shows a peak in 2008-09 of 4,536
inspections but only 138 in the first 5 months of 2019 (Figure 4). Instead of conducting
inspections, DPIRD has relied on landholders to identify infestations on their properties.
However, this cannot be expected to identify all infestations and without property inspections,
pests could become established in new locations.

Source: OAG chart based on DPIRD data

Figure 4: Property inspections performed between 1999-00 and 2019-20
There was no data recorded between 2012-13 and 2016-17
*2019-20 data is only until 28 November 2019

DPIRD does not consider the relative threat of different pests and enforces compliance only
where an active RBG is engaged and vocal on an issue. We reviewed all pest notice data
since 2013 and found from December 2014 to November 2019, 90% of pest notices were for
narrow leaf cotton bush in the South West where the cotton bush compliance program runs
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in partnership with local RBGs. The estimated net cost of the cotton bush compliance
program was $56,629 in 2017-18 and $57,548 in 2018-19. However, DPIRD considers
cotton bush a low priority pest and recommended it be classified as permitted during their
2016 review. There is a risk that compliance activity is not based on pests that pose the
greatest risk to the State but on the need to support RBGs.

Pest management is not consistently carried out or enforced for all landholders
Pest management on public land is not enforced as DPIRD does not enforce BAM Act
requirements on government entities. DBCA manages the largest land area in the State, with
responsibilities for over 120 million hectares, an area larger than the size of Victoria, New
South Wales, the Australian Capital Territory and Tasmania combined. DBCA has developed
a policy to manage the impact of pests such as feral camels and donkeys (Figure 5) on
relations with its neighbours but it performs control measures on only a small amount of the
land area it manages. However, DPIRD has not carried out inspections on DBCA land or
issued any pest notices as it believes to do so would undermine their relationship and
collaboration. Greater oversight of public land may be necessary to maintain widespread
commitment to pest management as a shared responsibility and trust in the entities charged
with managing and regulating it.
Pest management on non-agricultural lands appears less likely to be carried out or enforced.
A 2016 survey jointly commissioned by DPIRD and the Invasive Animals Cooperative
Research Centre found that private landholders in the South West Land Division who do not
rely on income from their land are less likely to actively manage pests. This research also
found that increasing diversity in land uses in rural areas has resulted in greater variation of
priorities. Some RBGs believe more enforcement is needed if absentee landholders are to
meet their obligations to manage pests.

Source: DPIRD

Figure 5: Feral camels and donkeys cause major damage to infrastructure, vegetation and
water sources in North Western and central desert regions of WA

RBGs’ capacity to manage established pests has expanded but DPIRD does
not know if they are effective substitutes for enforcement by entities
An increase in the number of RBGs has increased the State’s capacity to manage pests but
their impact is not being measured and it is not clear how effective they are. The number of
RBGs has increased from 5 in 2013 to 15 in 2020 to coordinate the management of existing
pests at the regional level. RBGs now cover 96% of WA (Figure 6), but there are still areas of
the State they do not cover, including the Great Southern. Further expansion of RBGs into
more densely populated and farmed areas in the South West and Wheatbelt could increase
protection in areas of high biodiversity. Landholders, industry and other community groups
also perform varying degrees of pest management.
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Source: OAG, based on a DPIRD graphic

Figure 6: Map of WA with RBGs from 2013 to 2020

RBGs’ financial resources have increased, indirectly giving landholders more resources to
manage pests and comply with the BAM Act. Between 2013-14 and 2018-19, the State
contributed $11 million to the Declared Pest Account, matching the $11 million paid by
landholders through the Declared Pest Rate. This money is held in the account from where it
is distributed to RBGs by DPIRD. At 30 June 2019, the balance of the Declared Pest Account
was $5 million, up from $419,000 at 30 June 2014 (Figure 7). RBGs are also able to raise
funds through Royalties for Regions, Commonwealth Natural Resource Management funding
and DPIRD capacity building grants among others. Reliable funding from the Declared Pest
Rate provides certainty and allows the RBGs to maintain a consistent level of activity.

133
20 | Western Australian Auditor General

12

11

10

10

8

$ million

8

6

12

6

6

6

6

5

5

4

4

2

2

0

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

0

Contributions through Declared Pest Rate and DPIRD matched funding
DPIRD payments to RBGs
Cash balance at 30 June
Number of RBGs
Source: OAG chart based on DPIRD figures

Figure 7: Declared Pest Account and the number of RBGs funded by financial year

We expected funds raised through the Declared Pest Rate and matching State contribution
to closely track expenditure on RBGs’ pest management activities over time. However, funds
raised in 2018-19 were far in excess of the amount spent, leaving a substantial cash balance
of unspent funds in the Declared Pest Account. While there may be legitimate reasons for
the cash balance to fluctuate and increase over time as the number of RBGs increases, the
intent should be to use the funds in a timely manner for stated purposes. A growing cash
surplus may indicate a need to review this funding mechanism to ensure it is efficient.
DPIRD is currently unable to assess if RBGs provide better or more cost effective outcomes
than regulatory enforcement because it has no framework to evaluate them. We found that
current reporting by RBGs provides limited information about their success in managing
pests and DPIRD has not independently assessed their impact. Guidance provided by
DPIRD to RBGs suggests they measure outputs such as baits laid and traps set rather than
outcomes such as reductions in pest populations. This is reflected in the RBGs’ annual
reports we reviewed. Without measuring and reporting outcomes, DPIRD does not know if
the RBGs’ approach is effective.
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We reviewed RBG annual reports from 2014-15 to 2018-19 and found them to be of varying
quality and unable to provide a sound performance assessment. In 2018-19, DPIRD paid out
$5.2 million from the Declared Pest Account to 11 RBGs. However, not all RBG annual
reports acquitted this expenditure in a timely manner, if at all, and we found not all reports
provided sufficient detail to know how funds were spent.
Under the BAM Act, RBGs are required to report to DPIRD on the use of funding from the
Declared Pest Account, and provide an audited financial statement by 31 October each year.
Our review of 2018-19 RBG annual reports identified the following areas of non-compliance
with the BAM Act:
•

8 of the 11 funded RBGs submitted their reports after the 31 October 2019 deadline. As
at 21 May 2020, 1 report was still outstanding

•

4 of the 11 funded RBGs did not submit an audited financial statement. Only 2 RBGs
included the audited financial statement in their annual report as required. Omitting the
financial statement from the annual report greatly limits the transparency of
expenditure, especially for rate payers

•

only 1 of the 11 RBGs complied with all requirements provided by DPIRD

•

at the time of our review, none of the 2018-19 annual reports were available on the
DPIRD website as required by s171 of the BAM Act. They subsequently became
available on 6 July 2020.

The extent of non-compliance may reflect inadequate guidance and support provided to
largely voluntary RBGs by DPIRD. Without timely and accurate reporting by RBGs, DPIRD
cannot be sure they offer value for money and effective management of high priority pests
over time, and ratepayers will not have visibility of the operations they fund.

Information on the spread, abundance and impact of pests
is still fragmented and inadequate
Despite this being 1 of our main findings in the 2013 audit, DPIRD cannot demonstrate that
information on the spread, abundance and impact of high priority pests is accurate and
current. Information on individual pests is still fragmented and inadequate to plan effective
management programs and measure their success. This means entities do not have an
overview of pest populations and their impact to provide a sound basis for resourcing
decisions.
Information recorded by DPIRD, DBCA, RBGs and other stakeholders is distributed across
many different databases and locations and sharing arrangements have been informal and
ad hoc. For example, monitoring cameras (Figure 8) store images of pest animals in many
locations around the State. These images and the time and location data attached to them
are not collected in a single searchable database.
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Source: DBCA

Figure 8: Image from monitoring camera at Lowlands on the DBCA managed estate

The State’s pest management strategy includes sharing resources and knowledge, but we
found little evidence that this was happening in a comprehensive or systematic way. Without
systematic knowledge sharing it is hard for entities to develop a comprehensive, shared
understanding of pest threats, increasing the risk that programs will not work together
effectively.
State level monitoring and reporting of progress and outcomes from pest management
programs is generally limited and not performed consistently or in a timely manner. Entities
monitor, evaluate and report on some of their pest management programs, examples of this
are:
•

DBCA’s Western Shield program reports regularly. It has a monitoring plan and its
performance is regularly evaluated.

•

DBCA also reports on its use of the Forest Enhancement Fund and the Wet Season
Weed Program.

•

DBCA reported on implementation of the Cane toad strategy for Western Australia
2009 – 2014 but has not done so yet for the replacement strategy for 2014 – 2019.

•

DPIRD monitors farmer and pastoralist attitudes to the State Barrier Fence annually but
a lack of clear performance measures makes it hard to assess its effectiveness.

Other data capture and monitoring information remains in regional databases and is not
collated or reported regularly, or at all. This limits the quality and timeliness of management
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information at a corporate level and limits the ability of entities and their responsible ministers
to be accountable to Parliament for the cost of programs.
DPIRD and DBCA have begun to use customised software to improve data capture and
evaluation but these do not yet substantially add to existing information about WA pest
animals and plants. Since our last audit:
•

DBCA in 2017 developed the Weed App, a data collection application that includes a
mapping function for field officers to record the location of weeds and the treatment
(Figure 9). The app is intended to evidence the effectiveness of weed control measures
over time and enhance current reporting capabilities.

•

DPIRD in 2018 released a similar application for priority pests and projects using the
same location mapping software but with enhanced reporting functions. It is largely
used for documenting pests and control measures in the eradication and exclusion
categories.

•

DPIRD in 2014 developed the MyPestGuide family of applications for public use that
includes the Reporter application which allows anyone to record sightings of pests.
From 1 January to 31 December 2019 there were a total of 106,718 observations
submitted through MyPestGuide. Some RBGs also use the application for weed
surveillance.

These applications represent a significant shift forward in the use of technology and the
availability of information. However, until they are more widely used, they are unlikely to help
create an accurate, current or complete record of priority pests.
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Source: DBCA

Figure 9: Mapping (bright blue) of large infestations of grader grass in the Miluwindi
Conservation Park using the DBCA Weed App

Lack of data also makes it hard to assess if RBGs are effective at controlling pests. RBGs
told us they would appreciate better baseline, monitoring and surveillance data to evaluate
their programs and assess if pest management activities are successful over time. Some
RBGs use the surveillance application FeralScan to log pest animals, the use of which is also
encouraged within DBCA. This information is often shared by RBGs at a regional level in
private groups with DBCA and DPIRD. But the information is not aggregated at a State level,
and some landholders do not contribute surveillance through fear of non-compliance. Without
substantial and reliable data, the effectiveness of RBGs’ and entities’ pest management will
remain hard to assess.
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Appendix 1: Recommendations made in our 2013
audit report
Report recommendations:
the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia (now
Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development)
should:

Traffic
lights

Current status

•

ensure that an effective framework for the collaborative
management of pests across the State is established; and
that key roles of government agencies are defined

Implemented

•

develop a Statewide plan for the management of all declared
pests

Partly implemented

•

ensure that information on the spread, abundance and impact
of high priority pests is accurate, current and complete

Not implemented

•

approve its draft policies and criteria to declare pests; and
establish a transparent process that is visible to external
stakeholders

Partly implemented

•

establish a program under which the threat posed by
potential and declared pests is subject to periodic
documented review

Partly implemented

•

develop effective prioritisation processes that ensure its
operational resources are directed to combating the highest
threats

Partly implemented

•

develop an effective monitoring and evaluation regime to
determine whether planned operational outcomes are being
achieved

Not implemented

•

where appropriate, make greater use of enforcement
mechanisms under the BAM Act to ensure landholders meet
their responsibilities to control pests on their land.

Not implemented

Source: OAG
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Appendix 2: Declared pest list
Vertebrate
animals and
plants

Common name

Scientific name

1

Animal

Red Fox

Vulpes vulpes

2

Animal

Rainbow Lorikeet

Trichoglossus haematodus

3

Animal

Wild boar, feral pig

Sus scrofa (feral)

4

Animal

Flowerpot Snake, Brahminy
blindsnake, Bootlace Snake

Ramphotyphlops braminus

5

Animal

ring-necked pheasant, Common
pheasant

Phasianus colchicus

6

Animal

Paddy Finch, Java Sparrow

Padda oryzivora

7

Animal

Wild rabbit with wild-type brown
colouring, not domestic or fancy
breeds or commercial breed, European
Rabbit

Oryctolagus cuniculus (feral)

8

Animal

Domestic Rabbit, Domestic / Fancy
breeds or commercial breed, not wildtype rabbit with brown colouring.

Oryctolagus cuniculus
(domestic)

9

Animal

Ferret, Domestic Ferret

Mustela putorius furo (domestic)

10

Animal

Agile Wallaby

Macropus agilis

11

Animal

Common House Gecko, Bridled House
Gecko

Hemidactylus frenatus

12

Animal

Northern Palm Squirrel

Funambulus pennantii

13

Animal

Feral cat

Felis catus (feral)

14

Animal

Feral horse

Equus caballus (feral)

15

Animal

Feral donkey

Equus asinus (feral)

16

Animal

Galah

Eolophus roseicapilla

17

Animal

Emu

Dromaius novaehollandiae

18

Animal

Fallow deer

Dama dama

19

Animal

Wapiti, Red deer, Elk

Cervus elaphus

20

Animal

Feral goat

Capra hircus (feral)

21

Animal

Wild dog hybrids, Wild dog / Dingo /
Feral dog

Canis familiaris

22

Animal

Feral camel, Dromedary camel (feral)

Camelus dromedarius (feral)

23

Animal

Little Corella (Pilbara-Murchison and
northern wheatbelt subspecies)

Cacatua sanguinea westralensis

24

Animal

Little Corella (Kimberley subspecies)

Cacatua sanguinea sanguinea

25

Animal

Western Corella (Lake Muir
subspecies), Muir's Corella

Cacatua pastinator pastinator

26

Animal

Western Corella (northern and central
wheatbelt subspecies), Butler's corella

Cacatua pastinator butleri

27

Animal

Sulphur-crested Cockatoo

Cacatua galerita
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Vertebrate
animals and
plants

Common name

Scientific name

28

Animal

Banteng Cattle

Bos javanicus

29

Animal

Beefalo cattle breed and all animals of
37.5% and more American bison
genetic material

Bison bison x Bos taurus (more
than 37.5%)

30

Animal

But excluding Beefalo Cattle and all
animals of 37.5% and less Bison
genetic material), American Bison
(Including Hybrids Thereof

Bison bison

31

Plant

saucunazi, macaniqueira, m'sau,
Indian jujube, Chinese apple

Ziziphus mauritiana lam.

32

Plant

calla lily, arum lily

Zantedeschia aethiopica (l.)
spreng.

33

Plant

sheepbur, sea burdock, rough
cocklebur, kra chap,
karheasappiruoho, kankerroos,
hedgehog burweed, heartleaf
cocklebur, ditchbur, common
cocklebur, cocklebur, clotbur,
buttonbur, burweed, abrojillo,
noogoora burr, Bathurst burr

Xanthium strumarium l.

34

Plant

thorny burweed,spiny cocklebur, spiny
clotbur, prickly burweed,
piikkisappiruoho, dagger weed, dagger
cocklebur, burweed, boetebos,
Bathurst burr

Xanthium spinosum l.

35

Plant

gorse, furze

Ulex europaeus l.

36

Plant

oatgrass, kangaroo grass, habana
grass, grader grass

Themeda quadrivalvis (l.) kuntze

37

Plant

tamarisk, flowering cypress, athel tree,
athel tamarisk, athel pine, athel

Tamarix aphylla (l.) h.karst.

38

Plant

apple of Sodom

Solanum linnaeanum hepper
and p.-m.l.jaeger

39

Plant

white horsenettle, silverleaf nightshade

Solanum elaeagnifolium cav.

40

Plant

variegated thistle, milkthistle, blessed
milkthistle

Silybum marianum (l.) gaertn.

41

Plant

sicklepod senna, sicklepod,
coffeeweed, javabean, chinese senna

Senna obtusifolia (l.) h.s.irwin
and barneby

42

Plant

Seven-golden-candlesticks,
ringwormshrub, ringwormbush,
ringworm senna, empress-candleplant, emperor's candlesticks,
candlestick senna, candle bush,
Christmas-candle

Senna alata (l.) roxb.

43

Plant

sagittaria, delta arrowhead

Sagittaria platyphylla (engelm.)
j.g.sm.

44

Plant

elmleaf blackberry, Thornfree, Loch
Ness, Blacksatin

Rubus ulmifolius schott
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Vertebrate
animals and
plants

Common name

Scientific name

45

Plant

keriberry, Himalayan blackberry

Rubus rugosus sm.

46

Plant

early blackberry

Rubus laudatus a.berger

47

Plant

Blackberry

Rubus anglocandicans a.newton

48

Plant

mesquite

Prosopis glandulosa torr. x
Prosopis velutina wooton

49

Plant

water lettuce

Pistia stratiotes l.

50

Plant

parkinsonia

Parkinsonia aculeata l.

51

Plant

velvet tree pear, velvet pear

Opuntia tomentosa salm-dyck

52

Plant

erect prickly pear, common prickly
pear

Opuntia stricta (haw.) haw.

53

Plant

nopal de tortuga, nopal de culebra

Opuntia puberula hort. vindob.
ex pfeiff.

54

Plant

plains prickly pear

Opuntia polyacantha haw.

55

Plant

drooping tree pear

Opuntia monacantha haw.

56

Plant

teddy bear cactus, golden bristle
cactus, bunny ears

Opuntia microdasys (lehm.)
pfeiff.

57

Plant

tuna cactus, sweet pricklypear, spiny
pest pear, spineless cactus, prickly
pear, mission pricklypear,
grootdoringturksvy, Indian fig,
Boereturksvy

Opuntia ficus-indica (l.) mill.

58

Plant

Engelmann's prickly pear,
Engelmann's pear

Opuntia engelmannii salm-dyck
ex engelm.

59

Plant

red-flower prickly pear

Opuntia elatior mill.

60

Plant

Riverina pear

Opuntia elata salm-dyck

61

Plant

stemless thistle

Onopordum acaulon l.

62

Plant

parrot's feather, Brazilian water milfoil

Myriophyllum aquaticum (vell.)
verdc.

63

Plant

two-leaf cape tulip

Moraea miniata andrews

64

Plant

one-leaf cape tulip

Moraea flaccida (sweet) steud.

65

Plant

Amazon frogbit

Limnobium laevigatum (humb. &
bonpl. ex willd.) heine

66

Plant

wild sage, white sage, red-flowered
sage, largeleaf lantana, common
lantana

Lantana camara l.

67

Plant

cotton-leaf physic-nut, bellyache bush

Jatropha gossypiifolia l.

68

Plant

water pennywort, spaghetti weed,
hydrocotyle, grote waternavel, floating
marshpennywort

Hydrocotyle ranunculoides l.f.

69

Plant

narrow leaf cotton bush

Gomphocarpus fruticosus (l.)
W.t.aiton

70

Plant

stickywilly, false cleavers

Galium spurium l.
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Vertebrate
animals and
plants

Common name

Scientific name

71

Plant

stickywilly, scratch-grass, robin-runover-the-hedge, goosegrass, common
bedstraw, cleavers,catchweed
bedstraw, catchweed, bed straw

Galium aparine i.

72

Plant

salvation Jane, Paterson's curse

Echium plantagineum l.

73

Plant

thistle cholla, brown-spined Hudson
pear, Hudson pear (brown-spined)

Cylindropuntia tunicata (lehm.)
F.m.knuth

74

Plant

white-spined Hudson pear, Hudson
pear (white-spined)

Cylindropuntia pallida (rose)
f.m.knuth

75

Plant

candle cholla, klein's pencil cactus,
klein's cholla

Cylindropuntia kleiniae (dc.)
f.m.knuth

76

Plant

rope pear, devil's rope

Cylindropuntia imbricata (haw.)
f.m.knuth

77

Plant

coral cactus, boxing glove cactus

Cylindropuntia fulgida (engelm.)
f.m.knuth

78

Plant

strangle vine, golden dodder, field
dodder, dodder, common dodder

Cuscuta campestris yunck.

79

Plant

rubbervine, Madagascar rubbervine

Cryptostegia madagascariensis
bojer ex decne.

80

Plant

skeleton weed, rush skeleton weed,
naked weed, hogbite, gum succory

Chondrilla juncea l.

81

Plant

rubber bush, calotropis

Calotropis procera (aiton)
w.t.aiton

82

Plant

neem tree, margosa tree, Indian lilac

Azadirachta indica a. juss.

83

Plant

Eve's pin, Eve's needle

Austrocylindropuntia subulata
(muehlenpf.) backeb.

84

Plant

coral cactus, cane cactus

Austrocylindropuntia cylindrica
(juss. ex lam.) backeb.

85

Plant

bridal creeper

Asparagus asparagoides (l.)
druce

86

Plant

camelthorn

Alhagi maurorum medik.
Source: DPIRD
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Auditor General’s 2020-21 reports
Number

Title

Date tabled

3

Waste Management – Service Delivery

20 August 2020

2

Opinion on Ministerial Notification – Agriculture Digital
Connectivity Report

30 July 2020

1

Working with Children Checks – Managing Compliance

15 July 2020
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Auditor General’s overview
This report provides transparency on the Western Australian health
system’s current state of preparedness in a number of areas for COVID19 viral outbreaks. As a limited assurance review, it provides Parliament
and the public with information from WA Health about its key plans and
actions that have informed the State’s overall response to the pandemic.
When the COVID-19 pandemic struck in the early months of this year,
health systems around Australia, and many internationally, experienced
shortages of essential supplies due to increased usage, stockpiling and global supply chain
disruption. Personal protective equipment (PPE), ventilators and trained intensive care staff
were the 3 areas particularly identified by Australian governments as critical for preparing
health systems for community outbreaks of the disease on our shores.
While there was much panic and uncertainty about the disease in the early days of 2020,
much has now been learned. There is now reliable information on the characteristics of
patients most likely to experience severe illness and the proportion that may succumb to the
virus. Much more has also been learned about the most effective clinical treatment protocols
to reduce disease severity for those who do become ill. This can inform how we most
effectively target our resources and support. In addition, on a community-wide scale, citizens
have arguably become more hygiene-aware and hygiene-capable than at any other time in
human history.
Here within Western Australia, in response to the pandemic, we have been in a rolling State
of Emergency and under public health directions since mid-March 2020, with our interstate
and international borders currently closed. Social distancing measures – including
unprecedented restrictions on gatherings and movement of citizens across intrastate
borders, cancellation of elective surgeries and forced closures of business and community
facilities – were progressively enacted, and then mostly eased, over recent months. The
stated aim of the response measures was to slow the spread of the disease and give the WA
health system time to prepare in the 3 stated areas, while allowing the health system to
manage the ongoing case load – that is, to ‘flatten the curve’. Measures enacted to date
have resulted in there not being any community transmission of COVID-19 in WA since midApril 2020.
Current Status
Reassuringly, WA Health considers that it is now well prepared for a potential outbreak of
COVID-19. The information presented in this report shows that surge planning and
preparations have been made in the 3 key areas of PPE, ventilated bed capacity and
staffing. In recent times, WA Health has also made good progress on developing outbreak
plans and working more closely with various sectors, including aged care. An increased
focus on testing and contact tracing capability is also evident in the information presented in
this report.
Recommendations for optimised response and maintaining public trust
The COVID-19 pandemic has placed substantial pressure on the social contract between
governments and communities around the world. Governments are requiring the public to
make significant personal sacrifices. In this context, it is vitally important for the people of WA
– and the strength of our overall community well-being and trust in the public sector – that
WA’s health planning and response measures are transparent, proportionate and wellinformed by the latest global data on disease prevalence and severity, and the most up-todate clinical treatment methods.
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WA Health can support continued community confidence in public health measures by
providing regular, up-to-date and evidence-based information to Parliament and the public on
these matters. This will allow more expansive deliberations on their appropriateness, and
due consideration of ongoing costs, risks and benefits of various support and response
options.
As we move forward during these challenging times, it is important that as a community we
manage for the virus as we now know it to be, and not for the virus that was feared in the
earliest days of COVID-19’s emergence. Future health responses should recognise our
improved health and hygiene capability, and that we are no longer facing critical PPE
shortages for our health workers.
Future OAG audits and reviews
The elements of health preparedness outlined in this report are not the full sum of activities
underway in WA Health or throughout the community to prepare for and manage our society
in response to the global pandemic. There have been many other measures with financial
and human impact that warrant examination.
My Office will conduct audits and reviews of further aspects of the response and recovery
measures, including advice to support decision-making around the expenditure of public
money and implementation activities undertaken in the name of this virus. The work of my
Office will provide transparency and assurance to support accountability of the public sector.
Much has and will continue to be learned by our community from this pandemic response,
and many of those lessons will extend well beyond the public health sphere. There will no
doubt be opportunities to strengthen our public infrastructure and institutions for the benefit of
the community.
I thank the staff at WA Health – in the State Health Incident Coordination Centre and across
Health entities - for their cooperation and assistance during this review. My team
encountered many dedicated staff who are working hard with the aim of looking after the
health of our community in the current environment, and in the event of infectious disease
outbreaks.
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Executive summary
Introduction
The objective of this report is to provide transparency to Parliament and the public on the
current status of key areas of WA Health’s 1 preparedness for a COVID-19 outbreak.
Under the Emergency Management Act 2005 and the Public Health Act 2016, the
Department of Health (Department) is responsible for the planning, management and
ongoing preparedness for Western Australia’s (WA) response to matters related to public
health, including COVID-19 outbreaks.

Background
WA recorded its first case of COVID-19 on 16 February 2020. At the date of this report, WA
has had more than 660 confirmed cases, with 9 deaths. New cases peaked at 51 on 20
March, and the ‘first wave’ of the pandemic was controlled by mid-April (Figure 1). The vast
majority of cases were from returned overseas travellers, and the last known case of
community transmission was on 11 April 2020. The Department provides daily updates of
COVID-19 information on its website (Appendix 1).

Source: Department of Health

Figure 1: Daily number of confirmed COVID-19 cases in WA, at 23 September 2020

The State Government’s reliance on expert advice from WA Health in implementing a range
of restrictions has been well publicised.
On 15 March 2020, in response to the pandemic, the State Government declared a State of
Emergency under the Emergency Management Act 2005. A declaration of a Public Health
State of Emergency, under the Public Health Act 2016, followed on 16 March 2020.
Later in March, the State Government announced a $15 million procurement of beds,
ventilators and other clinical equipment. The procurement was part of a program to increase
capacity across the public and private hospital systems to respond to the pandemic.
In April 2020, the State Government announced a plan to increase ventilated bed capacity
from 111 to over 600, in the event of a surge in COVID-19 infections. 2 The plan involved a
phased approach to make the beds available, using equipment obtained following the March

WA Health consists of the Department of Health, Child and Adolescent Health Service, North Metropolitan Health Service, South
Metropolitan Health Service, East Metropolitan Health Service, WA Country Health Service, Health Support Services, PathWest
and the Quadriplegic Centre.

1

2

Minister for Health 19 April 2020 Media release: WA Launches new plan for 600+ beds
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announcement. The plan, along with other initiatives at the time, aimed to increase WA
Health’s capacity and preparedness in the following key areas:
• ventilated bed capacity
• essential supplies including personal protective equipment (PPE)
• staff recruitment and training
• COVID-19 infection testing and contact tracing
• residential aged care and other vulnerable sector health response plans.
This report presents the current status of WA Health’s capacity and preparedness in the
above key areas.

Conclusion
WA Health has stated that it is well prepared for a potential outbreak of COVID-19. In
compiling this transparency report, nothing has come to our attention to indicate that, in all
material respects, the following status updates provided to us from WA Health as to COVID19 response preparedness are incorrect.
WA Health has:
• developed surge plans for key areas, including ventilated beds and pathology services
• procured additional ventilators
• worked proactively with a range of sectors, including aged care to develop and test
outbreak plans, and continues to review these
• identified essential supplies, including PPE, and is working to acquire more than 40 weeks
of stock
• established a recruitment pool of skilled staff across a range of critical areas
• put testing and contact tracing systems in place.
WA Health has based its COVID-19 preparedness plans on an epidemiological model that
uses Australian data up to mid-May 2020 to predict hospitalisation, ICU and ventilation rates.
As knowledge of the disease evolves, new information on best practice treatment protocols,
and other risk factors relevant to the WA population, will become available. In staying abreast
of this information, including from international jurisdictions, WA Health can best inform its
preparedness plans and provision of advice to State Government.
Our procedures were performed as a limited assurance engagement, in accordance with the
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3500 Performance Engagements, and vary in
nature, timing and extent from an audit. As such, the level of assurance provided in this
report is substantially lower than for an audit.
Additionally, this report does not provide assurance as to the effectiveness, efficiency or
compliance of the planning and actions undertaken by WA Health. These and other aspects
of the pandemic response may be the subject of future performance audits by the Office of
the Auditor General.
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Findings
The Department has planned for increased use of
equipment and facilities during a surge in cases
The Department, through its State Health Incident Coordination Centre (SHICC), developed
plans to increase vital WA Health resources during a surge. This includes plans for:
• ventilated bed availability
• general bed use
• emergency departments
• radiology
• pathology
• mental health
• Intensive Care Unit (ICU) workforce availability.
The SHICC, formed as part of the State Health Emergency Response Plan, is responsible for
the strategic coordination of WA Health’s response. The SHICC reports through the Chief
Health Officer to the State Emergency Coordination Group, and the State Disaster Council
(Appendix 2).
Plans for resource availability increases are staged in line with rises in the number of active
cases. The surge plans are underpinned by a model based on May 2020 national data for
rates of hospitalisation, intensive care use, and ventilation. The modelling predicts for every
100 people infected:
• 13% will require hospitalisation
• 2.5% will be admitted to the ICU
• 0.7% will require ventilation. 3

WA Health has a baseline of 111 ventilated beds with
capacity to expand to 647
The Department advised us that in the early stages of the pandemic its focus was on
sourcing as many ventilators as possible, to avoid the shortages seen in Spain and Italy.
Following consultation and assessment across the private and public health systems, on 26
June 2020 it approved a COVID-19 Ventilated Bed Capacity Framework (ICU surge) that
includes a 5-step approach to increase the number of COVID-19 suitable ventilated beds
from a baseline of 111 to 647 (Figures 2 and 3).
The approach requires reconfiguring space and equipment in public hospitals and accessing
private hospitals as demand on ICU rises.
Steps are triggered by rises in the number of active cases, with each step only utilising 90%
of available ICU beds. The plan adopts a conservative approach, assuming all ICU
admissions will require a ventilator. Based on the current ICU modelling, with 647 ventilated
3
Communicable Disease Intelligence 2020 COVID-19, Australia: Epidemiology Report 16: Reporting period ending 23:59 AEDT
17 May 2020; 44
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beds, we calculate that WA Health has enough capacity to manage an outbreak of over
25,800 active infections.
Step

Overview

Baseline – (111 beds)

At the end of March there were 111 operational ventilated beds in
public hospital ICUs across WA

Step 1 – ICU (121 beds)

All existing ventilated beds in public hospital ICUs are opened

Step 2 – Public Easy and
Moderate (451 beds)

Enact easy and moderate phases of surge plans for public sites, in
line with site surge phasing

Step 3 – Private (529 beds)

Private hospital capacity is used

Step 4 – Public Difficult
(647 beds)

Enact difficult phases of surge plans for public sites
Source: OAG using Department of Health information

Figure 2: WA Health Ventilated Bed Capacity Framework, surge steps

Source: Department of Health

Figure 3: WA Health Ventilated Bed Capacity Framework surge capacity

In creating the COVID-19 Ventilated Bed Capacity Framework (ICU surge), the response
team:
• compiled information from existing individual hospital surge capacity plans
• considered which areas could be efficiently reconfigured for ventilated bed use, and how
many additional ventilators would be required
• verified information with public and private hospitals’, chief executives and key
technicians.
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According to the framework, as of 26 June 2020 WA Health had:
• 121 ventilators in hospitals (111 baseline, and a further 10 ready to go in ICUs)
• 33 ventilators in stock
• 304 ventilators on order
• 49 ventilators sourced via partnership with a not-for-profit organisation (Figure 4).

Health
Service
Provider
Child and
Adolescent
Health
Service
East
Metropolitan
Health
Service

Additional ventilators added
Step 2
Step 3

Site

Baseline

Step 1

Step 4

Total

Perth Children’s
Hospital

8

0

12

0

22

42

Armadale
Kalamunda
Group
Royal Perth
Hospital
St John of God
Midland Public
hospital
North
Joondalup
Metropolitan
Health Campus
Health
Sir Charles
Service
Gairdner
Hospital
South
Fiona Stanley
Metropolitan
Hospital
Health
Rockingham
Service
General Hospital
WA Country
Albany
Health
Broome
Service
Bunbury
Geraldton
Hedland
Kalgoorlie
Karratha
WACHS Other
Total in hospitals
Private
Disaster Preparedness and
Management Unit Warehouse
stockpile (including Royal Perth
Hospital)
Procurement
Sourced via not-for-profit
Total

5

0

0

0

0

5

20

0

0

0

0

20

5

0

7

0

0

12

9

0

3

0

0

12

23

0

0

0

0

23

30

10

45

0

0

85

6

0

3

0

0

9

0
0
5
0
0
0
0
0
111
0
33

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
10
0
0

3
2
3
2
1
2
1
0
84
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
38
0

3
2
0
4
2
3
1
0
37
0
0

6
4
8
6
3
5
2
0
242
38
36

40
49
236

135
0
145

129
0
213

0
0
38

0
0
37

304
31
651

Source: Department of Health

Figure 4: Summary by hospital of COVID-19 ventilators in WA Health June 2020*
* These figures have not been verified by OAG, but our general observations during key site visits have not raised
any particular concerns that would cause us to doubt the overall reliability of the information provided.

The Department advised us that since June a number of procured ventilators have been
delivered. At 16 September 2020, WA Health had 273 ventilators in stock, with 90 still on
order.
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Stock levels have increased, and plans are in place for the
ongoing supply of essential items, including PPE
The Department has identified 11 items that are key in responding to a COVID-19 outbreak.
It aims to maintain 40 weeks of supply for these items. This is a substantial increase from its
business as usual target of 3 to 5 weeks.
The pandemic has severely disrupted global supply chains. To ensure flexible supply chains,
and delivery of quality supplies, the Department has:
• confirmed contracts with additional suppliers and explored alternative options
• partnered with the Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation to facilitate direct
delivery from overseas manufacturing hubs in China
• engaged an independent auditor to conduct pre-production and packing inspections in
China and Malaysia.
The Department told us that since 28 March 2020, WA Health executives were provided with
a weekly summary of stock levels, including an assessment of confidence in the supply
chain. This was made available on WA Health’s intranet from 3 April 2020, and from 1 June
2020 published on WA Health’s external facing webpage.
At 8 September 2020, 5 of the 11 items had 40 or more weeks of supply in stock (Figure 5),
based on the average weekly usage over the last 21 days. There were at least 18 weeks of
stock for the remaining items, and the Department had placed orders, or was in the process
of sourcing suppliers, to increase those stock levels to at least 40 weeks.

Source: Department of Health

Figure 5: Weekly key COVID-19 supplies update, at 8 September 2020
Note 1: The Department does not consider surgical gowns and gloves key supplies for a COVID-19
outbreak. However, they are monitored in the supply update as they are essential for business as
usual practice, and are likely to be affected by supply chain disruptions.
Note 2: Individual figures have not been verified by the OAG at 8 September 2020, but significantly
increased stock levels were observed on a sample basis as part of the 30 June financial audit
stocktake procedures and accord with the trend observed in the Department’s weekly reports.
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The Department has developed a framework for the distribution of PPE in case of a COVID19 outbreak. This framework takes a risk-based approach, and allows the Department to
address PPE requests from across the public sector based upon 4 criteria:
• likelihood of exposure
• consequence of exposure
• consequence of service not being provided
• PPE item’s effectiveness.
Guidance on infection prevention and PPE use was also developed by the Department for
professional first responders (for example, WA Police Force) and workers in community
settings (such as community service workers).

The Department has multiple storage facilities, to respond quickly to an
outbreak
COVID-19 stocks are held in multiple facilities including:
• the State Distribution Centre – stores the majority of PPE stock
• the Disaster Preparedness and Management Unit Warehouse – stores emergency
equipment, and acts as a secondary storage facility for PPE (Figure 6)
• regional distribution centres – 7 across the state4, each storing 2 to 4 weeks of PPE.
To allow quick distribution of PPE for staff in case of an outbreak, the Department told us it
holds at its head office:
• a small quantity of PPE for immediate/urgent deployment
• 15-20 ‘Go Bags’, each containing 3-7 days of PPE for WA Health and first responders
(Figure 7)
• 5 ‘Go Boxes’, each containing 20 sets of PPE for distribution to WA Health and other key
first responders.

WA Country Health Service operates these centres in Kalgoorlie, Albany, Bunbury, Broome, Geraldton, Port Hedland and
Northam.

4
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Source: Department of Health

Figure 6: Stores at the Disaster Preparedness
and Management Unit warehouse

Source: OAG

Figure 7: ‘Go bags’ held at the
Department’s head office, ready for
quick deployment

A pool of staff with relevant skills has been established
The Department identified that WA Health would need additional clinical, pathology and allied
health staff during a surge in cases. This includes staff such as medical scientists,
radiologists, nurses, doctors, psychologists, pharmacists, social workers, and technicians.
To meet this need the Department ran a recruitment process in March 2020 and received
8,218 applicants (Figure 8). The Department informed us that by 30 July 2020, all
applications had been processed, with:
• 50 applicants appointed to positions
• 4,691 applicants placed in a pool of which 2,542 have completed pre-employment
screenings, including relevant identification checks, integrity checks and confirmation of
registration with the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency if applicable
• 635 applications withdrawn by the applicant
• 2,892 applications deemed by the Department as unsuccessful.
Apps
received

Apps
processed

Appointed
to pool

Appointed
from pool

Remaining
in pool

In pool with complete
pre-employment
screenings

PathWest

1,968

1,886

771

30

741

580

Clinical –
metropolitan

3,680

3,364

2,396

18

2,378

1,134

Clinical –
regional

1,075

967

538

1

537

227
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Apps
received

Apps
processed

Appointed
to pool

Appointed
from pool

Allied Health –
metropolitan

1,240

1,137

817

1

816

509

Allied Health –
regional

255

229

169

0

169

92

8,218

7,583

4,691

50

4,641

2,542

Total

Remaining
in pool

In pool with complete
pre-employment
screenings

Source: OAG using Department of Health data

Figure 8: Summary of COVID-19 recruitment pool*
* Figures have not been verified by the OAG

The Department is confident pathology services can
support WA Health
The Department has developed a COVID-19 Public Pathology Capacity Framework
(Pathology surge) to ensure the medical laboratories operated by PathWest can support WA
Health during a rise in COVID-19 cases. The framework plans for a surge increase from
3,679 to 5,639 beds in use across WA Health. It anticipates that this would increase
PathWest’s workload by 38%, which can be met with current levels of equipment, and a
minor increase in staff.
The turnaround time for tests is a critical factor in controlling a possible outbreak. PathWest
is confident it can conduct tests within 24 hours. WA has 4 automated analysers to test for
COVID-19. The pathology framework outlines a 10 stage approach to increasing daily
testing, from 750 tests to 8,750 tests. PathWest is confident it can ramp up to 8,750 tests per
day by increasing the time the analysers run. To do this, it has identified the need to train 24
new staff.
There are also 65 blood gas analysers across WA Health, which are required to monitor
patients in ventilated beds. Based on their model of 1 analyser for every 20 ventilated beds,
PathWest is confident this number can accommodate the anticipated increase in ventilated
ICU beds in WA owned and managed public hospitals, provided some analysers can be
moved between facilities.
We note that the pathology framework only estimates pathology services for patients in ICU
beds in WA owned and managed public hospitals (up to a maximum of 499 beds). It does not
estimate pathology services for patients in ICU beds in privately owned and privately
managed hospitals (for example, Joondalup Heath Campus), even though these hospitals
are included in the COVID-19 Ventilated Bed Capacity Framework. The Department advised
us that the overall capacity of private pathology providers has been verified, and it is in the
process of agreeing the role of private providers in the State’s overall pathology surge plan.

Contact tracing abilities are designed to manage during an
outbreak
The Department told us that it has a robust, scalable and efficient contact tracing system.
The system’s focus is to isolate cases of COVID-19, and quarantine their potential contacts,
as quickly as possible.
The contact tracing system includes a tracing team of about 50 staff, primarily nurses and
other health professionals, and an automated information system. The contact tracing team
monitors COVID-19 cases in isolation, and actively traces and monitors their contacts. The
Department has planned to increase the number of contact tracing staff up to 1,000 if

161
12 | Western Australian Auditor General

needed. It told us 400 people are being offered casual contracts and training. An expression
of interest is also being completed, as well as discussions with suitable organisations, to
meet the 1,000 target.
The Department advised that a database for cases and contacts was set up from late
January 2020, that automated monitoring of cases and contacts via text messages. From
8 April 2020, a bespoke system called PHOCUS was put in place which provided increased
functionality, including:
• streamlining the allocation of work, to speed up the contact tracing process
• sending daily text messages to all individuals in isolation and quarantine, to remind them
of safety protocols and to check for symptoms
• generating links between COVID-19 cases, allowing the contact tracing team to identify
areas that may be clusters of infection
• providing the Department with a live update of cases being monitored.

Outbreak response plans for high risk settings are in place
The Department has developed a State-level, integrated outbreak plan and COVID-19
outbreak response plans for the following high risk settings:
• residential aged care facilities (RACF)
• remote Aboriginal communities
• prisons
• hospitals
• school and child care services (including boarding schools)
• mining and offshore facilities
• commercial vessels
• congregate living.
The Department advised us that it developed the plans in consultation with relevant industry
and government stakeholders.
The Department defines a COVID-19 outbreak in metropolitan or regional areas as ‘…two or
more cases (who don’t reside in the same household), among a specific group of people,
confirmed by laboratory testing’. 5
However, the Department recognises that a single confirmed case of COVID-19 may be
sufficient to trigger an outbreak response in certain settings or communities. For example,
where it will be difficult to manage or contain an outbreak because of a high risk of rapid
spread, or where there is a high risk of serious illness if people are infected.

RACFs have been prioritised for outbreak planning
The Department developed a RACF outbreak plan in consultation with the aged care sector.
The plan was completed in July 2020 and updated in August 2020. The Department tested
the outbreak plans with 17 representatives from 6 RACFs on 12 August 2020, running
5

Department of Health, 2020, COVID 19: WA Integrated Outbreak Containment and Response Plan, pp. 4–5.
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through scenarios, and incorporated lessons identified in the updated plan. The Department
intends to review the plan each month.
The plan includes a phased response:
• Phase 1 - outbreak prevention and preparedness
• Phase 2 - outbreak standby and monitoring
• Phases 3 and 4 - outbreak response 6
• Phase 5 - outbreak recovery.
The Deputy Chief Health Officer (Public Health) activates the outbreak response (Phases 3
and 4) upon receiving notification of a positive COVID-19 result, and the definition of an
outbreak being met. 7 The RACF is responsible for leading and managing the response,
which is overseen by the Department, the Commonwealth Department of Health, and the
Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission.
The Public Health Emergency Operation Centre in the Department will establish a RACF
Outbreak Management Team to support the RACF in controlling an outbreak. The team is
required to meet daily, and includes the management of the RACF, the State Manager of the
Commonwealth Department of Health, and clinical and public health representatives from the
Department.
The RACF Plan states that in the event that a resident tests positive for COVID-19 treatment
in place is preferred over admission to hospital. The Department considers that acute
hospitals are not well equipped or suited for treating elderly COVID-19 patients and that
treating residents within the RACF results in better care and health outcomes.
RACF residents that test positive will be transferred to hospital if there is a clinical need. This
may be a collaborative decision between the Department’s geriatrician, the resident’s general
practitioner and their family. The Department will also take into account the specific
environment of a RACF. For example, the ability to isolate COVID-19 positive residents, in
deciding whether to transfer them to hospital.
The Department has deliberately not established precise triggers for some decisions. For
example, for when:
• an Aged Care Response Centre will be established if outbreaks occur across multiple
RACFs and across multiple sites
• the Department will take over the health response within a RACF.
The Department considers that loosely defined triggers provide WA Health with flexibility to
consider other priorities in the community depending upon how the outbreak is evolving.

The Department has assessed RACFs preparedness and developed training
The Commonwealth Aged Care Safety and Quality Commission provided information to the
Department on RACF preparedness. The Department used this information, and information
from their own interactions with RACFs, to inform preparedness and training activities for the
sector.
The Department has combined Phase 3 and 4 to reflect the rapid escalation that would be required from initial action (Phase
3) to targeted action (Phase 4) once an outbreak is detected.

6

The RACF Plan applies the definition used by the Communicable Diseases Network Australia. CDNA has defined a COVID-19
outbreak in a RACF as ‘a single confirmed case of COVID-19 in a resident, staff member or frequent attendee of a
RACF.’ Source: CDNA National Guidelines for Public Health Units, version 2.11 published 22 May 2020, section 6.
7
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The Department has prepared guidelines 8 and an information pack 9 for RACFs, which are
available on its website. The Department advised us that it is in the process of conducting
face-to-face training on infection control with about 27 facilities that it judged needed the
most support, and has developed a training package to roll out to the rest of the sector
through on-line materials and train-the-trainer.
Public reports indicate that poor use of PPE contributed to outbreaks in RACFs in other
jurisdictions. 10 The Minister for Health and the Director General of the Department held an
open-forum meeting with the aged care sector in August 2020. The forum highlighted that
RACFs were having difficulties accessing PPE. In response, the Department told us it was in
the process of making 20 sets of PPE available to each RACF in WA for aged care worker
training purposes.

Governance arrangements for outbreak response in RACFs
The Commonwealth Government is responsible for funding and regulating RACFs in
Australia. RACFs are responsible for outbreak management, including infection control, in
their facilities, with the WA Government responsible for public health across WA.
In this context, National Cabinet has committed to actions and joint Commonwealth-State
plans will be developed. Key elements of which include:
• an audit of the State’s aged care emergency response capabilities
• undertaking face-to-face infection control training with RACFs
• preparing for the establishment of coordination centres.

8
https://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/-/media/Files/Corporate/general-documents/Infectious-diseases/PDF/Coronavirus/COVID-19Guidelines-for-the-Western-Australian-Residential-Aged-Care-Sector.pdf
9
https://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/-/media/Corp/Documents/Health-for/Infectious-disease/COVID19/COVID19-Residential-AgedCare-Info-Pack.docx
10

Gilbert, L. and Lilly, A., 2020, Newmarch House COVID-19 Outbreak: Independent Review Final Report, pp. 23-24.
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Recommendations
1. The Department of Health should:
a. make sure its preparedness plans and other public health responses are
proportionate to health risks identified by up-to-date information about COVID-19,
including hospital and ICU admission rates, best practice treatment protocols, and
other known risk factors relevant to the WA population
Department response: Response preparedness for COVID-19 is broader than
hospitalisation and ICU admission rates. There is a significant focus on this in the
report; however there are also prevention and public health interventions ahead of
acute healthcare service provision which are arguably just as relevant for WA.
Risk profiling and modelling from the beginning of the COVID-19 response in WA
indicated extreme ratings with severe consequences.
The Department believes and continues to believe its response is proportionate,
based on Chief Health Officer advice.
b. enhance transparency, particularly while in the State of Emergency, through regular
provision of information to Parliament and the public about what advice and other
sources it uses to prepare and update surge and outbreak plans which inform its
public health response options
Department response: A response needs to be proportionate and relevant to the
health risks of the population. Other situational factors need to be considered in
responses.
The Minister for Health may wish to consider additional reporting to Parliament.
c. ensure its surge planning for the delivery of pathology services covers all potential
ICU beds in public and private hospitals listed in its Ventilated Bed Capacity
Framework
Department response: Private pathology providers have confirmed their capacity to
provide COVID-19 testing and pathology services to hospitals they are contracted to
and that are included in the Ventilated Bed Capacity Framework.
d. document how it will maintain quick turnaround of COVID-19 test results in the event
of a surge in cases.
Department response: An overall COVID-19 testing surge plan is currently well in
development which will aim to assure a 24 hour turnaround time, including the role
and capacity of public and private pathology providers.
PathWest has confirmed the Public Pathology Capacity Framework was developed
with the intent to maintain a 24 hour turnaround time to result.
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Review focus and scope
This limited assurance review forms part of our increased focus on the State’s COVID-19
response.
The objective of this first transparency review was to provide information to Parliament and
the public over the status of WA Health’s COVID-19 response preparedness. We focused on
determining the current status of each of the following areas identified as important for health
system preparedness since the start of the pandemic:
• ventilated bed capacity
• essential supplies (including PPE)
• staff recruitment and training
• COVID-19 infection testing and contact tracing
• residential aged care and other vulnerable sector health response plans.
In conducting the review we:
• reviewed COVID-19 surge and outbreak plans
• analysed the data inputs used to generate surge plans
• interviewed key staff from the Department of Health, including members of the Public
Health Emergency Operations Centre, and the State Health Incident Coordination Centre
• met with COVID-19 planning teams and other staff at Fiona Stanley Hospital and Royal
Perth Hospital
• drew on the work undertaken as part of our recent financial audit cycle of health entities.
This was a limited assurance direct engagement, conducted under Section 18 of the Auditor
General Act 2006, in accordance with the Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3500
Performance Engagements issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board. We complied with the independence and other ethical requirements relating to
assurance engagements. The approximate cost of undertaking the limited assurance review
was $108,500.
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Appendix 1: COVID-19 public information
The Department publishes daily statistics on cases of COVID-19 in WA, through a dashboard
and a daily media statement. The dashboard includes statistics on the total number of cases,
number of historical cases, sources of infection, and the number of tests conducted in WA. It
also presents the number of cases and deaths for Australia and globally (see Department of
Health website).

Source: Department of Health website

COVID-19 daily snapshot, at 23 September 2020

The dashboard allows the public to see the number of WA cases broken down by gender
and age, geographic area, and source of infection. Infection sources are divided into 5
categories: overseas travel, interstate travel, at sea (cruise ship/other ocean going
commercial vessels), close contact and unknown source. The current reporting does not
distinguish between sources of close contact (for example, hospitals, workplaces, general
community).
The Department has also published daily media statements on COVID-19 cases since March
2020. The media statements provide information on the number of new cases overnight, their
age and gender, infection source, and health status (for example, hospitalisations). The
media statements provide some descriptive information, such as whether the cases are a
family group, and if relevant, from where travellers had returned.
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Appendix 2: Western Australian governance
arrangements and interaction with the Australian
Government

Source: 2020 Western Australian Government Pandemic Plan. p8
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Auditor General’s 2020-21 reports
Number

Title

Date tabled

4

Managing the Impact of Plant and Animal Pests: Follow-up

31 August 2020

3

Waste Management – Service Delivery

20 August 2020

2

Opinion on Ministerial Notification – Agriculture Digital
Connectivity Report

30 July 2020

1

Working with Children Checks – Managing Compliance

15 July 2020
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Overview

Welcome
Welcome to the Office of the Auditor General’s 2019-2020
Annual Report. We trust this report is valuable in describing
our performance and the services we delivered during the
year to inform Parliament on public sector accountability
and performance.
You can access this and earlier annual reports on our
website at www.audit.wa.gov.au.
We have structured this report around our Strategic Plan
and the 4 result areas – people, tools, approach and
products. It also describes our functions and operations,
and presents the audited financial statements and key
performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Feedback
So we can improve the value of future annual reports we
welcome feedback and comments. You can contact us by:
•

emailing info@audit.wa.gov.au

•

writing to PO Box 8489 PERTH BC WA 6849.

THE PRESIDENT				

THE SPEAKER

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL			

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
In accordance with section 63, as modified by Schedule 3, of the Financial
Management Act 2006, I hereby submit to Parliament for its information
the Annual Report of the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended
30 June 2020.
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions
of the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Auditor General Act 2006.

Caroline Spencer
Auditor General
24 September 2020
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About us
The Auditor General is an independent officer of the Parliament with
responsibility for auditing the Western Australian (WA) public sector.
The Auditor General has complete discretion in the performance
of these functions. This independence and freedom from pressure,
influence or interference is the cornerstone of public sector audit.
The Auditor General is appointed by the WA Governor for a 10-year
term on the recommendation of the Treasurer and following
consultation with parliamentary oversight committees. The Auditor
General serves as an ex-officio member of the State Records
Commission and has other responsibilities outlined in a variety of
legislation, including the Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918.

Represents

In May 2018, Ms Caroline Spencer was appointed Auditor General.
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Local government
councils

it

4

WA community

Ministers

State government
entities
Figure 1: OAG reporting structure to Parliament
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The Auditor General reports directly to the Parliament of WA.
Three parliamentary committees have oversight of our operations
– the Legislative Assembly’s Public Accounts Committee, the
Legislative Council’s Estimates and Financial Operations Committee
and the Joint Audit Committee.

r ts
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The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) supports the Auditor
General and is one of the largest audit practices in Western
Australia. The OAG is a public sector entity and the Auditor
General is the chief executive officer and employer of staff.
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po

Local government
entities
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Our responsibilities
The Auditor General is responsible for:
• auditing the Annual Report on State Finances
• conducting annual financial statement, key performance indicator
and control audits, and issuing audit opinions for State government
entities including departments, statutory authorities, tertiary
institutions and corporatised entities
• conducting annual financial statement audits and issuing auditor’s
reports for local government entities
• undertaking wide-ranging performance audits to ensure there
are adequate controls within State and local government entities,
compliance with relevant legislation, and most importantly efficiency
and effectiveness of activities and functions
• reporting the results of audits to Parliament in an objective,
competent, insightful and timely manner.
In 2019-20, we achieved this with a budget of $31.9 million, 158
employees and the professional resources of our contract audit firm
partners. We have a diverse cultural and social workforce. Our people
have a range of qualifications and experiences well beyond simply
accounting and auditing. We are very proud of this diversity because
it strengthens our capability, better reflects the vibrant WA community
and makes the OAG a more enjoyable place to work.
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5

Executive summary from
the Auditor General
In December 2019, the Office celebrated 190 years
of public auditing in Western Australia. I would like to
thank the presiding officers for allowing us to hold the
event within the Parliament’s Legislative Assembly
Chamber and courtyard, and those members and
special guests who attended and spoke. The morning
provided an enjoyable moment of reflection for our
employees and reinforced for them the importance
of our enduring role in service to the Parliament and
people of Western Australia (WA).

A lot has changed since that day, giving our
work even greater significance.
With WA in a State of Emergency and under public
health orders since March 2020, and our interstate
and international borders currently closed in response
to the COVID-19 global pandemic, we are not in a
normal operating environment. While restrictions on
movement and gatherings within WA are largely lifted
at the time of writing, the economic and social impacts
181
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With State and Federal economic stimulus
and support measures enacted on an
urgent and unprecedented scale to
support individuals, community groups and
businesses, the focus of governments and
their spending patterns look somewhat
different to that of recent years. Various
aspects of decision-making, control,
information-flow and accountability
mechanisms are currently altered. In addition,
technology has been utilised and systems
accessed in different ways to support working
from home and virtual meetings.
Times of extreme disruption such as these
present fertile environments for financial
reporting errors or misappropriation, lax
procurement and payment processes,
conflicts of interest, disingenuous
attribution and cybercrime opportunities, as
entities become pre-occupied or possibly
overwhelmed with addressing the demands of
a State of Emergency.
Now, more than ever, robust public
governance and keen auditing oversight are
needed to provide transparency and
assurance to Parliament and the community
that public money, particularly funds linked
to WA’s COVID-19 response and recovery
activities, are spent for their intended
purpose, and that entities are efficient,
effective and compliant in their operations.

“With State and Federal economic stimulus and support
measures enacted on an urgent and unprecedented scale
to support individuals, community groups and businesses,
the focus of governments and their spending patterns
look somewhat different to that of recent years. Various
aspects of decision-making, control, information-flow and
accountability mechanisms are currently altered.”
Our audit teams have worked diligently to
establish processes that allow us to conduct
our audit work while offering as much
flexibility as possible to reduce the burden on
State and local government entities, many
of whom have faced significant demands as
COVID-19 respondents. Our website provides
further detail on our role in auditing the State’s
COVID-19 response, including performance
audit coverage. It also refers to resources
we have developed to provide entities with
guidance around good financial controls
and security considerations for working from
home arrangements.

How the sector responded to
disruption
I am pleased to report that my Office
encountered countless examples of excellent
governance practice and commitment
by senior public sector leaders and their
employees during the peak of the crisis

response in March and April. Noteworthy are
Health entities, the Office of State Revenue
and the Departments of Treasury and
Finance and some local governments in their
approaches to audit. Outstanding leaders
recognise that high levels of accountability
and transparency, which are essential for trust
in public institutions, are in the sharpest of
focus now, at a time when the social contract
between government and citizens, to make
decisions and act in the public interest, is
being tested in the extreme.
Conversely, it was concerning to receive
a small number of requests to cease or
substantially reduce our audit oversight for an
extended period, including a representation
on behalf of the entire local government
sector. While such requests may be a
tempting short-term management response,
they are not feasible or in the best interests
of the public sector or community overall. A
sense of history and proportion helps.
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for our nation, the WA community, and the
public sector that serves it, are far reaching.

“Set-up of the Forensic Audit unit is proceeding well and
already supporting further data analytic capability across
our audit teams, allowing them to perform deeper analysis
of vast datasets to identify red flags and vulnerabilities in
systems and controls.”
When I look through the archives of my office,
I see that public auditing in WA continued
throughout the upheaval of world wars,
economic depressions and more, and without
the advantage of any of the technology
we have today. Our auditors’ actions thus
far, which have included stepping back in
response to COVID-19, have gone much
further than our normal approach of working
with entities to consider their operational
pressures in determining our audit timing
and methodology so that audit impost is
minimised wherever possible.
We will continue to operate as flexibly as
appropriate during this current auditing
season, while performing our statutory
responsibilities – enshrined in the State’s
Constitution and built on by other Acts of
Parliament – to ensure the public sector
continues to demonstrate a commitment to
good governance and accountability where
public money is concerned, throughout all
operating contexts. Critical to our role in the
response will be full and free access to all
relevant information.

8
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Building public sector governance
capability
Outside of COVID-19, issues around public
sector fraud and misappropriation featured
heavily in our work, and increasingly so
after the November 2019 arrest of a former
senior executive with the Department
of Communities. Such cases serve as
reminders of the frailty of some aspects of
human nature, and the importance of strong
integrity frameworks. As senior leaders of
public institutions, we have a duty to build
governance capability, including training our
staff at all levels to “know what good looks
like”, and encouraging people to speak up
if they observe patterns of behaviour and
actions at any level that are contrary to the
public interest.
The Government has allocated $8.9 million
over 2019-20 to 2022-23 to enable our office
to establish a new Forensic Audit business
unit to conduct targeted investigations of
matters related to public money, including
contract management systems.

Set-up of the Forensic Audit unit is
proceeding well and already supporting
further data analytic capability across our
audit teams, allowing them to perform deeper
analysis of vast datasets to identify red flags
and vulnerabilities in systems and controls.
In June 2020, we held our first forum for State
sector audit committee chairs to support
entities in building governance capability to
manage risk and lines of assurance internally.
This event coincided with the launch of our
Better Practice Guide for public sector audit
committees, a document I am sure will have
lasting value.

OAG focus
In light of the challenges the year presented,
our continued financial auditing and the 28
reports we delivered to Parliament, with
several others placed on hold to assist
entities, is a credit to the adaptability and
determination of all OAG employees.
This flexibility was underpinned by our Crisis
Management Team, which was expanded
beyond our Executive team to include other
key senior leaders. It met at least weekly in
April and May to identify and mitigate health
and operational risks across the business
and maintain regular lines of communication
to all employees and key stakeholders during
the height of the COVID-19 response. Our
IT team also ensured our remote access
infrastructure enabled a fairly seamless
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I wish to acknowledge my exceptionally
hardworking executive team and all our
employees for the calm dedication I
have witnessed across the office as we
navigated a year of profound challenges,
both professional and personal. It is truly
a privilege to lead such an organisation in
serving the Parliament and people of WA.
I would also like to thank the Parliament,
in particular the members of the Public
Accounts Committee and the Estimates and
Financial Operations Committee, for their
ongoing support.

Overview

transition to working from home arrangements
for our already mobile audit workforce. While
our office never closed, all employees were
well-supported with remote working capability.
The IT team, along with their colleagues in
Business Services, performed this work while
continuing on with a significant technology
transformation to help us deal more efficiently
with our increased auditing demands.

The effects of the response to this pandemic
will be felt by all West Australians for years
to come, as all sectors recover, rebuild and
learn from its impact. The profound shock
to our economy, our public infrastructure
and systems of government will provide
important lessons, as well as opportunities to
strengthen them in future.
Regardless of the challenges ahead,
my office’s duty will remain one of
maintaining awareness of the importance of
accountability, transparency and probity within
the public sector as a foundational safeguard
to a thriving and prosperous society.

Caroline Spencer
Auditor General

“I wish to acknowledge my exceptionally hardworking
executive team and all our employees for the calm
dedication I have witnessed across the office as
we navigated a year of profound challenges, both
professional and personal.”
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Year in review
About us

We audited

158

State government entities

170

employees

47% who

are from culturally
diverse backgrounds

entities and
subsidiaries

employing over

managing

people

in assets

146,000

$231 billion

Local government entities

148 local

government entities

7% of our time is
spent on professional
development

spending nearly

$8.2 billion
112

including the financial statements of
local government entities for the second year
of the financial audit transition
employing over

32,000 people

on service delivery
and infrastructure
managing

$45 billion
in assets

We delivered

28

reports to
Parliament

10
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including

14 opinions
on ministerial
notifications

275

opinions
on financial
statements

163

certifications of
financial and
statistical
185
information

Members of Parliament, employees and special guests came
together at a special event at Parliament House in December
2019 to celebrate 190 years of the Auditor General in WA
(page 20).
We established 2 new business units: Forensic Audit and
Technical and Audit Support. Following a request and
additional funding from Parliament, our Forensic Audit team
was created to conduct targeted forensic audits using data
analytics (page 52). A restructure created our Technical and
Audit Support team, which provides specialist audit advice
(page 40).
Two of our performance audits were recognised in the
inaugural Australasian Council of Auditors General IMPACT
awards, winning the communication and innovation
categories (page 54).
In June 2020, we hosted our first Audit Committee Chair
Forum, an opportunity for chairs to meet and discuss audit
issues and trends, and to consider emerging risks affecting
the public sector (page 50). At the forum we launched our
first standalone better practice guide on public sector audit
committees (page 79).

Overview

Highlights 2019-2020

Significant issues 2020-2021
Due to COVID-19, we are alert to an increased risk of
inefficiency, waste, fraud and other unforeseen outcomes,
and expect delays in some entities’ financial audits.
A key focus is to continue to strengthen and build productive
relationships with the local government sector. Our local
government financial audits continue to take more time than
similarly-sized State government audits, and even more so as
local government entities respond to the impact of COVID-19
on their finances and communities.
COVID-19 has impacted our ability to progress planned
recruitment, on-boarding and training of employees in a
number of business units.
We expanded our general computer controls audit program
to include the local government sector for the first time. As
entities employ remote working technology, deliver more
public services online, and system and security changes
are made in haste, these audits will take on increased
significance.
We continue to encounter some difficulty accessing
documents subject to claims of public interest immunity,
legal professional privilege or Cabinet confidentiality. These
are necessary to support audit opinions, including opinions
on ministerial notifications under section 82 of the Financial
Management Act 2006.
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Our performance

Key effectiveness performance
Our effectiveness indicator measures the extent to which we have
informed Parliament about public sector accountability and performance
against 4 specified categories:

Financial performance
Full details of our financial performance are presented in the financial
statements from page 94. The following summarises our actual versus
target financial performance for 2019-20.
2019-20 2019-20
Actual
Target Variance
$’000
$’000
$’000

Status

• Service delivery – focused on the direct provisions of government
services to the public and other entities
• Economic development – focused on government operations that
support the economic advancement of WA and its interaction with the
private sector

Total cost of services

31,948

34,779

(2,831)

• Social and environment – focus on government operations that
support the social and environmental wellbeing of the people of WA

Total income other than State
Government

23,349

25,751

(2,402)

• Governance – focused on entities’ internal operations such as
accountability and compliance with legislation.

Net cost of services

8,599

9,028

(429)

Net increase/decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

1,321

(349)

1,670

14,780

14,374

(406)

153

173

Total equity
Number of approved full-time
equivalent (FTE)

2019-20
Actual

2019-20
Target

Service delivery

5

8

Economic development

2

4

Social and environment

1

7

Report category

Governance

20

12

Table 1: Key elements of our financial performance

Total

28

31

A number of reasons contributed to the variance in total income other
than State Government including a lower than estimated stage of
completion of financial audits given impediments of COVID-19, our
decision to freeze the majority of audit fees and a similar underspend
in total cost of services, resulting in favorable impacts on audit fee
recoveries.

Table 2: Our effectiveness indicator

The underspend in total cost of services is primarily due to salary
savings as a result of higher than expected attrition across OAG, less
recruitment and below targeted contractor expenses due to a lower than
estimated stage of completion of financial audits.
12
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Status

We did not achieve our overall report target for 2019-20 or the target in
3 of our 4 categories. While our topic selection process (page 55) aims
to provide Parliament with advice and assurance across all categories,
other factors play a significant role in our topic selection and for this
reason our category targets may not always be met in any given year.
We are also at times required to reallocate resources to opinions on
ministerial notifications or other audits. During 2019-20, the reallocation
of audit resources and placing of audits on hold to assist entities
187
responding to COVID-19 resulted in a lower number of performance
audit reports tabled.

Report category

3-year 2018-19 2019-20
target tabled tabled

2020-21 report
target to meet
3-year target

Service delivery

21

2

5

14

Economic development

12

1

2

9

Social and environment

12

3

1

8

Governance

45

23

20

2

Total

90

29

28

33

Table 3: 3-year report targets

Full details of our key effectiveness performance including 5-year trend
data are available on page 122.

Key efficiency performance
Our efficiency indicators measure the overall efficiency in delivering our
public sector auditing service. Our efficiency indicators report our costs
(relative to government expenditure) and the average number of days
taken to issue our opinions.
Efficiency indicator

2019-20 2019-20
Actual
Target Variance
($)
($)
($)

Total audit cost per million
dollars of gross government
expenditure

476

661

(185)

Attest (financial) audit cost
per million dollars of gross
government expenditure

369

484

(115)

Performance audit cost
per million dollars of gross
government expenditure

107

177

(70)

Average number of days
taken after balance date to
issue financial audit opinions

67.3

68

Status

Table 4: Our efficiency indicators

Our total audit cost is broken into our 2 audit areas: financial and
performance auditing. The variance in total, attest and performance
audit cost was mainly due to our audit fees, appropriation and
expenditure limits not growing at the same rate as the overall 30%
increase in gross government expenditure.
Full details of our key efficiency indicators including 5-year trend data
are available on page 123.
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Overview

We also maintain a 3-year target to assist when developing the forward
audit plan, 2019-20 was the second year of our current 3-year cycle. To
achieve our 3-year target we will need to deliver the remaining reports
in 2020-21.

Performance management framework
State government entities work together to achieve the 4 high level
goals and broader strategic outcomes of the State Government. The
services and activities they deliver are linked to the goals and contribute
to achieving the Government outcomes.

Our desired outcome and the service we provide reflects this:
Desired outcome against Government goals
An informed Parliament on public sector
accountability and performance

Through our desired outcome of ‘an informed Parliament on public
sector accountability and performance’ we provide oversight of the
Government’s achievement of its 4 goals including responsible financial
management and better service delivery.
Government goal

Outcome

Sustainable finances

Responsible financial management and better
service delivery

Future jobs and skills

Grow and diversify the economy, create jobs and
support skills development

Strong communities

Safe communities and supported families

Better places

A quality environment with liveable and affordable
communities and vibrant regions

Table 5: 4 State Government goals

Service provided
Public sector auditing

Key effectiveness indicator

Key efficiency indicator

The extent that the OAG is effective
in informing Parliament about
public sector accountability and
performance is measured by the
number of tabled reports compared
to target for each of the following
categories of audit matter:

The OAG is responsible for
undertaking the external audit of
the Western Australia public sector.
This is done through audits of
controls, financial statements, key
performance indicators, efficiency
and effectiveness, and reporting the
results to Parliament. Efficiency is
measured by the:

• service delivery
• economic development
• social and environment
• governance.

• audit cost per million dollars of
gross government expenditure
• days taken to issue financial audit
opinion.

Table 6: Performance management framework
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Enabling legislation
The Governor appoints the Auditor General under the Auditor General
Act 2006. The OAG is a department of the public sector under the
Public Sector Management Act 1994. As the accountable authority,
the Auditor General must discharge responsibilities under the Financial
Management Act 2006.

Key legislation
We have processes and controls in place to ensure that we comply with
all State and Commonwealth legislation and regulations that affect our
activities, including laws affecting entities and activities subject to audit
by the Auditor General. The following laws have a direct impact on our
operations:
Auditor General Act 2006
Constitution Act 1889
Disability Services Act 1993
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Local Government Amendment (Auditing) Act 2017
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
State Records Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
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Organisational
structure

Caroline Spencer

(at 30 June 2020)

Auditor General

Sandra Labuschagne
Deputy Auditor General and
Chief Operating Officer

FINANCIAL
AUDIT

INFORMATION SYSTEMS
AND PERFORMANCE AUDIT

PERFORMANCE
AUDIT

FORENSIC
AUDIT

TECHNICAL AND
AUDIT SUPPORT

BUSINESS
SERVICES

Don Cunninghame

Jordan
Langford-Smith

Aloha
Morrissey

Glyn Lewis

Patrick
Arulsingham

Sadie Godfrey

Acting Assistant
Auditor General

Assistant Auditor General

Assistant Auditor General
Conducts audits of
financial statements,
controls and performance
indicators, and
issues audit opinions.
Summarises the results
of these audits in a report
to Parliament. Also
performs focus
area audits.

16

Conducts performance
audits, information
systems audits and
opinions on ministerial
notifications.

Conducts audits into
the efficiency and
effectiveness of public
sector entities’ programs
and performance.
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Assistant Auditor General
Conducts forensic audits
into targeted aspects of
public sector financial
management and probity
to ensure activities are
robust, fit for purpose and
free from undue influence.

Acting Assistant
Auditor General
Provides accounting, audit
and governance technical
advice, assists in the
development of standards
by standard setting
bodies, monitoring audit
quality, development of
better practice guides and
risk management.

Assistant Auditor General
Provides workforce and
professional development,
financial management,
information technology,
administration,
information management,
parliamentary liaison,
strategic planning and
191
communications.
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Executive Management Group
Caroline Spencer

Don Cunninghame

Aloha Morrissey

Patrick Arulsingham

BBus, FCPA, FCA, GAICD, FGIA, FCIS

BCom, FCPA, CISA

BBus, Grad Dip Bus Admin, CPA

BCom, FCA, CPA, JP

Caroline has experience in
financial and performance audit
across jurisdictions and sectors,
and prior to her appointment
led a professional services
firm specialising in public
sector audit and governance.
Caroline has held board and
audit committee roles in various
jurisdictions and sectors.
Caroline has a passion for
promoting accountability and
continuous improvement across
the public sector and the audit
profession – to enhance trust
and performance for the benefit
of the communities we serve.

Don was appointed Assistant
Auditor General in 2008.
He joined the OAG in 1992
after an information systems
audit career mainly in the
internal audit divisions of large
insurance companies. Don
has worked in our information
systems audit branch, headed
our corporate services division,
and was our chief finance
officer and a director of financial
audit.

Aloha was appointed Assistant
Auditor General in June 2019.
She joined the OAG in 2002
and was appointed as a Director
in the Information Systems and
Performance Audit business
unit in 2014. Prior to joining the
OAG, Aloha held a range of
investigation and audit positions
with the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission
and the Australian Taxation
Office.

Patrick has been acting
Assistant Auditor General since
January 2020. He joined the
OAG in 2003 as a Principal
Auditor in our Financial Audit
business unit. Prior to this,
Patrick worked as a financial
auditor at one of the big 4 firms.

Jordan Langford-Smith

Glyn Lewis

LLB, BCom, MIPA

MPub&IntLaw, GradDipExecLead,
GradCertAppMgt, GradCertFinMgt,
BBus(Mgt), DipExtMgt

Sandra Labuschagne
BCompt, Hons BCompt CA (SA)

Sandra was appointed Deputy
Auditor General in December
2018 and designated as Chief
Operating Officer in June 2020.
She joined the OAG in 2012 and
has extensive public and private
sector auditing experience in
South Africa, New Zealand and
Australia.

Jordan has been acting
Assistant Auditor General of
our Information Systems and
Performance Audit business
unit since August 2019. He
joined the OAG in 2013 as a
Director in our Financial Audit
business unit. Prior to this,
Jordan worked at the ACT Audit
Office as a financial auditor.

Glyn joined the OAG in 2020 on
a placement from the Australian
Federal Police (AFP). He was
previously based in Vanuatu
as AFP Mission Commander
to build law enforcement and
justice capability. Prior to this
Glyn held positions as the
AFP’s National Coordinator for
Cybercrime and was seconded
to INTERPOL as the Director of
Specialised Crime and Analysis.

Sadie Godfrey
MBA (Curtin), Assoc Dip Bus (Accounting)

Sadie was appointed Assistant
Auditor General in 2008. She
has diverse and extensive
experience in corporate
management, working in
the areas of education and
industrial relations. Sadie was
previously Director of Corporate
Services at the Department
of the Registrar, Western
Australian Industrial Relations
Commission before joining the
OAG.
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Our strategic plan and direction
Our strategic plan centres around 4 key areas of the business that we
have identified as important in achieving our vision and mission.
Our people working with our tools with the right approach will deliver
our products to fulfil our outcome:
Work that makes a difference and helps to improve the public sector.
We have identified that we need our people to be motivated, innovative,
collaborative, accountable, valued, skilled and knowledgeable. Our
tools are vital in supporting our people to achieve our goals. Our tools
need to be robust, efficient, user-friendly, flexible, agile, reliable and
compliant. Our approach needs to be consistent, fair and balanced,
independent, transparent, pragmatic, professional and contemporary.
We have cascading internal plans which are integrated with our
strategic plan to ensure that all areas of the business are working in the
same direction to deliver common goals.
Our full strategic plan is outlined in Appendix 1 (page 134).

As this is the final year of our strategic plan, the Executive Management
Group (Executive) will meet towards the end of 2020 to finalise a new
5-year strategic plan. To prepare for that and inform those discussions,
Executive recently held a number of targeted strategic planning
information gathering workshops.
One workshop focused on strategic workforce planning. We looked at
how we can attract the skills we need going forward, considered the
use of cadetships (page 26) and external training programs and growing
skills organically within the office. Options for building capability include
recruiting specialised skills so that key capabilities can be applied and
shared via mentoring or other training.
We held strategic planning workshops for each performance audit
business unit and discussed the forward audit program and what our
priorities will be, with a focus on audits that create value for the public
sector. Also how our new forensic audit function will value-add to
existing work.
We also evaluated the effect of significant changes including our new
Executive team members, COVID-19 and the continuing roll-in of our
local government mandate; and reviewed our desired outcomes and
strategic direction as well as our key internal plans that support the
strategic plan.
Looking forward, in November, Executive will bring together this
work and the outcomes of the workshops to develop a relevant and
contemporary strategic plan that will guide us to deliver our desired
outcome.

Figure 2: EMG and senior OAG leaders at a strategic planning meeting
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Figure 3: The OAG Strategic Plan 2016-2020
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Figure 4: Employees and special guests at Parliament House for our 190th celebration

This year we celebrated 190 years of public auditing
in Western Australia.
The origins of the Auditor General date back to the first months of
settlement of the Swan River colony with Captain Stirling commanding a
Board of Council and Audit to open on 12 August 1829.
The office, its independence, and powers of the Auditor General have
been strengthened and expanded over the last 190 years to meet the
changing needs and expectations of the community and the Parliament,
and to reflect the nature of the public sector that is audited.
While the largest body of work remains focused on whether public
money is used for intended and authorised purposes, broader aspects of
performance are also audited. Today, the Auditor General reports to the
Parliament through our oversight committees and directly by presenting
audit reports for tabling in Parliament.
20
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We celebrated the significant milestone with an event for employees
and special guests at Parliament House in December 2019. Dr Richard
Walley OAM presented a Welcome to Country and spoke of governance
systems including those in place before Captain Stirling arrived. The
Premier, the Leader of the Opposition, committee chairs and other
members of Parliament spoke about the value of the OAG’s work.
The Auditor General also spoke about the history of the office and our
direction for the future. A souvenir program given out at the event is
available on our website at www.audit.wa.gov.au/190th-celebration.
Throughout this annual report we continue to celebrate with special
pages dedicated to photos, stories and recognising the changes of the
past 190 years.
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Figure 5: Financial auditors Aram and Punitha

Figure 6: Auditor General Caroline Spencer (centre) with (L-R), former Deputy AG
Glen Clarke, former AG Colin Murphy, former AG Des Pearson and Deputy AG
Sandra Labuschagne

Figure 7: Performance auditors Andrew and Jeremy, Assistant Auditor General Financial
Audit Don Cunninghame, performance auditor Gareth and former Auditor General Des
Pearson
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Figure 8: Performance auditors Justin, Adam, Matthew and
Jacqueline
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Our people

Our highlights...
We have

158
employees

Our people spent over

17,000
hours or 7% of their
time on professional
development

47%

of our people are
from culturally diverse
backgrounds, well
above the public
sector 13.3% average

6

financial audit
graduates started in
February 2020
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Our people
The skills, dedication and enthusiasm of our people are how we deliver quality audit services. We aim to consistently select, retain and develop our
people to meet the ongoing challenge of an increasing audit program while staying conscious of the State’s economic environment.
Although the Auditor General is an independent officer of Parliament, the OAG is a public sector entity and is subject to the obligations and constraints
of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.
We employ 158 people which equates to 152.75 full time equivalent (FTE) employees. Table 7 shows a decrease in FTE employees this year,
reflecting the demand for our employees’ skills in the broader public sector and interruption to recruitment activities. While we have recruited a number
of people for key roles, current travel restrictions have delayed their ability to enter the State and start with us.
Business unit

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Auditor General

6.00

6.00

5.00

5.00

5.60

Financial Audit

64.88

68.48

73.68

88.48

86.80

Forensic Audit

2.90

Information Systems and
Performance Audit

16.66

16.60

17.44

20.84

20.55

Performance Audit

14.72

16.55

18.56

19.82

14.00

4.80

4.00

5.00

1.00

na

Technical and Audit Quality*
Technical and Audit Support*
Business Services
Total

2.00
25.21

23.58

25.50

23.10

20.90

132.27

135.21

145.18

158.24

152.75

* Following the successful embedding of audit quality into our operational business
units, we restructured to create a new business unit that provides technical and audit
support (page 40).

Table 7: FTE at 30 June for the last 5 years

Our attrition rate this year was 15% (16% in 2018-19). Twenty-three
employees left: 8 resigned, 1 retired and 14 transferred to other public
sector entities. All 23 were given the opportunity to complete an exit
survey and 8 did so. Of those, 75% said they would consider returning
to the OAG and 62% said they would recommend the OAG as an
employer to others.
Client variety, a strong teamwork environment and the importance of
the work we do were highlighted as positive aspects of working with us,
while time and workload pressures were noted as significant areas of
concern, especially as a result of the recent COVID-19 environment. As
part of the exit process we also offer confidential conversations with the
employees to discuss their responses and gain insight into opportunities
for improvement.
We regularly review our retention strategies and other initiatives
in our Workforce Plan with a strong emphasis on professional
development and succession planning. While this enhances our
recruiting competitiveness and employee retention it also ensures we
are well placed to promote internally and provide a career path for our
employees.
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Our Professional Development Committee, which includes
representatives from all business units, develops our annual
professional development program to meet the needs of the OAG and
the career goals of individuals. The program, approved by Executive,
is varied, comprehensive and considers a range of topics that come
from a number of sources including changes to legislative or policy
frameworks, professional and technical standards boards or directly
from our people.
Our professional development program is primarily delivered through
monthly whole-of-office training, which includes technical and nontechnical learning. We source specialist internal and external speakers
to lead sessions. Cyber security and fraud topics have featured strongly
this year as key issues across the sector. We have continued our focus
on local government as we continue to progressively incorporate local
government entities into our audit program.

Our internal subject matter experts deliver targeted sessions on specific
topics and provide specialist or technical guidance. This is of particular
importance and value to employees undertaking CPA or Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA ANZ) post graduate
accounting studies.
Our status with 2 of the joint accounting bodies continues and as
a Recognised Employer Partner with CPA Australia our member
employees have automatic continuing professional development
recognition. Our status as a Recognised Training Employer with CA
ANZ offers similar benefits to provisional employee members.
Our learning management system has allowed us to successfully roll
out a range of regular online training courses to our employees. We
have more under development, targeting key topics of interest such as
information security management.

Our long-standing commitment to clear, concise, jargon-free report
writing is still supported within the office however our regular, intensive
plain English training has been impacted by travel restrictions.

Performance
development
and review

This year we reviewed our performance development and review (PDR) process to better
support managers and employees having meaningful discussions about performance
and mutual expectations, identifying areas for capability development. As part of the review we
asked employees for feedback on the current process, looked at the structure and format of the
PDR forms and conducted training sessions on performance conversations for all levels.
We will present the enhanced process to Executive in the second half of 2020 for approval.
Following sign-off we will conduct workshops on the new process from an employee and manager
perspective and provide training for completing the new PDR forms.
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Learning and professional development

Secondments
Placements
Into OAG

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

4

5

6

7

16

Out of OAG

11

7

9

10

12

Total

15

12

15

17

28

Table 8: Secondments in and out of OAG for the last 5 years
Figure 9: Our 2020 graduates

Graduate recruitment and support
Our annual intake of graduates delivers continual growth and future
sustainability of our workforce. In February 2020, we welcomed 6
financial audit graduates. Our advertised recruitment program attracted
98 applicants, with 20 invited for interview.
Our intensive 5-week induction and training program, the foundation
of our graduates’ time with us and the building blocks of their audit
careers, includes:
• introduction to the OAG and the broader public sector
• professional behavioural and customer service standards
• technical and practical auditing
• legal compliance requirements
• a 3-week practicum.
Our support of the graduates continues with a 3-year training program
of key technical development and mandatory professional accounting
studies.
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Employees seconded in from other entities benefit the OAG through
their different perspectives, ideas and suggestions. Seconding
employees to other entities broadens and increases their experience,
expertise and skill sets and builds further understanding of the OAG’s
unique role in the sector. The secondment process is a cost-effective,
efficient practice as all employees carry acquired skills and knowledge
back to their home entities.

Cadetship
We are developing a cadetship program as
a feeder into the accounting profession and
possibly more broadly, to supplement our
graduate recruitment. The program will offer
students the opportunity to gain paid work
experience while completing their undergraduate
degree. As a training-ground for the sector,
we see the professional governance skills and
professionalism we develop in people as attractive
and transferable to many entities.
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Employee survey

This year we continued our strong liaison with Western Australian
universities through:

In our 2020 Employee Satisfaction Survey employees told us they
appreciate our recognition and celebration of cultural diversity in
addition to the value of the work they do, client variety, their colleagues
and flexibility. Employees were also appreciative of our commitment to,
and support – both operational and technical – for working from home
during the recent COVID-19 period.

• targeted sponsorship of business school awards and scholarships at all
5 universities
• involvement by the Auditor General at student events
• placement opportunities for Edith Cowan University cyber security
students. Exposure to complex information systems environments
in our Information Systems and Performance Audit and Information
Technology teams delivers a mutual benefit to us and the students.

Code of Conduct

Concerns were expressed about employee workload, with comments
on the growing volume and pace, and communication and consultation
around change management. While some of the shift and increase in
workload can be related to the impact of COVID-19, we acknowledge
the pressures our people experience from a constant audit delivery
and performance accountability focus – which has only increased with
local government audit. To manage and minimise the negative impact
we have changed or implemented additional support processes and
practices and are continually seeking process efficiencies to reduce
non-value adding tasks where possible.

Through annual declarations employees acknowledge their
understanding of, and commitment to, our Code of Conduct and their
compliance with legislation, internal policies and professional standards
of conduct.

To assist with communications and change management we will
develop a strategic projects calendar for publishing on our intranet.
The calendar will outline major projects, the impact it will have on our
operations and key dates. We expect to roll this calendar out in the first
half of the new financial year.

Our Code of Conduct specifies appropriate standards of employee
behaviour determined by the Public Sector Code of Ethics in addition to
those with direct relevance to our unique role and responsibilities.

Grievance resolution

These valuable strategic relationships promote not only the OAG, but the
broader public sector as a potential employer to high calibre students.

Our expectations about appropriate workplace behaviour are endorsed
through regular education and awareness training, with support
resources promoted on the intranet and posters around the office. We
acknowledge that grievances or disputes can arise in any workplace
and have a fair and transparent process, including officers trained in
202
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University liaison program

Equity and diversity
Our workforce is culturally and linguistically diverse with approximately
half of our employees coming from diverse backgrounds. We appreciate
the value of a diverse organisation and aim to have a workplace that
includes and respects different gender, race and cultural perspectives,
and reflects the broad community we serve.
Our graduates and new employees attend workplace behaviour
and equal employment opportunity training that outlines the OAG’s
behavioural expectations.
Equity and diversity
Women

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
(%)
(%)
(%)
(%)
(%)

55.15

62.41

57.14

56.00

57.58

0

0

0

0.59

0.61

33.83

45.86

54.65

53.84

47.27

People with disabilities

0.74

0

0.62

0.59

2.42

Youth (24 and under)

5.89

6.02

3.72

4.73

4.85

Aboriginal
People from culturally diverse
backgrounds

Figure 10: Business Services employees participating in Indigenous
cultural awareness training with Go Cultural

Table 9: Each diversity group as a percentage of our workforce

As an office we celebrate significant cultural events throughout the
year such as Lunar New Year, Eid and Diwali. All employees are invited
to attend and contribute to a morning tea and those who personally
observe the holidays are invited to speak about its meaning and
importance to them.
We also recognise important Indigenous events such as National
Reconciliation Week and NAIDOC Week. During 2019-20, our office
hosted a NAIDOC event for all Albert Facey House tenants and our
Business Services employees participated in a cultural awareness
course, learning more about Aboriginal artefacts and their use.
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Figure 11: Financial auditors
and Lunar New Year presenters
Jocelyn, Michelle and Charmian

Figure 12: Employees at our
Diwali morning tea
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Occupational safety and health
We acknowledge that occupational safety and health (OSH) is a priority
and we are committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy
work environment. Our employees work in a low risk environment;
however, we do not take this for granted and all employees receive online
OSH training. Training completion rates are reported to Executive and
used to identify areas for further training.
We have designated and trained OSH Safety Officers and all office
practices comply with our legislative responsibilities under the
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, Workers’ Compensation and
Injury Management Act 1981 and policy requirements in Western Australia.
Our induction process for new employees includes information on
their responsibilities under our OSH and injury management policies.
Additionally, all documents are on our intranet, including:
• Occupational Safety and Health policy
• Management of Ill or Injured Workers policy
• Working from Home policy
• Reasonable and Flexible Working Hours policy
• workers’ compensation guides
• injury management and return to work program
• incident and accident report forms.
Day-to-day responsibility for ensuring that workplace facilities, equipment
and systems do not expose employees to hazards sits with the Business
Services unit. Our Audit and Risk Management Committee monitors
trends, maintains awareness of serious issues and monitors timely and
appropriate risk management.
Our statement of commitment and performance in 2019-20 on OSH and
injury management is reported on page 130.

OSH assessment
We assess our OSH management system and processes
every 5 years. As we conducted the previous assessment
internally, we engaged an independent assessor for the
August 2019 review.
The review assessed 5 elements using the Department of
Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety’s assessment tool:
• management commitment
• planning
• consultation and reporting
• hazard management
• training and supervision.
The review identified areas we could improve the rigour of our
existing practices. In this key area of employee safety, health
and welfare we acted immediately to address the 8 hazard
areas identified and implement the 5 recommendations.
We also took the opportunity to completely overhaul our OSH
policies and practices, and OSH manual with specific focus
on fatigue management for our intrastate travelling auditors
and fitness for work recognising the serious impact of mental
health in the workplace.
The assessment also identified the need to review all OSH
training for employees and managers which we are currently
undertaking.
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Employee assistance program

Office forums

Our people are not solely employees and many factors affect their
lives. Sometimes they need additional assistance or resources to
help manage external factors that can impact emotional as well as
physical wellbeing. We support them in these times through our
employee assistance program. It offers services including independent
counselling, advice and support for the full range of life issues. To
ensure full support, we extend the program to immediate families.

As our workforce is highly mobile and the majority of our auditors
work away from the office, we think it is important to bring all
employees together during the year. Our office forums provide such an
opportunity and are held quarterly. At every forum the Auditor General
communicates strategic initiatives, current or emerging issues and
accomplishments of different business units.

We use our program provider’s annual de-identified reports to
determine any trends and take actions such as awareness raising,
health and wellbeing promotion and training. While employees are able
to raise issues directly with us, our providers’ contact and appointments
are highly confidential.

Wellness
Employees spend the majority of their waking hours at work. We want
to ensure our employees achieve balance through caring for their mind,
body and spirit so they can lead a full and healthy life. We offer a range
of wellness initiatives including:
• flu vaccinations
• ergonomic assessments and an increasing ergonomic accessory
range, including for a mobile workplace

Due to COVID-19 physical distancing restrictions and most of our
employees working from home for several months, we held the first 2
forums of 2020 online via Microsoft Teams. Every year at the first forum
of the year our financial audit graduates from the previous year present
on their experience as a graduate cohort. Due to COVID-19 we are yet
to hear from our 2019 graduates but will once restrictions have been
lifted.

Social club
While 2020 has been problematic for social functions, our social club
plays a vital role in connecting our employees across all business units.
It is run by a voluntary employee committee that organises a number of
events. During 2019-20 the committee hosted a welcome sundowner for
new graduates, spring breakfast and a Christmas lunch.

• professional ergonomic assessments for special requirements
• Well at Work e-magazines with strategies, tips, recipes and exercises
• lunch and learn sessions on superannuation and salary sacrifice
options
• time to provide blood donations.
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Figure 13: Some of our auditors initiated ‘Hawaiian shirt Fridays’ on the
first Friday of every month

Our people

Impact of COVID-19
on our people
In late March we introduced new working arrangements to be ready for a
major community outbreak and help reduce our employee’s risk of exposure
to COVID-19. While our remote IT access infrastructure was already
established for our largely mobile workforce, employees could adjust their
start and finish times to avoid public transport crowds, be on a team roster to
alternate between working from home and in the office, and modify their work
hours to accommodate child care or other arrangements.
At this time we also stood up our Crisis Management Team. Led by the
Auditor General and expanded beyond our Executive to include our Director
Workforce and Development, Chief Information Officer and Manager
Communications, the team met daily to monitor the evolving situation, and
make decisions about how we would adapt our work processes and how this
would impact our people. Employees received an email after each meeting,
which included key changes, support for employees, stakeholder liaison and
updates on State and Commonwealth Government advice.
We supported our people with resources for coping with stress and dealing
with things out of their control, as we recognised that our employees had
family and friends affected by job losses, business closures and were
affected by decisions to close schools. We also provided advice on being
vigilant for additional cyber-attacks. We relied heavily on new tools (page 43)
to continue face-to-face meetings and collaboration within our teams.
Within the office extra cleaning took place and desk wipes and hand
sanitisers were made readily available. We also reduced capacity in our
meeting rooms and common areas to meet physical distancing requirements.
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190 years – our people

Auditor General

• In 1829, Captain Stirling established the first Board of Counsel and
Audit in Western Australia with 3 commissioners: the Harbour Master,
Surveyor-General and Registrar.

• In 1831, Captain Stirling abolished the
Board of Counsel and Audit and separated
its responsibilities into 2 new offices: an
Auditor’s Office and the Commissioners
of Crown Lands. One of the former Board
members, Mark Currie, was appointed as
the first Colonial Auditor.

• In 1935, the audit office had 39 employees, and auditors were called
audit inspectors.
• By 1952, the number of employees had risen to 62.
• Now the OAG has 158 employees.
• Over the years the OAG has changed from being a predominately
male, anglo-celtic workforce to now having over 50% female
employees and over 45% of employees from culturally diverse
backgrounds.

• There have been 19 Auditors General
over the past 190 years.
• Caroline Spencer was appointed
the first female Auditor General in
May 2018.
• In the Audit Act 1904, it was
stipulated that the Auditor General
would retire at 65 years old, unless
otherwise authorised by the
Governor.
• Today, the restriction is Auditors
General can serve only one
10 year term – they cannot be
reappointed as a safeguard to
their independence to act without
fear and without favour.
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Like all West Australians, our employees have adapted to working
through world crises, from World War I to the current COVID-19
pandemic. Here are a few words from Auditor General Charles Samuel
Toppin from 15 November 1915:
‘The war has also been a large but unavoidable factor in the matter
[impact of continual staffing change on the quality and quantity of
work performed] during the year, but all honour is due to those who
have done their duty in joining the Forces. The officers remaining
have put forward their best efforts to cope with the work, and,
unfortunately, there has been a good deal of overtime worked without
extra remuneration, except in some cases payment for tea money
under certain conditions’.
Regarding the effects of World War II, and the impact of taking on
untrained employees, Auditor General Sydney Arnold Taylor wrote:
‘Pre-war the male permanent staff of the Department (including
myself) consisted of 45 officers. More than half are now servicing in
His Majesty’s Forces…
Replacements, in the main, have been made by the appointment
of temporary female clerks with little or no audit training. This
unavoidable changing in the constitution of the staff has 		
necessarily reduced the effectiveness of the audit check’.
Fear of disease has also been
evident throughout the years,
including Auditor General Fred
Spencer’s mention of typhoid, in
being unable to attend to checks
at Southern Cross, but noted this
will be performed later on.

Memories from long-serving
employees
“The standard working day included a 15 minute morning tea break. In
many departments a tea lady served the hot beverages. You paid into
the tea fund for the ingredients, but the tea lady’s salary was paid by the
government. The tea lady on each floor was a key person – she knew
all the gossip around the office and was a fountain of information…
good and bad!”
“Cash pay envelopes were made up by the pay office fortnightly and
had to be signed for by each person individually later on Thursday
morning. You would count your pay in view of the pay office window to
make sure it was right, before going back to your desks.”
“In the 1970s and 1980s retirement was an option from age 60, but
compulsory at 65. Many retiring male employees and single female
secretaries/typists had worked upward of 45 years as a public servant
with a department. Employee loyalty was ‘the way of the world’ and a
public service job was considered ‘a job for life’.”

190 years

of our people
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Auditing through crisis
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Executive Management Group
Our Executive Management Group is our team of senior leaders who assist the Auditor General to govern, plan, manage and lead our business. They
set the strategic direction and organisational values that define our activities. Chaired by the Auditor General, they meet monthly and hold informal
weekly meetings.
Executive also holds specific strategic planning meetings. They monitor the implementation of our strategies and measure performance against
targets. A number of committees with roles in governance, inter-office engagement and employee development provide Executive with strategic,
operational and administrative support and advice.
In 2020 the Deputy Auditor General role was also designated as the OAG’s Chief Operating Officer. All Assistant Auditors General will now report to
the Deputy who will be responsible for overseeing the daily administrative and operational delivery aspects of the Office.
Our Executive team’s profiles are on page 17.

Financial management

Policy framework

We use financial data to monitor and report on our performance and
inform our decisions. In addition, budget forecasting and meeting longterm resourcing requirements are key aspects of our strategic planning.
Ensuring sound financial management of our business is crucial and
more critical as the sector is striving to deliver efficiencies in all aspects
of operations. In 2019-20 we maintained a robust internal control
environment despite disruptions caused by COVID-19.

Our policies are designed to answer the most frequently asked
questions on audit, administrative, accounting and personnel matters.
They support and promote efficient and effective administration by
providing consistent operational rules that meet our compliance
requirements.

This year we refined the OAG’s budgeting tools and cost allocation
methodology leading to enhanced confidence in our resource allocation
across the key services we offer. We continued to seek alternative
arrangements to replace our 25-year-old finance system seeking to
balance fit for purpose with value for money aspects. We anticipate to
fully transition to the new finance solution by the end of 2020.

We formally review each of our policies at least every 2 years
undertaking an evaluation and assessment to confirm ongoing
usefulness, and taking into account feedback from employees, and
changes to legislation or other external environments.
This year we reviewed 43 policies of which 2 were rescinded and 41
were approved by Executive. Employees are informed of policy changes
on the intranet and at professional development days.
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Governance
We are committed to achieving and demonstrating good governance. In monitoring and assessing our performance, we use the 9 key governance
principles of the Public Sector Commission’s Good Governance Guide to assist us to achieve a high standard of organisational performance.
Governance principle

Our commitment

Principle 1: Government and public sector
relationship – the agency’s relationship with the
government is clear.

We have established a constructive relationship with Government while maintaining the essential
independence. We have processes in place to ensure clear communication and interaction between us and
members of Parliament and State and local government entities.

Principle 2: Management and oversight – the
agency's management has clear oversight and
accountability and clearly defined responsibilities.

We maintain a structured oversight process through our governance committees. The committees meet
regularly and receive reports on strategic activities and progress towards required actions.

Principle 3: Organisational structure – the
agency’s structure serves its operations.

The leader of each business unit is a member of Executive, which is responsible for ensuring we achieve our
strategic plan outcomes. To reflect emerging priorities we recently made changes to our structure introducing a
Forensic Audit and Technical and Audit Support business units.

Principle 4: Operations – the agency plans its
operations to achieve its goals.

Each business unit has an annual operational plan that identifies its work program and progress towards
initiatives. These plans are key supporting documents for our strategic plan and agreed on by Executive.

Principle 5: Ethics and integrity – ethics and
integrity are embedded in the agency's values and
operations.

Ethical behaviour and integrity are core values that underpin our work. Our Code of Conduct and professional
standards define the high standards we require from our employees.

Principle 6: People – the agency's leadership in
people management contributes to individual and
organisational achievements.

Workforce planning is a high priority and includes policies and strategies to enable the attraction, retention and
management of people as well as development and growth. Some strategies we use include a strong learning
and professional development program, an annual graduate recruitment program and supporting internal and
external secondments.

Principle 7: Finance – the agency safeguards
financial integrity and accountability.

Our finance policies and processes are consistent with accounting standards and we have formal structures to
monitor actual versus budget. Financial performance is reported to Executive monthly.

Principle 8: Communication – the agency
communicates with all parties in a way that is
accessible, open and responsive.

Our OAG Communication Strategy identifies key actions and projects we undertake to deliver corporate
communications and engage with our stakeholders. We disseminate information efficiently and effectively to
ensure stakeholders are well informed, via appropriate channels in a timely manner.

Principle 9: Risk management – the agency
identifies and manages its risks.

We have a comprehensive Risk Management Framework, overseen by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee. The framework outlines the policies and processes relating to the management of risk and
preventative measures to ensure our risk is within acceptable levels. Our organisational and business unit risk
registers, including treatment action plans, are updated at least annually or whenever major changes happen.

Table 10: Good Governance Guide references
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Audit and Risk Management Committee
Members

Risk management

• Des Pearson, Independent Chair, former Auditor General for Western
Australia and Victoria, non-executive director various boards

We consider risk management to be a fundamental component of our
work. Our comprehensive Risk Management Framework forms an
integral part of the strategic planning processes. The purpose of the
framework is to:

• Jordan Langford-Smith – Acting Assistant Auditor General,
Information Systems and Performance Audit
• Kamran Aslam – Senior Director, Information Systems and
Performance Audit

• provide an overview of our risk management processes

• Andrew Harris – Director, Performance Audit

• describe roles and responsibilities for managing risk

• Kevin Ng – Assistant Director, Forensic Audit

• outline the process for reporting on risk and ongoing monitoring and
review.

In providing advice and assurance to the Auditor General, the key
responsibilities of the committee are to:
• monitor the oversight of the Risk Management Framework
• coordinate our internal audit and external audit programs
• monitor the effectiveness of the internal control system and ensure
that it is reliable, complies with legislation and reduces the risk of
fraud and error
• oversee our actions to address any internal audit, quality assurance
and external review findings
• monitor the financial and key performance indicator reporting process
• oversee our Business Continuity Management Program.

• define the key attributes and objectives for the OAG’s risk culture

The framework is complemented by the OAG Risk Register and
business unit risk registers that identify and assess relevant strategic
and operational risks, and the treatment action plans to address them.
Our Risk Register is supported by the OAG Fraud and Corruption
Control Plan and the OAG Business Continuity Management Program,
which address particular types of risks within specific areas of our
operational activities.
Throughout the year we conducted internal reviews of our Risk
Management Framework, Risk Register, Fraud and Corruption Control
Plan, and Business Continuity Management Program. The findings and
recommendations from those reviews were endorsed by the Audit and
Risk Management Committee (ARMC) and subsequently approved by
Executive and the documents have been updated accordingly.
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Report from the ARMC Chair
The ARMC is an essential part of OAG’s governance framework. It provides independent advice and assurance to the Auditor General
on activities relating to governance, control, risk management, compliance, systems of internal control, and financial and performance
reporting. ARMC supports OAG to instill strong control and risk practices.
While ARMC’s functions are diverse, overseeing financial and performance reporting processes, and the associated internal controls, is
incredibly important. ARMC report to the Auditor General and Executive immediately following each meeting, including details of action
items or requests for further information.
During 2019-20 ARMC:
• met with OAG’s internal audit and external audit providers
• revised its and the internal audit charter for currency and
relevance, and against the OAG best practice guide and
applicable Treasurer’s instructions. A small number of minor
matters were identified that did not alter the principles but
strengthened and clarified the charter
• undertook a committee effectiveness survey that generally
identified ARMC is functioning well and noted 4 continuous
improvement opportunities which were adopted
• developed a meeting schedule with agenda items to ensure
sufficient focus on current and emerging risks

• considered the emerging risks and mitigation strategies for the
transition of local government entities and the establishment of
the Forensic Audit business unit
• reviewed OAG’s approach to managing financial and
procedural risks and risks to employees and personal safety
during the COVID-19 pandemic as well as receiving regular
updates on management’s approach to the crisis
• reviewed and recommended minor changes to OAG’s Risk
Management Framework, risk registers and Fraud and
Corruption Control Plan to confirm the risks represented the
current environment.

Des Pearson
Independent Chair, Audit and Risk Management Committee
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Audit Quality Monitoring Committee
Members
• Sandra Labuschagne – Chair, Deputy Auditor General
• Gareth Govan – Director, Information Systems and Performance
Audit
• Andrew Harris – Director, Performance Audit
• Tim Hughes – Principal Adviser
• Efthalia Samaras – Director, Financial Audit

Quality framework
Quality is one of our values and is fundamentally important to
everything we do. At every opportunity we demonstrate and promote
our belief that audit quality is more than just meeting professional
standards and public sector compliance requirements.
We also established this year the Technical and Audit Support business
unit that is fundamental to our quality framework. The unit provides
accounting, audit and governance technical advice and supports the
Audit Quality Monitoring Committee (AQMC) in its function of monitoring
audit quality.

• monitor the system of quality control and provide the Auditor
General with reasonable assurance that the OAG complies with the
requirements of the auditing standard ASQC1 and, if applicable, ASA
220

We have a framework that establishes and maintains quality over the
audit work we perform. The framework includes a Quality Assurance
Plan, which AQMC presented to Executive for approval in January
2020. The plan plays a key role in ensuring our compliance with
relevant accounting and assurance standards. Through the activities
undertaken we can identify ways to continually improve our approach to
auditing and the quality of our products.

• review the efficiency and effectiveness of the OAG’s quality control
processes

During the year we also undertook the following quality assurance
activities:

• enable a collegial and constructive quality control monitoring process
that supports continual improvement.

Activity

Purpose

Inspection of
in-house
engagement files

To ensure a quality audit is performed and continuous
improvement opportunities and good practice are
identified and shared.

The key responsibilities of the committee are to:

Disclosure review of To ensure the quality of public sector financial
financial statements statements to meet the compliance requirements.
System of quality
control

To ensure that the system of quality control is
compliant with auditing and assurance standards.

Preapproval of
contract audit firms

To ensure the quality of contract audit firms who are
able to tender for financial audit work for the OAG.

Review of audit files
of contract audit
firms

To ensure the quality of contract audit firms who
perform audit work on our behalf.

Table 11: 2019-20 quality assurance activities
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Report from the AQMC Chair
The AQMC was established in November 2019 to focus on monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of quality control. In its early
meetings AQMC focused on ensuring our system of quality control was compliant with auditing and assurance standards.
This year AQMC commissioned a number of external reviews of our audit quality, including an in-flight review of a performance audit and a
review of contract audit firm files for local government audit. AQMC monitors the implementation of review recommendations.
Should the OAG receive any referrals or complaints about audit work, AQMC monitors how these are resolved and ensures that
opportunities for improvements in future audits are implemented. AQMC uses the findings from these reviews, as well as public feedback
on our reports, to make recommendations for training and development opportunities that will enhance the quality of our work.
For instance, Executive recently asked AQMC to oversee implementation of our new data strategy to ensure the use of data analytics in
audit work contributes to the overall audit quality and insights. AQMC aims to work collegially with employees and external reviewers to
foster an environment of constructive review and commitment to continual improvement.
Sandra Labuschagne
Chair, Audit Quality Monitoring Committee
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Information Governance Committee
Members
• Sandra Labuschagne – Chair, Deputy Auditor General
• Don Cunninghame – Assistant Auditor General, Financial Audit
• Jordan Langford-Smith – Acting Assistant Auditor General,
Information Systems and Performance Audit
• Aloha Morrissey – Assistant Auditor General, Performance Audit
• Glyn Lewis – Assistant Auditor General, Forensic Audit
• Patrick Arulsingham – Acting Assistant Auditor General, Technical
and Audit Support
• Sadie Godfrey – Assistant Auditor General, Business Services
• Kamran Aslam – Senior Director, Information Systems and
Performance Audit
• Michael Cooper – Chief Information Officer
The key responsibilities of the committee are to:
• oversee and monitor the development and delivery of the strategic
information technology (IT) plan
• review and endorse proposed major technology-related projects
• review and endorse the IT risk appetite and mitigation strategies
• review and provide recommendations on priorities for technology
expenditure

Report from the IGC
Chair
The Information Governance Committee provides focus
and oversight, working with our IT team, to ensure our IT is
managed in a way that benefits the office and protects its
reputation.
During the year, the committee reviewed initiatives focused
on improving the office’s security posture, while supporting
efficiency and ease of use. We prioritised several strategic
infrastructure redesigns which will provide a foundation for
our future IT systems. The changes will support accelerated
maturity of our IT service delivery and business operations
through improved governance, workflows and systems.
The committee also provided oversight of the office’s
continued procurement of a financial audit methodology
and whole-of-office audit tool. The office has undertaken
market research to gain a better understanding of the audit
methodology offerings and aims to transition to a new tool and
methodology in phases, starting late 2020.

• monitor the performance of information services

We also endorsed and monitored the IT teams response to
COVID-19, ensuring our people were equipped for remoteworking.

• oversee the operational lifecycle of enterprise systems

Sandra Labuschagne

• review and endorse planned major service changes
• review and monitor policies and standards.
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Our tools

Other committees
•

Performance Audit Methodology User Group – facilitates
feedback about our performance audit methodology to ensure
it is appropriate to our needs and operating environment.
In 2019-20 the group reviewed and updated the office’s
Performance Audit Manual to enhance audit quality and ensure
our methodology continues to comply with Australian Auditing
Standards.

•

Culture Committee – chaired by the Auditor General,
the committee fosters a culture of professional respect,
accountability and support, as well as innovation within the
OAG and provides advice and recommendations to Executive
on improvements to our workplace culture and capability.

•

Office Consultative Committee – facilitates the efficient and
effective conduct of OAG activities by enabling the views of
employees to be taken into account in decision-making.

•

Professional Development Committee – plans and
implements the OAG’s annual professional development
program for employees.

•

Crisis Management Team – (as required) to implement the
Business Continuity Plan and manage the response to any
critical incident or disaster.

Impact of COVID-19
on our tools
In response to COVID-19, we assembled our Crisis Management
Team to support Executive, our employees and stakeholders
during these rapidly changing times. Instead of limiting the
decision making to only a few members of Executive, the team
was expanded to include the full Executive, Director Workforce
and Development, Chief Information Officer and Manager
Communications. From mid March through May the team met
daily to consider the rapidly evolving situation and our response,
so disruption to work was minimised and our people were safe
and supported. A daily update was emailed to employees and they
were encouraged to ask further questions when unsure.
As a workforce accustomed to remote working, we already had
good remote access infrastructure and many tools in place to
enable our employees to easily transition to working from home.
For example, all employees are equipped with a laptop and our
auditors have extra assets such as portable monitors and secure
large file transfer capacity.
However, we needed other tools to ensure we could continue
working efficiently and effectively. We implemented additional
secure network connectivity options, developed broadcast text
message capability to contact all employees in an emergency,
and deployed Microsoft Teams to all OAG devices to enable video
conferencing and improved internal and external collaboration.
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Physical tools
The physical tools used by our auditors have changed
significantly over the past 190 years. From quills, ink
and parchment, to pen and paper, to typewriters and
comptometers, to desktop computers and calculators
and now to laptops, tablets and smartphones.

The key to
the lottery
Our auditor’s tools have also
extended to the unlikely,
such as the keys to the
State lottery barrel. Before
Lotto became electronic
in WA, the OAG had a
role to oversee the lottery
draws. Our auditors were
responsible for ensuring
that the number of marbles
in the barrel was correct
(100,000) and that the barrel
was locked and sealed
between draws. When
‘scratchies’ were introduced,
our auditors supervised
the second chance draws,
checked the winning tickets
were valid and announced
the winners’ names.
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Legislative tools

Auditor General Will Adams saw a need for a manual setting out
the role of the Auditor General and training employees on their
responsibilities. This first comprehensive operating manual was put
together in 1971 under the title Audit Office Manual – Administration and
General Auditing Procedures.

A number of Acts have governed the work of the Auditor General.
The first was the Audit Act 1881. It required the Auditor General to
conduct a monthly audit of Treasury books, quarterly audit of Treasury’s
‘statements in detail’, quarterly audit of Treasury loan returns, bi-yearly
audit of the Treasury ‘balance sheet’ and produce an annual report of
Treasury audits. This included examinations of the individual financial
books of various functions including public works, hospitals and police.

The office later used a program called ADAPT, which was a
methodology and audit program used by one of the big firms and
adapted for use in the public sector.
In 2010, we implemented our current financial audit methodology, the
Integrated Public Sector Audit Methodology (IPSAM). In our first year of
using the methodology we achieved an excellent 99.4% success rate of
State government entities’ audits by the required deadline.
We are now in the process of sourcing a new financial audit
methodology and whole-of-office audit tool to ensure our audit practices
remain efficient and fit for purpose in the current public sector operating
environment.

This Act was followed by the Constitution Act 1889, Audit Act
1891, Audit Act 1904, Audit Act Amendment Act 1927, Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1985 and the current Auditor General Act
2006, and the Local Government Amendment (Auditing) Act 2017.

190 years

of our tools
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Our tools

Audit methodology

Contents

Our approach
Consistent, fair and balanced,
independent, transparent, pragmatic,
professional, contemporary
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Our approach

Our highlights...
We received a

-A

93%

rating from our
internal auditors

of State government
entities surveyed
rated our overall
financial audit quality
as good or excellent

89%

97%

of local government
entities surveyed value
our recommendations to
improve their financial
management

of performance audit
entities surveyed
said our auditors
conducted themselves
professionally during
the audit
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Financial auditing
Financial auditing provides independent assurance to Parliament that
the annual financial reports of State and local government entities:
• are presented in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
relevant regulations, instructions and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements
• are based on proper accounts
• present fairly the operating results and cash flows for the period
under review
• show the financial position at the end of the reporting period.
Each year the Auditor General issues:
• For the majority of State government entities, most of which
operate under the Financial Management Act 2006:
– an opinion on the financial statements of the entity
– an opinion regarding the financial management-related controls
in the entity
– an opinion on the key performance indicators (KPIs) of the entity
and whether they are fairly presented, relevant and appropriate.
Most State government entities are required under the Financial
Management Act 2006 to have their annual reports tabled within
90 days of financial year end.
• For local government entities, progressively from 2017-18, an
auditor’s report on the annual financial report and any other matters
required by the local government audit regulations.
Under the Local Government Act 1995, local government entities
are required to publish their annual reports on their website within
14 days of their council accepting the report.
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• For entities operating under other legislation an opinion on their
financial statements.
You will find an overview of the financial audits undertaken this year on
page 68. Appendix 2 (page 136) is a complete list of entities subject to
financial audit.

Working with audit firms
For the 2019-20 financial year, we outsourced about 33% of our
financial audit work for State government entities and approximately
85% for local government entities. The Auditor General, or a delegate,
signs the audit opinion and is accountable for the work of our contract
audit firm partners.
Auditors General outsourcing audits is common practice across
jurisdictions and our contract management processes ensure that
outsourced audits are efficient, cost-effective and meet our audit quality
standards.
We have been contracting out audits for many years and the benefits for
us and our clients include:
• partnering with accredited audit firms to develop innovative audit
practices
• accessing specialist knowledge or skills we might not have or are
costly to maintain
• learning from accredited audit firms to improve our audit processes,
quality and reporting
• providing a mechanism for us to benchmark our cost effectiveness,
audit processes, quality and reporting.
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We aim for continuous improvement and a way of doing this is by
acting on feedback from our stakeholders. All audited entities have the
opportunity to participate in our annual survey. The survey (conducted
by an independent research company) gauges how our employees and
contracted audit firms are performing in the key focus areas of audit
process, audit reporting and audit value (which includes the value of our
financial statement, KPI and information system audits).

Focus
area

Audit
process

For each area, respondents are asked several questions regarding our
performance. We have chosen to highlight 2 questions per area. The
survey results highlight areas where we can improve.

State government entities
A total of 99 out of 118 financial audit clients responded to our survey
this year, a response rate of 84% (down from 89% last year). The
survey results were favourable overall, with 93% of respondents rating
the overall audit quality as good or excellent, up from 85% last year. A
key driver of the positive rating was the effective communication by our
auditors.
The results were particularly positive in relation to our auditors’
professionalism and their skills and knowledge. Timeliness is an area
in which entities consider we could improve, including communicating
any issues to management earlier and minimising delays in the issuing
of audit opinions. We value feedback and, as always, examine survey
results to consider where we can reasonably make improvements while
meeting cost and quality as well as delivery time frames.

Indicator

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

The auditors
communicated
with us effectively

90

88

92

91

93

The auditors
adequately
understood our
organisation

89

84

89

88

91

The Auditor
General’s audit
opinion was
issued in a timely
manner

92

94

94

96

94

94

90

93

90

96

We value the
assurance we
obtain from the
audit of our
statutory financial
statements

96

97

99

98

95

We value
the OAG’s
recommendations
to improve
the financial
management and
internal controls of
our organisation

96

92

96

97

93

Audit
reporting OAG’s
management
letters
communicated the
audit findings and
issues clearly

Audit
value

% Agree

Table 12: State government entity financial audit survey results of 2 key
questions in 3 focus areas
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Surveys of financial audit entities

Local government entities
A total of 81 out of 98 local government entities responded to our survey
(a response rate of 83%, comparable to last year’s response rate 82%).
The results were generally positive, and in line with last year, particularly
in relation to responsiveness, effective communications and perceived
balance and fairness of management letters. Areas where we could
improve include appropriate senior staff involvement and timeliness of
aspects of the audit.
Focus area Indicator
Audit
process

Audit
reporting

Audit value

2018-19

2019-20

The OAG’s audit program was
undertaken in a timely manner

68

69

Audit staff were responsive to our
needs

65

82

The Auditor General’s audit opinion
was issued in a timely manner

83

81

The management letters clearly
communicated the audit findings and
issues

93

94

We value the assurance we obtain from
the audit of our statutory financial report

96

96

We value the OAG’s recommendations
to improve the financial management
and internal controls of our organisation

93

89

Table 13: Local government entity financial audit survey results of 2
questions in 3 focus areas

Audit committee
chair’s forum
We firmly believe that an appropriately established and effective
audit committee is vital and cost-effective in assisting entities to
fulfil their corporate governance and oversight responsibilities.
The importance of audit committees is heightened in times of
change, such as we are witnessing in response to COVID-19,
where integrity and other risks are elevated. We have engaged
closely with entities to actively encourage improvement and
build capacity in this area.
In June 2020, we hosted our inaugural Forum for State Audit
Committee Chairs. The forum provided a means for almost
100 committee chairs to meet and discuss audit issues and
trends we are identifying in our work, and to consider emerging
risks affecting public sector entities. The forum included a
presentation from the Auditor General, with insights shared by
the Deputy Under Treasurer Michael Court and highly regarded
independent audit committee chair Frank Cooper AO and a
question and answer session.
Attendees were generous in their praise of the forum and were
very keen to have similar events in the future. For the moment,
we will look to hold them twice a year, as audit committees
continue to develop across the sector.
The forum coincided with the launch of our Western Australian
Public Sector Audit Committees Better Practice Guide (page
79). We hope the guide serves as a useful resource for entities
in assessing and improving their audit committees for the
benefit of the Western Australian community.
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Information systems auditing
Our information systems audits focus on the information technology (IT)
environments of public sector entities.
We audit general computer controls (GCC) to determine if they effectively
support the confidentiality, integrity and availability of information systems (IS).
GCCs include controls over the IT environment, computer operations, access
to programs and data, program development and program changes. We use
the results of our GCC work to inform our capability assessments of entities.
These audits support our financial audit and controls opinions.
We have developed a model that uses accepted industry good practice as the
basis for assessing the maturity of the IT controls an entity has established.
The model provides a benchmark for entity performance and a means for
comparing results from year-to-year.
Our IS audit work is a very important part of our audit program as it reveals
common weaknesses that can seriously affect the operations of government
and potentially compromise sensitive information held by entities. Our IS audit
reports contain recommendations that address these common weaknesses
and as such, have a use broader than just the entities we specifically audited.

First local
government IS audit
This year we tabled our
first local government IS
audit report (page 79)
since the proclamation
of the Local Government
Amendment (Auditing) Act
2017. It summarised the
results of the 10 sampled
local government entities
and included a security gap
analysis that benchmarked
security practices against
a globally recognised
standard. The standard
provides useful guidance on how entities can address
weaknesses and risks to their information security.
While local government entities differ in the size and
scale, it is critical that they all have effective controls to
manage information systems.
It also includes better practice guidance to assist
public sector entities to manage and address technical
vulnerabilities. We will continue to develop better
practice guidance to help the public sector perform
efficiently and effectively.

Figure 14: Our inaugural Audit Committee Chairs Forum
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Performance auditing

Forensic auditing
In December 2019, following a request from the
Treasurer to the Auditor General, the State Government
announced the OAG would receive additional funding
to conduct targeted forensic audits of entities’ contract
management and systems, supported by data analytics.
This funding allowed for the establishment of our new
Forensic Audit business unit.
This expanded function of our office is an important
extension to the type of public audit to what we have
done previously, and what is done elsewhere in
Australia. In March 2020, Glyn Lewis was appointed
Assistant Auditor General Forensic Audit. He joins us on
a placement from the Australian Federal Police to assist
in establishing the function.
The work of the Forensic Audit unit is already well
underway with the team providing assistance to our
other audit units, responding to referrals of potential
wrongdoing and consulting with other key State and
Commonwealth entities to determine the most effective
ways of detecting financial crime and misappropriation in
the WA public sector. The team is also in the process of
piloting a data analytics solution that will be used to build
data analytic capability across the office and allow us
to better detect unusual activity in the public sector for
further examination.

Performance audits are an integral part of our overall program of audit
and assurance for Parliament. Our performance audits assess the
efficiency and effectiveness of State and local government entities’
activities, services and programs. These audits can also identify
instances of waste, legislative non-compliance, examples of good
practice and make practical recommendations for improvement.
We conduct performance audits in accordance with section 18 of the
Auditor General Act 2006 and the Australian Standard on Assurance
Engagement ASAE 3500 Performance Engagements. We also
undertake smaller performance audits called focus area audits. We
conduct these as an extension of our annual financial audits, using
more detailed testing than is required for forming our financial audit
opinions. Our aim is to assess how well entities perform common
business practices and related controls. The findings provide an insight
into good practice, so all public sector entities can consider their own
performance.
On occasions, we conduct follow-up performance audits to examine an
entity’s progress in implementing our recommendations from a previous
report. These audits provide Parliament with an assessment of changes
that have occurred as a result of the initial audit.
In our performance audits we now require entities to explicitly accept or
disagree with the recommendations of our reports and specify a
timeframe for implementation. This is to increase transparency and
accountability for Parliament as it is not good enough to simply accept
the findings, it is vital that timely action is also taken to address
shortcomings in public administration.
Responsibility for following up our audit recommendations lies with the
accountable authority, management and audit committee of each entity.
Parliament’s Public Accounts Committee also has a key role in following
up entity action on our reports (page 59).
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Summaries of our reports tabled in 2019-20 are included from page 71.
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For each performance report we table in Parliament, we
invite the entities involved to complete a survey. Conducted
by an independent research company they are based on
3 focus areas: audit process, audit reporting and audit
value. For each focus area respondents are asked several
questions regarding our performance. We have chosen key
questions per area to show our performance.
The survey response rate this year was 79%, which is
significantly down from 94% last year. This could be due
to COVID-19 and the resulting disruption and additional
workload which may have impacted entities’ ability to
complete our survey.

Focus
area

Audit
process

Overall, the 2019-20 results were very positive and an
improvement on prior years. We achieved strong results for
the report clearly communicating the findings and issues,
auditors’ professional skills and knowledge, and effective
communication, which is pleasing as this was an area we
identified for improvement last year.
The results declined for the auditors’ understanding of
the audited environment. This is disappointing as it was
identified last year as an area requiring consideration. We
use the results of these surveys to identify areas where
we may need additional effort or training, and we continue
to view secondment opportunities for employees as a way
to enhance their understanding of operating environments
across the sector.

% Agree

Indicator

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

The auditors communicated
with us effectively

81

85

85

76

88

We were promptly informed
of significant issues/findings
as they arose during the
audit

73

73

78

72

78

The auditors adequately
understood our organisation,
including our operating
environment

58

44

63

52

43

The auditors demonstrated
that they had the
professional skills and
knowledge required to
conduct the audit

78

80

74

72

81

The auditors conducted
themselves professionally
during the audit

93

93

96

93

97

We were provided with
adequate opportunities
to comment on the audit
findings and issues before
the final report was tabled in
Parliament

81

78

85

86

90

85

83

70

66

87

The tabled audit report was
factually accurate

81

71

56

68

77

The tabled audit report was
balanced and fair

73

71

67

64

77

The audit will help us
improve the performance of
the audited activity

74

75

63

79

83

Audit
The tabled audit report
reporting communicated the audit
findings and issues clearly

Audit
value
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Surveys of performance audit entities

Using data analytics
Access to State-Managed Adult Mental Health Services
An Analysis of the Department of Health’s Data Relating to StateManaged Adult Mental Health Services from 2013 to 2017
We are focussed on enhancing our use of large scale data analytics across our
audit works. This mental health performance audit involved a significant investment
to undertake analysis of large and complex data sets. The audit assessed whether
people could access adult State-managed mental health services efficiently and
effectively.
In the early stages of the audit, we found that neither the Mental Health
Commission nor WA Health could tell us how many adults accessed public mental
health care services in WA. While they had data indicating that 4.8 million individual
care events took place over a 5-year period, they were unable to confirm how many
people this figure represented or whether these people were accessing the most
appropriate form of service.
In order to answer these questions we undertook a unique major data analysis
exercise to turn the event-based data into people-centred information. It allowed
us to show, for the first time in WA, that the 4.8 million care events were taken up
by 212,000 people. We were also able to provide further insights like 10% of these
people used 90% of inpatient hospital care and almost 50% of emergency and
community treatment services.
We provided our data model to WA Health for their continued use. In response to
our audit, the Department of Health said they saw ‘enormous value’ in our data
set and the benefits it could bring to identifying patient needs. They have since
enhanced the dataset to support more detailed clinical planning and analysis, and
are establishing an analysts group to support system wide mental health planning.
This is an example of how we have adapted our auditing approach to maximise the
impact of our work for the benefits of the WA community.
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IMPACT
awards
We won 2 categories in the inaugural
Australasian Council of Auditors General
IMPACT awards which recognise the
achievements of Australia and New Zealand’s
most outstanding performance audits and the
teams that developed them.
Our Access to State-Managed Adult
Mental Health Services audit won the
innovation category and our Improving
Aboriginal Children’s Ear Health audit the
communication category. The third award for
excellence was won by the Victorian AuditorGeneral’s Office for their audit Recovering
and Reprocessing Resources from Waste.
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Deciding what to audit is a key part of the Auditor General’s
independence. We have to exercise this independence responsibly,
so we have processes in place to make sure our selection of topics is
objective, robust and transparent. The Auditor General is not subject to
direction from anyone in relation to audit topics, but must have regard
to the audit priorities of Parliament as determined by either House of
Parliament, the Public Accounts Committee and the Estimates and
Financial Operations Committee.
We consult regularly with these committees and other members of
Parliament to assist with gathering information on topics we might audit.
We also draw topic ideas from other sources including State and local
government entities, the community and our employees.
We assess and review potential topics against our criteria, priority
themes and KPIs. We seek to select a program that is balanced in its

coverage, contains topics that matter to Parliament and the community,
and that reflects how and where the State is spending taxpayer’s
money.
A key part of establishing our forward audit program is firstly discussing
potential topic ideas with key stakeholders that may have a view on the
topic, the timing of the potential audit and any other considerations that
may influence the audit program.
In 2020-21, it is likely that some of our performance audits will focus on
providing transparency and assurance around a selection of activities
linked to the State’s COVID-19 planning, response and recovery
measures. Once established, we make our forward audit program topic
list available on our website. When an audit has begun, we expand this
to include the audit objective, focus and timeframes, at
www.audit.wa.gov.au/audit-program.
Further detail on our topic selection process is available on our website.

Parliament
Impact
Context

Materiality

Social and
environment

Governance

Entities
List of
topic ideas
based on internal
and external
suggestions

Community

OAG

Develop topic ideas,
review and
prioritise against
topic selection criteria
Coverage

Auditability

Review prioritised
topics against
KPI coverage

Economic
development

Service
delivery

Prioritised list
of topics for
development
as forward
work program

Reports to
Parliament

Risk

Figure 15: Our topic selection framework
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Performance audit topic selection

Opinions on ministerial notifications

OAG oversight

When a Minister decides not to provide certain information to
Parliament concerning the conduct or operation of a State government
entity (usually a decision taken in response to a parliamentary question),
then requirements under section 82 of the Financial Management Act
2006 and section 24 of the Auditor General Act 2006 come into force.

We are often asked who audits the Auditor General and the answer
is, many people do. We are subject to various oversight and review
processes, which we value as they hold us accountable to those we
serve and provide us and our stakeholders with assurance that our
processes are effective, efficient and evolving as necessary.

Essentially, the Minister is required to notify the Auditor General of
their decision not to provide information and the Auditor General
is then required to form an opinion and report to Parliament on the
reasonableness and appropriateness of the Minister’s decision. A
number of ministerial notifications are referred to the OAG each year
and this year we received 14. A notification may result in more than 1
opinion, this year we issued 14 opinions. Summaries of the ministerial
notification reports we tabled in Parliament are available from page 71.
2015-16

Number of
ministerial
notifications
received

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

10

501

27

26

14

0

0

8

11

9

Total cost for
$232,483
opinions issued

$527,561

$393,277

$483,927

$365,046

Being assessed
at 30 June

Total hours for
opinions issued

1,013

2,174

1,962

2,459

1,360

(1) Includes 41 notifications relating to the same question directed at 41 entities
administered by 14 Ministers.

PARLIAMENT
• Oversight through Public Accounts
Committee (PAC), Estimates and
Financial Operations Committee (EFOC)
and Joint Audit Committee (JAC)
• The statutory performance review
commissioned by Parliament under the
Auditor General Act 2006

EXTERNAL

Who
audits the
OAG?

• Annual audit of
financial statements,
controls and KPIs
• Independent peer
reviews
• Internal audit
conducted by
external firm

INTERNAL
• Audit and Risk
Management Committee
• Audit Quality Monitoring
Committee
• Internal selfassessments
• Internal quality
assessment

Table 15: Ministerial notifications received in last 5 years

Figure 16: Oversight of the OAG
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Self-assessment against our audit reports

Our internal auditors (2020 Global) provided their 2019-20 report on
30 June 2020. This year, 3 key risk areas were audited which were
developed in consultation with our Executive and ARMC. The report
concluded:

Many of the audits we conduct of entities also have relevance to us,
especially our focus area audits, as they concentrate on common
business practices across the public sector, and our IS audits, which
give us the opportunity to assess our internal IS management.

Overall, in our opinion the practices reviewed are sound and
the OAG has once again demonstrated a high level of focus in
managing the control environment.

Our intention is always to use these audits as a form of self-assessment
of our own internal processes and controls. This enables us to identify
and address any improvement opportunities coming out of the reviews.

In our opinion, based on the functions/areas subject to review,
the Office’s control environment is of a good standard for the
scope areas examined. There are some opportunities for
improvement, albeit minor. Reflecting the number, nature and
potential value of observations we assess a -A rating.

In February 2020 we reported to Executive our self-assessments
against last year’s topics (timely payments to suppliers and records
management) and have identified controls over purchasing cards and
controls of monies held for specific purposes as our next relevant topics
for internal assessment.

The auditors confirmed all outstanding recommendations from prior
years were in place and only 3 additional recommendations were raised
in the course of the 2019-20 internal audit.
Our strategic internal audit plan also includes projects for which
we engage external specialists. This year we engaged an external
provider to undertake an external penetration test of our internet-facing
information systems.
Overall, the audit found our internet-facing attack surface to be minimal,
and no major security vulnerabilities were identified. It identified a small
number of lower-severity and good-practice issues which we have
addressed to further strengthen our overall security posture. The ARMC
has committed to continue penetration testing on an annual basis.

Independent reviews
During 2019-20, we organised a peer review of 2 performance audits
and an opinion on ministerial notification report. We also engaged
independent reviews on 7 audit files from across all business units and
1 in-flight review of a current performance audit. These reviews are
important, as they allow us to take stock of where we are at, provide us
with continuous improvement opportunities and challenge our approach
and thinking.
Last year’s peer review of 2 of our financial audit files by the Victorian
Auditor-General’s Office identified some improvement opportunities.
We have actioned the recommendations from these reviews through
a combination of written instructions and professional development
training sessions.
AQMC monitors the implementation of the recommendations from
all independent reviews to ensure the relevant business units take
appropriate action to address any significant matters that are identified.
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Internal audit

Figure 17: Our Executive Management Group, absent: Glyn Lewis, Assistant Auditor General Forensic (our Executive’s profiles are on page 17)

Working with Parliament
Unlike public sector entities, we do not report to any government
minister but report directly to Parliament. As our key client, we strive
to keep Parliament informed on public sector accountability and
performance and we have developed a number of initiatives to promote
quality relationships with Parliament and parliamentary committees.

• briefing our parliamentary oversight committees on our proposed
forward audit program, current audits and key operational matters

Parliamentary liaison program

• briefing new ministers, members of Parliament and parliamentary
committees on the role of the Auditor General

Our parliamentary liaison program ensures that we provide Parliament
with relevant and timely information, in keeping with our obligations
under the Auditor General Act 2006. This benefits Parliament and us,
and supports our mission to help improve public sector performance
and accountability by reporting independently to Parliament.
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This program includes:
• briefing ministers and parliamentarians on our tabled reports

• providing submissions to parliamentary inquiries and appearing
before committees to give evidence on matters relevant to our remit.
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Members of Parliament survey

The Public Accounts Committee (PAC) has continued with its followup of entity responses to recommendations from our 2016 series of
performance audit reports. On 18 June 2020, the Committee tabled a
report entitled Building Slowly, which provided a summary of its findings
of the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety’s response
to our 2016 audit on the Regulation of Builders and Building Surveyors.

We did not conduct a survey this year, choosing instead to undertake
our next survey in August 2020. We have chosen to do this in an
attempt to increase our response rate by approaching members at a
time that did not coincide with the peak of the community COVID-19
response and outside the normal Budget process. Previously we
surveyed members across April and May. We are keen to hear the
views of as many members as we can, given they are now 3 years into
the current parliamentary session and are likely to have had increasing
levels of engagement with our processes and our reports.

PAC’s work following-up entity responses to our audit recommendations
continues to provide valuable support to our audit work and helps
improve the standard of public administration in WA. We will continue to
support PAC with its activities in this area when requested and where
appropriate, always mindful of the need to work collaboratively, but
independently of each other.
We also appeared before and provided information to our oversight
committee in the Legislative Council, the Estimates and Financial
Operations Committee (EFOC), on several occasions throughout the
year to discuss matters including our forward audit program and to
provide evidence to their Inquiry into the Government’s Local Projects
Local Jobs Program.

While our 2018-19 survey showed a pleasingly high level of overall
satisfaction with our reports and services, there were some declines in
other indicators including our effectiveness in achieving our outcomes.
We will use the 2020-21 survey to better understand the factors behind
those results and look forward to using this additional feedback to help
frame our ongoing approach. In the interim, we will continue to consult
with members, through our briefings and our parliamentary liaison
program on matters they think may be worthy of our focus.

We have enjoyed strong working relationships with both PAC and EFOC
throughout the 3 years of the current parliamentary session and thank
them for their ongoing support and scrutiny of our work.
In addition to this work with our oversight committees, we provided
information to several other parliamentary committee inquiries including
the:
• Legislative Council’s Select Committee into Local Government.
• Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime Commission’s
inquiry into public sector procurement of goods and services and its
vulnerability to corrupt practice
We also briefed the Legislative Assembly’s Education and Health
Standing Committee on the findings of our audit on Access to StateManaged Adult Mental Health Services.
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Our approach

Parliamentary inquiries

Working with our peers and
stakeholders
Australasian Council of Auditors-General
ACAG is an association established by Auditors General in 1993. It
allows Auditors General to share information and business intelligence,
and supports the development of effective and efficient auditing
methods and practices by members.
ACAG also enables Auditors General to provide a collective public
sector perspective on auditing, assurance and accounting standards,
and exposure drafts issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board, the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and their
international equivalents.
We also participate in ACAG’s subgroups, which provide mutual
benefits and learning opportunities between audit offices. ACAG
recently commissioned an updated assessment on Auditor General
independence, which was provided to our parliamentary committees.

Australasian Council of Auditors-General macro
benchmarking survey
Each year since 1994, we have participated in the ACAG macro
benchmarking exercise. This allows us to compare our activities with
other Australian audit offices on a variety of quantitative and qualitative
measures.
One benchmark is the time and cost of performance audits. Average
costs have been calculated on a consistent basis across participating
offices and are calculated from the start date to the parliamentary
tabling date. Average time is measured from the date substantive work
commenced to the date the report was tabled in Parliament. We also
benchmark the percentage of hours for all employees that is charged to
audit activities.
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Average cost of performance
audits

2017-18
($’000)

2018-19
($’000)

2019-20
($’000)

OAG

$397

$342

$352

Average of states and territories

$368

$384

$394

2017-18
(months)

2018-19
(months)

2019-20
(months)

OAG

10.9

10.4

11.5

Average of states and territories

10.2

12.0

11.1

Average time to undertake a
performance audit

Percentage of available office
hours charged to audit activities

2017-18
(%)

2018-19
(%)

2019-20
(%)

OAG

57

57

58

Average of states and territories

59

58

59

Table 16: Selected ACAG benchmarking survey results

We value the insight the benchmarking survey provides in terms of our
productivity, cost and resourcing as this process helps us to identify
where changes may be needed and where efficiency improvements can
be sought.

Department of Treasury
We regularly engage with the Department of Treasury to discuss
financial reporting issues of common interest and those that align
closely with our priorities. During the year we liaised with Treasury
on proposed publications such as Treasurer’s instructions, Treasury
circulars, accounting policy guidelines and model annual reports.
We also discussed with Treasury initiatives undertaken by other entities
that affect the public sector as a whole including drafts of proposed new
accounting standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards
235
Board and the annual valuation of WA public sector land and buildings
by Landgate.

Our approach

Department of Local Government, Sport and
Cultural Industries
We have regularly engaged with the Department of Local Government,
Sport and Cultural Industries as local government entities transition
to the OAG as their auditor. This engagement has assisted with our
understanding of the sector and informs them about our processes.
During the year we liaised with the Department on:
• financial reporting requirements
• training needs for the sector
• our financial and performance audit program.

State Records Commission
Under section 58(b) of the State Records Act 2000, the Auditor General
is an ex-officio member of the State Records Commission.
Public sector entities use public funds to provide services, deliver
programs and manage assets. Good records support good decisionmaking, effective business practice and improve accountability and
efficiency.
A common theme identified across many of our audits is poor
recordkeeping practices. Through our audit work with entities we
continue to support the proper safeguarding, retention and integrity of
official records, and highlight and encourage continuous improvement in
this important aspect of public administration.
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Managing feedback and complaints
We receive information from many different sources that assists us to
perform our functions. We treat this information confidentially, applying
best practice processes, as recommended by the Western Australian
Ombudsman. We manage all feedback, suggestions and concerns in a
way that demonstrates our values of integrity, quality and respect.
Our website includes information on how to contact us and provides
the opportunity to submit feedback on current audits or suggest a
future audit topic. Information received through these avenues may be
examined under the Auditor General Act 2006 and considered as part
of our topic selection process (page 55).

Referrals and enquiries
Referrals can be an early warning of issues relating to the performance,
probity and compliance of the public sector. We record and review all
referrals and enquiries received through our reception and website to
identify any trends and wider issues across State and local government.
When considering the issues referred to us, our focus is on systemic
weaknesses rather than a one-off issue affecting an individual. We
assess relevant issues against our internal protocols and in an ethical
and objective manner to determine if further investigation is warranted.
This can potentially lead to an audit. If the issue is outside our mandate,
we will endeavour to redirect their issues to those who can best assist.
Where matters cross jurisdictional boundaries, such as the work of the
Corruption and Crime Commission or the Public Sector Commission,
we have processes in place to communicate with other integrity entities
to highlight potential issues, while maintaining confidentiality.
In 2019-20, we received 179 referrals, an increase of 49% from last
year.

Source of referrals
and/or enquiries
Members of the public

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

116

79

101

86

147

Member of Parliament or
parliamentary committees

17

9

11

7

3

WA State government entities

30

16

11

10

15

WA local governments entities

na*

na*

46

17

14

169

120

179

Total

163

104

*Referrals and enquiries from local government entities were included in the members
of the public figure prior to 2017-18.

Table 17: Number of referrals and enquiries received 2015-16 to 2019-20

In 2019-20, we took an average of 4.2 days to respond, an increase
from 3 days last year. We responded to 88% of all referrals and
enquiries within our working day target of 10 days, which was similar to
last year (89%). We will continue to work on improving our timeframes
for responding to referrals.

Public interest disclosures
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 establishes the Auditor General
as the appropriate authority to receive public interest disclosures (PID)
that relate to substantial unauthorised or irregular use of, or substantial
mismanagement of, public resources.
In 2019-20, we spent 78 hours on PID matters. We assessed 2 matters,
neither of which met the PID criteria.
The Auditor General appoints employees, including members of
Executive, as PID officers. Appropriate training, including through the
Public Sector Commission, is provided for these employees so they can
receive and manage PIDs effectively.
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Complaints
We define a complaint as any expression of dissatisfaction made
to the OAG about our people, practices, products or services or the
complaints handling process itself. We accept that individuals may wish
to raise a complaint with us about our services or operations and that
these may identify areas where we can improve or prevent potential
issues.
Arrangements for enabling people to make complaints are customer
focused, visible and accessible. Individuals can lodge a complaint
on our website or by email, mail or telephone. Our internal policies
and procedures provide guidelines to ensure complaints are handled
objectively, fairly and confidentially, and managed in accordance with
relevant legislation, guidelines and principles including:
• Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-27: Complaints
Management
• Public Sector Code of Ethics
• Ombudsman Western Australia Guidelines on Complaint Handling.

We are very aware of the increased pressure placed on public
sector entities responding to the pandemic. To help reduce
the impact of our audit work, we wrote to entities in late March
advising the following changes to our approach:
• we temporarily ceased all performance audits in health and
other frontline entities
• our auditors withdrew onsite from entities on request or limited
their time at entities, working either from home or from our
office which remained open throughout
• we increased our use of technology to collect evidence and for
the analysis of financial and performance data
• we reduced the amount and length of audit meetings, and held
these via video conference wherever possible

Table 18 shows that we have received 4 complaints this year, an
increase on previous years. The majority of these related to a
performance audit and either its processes, scope or findings.

Number of complaints

Impact of COVID-19
on our approach

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

0

1

1

1

4

Table 18: Number of complaints about the OAG received 2015-16 to 		
2019-20

We ensure all complaints and responses are fully documented and
assessed for potential ongoing risk and if necessary, the issue may
be referred to the ARMC for discussion. Executive are advised of all
complaints to enable them to identify opportunities for continuous
improvement. AQMC also considers the responses we provide to
complainants regarding the quality of our audit work and ensures that
we implement opportunities for improvements in future audits.

• we worked with entities to identify areas of their financial audit
that could be done earlier or later
• we maintained entities’ financial audit fees at the same level
as last year, to provide a small element of certainty, for all but
a number of higher risk and frontline entities where additional
work is required.
We participated in working parties with Treasury and the health
sector to ensure that our priority was given to the audit of major
entities that are material for the Annual Report on State Finances.
The Auditor General also consulted extensively with entities
and provided briefings to the Treasurer and our parliamentary
238
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Memories from long-serving
employees
“We used to audit individual police stations, court houses and prisons
all over the State. In the early 80s we audited over 100 hospitals. Now
we audit the Western Australian Police Force, the Department of Justice
and the Department of Health.”
“When we started performance audits they were called accountability
audits and later, value-for-money audits.”
“We used to be known as State Audit and had permanent offices
established in the larger departments. Now, all of our auditors have
laptops and can work from our office as well as audited entity offices.”

Outsourcing to contract audit firms
Outsourcing financial audit work to contract audit firms is an
established practice for the OAG. However this wasn’t always the
case. Former Deputy Auditor General Dr Gordon Robertson PSM said
the introduction of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985
completely changed the role of the OAG and called for contracting out
audits.
“The old statute meant the Auditor General really just ticked the
books and made sure everybody filled the forms out properly. The
FAAA gave the AG the power to do things and it meant the scope
and power of his position became quite colossal. When the Act came
into being, Alan Smith was the AG and he had to initiate some fairly
significant changes to the way the office behaved. This included
experimenting with contracting out an entire division to Coopers and
Lybrand for about three years. He also initiated a corporate executive
and a different management style.”
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Auditing local government

The Auditor General Act 2006 gives authority for the OAG to evaluate
the way in which government funds are spent by non-government
organisations. We tabled our first audit report using these followthe-dollar powers in 2009 (Accountability for Government Grants)
and continue to use them judiciously today. This year we tabled our
Delivering Western Australia’s Ambulance Services – Follow up
audit (page 71) using follow-the-dollar powers to evaluate St John
Ambulance. While these powers only became law in 2006, the origins
date much further back. Section 43 of the Audit Act 1891 states: ‘It
shall be the duty of the Auditor General … to audit the accounts of
any municipal corporation, roads board, or other public corporation or
institution receiving aid out of the public moneys, when required to do
so by the Colonial Secretary’.

Local government entities have had many different auditors over the
years. In 2017, the Local Government Amendment (Auditing) Act was
passed giving the Auditor General responsibility to conduct financial and
performance audits of the sector. As the ‘State Audit Department’, we
also had responsibility from 1981 to 1983. Prior to this local government
entities were audited by employees of the Department of Local
Government and after 1983 they were audited by the private sector.

190 years

of our approach
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Our approach

Follow-the-dollar powers

Contents
Financial auditing

Our products
Value for money, timely, relevant,
accurate, quality, innovative
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State government entities

69

Local government entities

69

Our reports tabled in 2019-20

70

Making a difference – audit impact

81

Impact of COVID-19 on our products

81
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Our products

Our highlights...
We tabled

We delivered

reports in Parliament

financial audit
opinions and

28

We delivered

97.5%

of State government entity opinions
within 90 days of financial year end

We delivered

86%

275
163

certifications

We took an average of

67.3

days to issue State
government entity
financial audit opinions

of local government entity opinions by
the required date of 31 December 2019
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Financial auditing
This year we delivered 275 audit opinions and 163 certifications for State and local government entities.
Audit opinions issues

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Annual Report on State Finances

1

1

1

1

1

Parliamentary departments

3

3

3

3

3

Government departments

44

45

46

31#

29

Statutory authorities

85

83

84

84

82

Local government entities

na

na

na

45

111

Universities and State training providers

26*

9*

9

9

9

2

2

2

2

2

13

13

13

13

12

Cemetery boards

8

7

4

4

4

Subsidiary entities

19

20

17

20

18

4

4

4

5

4

205

187

183

217

275

Superannuation funds
Corporatised entities

Request audits
Total

* Numbers fluctuated due to restructuring of the State training sector. # Numbers reduced due to amalgamations from public sector reform.

Certifications issued
State government entities – statutory and other
State government entities – Royalties for Regions
Local government entities
Total

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

34

28

32

30

29

234

235

201

166

117

na

na

na

5

17

268

263

233

201

163

Table 19: Audit opinions and certifications issued from 2015-16 to 2019-20
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We aim to deliver all audit opinions in time for entities to table annual reports within 90 days of the end of the financial year as required by the
Financial Management Act 2006. This year we achieved 97.5%, due to a number of entities not being audit ready (Table 20). It took us an average of
67.3 days to issue our financial audit opinions.
2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

99.3

100

97.9

98.4

97.5

%

Table 20: Percentage of audit opinions issued to State government entities within 90 days of financial year end

Local government entities
This year was the third of a 4-year transition of local government entity financial audits to the OAG. We issued 111 audit opinions: 110 for the 2018-19
financial year and 1 for the 2017-18 financial year. Ninety-six of the 110 opinions, or 86%, were issued before the required date of 31 December 2019.
There are two 2018-19 financial audit opinions outstanding which will be completed by the end of 2020.
There were a variety of reasons for delays in audit completion, including staffing shortages or illness in some local government entities, problems with
asset valuations, insufficient evidence to support the financial report, and numerous errors requiring correction. We will continue to help the sector to
improve this result as we continue the roll-in schedule for the remaining local government entities (Table 21).
Financial year

Total LG entity audits

Status

2017-18

46

2018-19

112

Reported to Parliament in March 2020 (page 76)

2019-20

132

Audits taking place during second half of 2020

2020-21

148

We will contact LG entities in late 2020 about their audits

Reported to Parliament in March 2019

Table 21: Financial audit roll-in schedule for local government entities
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Our products

State government entities

Our reports tabled in 2019-20
During 2019-20, we tabled 28 reports in Parliament. We aim to deliver timely, relevant and quality reports on public sector performance and
accountability. These reports help us to achieve our vision and outcome of an informed Parliament and community, and work that makes a difference
and helps to improve the public sector.
On the following pages is a brief summary of the reports tabled this year which are available on our website at www.audit.wa.gov.au/reports.
Website statistics provide an indication of the degree of public interest in our reports.
Report

Total pageviews

PDF downloads

Annual Report 2018-19

2,616

629

Access to State-Managed Adult Mental Health Services (14 August 2019)

2,389

832

Audit Results Report – Annual 2018-19 Financial Audits of State Government Entities (14 November 2019)

2,269

557

Information Systems Audit Report (Application Controls Audits) (27 June 2013)

1,711

73

Fraud Prevention in Local Government (15 August 2019)

1,788

706

Information Systems Audit Report 2019 (15 May 2019)

1,420

582

Audit Results Report – Annual 2018-19 Financial Audits of Local Government Entities (11 March 2020)

1,403

499

Information Systems Audit Report (29 June 2017)

1,333

71

Local Government Contract Extensions and Variations, and Ministerial Notice Not Required (4 May 2020)

1,326

351

Audit Results Report – Annual 2016-17 Financial Audits (7 November 2017)

1,251

34

Table 22: Top 10 reports accessed from the OAG website 2019-20
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2019-20 reports

Opinions on Ministerial
Notifications

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

KPI category – Governance

KPI category – Governance

Delivering Western Australia’s
Ambulance Services – Follow-up
Audit

Tabled – 19 July 2019

Tabled – 26 July 2019

KPI category – Service delivery

This report dealt with a decision by the
Minister for Tourism not to provide a research
report to Parliament by BDA Marketing
Planning titled High Value Traveller Research,
October 2018. The Auditor General found
the decision was reasonable and therefore
appropriate. It also dealt with a decision by
the Minister for Regional Development where
an opinion was not required because the
requested information did not exist.

This report dealt with a decision by the
Minister for Racing and Gaming not to provide
information to Parliament about WA TAB’s
business for the period 2005 to 2018. The
Auditor General found the decision was
reasonable and therefore appropriate.

Tabled – 31 July 2019

This follow-up audit assessed if the
Department of Health and St John
Ambulance Western Australia, effectively
implemented the recommendations from our
2013 audit, Delivering Western Australia’s
Ambulance Services, and have improved
service management and delivery. We found
that the Department had implemented our
2013 recommendations, and WA’s ambulance
service is more efficient than it was in 2013.
While the Department had worked to improve
the contract, it had made limited progress
on a new funding model and inclusion of
performance measures.
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2019-20 reports

Access to State-Managed Adult
Mental Health Services

Fraud Prevention in Local
Government

Opinions on Ministerial
Notifications

KPI category – Service delivery

KPI category – Governance

KPI category – Governance

Tabled – 14 August 2019

Tabled – 15 August 2019

Tabled – 18 September 2019

This report assessed whether people could
access adult State-managed mental health
services efficiently and effectively. We found
that although the Mental Health Commission’s
Better Choices Better Lives plan was soundly
based, there had been limited progress
implementing it. Our audit also found that
the Mental Health Commission and WA
Health do not use existing data to manage
service delivery and reform. Entities should
make better use of their data to prioritise and
cost appropriate solutions, and deliver more
targeted mental health care services.

This report assessed if local government
entities had taken appropriate steps to
prevent fraud. We found entities had some
controls in place to prevent fraud but
many had not assessed their fraud risks
and did not have comprehensive fraud
management plans and programs. All entities
are encouraged to use the better practice
principles included in the report to help
build on their existing fraud structures and
practices.

This report dealt with 2 decisions by 2
ministers not to provide information to
Parliament. The decision by the Minister
for Education and Training not to provide
Parliament with 2 documents previously
released under the Freedom of Information
Act 1992 was not reasonable and therefore
not appropriate, as most of the information
was publicly available. A decision by the
Minister for Child Protection to provide
Parliament with a redacted briefing note about
an out-of-home care information session was
reasonable and therefore appropriate.
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2019-20 reports

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

Opinions on Ministerial
Notifications

KPI category – Governance

KPI category – Governance

Tabled – 26 September 2019

Tabled – 8 October 2019

This report dealt with a decision by the
Minister for Ports not to provide Parliament
with a copy of the Harriet Point Agreement.
The Minister advised the information could
not be provided to Parliament because it
was commercially sensitive and confidential.
The Auditor General found the decision
reasonable and therefore appropriate.

This report dealt with 2 decisions by
the Minister for Tourism not to provide
information to Parliament about the funding
breakdown for a 2018 tourism campaign
and business cases presented to airlines
during the Minister’s second trip to India. The
Auditor General found both decisions were
reasonable and therefore appropriate.

An Analysis of the Department of
Health’s Data Relating to StateManaged Adult Mental Health
Services from 2013 to 2017
KPI category – Service delivery
Tabled – 9 October 2019

In this report we presented more detail on the
data analysis undertaken for our Access to
State-Managed Adult Mental Health Services
report. The Department of Health and the
Mental Health Commission have expressed
a keen desire to continue to develop the
analysis and use it to inform their decisionmaking around people-centred mental health
service development.
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2019-20 reports

Working with Children Checks –
Follow-up

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

KPI category – Service delivery

KPI category – Governance

Audit Results Report – Annual
2018-19 Financial Audits of State
Government Entities

Tabled – 23 October 2019

Tabled – 30 October 2019

KPI category – Governance

This audit assessed whether the
management of working with children checks
by the Department of Communities had
improved since our 2014 audit Working with
Children Checks. We found the assessment
of applications and monitoring of cardholders
is more efficient and effective than it was
in 2014. However, Communities had not
implemented a proactive compliance
approach and needed to better mitigate
the inherent risk of unsuitable people
working with children while applications are
processed.

In this report the Auditor General found a
decision by the Minister for Police not to
provide Parliament with information about
operating hours and costs, and maintenance
costs for rotary wing aircraft in use by the
WA Police Force was not reasonable and
therefore not appropriate. The information
requested was factual, operational information
and was not prepared expressly for, nor would
reveal, the deliberations and decisions of
Cabinet. Any discrete information in relation
to operational costs that may compromise the
commercial affairs of the State could have
been redacted.

Tabled – 14 November 2019

This report summarises the 2018-19 financial
year audits for 137 State government entities.
We found the majority of entities were
performing satisfactorily in relation to their
financial reporting and controls. However,
20% of the financial management control
issues and 44% of the information system
control weaknesses we reported to entities
were unresolved issues from previous years.
All State government entity audit committees
and management should consider the good
practice and common issues presented in the
report.
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2019-20 reports

Fee-setting by the Department of
Primary Industries and Regional
Development and Western
Australian Police Force

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

KPI category – Governance

KPI category – Governance

Tabled – 31 January 2020

Tabled – 28 February 2020

In this report the Auditor General found a
decision by the Minister for Education and
Training not to provide Parliament with the
business case for the new TAFE student
management system was not reasonable
and therefore not appropriate. In particular,
it was not reasonable that the Minister did
not attempt to seek consent from the Leader
of the Opposition to obtain the document, a
Cabinet record of the previous government,
to assess if any of the information could be
released.

In this report the Auditor General found a
decision by the Minster for Tourism not to
provide information to Parliament about the
amount of funding allocated to certain events
in the State’s 2019-20 budget was reasonable
and therefore appropriate. The Minister’s
decision was consistent with the public
interest of protecting and reducing the risk
of damage to the financial and commercial
affairs of the State.

KPI category – Economic development
Tabled – 4 December 2019

This audit assessed if the WA Police Force
and the Department of Primary Industries
and Regional Development effectively set
fees and charges for services. We found
the level of rigour applied to setting the fees
varied significantly but the fees were properly
approved. State and local government entities
that set fees are encouraged to consider the
better practice checklist in the report.
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2019-20 reports

Audit Results Report – Annual
2018-19 Financial Audits of Local
Government Entities

Controls Over Purchasing Cards
KPI category – Governance
Tabled – 27 March 2020

KPI category – Governance
Tabled – 11 March 2020

This report summarises the annual financial
audit of 112 local government entities for the
2018-19 financial year. Five entities received a
qualified opinion on their financial report. We
reported over 960 weaknesses in financial
management and information systems
controls in 104 entities, including 93 material
matters of non-compliance at 48 entities.
The report includes recommendations to
help entities reduce the instances of noncompliance and number of items that warrant
reporting in management letters.

76

Information Systems Audit
Report 2020 – State Government
Entities
KPI category – Governance

This audit found the 9 sampled State
government entities had current and approved
policies in place. However, entities needed
to improve their policies, the monitoring of
purchasing card use, and better manage
transaction limits. The report includes better
practice guidance for all public sector entities.
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Tabled – 6 April 2020

This report looked at general computer
controls across 50 State government entities
and found 522 computer control issues.
While controls over information security and
business continuity are slowly improving,
there are many entities that do not meet our
benchmark for minimum practice in these
areas. Entities need to pay more attention
to information security and cyber risks, and
give them the same attention as other critical
business risks. The report also included a
case study of an incident at the OAG where
access controls for a business system were
not effective. It’s included for transparency
reasons and to share our lessons learnt251
about
the value of various control mechanisms.

Our products

2019-20 reports

Control of Monies Held for
Specific Purposes

Audit Results Report – Annual
2019 Financial Audits

KPI category – Governance

Local Government Contract
Extensions and Variations, and
Ministerial Notice Not Required

Tabled – 30 April 2020

KPI category – Governance

Tabled – 12 May 2020

The report found the 8 sampled State
government entities generally had appropriate
controls, policies and procedures in place to
support the control of monies held for specific
purposes. The report includes better practice
guidance that may be useful for entities
managing COVID-19 funds.

Tabled – 4 May 2020

The report found contract management
policies and procedures at most of the 8
sampled local government entities lacked
appropriate guidance for staff to correctly
and consistently process extensions and
variations. Some contract extensions did not
have evidence of contractor performance
reviews, some variations were not approved
by delegated officers and contract registers
were missing key information required
for effective contract management. The
report also included the Auditor General’s
determination that 2 section 82 notices
received from the Minister for Water were not
required as the information did not concern
the conduct or operation of an agency.

KPI category – Governance

The report summarises the results of the
annual financial audits of Western Australia’s
4 public universities, their subsidiaries and
the 5 TAFEs. All received clear (unqualified)
audit opinions. Some referenced COVID-19
as an ‘event occurring after reporting date’
in the notes to their financial statements, but
recognised that it was too early to estimate
the potential effects. The report also contains
the results of a small number of other
annual audits of statutory authorities, local
government entities and cemetery boards.
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2019-20 reports

Regulation of Asbestos Removal
KPI category – Social and environment

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

Opinion on Ministerial
Notification

Tabled – 21 May 2020

KPI category – Governance

KPI category – Governance

Tabled – 29 May 2020

Tabled – 16 June 2020

In this report the Auditor General found the
Minister’s decision not to provide information
to Parliament about the amount of funding
allocated to 45 events across 2017-18,
2018-19 and 2019-20 was reasonable and
therefore appropriate. However, the decision
not to provide Parliament with the amount of
funding allocated to 3 Sculpture by the Sea
events was not reasonable and therefore
not appropriate, as the Minister had already
provided this information in response to
another parliamentary question.

In this report the Auditor General found a
decision by the Minister for Lands to provide
Parliament redacted information about
the Landgate Partial Commercialisation
transaction was reasonable and therefore
appropriate. The Minister properly sought
advice from the Landgate Board of the
Western Australian Land Information before
responding to the request. The Minister’s
decision was consistent with the public
interest of protecting and reducing the risk
of damage to the financial and commercial
affairs of the State.

This audit assessed if WorkSafe effectively
regulated asbestos removal. We found
significant gaps in WorkSafe’s processes
and practices for asbestos regulation which
limits its effectiveness. WorkSafe’s regulatory
actions are not risk-based, documentation
is weak, and there is a lack of rigour and
transparency in licensing approval controls.
The recommendations in this report can be
applied to the diverse regulatory regimes of
other entities.
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WA’s Transition to the NDIS
KPI category – Service delivery
Tabled – 18 June 2020

This audit assessed whether the Departments
of Communities, the Premier and Cabinet,
and Treasury were effectively preparing WA
to move onto the NDIS. We found the entities
had been largely effective in preparing WA for
the transition and responsive in addressing
many emerging challenges. The report
recommended that entities closely monitor
and manage transition risks to fully realise the
expected benefits of the NDIS.

Western Australian Public Sector
Audit Committees – Better
Practice Guide

Information Systems Audit
Report 2020 – Local Government
Entities

KPI category – Governance

KPI category – Governance

Tabled – 25 June 2020

Tabled – 25 June 2020

This stand-alone better practice guide
provides better practice principles and
guidance to accountable authorities, audit
committee members and senior managers
with responsibility for audit committee
activities. Tailored for public sector entities,
the principles and practices outlined in this
guide generally apply to all audit committees.
The guide includes a toolkit with useful
resources for all entities.

This report looked at information security
practices and general computer controls
across 10 local government entities and found
150 computer control issues. We also found
that all 10 audited entities had gaps in their
information security practices when compared
against best practice standards. Weaknesses
can compromise the confidentiality, integrity
and availability of entities’ information
systems. All entities need to act on the
findings and recommendations of this report –
not just those audited.
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2019-20 reports

Regulation of Consumer Food
Safety by Local Government
Entities
KPI category – Economic development
Tabled – 30 June 2020

The objective of this audit was to determine
whether local government entities effectively
regulate consumer food safety in food
businesses. We found shortcomings in the
compliance activities used to regulate food
safety in businesses which may lead to
unsafe food practices going undetected or
left unaddressed. We also examined how
effectively the Department of Health monitors
consumer food safety however, this part of
the audit was put on hold due to COVID-19.
We plan to table findings specific to the
Department of Health in 2020-21.
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Making a difference – audit impact
Our outcome is work that makes a difference and helps to improve the
public sector. Positive change to government activity and practice is
a reflection that our work is having an impact and of our progress in
meeting our outcome.
Some examples announced or implemented this year, where our work
has informed, influenced or directly resulted in change includes:
• Working with Children Checks – Follow-up (2019) – in February
2020, the Minister for Child Protection announced the Department of
Communities had implemented changes to its Working with Children
Check screening processes. The media statement acknowledged our
report.
• Improving Aboriginal Children’s Ear Health (2019) – in June 2020,
the WA Country Health Services published an Ear Health Checks for
Aboriginal Children Procedure. Their communication to employees
acknowledged our report.
• Delivering Western Australia’s Ambulance Services – Follow-up
(2019) – in November 2019, the Government announced its first ever
Country Ambulance Strategy. This follows a recommendation in our
report that the Department of Health (in consultation with St. John
Ambulance) should develop ways to better coordinate ambulance and
hospital services in country areas.
• Local Content in Government Procurement (2017) – in July 2020,
the State Government announced an updated Buy Local policy to
ensure government contracts create more work for regional Western
Australians. The media statement acknowledged our report.
• An Analysis of the Department of Health’s Data Relating to StateManaged Adult Mental Health Services from 2013 to 2017 (2019) – in
March 2020, the Department of Health advised us they had enhanced
the dataset developed during the audit to support more detailed
clinical planning and analysis. They are also establishing an analysts
group to support system wide mental health planning.

Impact of COVID-19 		
on our products
In order to reduce the impact of our work on frontline
entities responding to COVID-19 we de-identified some of
our audit reports. For example, our Regulation of Consumer
Food Safety by Local Government Entities report did not list
the 2 audited entities and in doing so, alleviated for them
some of the work involved in a normal procedural fairness
process. This did not detract from the value of our audit as
we still provided the entities with their specific findings and
were able to provide general recommendations that are
relevant to the wider local government sector.
We also provide better practice guidance to support public
sector entities. In April we provided guidance on financial
and governance matters, encouraging entities to maintain
good controls in times of disruption (Appendix 3, page 141).
We assessed our financial and key decision controls against
the consideration points in the guide. Our Information
Systems Audit Report 2020 – State Government Entities
also included security considerations for entities moving to
remote working arrangements in response to COVID-19.
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The Governor authorised the Auditor General to audit convict
accounts, which were being paid for by Britain and needed to be
kept separately from the colonial and military expenses.

The Audit Act 1881 required
the Auditor General to
produce an annual report
on their inspection of the
books and accounts of the
Treasury, and for this to be
laid before the Legislative
Council.

1829

1851

1881

1889

The original Board of Counsel and
Audit was responsible for examining
and certifying official government
accounts, and for providing
valuations of the assets being
imported by settlers that determined the
amount of land they could be granted.

190 years

of our products
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Following the passing
of the Financial
Administration and
Audit Act 1985
(which gave the
Auditor General the
ability to carry out
examinations into
the efficiency and effectiveness of
entities) the Auditor General tabled
in Parliament our first performance
audit: The Management of Prison
Industries in the Department of
Corrective Services.

1988

1891

The Audit Act 1891
introduced powers
for the Auditor
General to make
recommendations.

The importance of the function of auditing the public
accounts was recognised in the Constitution Act 1889. The
Act provided the ‘Consolidated Fund shall be subject to being
reviewed and audited in such a manner as directed by any
Act of the Legislature’.
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Following the
proclamation of the
Local Government
Amendment (Auditing)
Act 2017 giving the
Auditor General the
mandate to audit
Western Australia’s 139
local governments and
9 regional councils, we
issued our first local government financial audit
opinion and tabled our first local government
focus area and performance audit reports.

To reflect the importance of
effectively managing information
systems for the first time we
reported the results of our
IS audits in a stand-alone
report. Previously they had been
incorporated into our financial and
performance audit reports.

2007

2009

AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT

Audit Results Report
by Ministerial Portfolios at 19 November 2007
Opinions on Ministerial Notications
Performance Examination of
Administration of Natural Resource Management Grants

Report 11 – November 2007

The Auditor General Act 2006
introduced the requirement for the
Auditor General to provide an opinion to
Parliament as to whether a decision by
a Minister not to provide information to
Parliament concerning any conduct or
operations of an agency is reasonable
and appropriate. In 2007 the Auditor
General tabled our first opinion on
ministerial notification report, for
42 notifications received between
1 February and 19 November 2007.

2018

AUD ITO
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Our products

We tabled in Parliament our first
report using follow-the-dollar
powers: Accountability for
Government Grants.

Certification of financial statements
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2020
The accompanying financial statements of the Office of the Auditor
General have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to
present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended
30 June 2020 and the financial position as at 30 June 2020.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which
would render the particulars included in the financial statements
misleading or inaccurate.
						

Robert Monte
A/Chief Finance Officer
13 August 2020

Caroline Spencer
Accountable Authority
13 August 2020
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Independent auditor’s opinion

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia

Office of the Auditor General
Report on the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of the Office of the Auditor General (“the Office”), which comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June
2020, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, and the Summary of Consolidated Account
Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
In our opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results and cash flows of
the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position at the end of that period. They are in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and relevant Treasurer’s Instructions.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Office in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report. We have also fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key Audit Matter

How The Key Audit Matter Was Addressed

Revenue Recognition – Accrued Revenue
The Office recognises audit fee revenue based on the percentage of completion of
audit engagements. For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Office recorded audit fee
revenue of $23.3 million, of which accrued revenue relating to engagements in
progress of $9.64 million was recorded in the Statement of Financial Position as at
balance date.

Our procedures amongst others included:


Assessing the appropriateness of the Office’s revenue recognition accounting
policies;



The determination of the percentage of completion for audit engagements in progress
requires significant estimation and judgement from management, in particular the
assessment of the recoverability of work in progress balances recorded at year end.

Obtaining an understanding of management’s processes and controls
surrounding revenue recognition, billing and work in progress;



Testing the design, implementation and effectiveness of the key processes and
controls relating to revenue;

Work in progress is considered to be a key audit matter due to the signficance of the



Critically evaluating and analysing management’s assessment and basis for
determining the percentage of completion;



Identifying any engagements with unusual percentages of completion and
assess for reasonableness;



Testing of the model’s inputs to supporting contracts and documentation for a
sample of engagements;



Checking the mathematical accuracy of the model used to calculate the

asset to the Office’s financial position, and the estimation uncertainty inherent in the
nature of the asset.

accrued revenue balance; and


Assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures included in Notes 4 and 6.

Page 2 of 9
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How The Key Audit Matter Was Addressed

Provisions – Employee Entitlements
Included in the Statement of Financial Position are provisions of $3.81 million, of
which $2.8 million is current and $1.01 million is non-current. The provisions consists
of employee benefits, including annual and long service leave.
The nature of the operations of the Office require a significant amount of human
resources. Therefore, these provisions were identified as a risk due to the quantitative
significance of the balance, and the calculations required in estimating the balance.

Our procedures amongst others included:


Obtaining the client schedules for each class of provision and agreed the
amounts to the general ledger;



Testing of the design, implementation and effectiveness of the key processes
and controls relating to payroll;



Checking arithmetic calculations within each of these schedules;



Testing a sample of employees’ movements in entitlements to supporting
documentation;



Reviewing the actuarial assessment of annual and long service leave;



Testing the provisions for completeness by comparing the listing to payroll
records; and



Assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures included in Note 3.1(b).

Other information
The Auditor General is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Office’s annual report for the year ended 30 June
2020, but does not include the financial statements, the audited key performance indicators and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
Page 3 of 9
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Auditor General for the Financial Statements
The Auditor General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the relevant Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Auditor General determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Auditor General is responsible for assessing the Office’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. The objectives of our audit are to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but unless otherwise
stated not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Office’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Auditor General.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the Auditor General’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Office’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Office to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
From the matters communicated with the Auditor General, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

Report on Controls
Opinion
We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of controls exercised by the Office of the Auditor General. The Controls
exercised by the Office of the Auditor General are those policies and procedures established by the Auditor General to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control objectives).
Our opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Office of the Auditor General are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt,
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the
year ended 30 June 2020.
Responsibilities of the Auditor General
The Auditor General is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and
disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, relevant Treasurer’s Instructions and other
relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibilities
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, our responsibility is to express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control objectives
and the implementation of the controls as designed. We conducted our engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance
Engagements on Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That Standard requires that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and
plan and perform our procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably designed to achieve the overall control
objectives and the controls, necessary to achieve the overall control objectives, were implemented as designed.
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

An assurance engagement to report on the design and implementation of controls involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of the design of
controls to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the
risk that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. Our procedures included testing the implementation of those controls that we consider necessary to
achieve the overall control objectives.
We believe that the evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Limitations of Controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once the controls
are in operation, the overall control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error, or noncompliance with laws and regulations may occur and not be detected. Any
projection of the outcome of the evaulatuon of the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may be unsuitable because of
changes in conditions.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
Opinion
We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 2020. The key
performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delievering
services.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Office of the Auditor General are relevant and appropriate to assist users to access the Office’s
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2020.
Auditor General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Auditor General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal controls as the Auditor General determines necessary to enable the preparation of key performance indicators that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Auditor General is responsible for identifying key performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate having regard to
their purpose in accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, our responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of the engagement are to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Office’s performance and whether the key
performance indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We conducted our
engagement in accordance with the Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance
engagements.
An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves
evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and guidance in Treasurer's Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of
outcome achievement and the efficiency of service delivery.The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments we obtain an understanding of the internal control relevant to the engagement in order to
design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.
We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Quality Control Relating to the Reports on Financial Statements, Controls and Key Performance Indicators
We have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethcical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In
accordance with ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, Other Assurance Engagements and
Related Services Engagements, we maintain a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
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Independent auditor’s opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia
Office of the Auditor General (Continued)

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 2020 included on the
Office’s website. The Auditor General is responsible for the integrity of the Office’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Office’s website. The
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may
have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with
the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm
the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

BENTLEYS

CHRIS NICOLOFF

Chartered Accountants

Partner

Dated at Perth this 13th day of August 2020
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

3.1(a)
3.2
5.3, 5.1(b)
3.2
5.4
7.4
3.2

18,608
10,694
369
2,196
2
79
31,948

17,765
8,977
425
2,200
151
106
29,624

4.2
4.3

23,316
33
23,349

20,838
82
20,920

23,349

20,920

8,599

8,704

9,116
426
9,542

7,711
440
8,151

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

943

(553)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

943

(553)

Notes
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses
Impairment expense
Finance cost
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Revenue and Income
User charges and fees
Other revenue
Total revenue
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Total income from State Government

4.1

The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2020

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

7.1
6.1
6.2
6.3

5,187
9,885
390
577
16,039

3,940
9,591
323
395
14,249

7.1
6.2
5.1(a)
5.1(b)
5.2

262
4,160
104
78
11
4,615

188
3,829
325
72
4,414

20,654

18,663

6.4
3.1(b)
7.3

1,978
2,800
36
4,814

1,280
2,981
4,261

3.1(b)
7.3

1,018
42
1,060

865
865

5,874

5,126

14,780

13,537

9,231
5,549

8,931
4,606

14,780

13,537

Notes
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Lease Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Lease Liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY
The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

9.4
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Contributed
equity
$’000

Accumulated
surplus
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

9.4

8,631
-

5,159
(553)
(553)

13,790
(553)
(553)

9.4

300
300

-

300
300

8,931

4,606

13,537

9.4

8,931
-

4,606
943
943

13,537
943
943

9.4

300
300

-

300
300

9,231

5,549

14,780

Notes
Balance at 1 July 2018
Surplus/(deficit)
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Total
Balance at 30 June 2019
Balance at 1 July 2019
Surplus/(deficit)
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Total
Balance at 30 June 2020
The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Holding Account drawdown

8,395
300
323

6,990
300
240

Net cash provided by State Government

9,018

7,530

(18,479)
(10,334)
(2)
(1,770)
(964)
(1,553)
(79)

(17,816)
(8,800)
(1,760)
(1,027)
(1,280)
(106)

Receipts
User charges and fees
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts

23,085
2,299
155
31

19,690
2,041
355
119

Net cash used in operating activities

(7,611)

(8,584)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

(42)

(58)

-

-

Net cash used in investing activities

(42)

(58)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Principal elements of lease payments

(44)

-

Net cash used in financing activities

(44)

-

1,321
4,128

(1,112)
5,240

5,449

4,128

Notes

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Other payments

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

7.1
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations
For the year ended 30 June 2020

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 72 Net amount appropriated to deliver services
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
CAPITAL
Item 122 Capital appropriations
GRAND TOTAL

2020
Budget
Estimate
$’000

2020
Supplementary
Funding
$’000

Revised
Budget
$’000

2020
Actual
$’000

2020
Variance
$’000

7,763

1,081

8,844

8,363

(481)

753

-

753

753

-

8,516

1,081

9,597

9,116

(481)

300

-

300

300

-

8,816

1,081

9,897

9,416

(481)

As part of 2019-20 Mid Year Review submission, additional funding of $1.081 million was approved by Department of Treasury to develop OAG’s forensic auditing capabilities.
Only $0.600 million of this was drawn down for use in the 2019-20 financial year.
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1: Basis of preparation

Basis of preparation

The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) is a WA Government entity
and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate
parent. The OAG is a not-for-profit reporting entity. A description of the
nature of our operations and principal activities has been included in
the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars
applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost
convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis
(such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case the different
measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the
Accountable Authority of the OAG on 13 August 2020.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with:
• the Financial Management Act 2006
• the Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)
• Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements including applicable interpretations
• where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit
entities have been applied.
The Financial Management Act 2006 and Treasurer’s Instructions
take precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified by the TIs to
vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is
required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made
about financial information being presented. The significant judgements
and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements
are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those
judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated
assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

Contributed Equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to WhollyOwned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before
such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by
TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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Notes to the financial statements

2: Office outputs
How the Office operates
This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the
Office receives and how this funding is utilised to achieve the Office’s
objectives.

2.1 Office objectives
Mission
Our mission is to help improve public sector performance and
accountability by reporting independently to Parliament.
The Office is partly funded by Parliamentary appropriation. It also
charges for certain audit services to entities and fees are based on full
cost recovery. The financial statements encompass all funds through
which the OAG controls resources to carry out its functions.
Services
The Office is responsible for the delivery of 1 service: public sector
auditing. This comprises the external audit of WA State and local
government sectors through audits of financial statements, controls and
key performance indicators and audits of efficiency, effectiveness and
compliance of public sector operations.
All income, expenditure, assets and liabilities are in relation to the
delivery of this service.
				
				

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

3: Use of our funding
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the Office’s
funding is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an
understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The
primary expenses incurred by the Office in achieving its objectives and
relevant notes are:
Notes
Employee Benefits Expense

3.1(a)

18,608

17,765

Employee related provisions

3.1(b)

3,818

3,846

3.2

12,969

11,282

16,756

16,215

254

-

1,598

1,550

18,608

17,765

Other expenditure

3.1(a) Employee benefits expenses
Financial disclosure
Employee benefits
Termination benefits
Superannuation – defined contribution plans
Total employee benefits expenses
Add: AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits
Less: Employee contributions
Net employee benefits

47
(22)
18,633
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

1,503

1,315

1,255

1,624

29

28

2,787

2,967

13

14

2,800

2,981

1,014

861

4

4

Total non-current current employee related
provisions

1,018

865

Total employee related provisions

3,818

3,846

Accounting policy
Employee benefits: Include wages, salaries and social contributions,
accrued and paid leave entitlements and paid sick leave, and nonmonetary benefits (such as cars) for employees.

3.1(b) Employee related provisions

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before
normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of
benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination
benefits are recognised when the Office is demonstrably committed
to terminating the employment of current employees according to
a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy.

Current

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the
Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or
other superannuation funds. 			
				
				

Financial disclosure
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)
Long service leave (b)
Purchased leave

(c)

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)
Total current employee related provisions
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)
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3.1(a) Employee benefits expenses (continued)

3.1(b) Employee related provisions (continued)
Accounting policy
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of
wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and purchased
leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an
expense during the period the services are delivered.
(a) Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to
be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is
based on remuneration rates current as at the end of the reporting
period. An actuarial assessment of annual leave undertaken by
PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries at 30 June 2020 determined that
the liability using the short-hand measurement technique above was not
materially different from the liability using the present value of expected
future payments.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the
Office does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
(b) Long service leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has
completed 2 years (2019: 3 years) of service based on remuneration
rates current as at the end of the reporting period. An actuarial
assessment was undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries at
30 June 2020 determined that the liability measured using the shorthand measurement technique above was not materially different from
the liability determined using the present value of expected future
payments.
This calculation is consistent with the Office’s experience of employee
retention and leave taken. Unconditional long service leave provisions
are classified as current liabilities as the Office does not have an
102
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unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and
conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current
liabilities because the Office has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite
years of service.
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Office’s
annual leave and long service leave provisions include expected
future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and
timing of expected future payments. Changes in these estimations
and assumptions may impact on the suitability of the short-hand
measurement techniques and the carrying amounts of the annual leave
and long service leave provisions.
(c) Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to public service employees
who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10
weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of
salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
(d) Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance,
are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities
and expenses when employment to which they relate has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Note 3.2 Other
expenditure’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs
provision’.

277

2019
$’000

2020
$’000

3.2 Other expenditure

4: Our funding sources

Financial disclosure

How we obtain our funding

Supplies and services
Contracted audit work – State
Contracted audit work – Local government
Other services and contracts
Other staffing costs
Repairs and maintenance
Travel and accommodation
Administration
Consumables
Motor vehicle lease expenses
Artwork leases
Communications
Advertising
Other
Total supplies and services expenses
Accommodation expenses
Office lease rentals (a)
Office parking
Monthly outgoings
Total accommodation expenses
Other expenses
Employment on-costs
Other expenses
Total other expenses
Total other expenditure

3,988
3,223
1,714
252
686
240
303
100
36
4
130
1
17
10,694

4,024
1,920
1,141
364
592
312
402
91
92
1
22
9
6
8,976

1,615
78
503
2,196

1,611
109
480
2,200

25
54
79
12,969

26
80
106
11,282

(a) Office lease rentals represent the cost of renting office accommodation from the
Department of Finance (DoF). See note 5.1(b)

Supplies and services and other expenses are recognised as an
expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

2019
$’000

This section provides additional information about how the Office
obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern
the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income
and revenue received by the Office and relevant notes are:
Notes
Income from State Government

4.1

9,542

8,151

User charges and fees

4.2

23,316

20,838

Other revenue

4.3

33

82

9,116

7,711

9,116

7,711

-

33

426

407

426

440

9,542

8,151

4.1 Income from State Government
Financial disclosure
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)
Services received free of charge from other
State government entities during the period:
State Solicitor’s Office
Department of Finance
Total income from State Government

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(Holding Account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any
agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.
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2020
$’000

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

4.1 Income from State Government (continued)
Accounting policy
Service appropriations are recognised as income at the fair value of
consideration in the period in which the Office gains control of the
appropriated funds. The Office gains control of appropriated funds at
the time those funds are deposited into the bank account or credited
to the ‘Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)’ held at
Treasury.
Assets or services received free of charge or significantly less than
fair value that the Office would otherwise purchase if not donated,
are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services
where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is
recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in
the Statement of Financial Position.

4.2 User charges and fees
Financial disclosure
Audit Fee – General Government

2020
$’000

The Office is bound by the Auditor General Act 2006 and Local
Government Amendment Auditing Act 2017 to deliver auditing services
to client entities. This is represented by the delivery of a distinct audit
report in exchange of which an audit fee is payable by the audited entity
based on the principles of cost recovery. The auditing service does
not create an asset with an alternative use to the Office and the Office
retains an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date, allowing the Office to recognise revenue over time. The measure
of progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
is the percentage completed based on inputs such as costs incurred
to date through underlying internal billing data, or progress payments
incurred from contract audit firms, supplemented by their estimate of
subsequent work completed but not yet billed.
Net appropriation determination – The Treasurer may make a
determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for
services under the control of the Office. The Office retained $23.3
million in 2020 ($20.8m in 2019) from assurance and auditing fees,
government vehicle scheme and other revenue.

12,330

11,946

4.3 Other revenue

3,245

3,501

743

618

Financial disclosure

Audit Fee – Local Government

4,950

2,769

Audit Fee – Other

2,048

2,004

23,316

20,838

Audit Fee – Public Non-Financial Corporations
Audit Fee – Public Financial Corporations

Total audit fees

Accounting policy
Until 30 June 2019, revenue was recognised and measured at the
fair value of consideration received or receivable. From 1 July 2019,
revenue is recognised at the transaction price when the Office transfers
control of the services to customers.
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2019
$’000

Contributions for the use of motor vehicle

22

33

Miscellaneous

11

49

33

82

5: Key assets
Assets the OAG utilises for economic benefit or service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets the Office
utilises to gain economic benefits or service potential. The section279
sets
out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the
performance of these assets.

2019
$’000

Assets the OAG utilises for economic benefit or service potential
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

5.1(a)

104

325

Right-of-use assets

5.1(b)

78

-

5.2

11

72

5.3, 5.1(b)

369

425

5.4

-

151

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Impairment of assets

5.1(a) Property, plant and equipment
Financial disclosure

Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at end of period

2,281

2,239

(2,177)

(1,914)

104

325

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out
in the table below:
Property,
plant and
equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

2020
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of period

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are
recognised as assets and the cost is depreciated over their useful
lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000
are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income other than where they form part of a group of similar items
which are significant in total.
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items
of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for significantly
less than fair value, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

5.1(b) Right-of-use assets

Office and Computer Equipment
At cost

2019
$’000

Accounting policy

Notes

Intangible assets

2020
$’000

325

325

42

42

(263)

(263)

104

104

Right-of-use assets
Vehicles

78

-

Total Right-of-use assets

78

-

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2020 financial year were $ nil.

Initial recognition
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the amount of the
initial measurement of lease liability, any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received and
any initial direct costs.
The agency has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for short-term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less)
and low value leases (with an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease
payments associated with these leases are expensed over a straightline basis over the lease term.
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2020
$’000

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

5.1(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

5.2 Intangible assets

Subsequent measurement

Financial disclosure

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use
assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
re-measurement of lease liability.

Computer software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at the end of the period

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

Vehicles

45

-

Total right-of-use assets depreciation

45

-

2

-

The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was $46,000.
The Office has also entered into a memorandum of understanding
(MoU) with the Department of Finance for the leasing of office
accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 because
of substitution rights held by the Department of Finance and are
accounted for as an expense as incurred.
Up to 30 June 2019, the Office classified leases as either finance leases
or operating leases. From 1 July 2019, the Office recognises leases as
right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in the Statement of
Financial Position.
The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use
assets have been disclosed in note 7.3.
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2019
$’000

1,594

1,594

(1,583)

(1,522)

11

72

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the
beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below:

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the
underlying assets. The following amounts relating to leases have been
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

Lease interest expense (note 7.4)

2020
$’000

Computer
software
$’000

Total
$’000

72

72

(61)

(61)

11

11

2020
Carrying amount at start of period
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

Accounting policy
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally
generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised.
The cost is amortised over their useful lives. Costs incurred below
these thresholds are immediately expensed to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Intangible assets are initially recognised at
cost. For assets acquired at nil or for significantly less than fair value,
the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Expenditure relating to computer software development is capitalised
when it meets the criteria outlined in the relevant Australian Accounting
Standards. Management exercises judgement in determining the 281
costs
that are directly attributable to the development of computer software
and require capitalisation.

2019
$’000

Accounting policy
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated
useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: Office and computer
equipment – 2 to 10 years.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated
for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is
reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets have
a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for
intangible assets are: Computer software – 3 years.

Amortisation – Intangible assets
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (see note 5.1(b))
Total depreciation and amortisation expense

2019
$’000

6: Other assets and liabilities

5.3 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation – Office and computer equipment

2020
$’000

263

303

61

122

324

425

45

-

369

425

5.4 Impairment of assets
Accounting policy
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting
period.
Financial disclosure
There were no other indications of impairment to property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets at 30 June 2020
(2019: $151,451).

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the
operations of the Office and includes other assets utilised for economic
benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:
Notes
Receivables

6.1

9,885

9,591

Amounts receivable for services
(Holding Account)

6.2

4,550

4,152

Other assets

6.3

577

395

Payables

6.4

(1,978)

(1,280)

Accrued revenue

9,644

9,441

GST receivables

180

116

61

34

9,885

9,591

6.1 Receivables
Financial disclosure
Current

Amounts receivable for employees seconded
Total

Accounting policy
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any
allowance for any uncollectable amounts (i.e. impairment). Accrued
revenue includes amounts receivable for work-in-progress. Refer to
note 4.2 which details the method to determine the Office’s progress
towards the satisfaction of the performance obligation.
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2020
$’000

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

6.1 Receivables (continued)

6.3 Other assets

Accounting policy (continued)

Current

The collectability of receivables and accrued revenue is reviewed on
an ongoing basis and any receivables and accrued revenue identified
as uncollectable are written-off against the allowance account. The
allowance for uncollectable amounts (doubtful debts) is determined
as the lifetime expected credit losses. The impairment allowance is nil
(2019: nil). The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for
settlement within 30 days.

Prepayments

577

395

Total

577

395

6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Trade payables

26

40

Financial disclosure

Accrued expenses

1,160

743

224

66

4

2

564

429

1,978

1,280

Current

390

323

Non-current

4,160

3,829

Total

4,550

4,152

Accounting policy
The Office receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are
paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable)
held by Treasury. The accrued amount receivable is restricted as it is
only accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to
cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. Amounts receivable
for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit
loss of the Holding Account).

6.4 Payables
Financial disclosure
Current

Accrued salaries
Paid parental leave
Work in progress contractor audit work
Total

Accounting policy
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the
end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight
of the financial year end. The Office considers the carrying amount of
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Office
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as
settlement is generally within 30 days.
The work in progress contractor audit work represents the contract audit
firms’ estimate of work completed but not yet billed. See also Note 6.1
283
Receivables.
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2019
$’000

7: Financing

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Accounting policy

Cash and cash equivalents

7.1

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to
largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27
pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this
account.

Commitments

7.2

Lease Liability

7.3

7.2 Commitments

Finance cost

7.4

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated
with the financing and cash flows of the Office.
Notes

Other expenditure commitments
Commitments for rent payments are payable as follows:

7.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Within 1 year

2,072

2,078

For the purpose of the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise
cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 3
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

4,216

6,373

-

-

6,288

8,451

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown
in the Statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the
Statement of financial position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

5,187

3,940

262

188

5,449

4,128

262

188

262

188

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Later than 5 years

The Office entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with
the Department of Finance for leasing floor space at Albert Facey
House. While not a legally binding agreement, it has been agreed that
all parties will comply with the terms and conditions as if they were
legally enforceable obligations. It covers a 5-year occupancy period
from 1 July 2018 with rent payable monthly in arrears. Provisions within
the MOU require that the rent payments shall be increased by any
increase in market indices from 1 July 2019 and bi-annually thereafter.
This office accommodation MOU is not a lease under AASB 16 (see
note 5.1(b)).

Financial disclosure
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account
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2020
$’000

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

• the exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably
certain to be exercised)

7.2 Commitments (continued)
Other commitments predominantly include audit services contracted
through private sector audit firms and other operational service
contracts at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as
liabilities, are payable as follows:

• payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term
reflects the Office exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Within 1 year

5,408

5,769

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

5,858

3,558

54

-

11,320

9,327

Current

36

-

Non-current

42

-

Balance at end of period

78

-

Later than 5 years

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees

7.3 Lease liability

Accounting policy
The Office measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Office uses the
incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury
Corporation. Lease payments as part of the present value calculation of
the lease liability include:

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not
include any future changes in variable lease payments (that depend on
an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included
in the lease term by the Office if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).
Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of the lease
liability are recognised by the Office in profit or loss in the period in
which the condition that triggers those payments occurs. This section
should be read in conjunction with note 5.1(b).
Subsequent measurement
Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to
reflect interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount
at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or
lease modifications.

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date
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2019
$’000

Lease interest expense

2

-

Finance cost expensed

2

-

7.4 Finance cost
Finance cost

8: Financial instruments and contingencies
Notes
Financial Instruments

8.1

Contingent assets and liabilities

8.2

8.1 Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

5,187

3,940

262

188

Financial assets at amortised cost (a)

14,255

13,627

Total financial assets

19,704

17,755

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

1,978

1,280

Total financial liabilities

1,978

1,280

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets

(a) The amount excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)

8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the
statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are
measured at the best estimate. The Office has no contingent assets or
liabilities.

9: Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by
accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the understanding
of the financial statements.
Notes
Initial application of Accounting Standards

9.1

Key management personnel

9.2

Related party transactions

9.3

Equity

9.4

Remuneration of auditor

9.5

Events occurring after the end of the
reporting period

9.6

Supplementary financial information

9.7

Explanatory statement

9.8

9.1 Initial application of Accounting Standards			
(a) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118
Revenue and AASB 111 Construction Contracts for annual reporting
periods on or after 1 January 2019. Under the new model, an entity
shall recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a customer and
is based upon the transfer of control rather than transfer of risks and
rewards.
AASB 15 focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from the contracts with customers.
Revenue is recognised by applying the following 5 steps:
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2020
$’000

9.1 Initial application of Accounting Standards (continued)

(b) AASB 16 Leases

• identifying contracts with customers

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases and related
Interpretations. AASB 16 primarily affects lessee accounting and
provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease
arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements of both
lessees and lessors.

• identifying separate performance obligations
• determining the transaction price of the contract
• allocating the transaction price to each of the performance
obligations
• recognising revenue when or as each performance obligation is
satisfied.
Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct
goods or services are separately identified and any discounts or rebates
in the contract price are allocated to the separate elements.
In addition, the Office derives income from appropriations which are
recognised under AASB 1058. AASB 1058 is applied to Not-for-Profit
Entities for recognising income that is not revenue from contracts with
customers. Timing of income recognition under AASB 1058 depends on
whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance
obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by
owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) recognised
by the Office.
The Office adopted the modified retrospective approach on transition
to AASB 15 and AASB 1058. No comparative information has been
restated under this approach, and the Office recognised the cumulative
effect of initially applying the standards as an adjustment to the opening
balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial application
(1 July 2019).
Under this transition method, the Office elected to apply the standard
retrospectively only to contracts and transactions that are not completed
contracts at the date of initial application. Refer to Note 4.1, 4.2 and
4.3 for the revenue and income accounting policies adopted from 1
July 2019. The adoption of these standards had minimal impact on the
Office.
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The Office applied AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. As permitted under the specific
transition provisions, comparatives have not been restated. The
cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard is recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at 1
July 2019.
The main changes introduced by this Standard include the identification
of lease within a contract and a new lease accounting model for lessees
that require lessees to recognise all leases (operating and finance
leases) on the Statement of Financial Position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, except for short term leases (lease terms of 12
months or less at commencement date) and low-value assets (where
the underlying asset is valued less than $5,000). The operating lease
and finance lease distinction for lessees no longer exists.
Under AASB 16, the Office took into consideration all operating leases
that were off balance sheet under AASB 117 and recognised:
a) right of use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial
Position, initially measured at the present value of future lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (2.1%) on
1 July 2019
b) depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income
c) the total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is
presented in the cash flows from financing activities, and interest
paid, which is presented in the cash flows from operating activities, in
the Statement of Cash Flows.
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2019
$’000

9.1 Initial application of Accounting Standards (continued)
The right-of-use assets were assessed for impairment at the date of
transition and the Office did not identify any impairments to its right-ofuse assets.
On transition, the Office elected to apply the following practical
expedient in the assessment of its leases that were previously classified
as operating leases under AASB 117:
(a) Where the lease term at initial application ended within 12 months,
the Office has accounted for these as short-term leases.
The Office has not reassessed whether existing contracts are, or
contained a lease at 1 July 2019. The requirements of paragraphs 9-11
of AASB 16 are applied to contracts that came into existence post 1
July 2019.
a. Measurement of lease liabilities
Operating Lease Commitments disclosed as at
30 June 2019

8,587

Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of
initial application (a)

8,325

Less: Deduction of office accommodation lease
(note 3.2)

(8,193)

Less: Short term lease practical expedient

(10)

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019

122

9.2 Key management personnel
The Office has determined key management personnel to include
senior officers of the OAG. The Office does not incur expenditures
to compensate ministers and those disclosures may be found in
the Annual Report on State Finances. The total fees, salaries,
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior
officers of the Office for the reporting period are presented within the
following bands:
Compensation band ($)

2020

2019

70,001 – 80,000

1

-

80,001 – 90,000

1

-

90,001 – 100,000

1

-

100,001 – 110,000

1

-

170,001 – 180,000

1

-

180,001 – 190,000

-

1

210,001 – 220,000

2

2

220,001 – 230,000

-

1

240,001 – 250,000

1

-

250,001 – 260,000

-

1

270,001 – 280,000

-

1

310,001 – 320,000

1

-

440,001 – 450,000

1

-

450,001 – 460,000

-

1

$’000

$’000

1,963

1,845

Total compensation of senior officers
Current lease liabilities

43

Non-current lease liabilities

79

(a) The WATC incremental borrowing rate was used for the purposes of calculating the
lease transition opening balance.

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by
the Office in respect of senior officers.
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2020
$’000

9.3 Related party transactions
The Office is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by of
the State of Western Australia. Related parties of the Office include:
• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their
controlled or jointly controlled entities
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled
or jointly controlled entities
• other agencies and statutory authorities, including related bodies,
that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial
statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities)
• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

8,931

8,631

Capital appropriation

300

300

Total contributions by owners

300

300

9,231

8,931

4,606

5,159

943

(553)

5,549

4,606

14,780

13,537

9.4 Equity
Financial disclosure
Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Contributions by owners

Balance at end of period
Accumulated surplus

Material transactions with related parties

Balance at start of period

The Office had no material related party transactions with Ministers,
senior officers or their close family members or their controlled or jointly
controlled entities. Refer to Note 9.2 for disclosure of compensation of
key management personnel.

Result for the period
Balance at end of period
Total equity at end of period

Accounting policy
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the
Office on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual
interest in the net assets of the Office.
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to WhollyOwned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.
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by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public
Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

9.5 Remuneration of auditor
An independent auditor is appointed by the Governor under section
38(2) of the Auditor General Act 2006 to audit the accounts, financial
statements, controls and key performance indicators of the Office with
the fee being paid by this Office. Remuneration in respect of the audit
for the current financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls
and key performance indicators

41

36

9.6 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting period
that warrant disclosure.

9.7 Supplementary financial information
During the current and previous financial years, there were no:
• write-offs by the Office
• losses through theft, defaults and other causes
• gifts of public property provided by the Office.
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9.8 Explanatory statement
All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 2020 and 2019 are shown
below. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are greater than 10% and $1 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income,
Cash Flows, and the Statement of Financial Position.		
Estimate
2020
$’000

Actual
2020
$’000

Actual
2019
$’000

Variance between
estimate and
actual
$’000

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019
$’000

20,280
11,329
1,946
1,027
151
46
34,779

18,608
10,694
369
2,196
2
79
31,948

17,765
8,977
425
2,200
151
106
29,624

(1,672)
(635)
(1,577)
1,169
(149)
33
(2,831)

843
1,717
(56)
(4)
(151)
2
(27)
2,324

25,751
25,751

23,316
33
23,349

20,838
82
20,920

(2,435)
33
(2,402)

2,478
(49)
2,429

25,751

23,349

20,920

(2,402)

2,429

9,028

8,599

8,704

(429)

(105)

8,516
467
8,983

9,116
426
9,542

7,711
440
8,151

600
(41)
559

1,405
(14)
1,391

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

(45)

943

(553)

988

1,496

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

(45)

943

(553)

988

1,496

Variance
Note
9.8.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses
Impairment expense
Finance cost
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Revenue and Income
User charges and fees
Other revenue
Total Revenue

a
1
2

3, b

Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Total income from State Government

c
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Estimate
2020
$’000

Actual
2020
$’000

Actual
2019
$’000

Variance between
estimate and
actual
$’000

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019
$’000

3,750
12,352
390
474
16,966

5,187
9,885
390
577
16,039

3,940
9,591
323
395
14,249

1,437
(2,467)
103
(927)

1,247
294
67
182
1,790

245
4,160
236
3,618
399
8,658

262
4,160
104
78
11
4,615

188
3,829
325
72
4,414

17
(132)
(3,540)
(388)
(4,043)

74
331
(221)
78
(61)
201

25,624

20,654

18,663

(4,970)

1,991

3,658
3,126
6,784

1,978
2,800
36
4,814

1,280
2,981
4,261

(1,680)
(326)
36
(1,970)

698
(181)
36
554

773
3,693
4,466

1,018
42
1,060

865
865

245
(3,651)
(3,406)

153
42
195

TOTAL LIABILITIES

11,250

5,874

5,126

(5,376)

748

NET ASSETS

14,374

14,780

13,537

406

1,243

9,231
5,143

9,231
5,549

8,931
4,606

406

300
943

14,374

14,780

13,537

406

Variance
Note

9.8.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

4

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Lease Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Lease Liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

5
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9.8 Explanatory statement (continued)

9.8 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance
Note

Estimate
2020
$’000

Actual
2020
$’000

Actual
2019
$’000

Variance between
estimate and
actual
$’000

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019
$’000

d

7,795
300
323

8,395
300
323

6,990
300
240

600
-

1,405
83

8,418

9,018

7,530

600

1,488

(20,193)
(10,557)
(151)
(569)
(1,800)
(46)

(18,479)
(10,334)
(2)
(1,770)
(964)
(1,553)
(79)

(17,816)
(8,800)
(1,760)
(1,027)
(1,280)
(106)

1,714
223
149
(1,201)
836
(1,553)
(33)

(663)
(1,534)
(2)
(10)
63
(273)
27

24,529
1,630
170
-

23,085
2,299
155
31

19,690
2,041
355
119

(1,444)
669
(15)
31

3,395
258
(200)
(88)

(6,987)

(7,611)

(8,584)

(624)

973

(623)

(42)

(58)

581

16

9.8.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Holding Account drawdown
Net cash provided by State Government
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Other payments
Receipts
User charges and fees
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts

e
6
7

f

Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

-

-

-

-

-

(623)

(42)

(58)

581

16

(1,157)

(44)

-

1,113

(44)

(1,157)

(44)

-

1,113

(44)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

(349)
4,344

1,321
4,128

(1,112)
5,240

1,670
(216)

2,433
(1,112)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

3,995

5,449

4,128

1,454

Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Principal elements of lease payments
Net cash used in financing activities
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1,321

Statement of cash flows

Major estimate and actual variance narratives

6. Payments for accommodation expenses varied to budget estimates
as the Office initially reported its MoU with DoF for the leasing of
office accommodation at Albert Facey House under AASB 16 Leases. This approach was since reversed because of substitution
rights held by DoF. Actual payments for accommodation are reported
similarly to prior years and the subsequent budget statements have
been amended.

Statement of comprehensive income
1. Depreciation and amortisation expense varied to budget estimates as
the Office initially reported its MoU with DoF for the leasing of office
accommodation at Albert Facey House under AASB 16 - Leases.
This approach was since reversed because of substitution rights held
by DoF. Expenses associated with office accommodation are now
reported in accommodation expenses and the subsequent budget
statements have been amended. 				
2. Accommodation expense varied to budget estimates caused by the
reversal of the application of AASB 16 - Leases for the Offices lease
accommodation with DoF. Refer to comment 1 above for more detail.
3. User charges and fees is less than budget estimate by $2.43
million (9.5%) caused by a lower than expected accrued revenue
component, impeded by the COVID-19 pandemic and the decision to
freeze escalation of the majority of client audit fees.
Statement of financial position
4. Right-of-use assets varied to budget estimates as the Office initially
reported its MoU with DoF for the leasing of office accommodation
at Albert Facey House under AASB 16 - Leases. This approach was
since reversed because of substitution rights held by DoF, resulting in
a significant reduction in the Offices Right-of-use assets.
5. Lease liabilities varied to budget estimates as the Office initially
reported its MoU with DoF for the leasing of office accommodation
at Albert Facey House under AASB 16 - Leases. This approach was
since reversed because of substitution rights held by DoF, resulting in
a significant reduction in the Offices lease liabilities.

7. GST payments to tax authority exceeded budget estimates by $1.5
million caused by this line item being reported wholly in the GST
payments on purchases. The net effect of these line items does not
give rise to a ‘major variance’.				
8. Principal elements of lease payments varied to budget estimates as
the Office initially reported its MoU with DoF for the leasing of office
accommodation at Albert Facey House under AASB 16 - Leases.
This approach was since reversed because of substitution rights held
by DoF. Actual payments for accommodation are reported similarly
to prior years and the subsequent budget statements have been
amended.
Major actual (2020) and comparative (2019) variance narratives
Statement of comprehensive income
a. Supplies and services increased by $1.72 million (19.1%) compared
to prior year as the Office progressed auditing of Local government
entities, the majority of which are contracted out to professional
auditing and assurance firms.
b. User charges and fees increased by $2.48 million (11.9%) compared
to prior year as the Office continued to transition to financial
statements audits of local government entities. The expansion of the
local government entities client base, now 130 of 148 entities for the
2019-20 financial year.
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9.8 Explanatory statement (continued)

9.8 Explanatory statement (continued)
c. Service appropriation increased by $1.41 million (18.2%) compared
to prior year as a result of successful budget submissions in the
2019-20 external budget process for local government reform ($0.26
million) and enhancements to core systems ($0.25 million). Further,
an additional $0.60 million was received following the 2019-20 MidYear Review to establish the Office’s forensic auditing capabilities.
Statement of financial position
There were no variances that met the definition of a ‘major variance’.
Statement of cash flows
d. Cash receipts for service appropriation increased by $1.41 million
(20.1%) compared to prior year as a result of successful budget
submissions approved for the 2019-20 financial year for local
government sector reform ($0.26 million), enhancements to core
systems ($0.25 million) and to establish the Offices forensic auditing
capabilities ($0.6 million).
e. Payments for supplies and services increased by $1.53 million
(17.4%) compared to prior year as the Office settled accounts for
local government auditing, largely resourced through contracted
professional auditing firms.				
f. Receipts for user charges and fees increased by $3.40 million
(17.2%) as the Office transitioned to auditing the financial statements
of 112 local government entities, an increase of 66 entities from prior
year.				
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Certification of key performance indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2020

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper
records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the
Office of the Auditor General’s performance, and fairly represent the
performance of the Office for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Caroline Spencer
Accountable Authority
13 August 2020
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Performance indicators
The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) exists to serve the public
interest by providing Parliament with independent and impartial
information regarding public sector accountability and performance. The
OAG reports directly to Parliament and ultimately the people of Western
Australia.
Through our desired outcome, ‘an informed Parliament on public sector
accountability and performance’ we provide oversight of government
achievement of its 4 goals, including responsible financial management
and better service delivery.

A crucial element of this indicator is the establishment of a 3-year
target for each category of report. The current target over 3-years
encompasses the financial years 2018-19 to 2020-21. While we aim to
meet these report targets, we are also concerned with the quality of
our reports and will not sacrifice this requirement in order to achieve a
quantitative measure.
Table 23 shows the number of reports tabled in the preceding 4-years,
and our performance in 2019-20.

Key effectiveness performance indicators
Our key effectiveness performance indicator is:
The extent that the OAG is effective in informing Parliament about public
sector accountability and performance is measured by the number of
tabled reports compared to targets for each of the following categories
of audit matter:
• Service delivery

• Social and environment

• Economic development

• Governance.

Category

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2019-20
Target

Target over
3-years

Service delivery

7

4

4

2

5

8

21

Economic development

3

1

3

1

2

4

12

Social and environment

2

1

6

3

1

7

12

Governance

17

20

14

23

20

12

45

Total

29

26

27

29

28

31

90

- Section 82 opinions
- Other

4
13

7
13

Table 23: Key effectiveness performance indicator 2015-16 to 2019-20
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10

8
15

10
10

12

45
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Internally, we continued embedding changes and capability
developments in a number of areas across the business, and actively
supported external secondments that will help build key audit and
governance skills in several other agencies experiencing significant
demands on their services. These processes created temporary
resource constraints that also impacted the timing of our audit delivery
program.
Efficiency indicator

2015-16
Actual

Governance reports, the only category target we met, include
opinions on ministerial notifications under section 82 of the Financial
Management Act 2006. The often complex, lengthy and unplanned
nature of reviews required for these notifications are a legislative
obligation and use the same resources as planned performance audit
reports, causing the unfavourable results compared to targets in other
report categories. Further, a variance between actual and target can
arise given the Auditor General’s decision to choose audit topics that in
our view at the time would better inform Parliament and the community.
Our topic selection process aims to provide Parliament with advice
and assurance across all 4 categories of public sector activity. Our
targets are 1 factor in our selection of topics. Other factors include
the significance of identified issues and matters referred to us by
Parliament. For this reason, our category targets may not always be
met in any 1 year.

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Actual

2019-20
Target

Total audit cost per million dollars of gross government
expenditure

$479

$449

$504

$575

$476

$661

Attest (financial) audit cost per million dollars of gross
government expenditure

$354

$328

$372

$431

$369

$484

Performance audit cost per million dollars of gross
government expenditure

$125

$121

$132

$144

$107

$177

66.2 days

65.5 days

64.6 days

65.6 days

67.3 days

68.0 days

Average number of days taken after balance date to
issue financial audit opinions

Table 24: Key efficiency performance indicator 2015-16 to 2019-20
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Financials statements and KPIs

We were able to deliver 28 reports to Parliament for the year ended
30 June 2020. This was 3 short of our target number for the year
despite what has been a highly disrupted period since COVID-19
responses were initiated in WA. We placed 2 performance audits on
hold and delayed several others to reduce the burden on some audited
entities that were facing significant demands as front line COVID-19
respondents. We also directed a large amount of time and resourcing to
developing our comprehensive Western Australian Public Sector Audit
Committees Better Practice Guide, a document we expect will have
enduring value for State and local government entities.

Key effectiveness performance indicators
The key efficiency performance indicators measure the overall efficiency
in delivering the OAG’s service ‘public sector auditing’. The OAG is
responsible for undertaking external audit of the Western Australian
public sector. This is performed through audits of controls, financial
statements, key performance indicators, efficiency and effectiveness,
and reporting the results to Parliament.
Our key efficiency performance indicators are:
• total audit cost per million dollars of gross government expenditure
• attest (financial) audit cost per million dollars of gross government
expenditure
• performance audit cost per million dollars of gross government
expenditure
• average number of days taken after balance date to issue financial
audit opinions for State government entities.
The gross government expenditure value incorporates total public
sector expenditure together with expenditure by universities,
superannuation and other boards. The estimated actual total public
sector expenditure from the Government Mid-Year Financial Projections
Statement is used rather than actual total public sector expenditure as
the actual results are not available at the time these key performance
indicators are produced.
Although the OAG’s costs in these efficiency indicators include the
costs of local government audits, gross government expenditure from
2017-18 onwards does not include expenditure by local government
entities. This approach will be amended once the OAG has fully
transitioned to auditing the local government client base.
The audit costs used to calculate the key efficiency indicators
are extracted from the OAG’s Financial Management Information
System. The proportion of total cost assigned to attest (financial) and
performance audits is based on recorded direct hours charged to audits
and an activity based allocation of OAG overhead.
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Office of the Auditor General | Annual Report 2019-2020

The decrease in total audit cost, attest (financial) audits and
performance audit cost per million dollars of gross government
expenditure compared to the prior year of 17.2%, 14.5% and 25.5%
respectively were due mainly to the overall 30.2% increase in gross
government expenditure between estimate periods.
Similarly, the decrease in total audit costs, attest (financial) audit
and performance audit cost per million dollars of gross government
expenditure compared to the targets by 28.0%, 23.8% and 39.4%
respectively was due to the 27.7% increase in gross government
expenditure since the determination of the original target. Our audit
fees, appropriation and expenditure limits have not kept up with
government expenditure trends.
Section 64 of the Financial Management Act 2006 requires ministers to
table agency annual reports, including the audit opinion on the financial
statements, controls and key performance indicators in Parliament
within 90 days of the end of a financial year. Accordingly, we have
adopted an efficiency indicator which measures the average number
of days taken after balance date to issue entity financial audit opinions.
Our target has been set with regard to this statutory requirement for all
State government entity financial audits. The actual and corresponding
target of this indicator does not include local government financial
auditing given there is no legislative requirement surrounding the
timeliness of tabling the financial statements. The results for 2019-20
show OAG was able to remain within stated target and a marginal
decline in timeliness compared to prior year which reflects the larger
overall annual workload of the office.
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Pricing policies

Staff development

We have based our fee model on our legislation and Department of
Treasury guidelines. Using this model, we invoice State and local
government entities for financial audits inclusive of information
systems auditing. Our fees also incorporate a loading to recover our
financial audit benchmarking and focus audits, the basis of which is on
governance and financial accountability.

We are committed to the development of our people and have an
extensive program that delivered in excess of 17,000 hours of in-house
and external training. As the result of our commitment to professional
development and training we are recognised as an employer partner by
CPA and CA ANZ. More information on our program is outlined in the
Learning and Professional Development section (page 25).

Fees are based on the hours required to undertake each financial
audit. Where a contractor conducts the audit on our behalf, we base
the fees on the contractor’s fees. The model also assumes:

Workers compensation
This financial year no new compensation claims were recorded and 1
compensation claim of a minor nature was closed. One compensation
claim of a minor nature was recorded in 2018-19.

• full recovery of direct costs including salary, superannuation and
training
• full recovery of identified overheads with these costs being spread
over all financial audit engagements.

Staff profile
Category
Full time permanent

At June 2020 At June 2019
118

128

Full time contract

18

18

Part time permanent

16

18

Part time contract

0

2

On secondment into the OAG

2

4

154

170

Total
Table 25: Our staff profile
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Disclosures

Other financial disclosures

Governance disclosures
Contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting no senior officers, or entities of which they are members or have a substantial interest, had any existing or proposed contracts
with the OAG other than their contract of employment.

Other employment
Under schedule 1, clause 3 of the Auditor General Act 2006, the Auditor General must not, except so far as authorised by law or by resolutions of both
Houses of Parliament, hold certain offices, places or positions referred to in the Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899. The schedule also prohibits
the Auditor General from engaging in any paid employment outside the duties of the OAG.
At no time since my appointment to that office have I engaged in any paid employment outside the duties of my office.
I am also a member of the State Records Commission, as authorised by the State Records Act 2000, section 58n(a).
- Caroline Spencer

Board and committee remuneration
The independent chair of our Audit and Risk Management Committee is the only position that receives remuneration as a consequence of committee
membership.
Position
Independent Chair of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee

Name

Remuneration type

Period of membership
2019-20

Gross/actual remuneration
2019-20 financial year*

Des Pearson

Hourly rate

12 months

$14,200

Total

$14,200

* Remuneration reported excludes GST and travel expenses incurred as per Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-20 – Reimbursement of Travel Expenses for Members of
Government Boards and Committees

Table 26: Remuneration of the Audit and Risk Management Committee independent chair
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Expenditure on advertising and surveys

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the OAG
incurred the following expenditure in recruitment advertising, conducting
surveys and our contribution to the Australasian Council of Auditors
General benchmarking survey.

This is the fourth year of our Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
(DAIP) 2017-2021. The DAIP outlines our commitment to ensuring that
people with disability, their families and carers have:

The total expenditure for 2019-20 was $91,950

• the same opportunities to obtain and maintain employment with us.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas (ex-GST):
Expenditure

Provider

Recruitment advertising

Indeed

Surveys

Orima

Total
Table 27: Expenditure on advertising and surveys

• ready access to our services, information and facilities

2019-20
Amount
$285
$91,665
$91,950

We regularly review our recruitment processes to address any barriers
to access and inclusion in employment. For employees with existing or
emerging disabilities, we work with them and their health professionals
to support their work and contribution to the OAG.
In our annual DAIP progress report to the Disability Services
Commission, we reported on our strategies across the 7 outcomes,
demonstrating our ongoing compliance with, and commitment to
disability access and inclusion. We also present this information to
employees and Executive regularly.
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Disclosures

Other legal requirements

Strategies
Outcome 1
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to
access the services of, and any events organised by the OAG.

Ensure people with disability have an opportunity to comment on access to services.
Monitor and redevelop an Access and Inclusion Policy to support equitable access to services.
Incorporate DAIP objectives in strategic business planning, budgeting processes, procedures and
policies.
Ensure employees awareness of our DAIP, relevant policies and strategies.
Ensure accessibility to events conducted by, or on behalf of the OAG.

Outcome 2
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to
access the buildings and other facilities of the OAG.

Ensure office accessibility is maintained to meet legislative and access standards.
Ensure signage is clear and easy to read.
Information access options are available.
Parking – close to public transport, parking and taxi stands.

Outcome 3
People with disability receive information from the OAG in a format that
will enable them to access the information as readily as other people
are able to access it.

Community awareness of information availability in alternative formats upon request.
Improve employee awareness of:
• accessible information needs
• obtaining information in other formats.
Ensure specialist support is available at meetings when requested.
Ensure web page design incorporates W3C Web Content Accessibility guidelines.
Public facing staff are adequately trained in client service for people with disability.
Ensure printed information accessibility for people with disability.

Employee awareness raising of disability, access issues and relevant legislation through regular
Outcome 4
professional development.
People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from
Ensure client service skills for people with disability.
our employees as other people.
Raise new employees’ awareness of disability, access issues and relevant legislation.

Outcome 5
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to
make complaints to the OAG.

Ensure accessibility of the OAG’s referral system and policy.

Outcome 6
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to
participate in any public consultation we may carry out.

Ensure public consultation processes are available to people with disability, their families and
carers.

Outcome 7
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to
obtain and maintain employment with a public authority.

Employment processes are open, transparent and free from bias.

Table 28: Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2021
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Ensure employee capability to support complaints from people with disability.

Employee needs are assessed and met for episodic and long-term disability.
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Our policies and procedures are designed to meet compliance
requirements of public sector standards and public sector code of
ethics. Our Code of Conduct specifies the standards of employee
behaviour considered directly relevant to our unique role and
responsibilities. Additionally, our audit employees must adhere to the
professional standards required of auditors.
We inform our employees of these standards and requirements at their
OAG induction and publish all documents and updates on our intranet.
Our Human Resources team provides consultancy and support services
in relation to the public sector human resource standards, particularly
in recruitment and selection processes, through panel membership,
specialist advice and guidance. All applicant correspondence includes
details on accessing public sector standards, and all recruitment
and appointment processes are independently reviewed to ensure
compliance.
There were no breaches of standards lodged in the past year.

Records management
In compliance with the State Records Act 2000 our Recordkeeping Plan
provides an accurate reflection of our recordkeeping systems, disposal
programs, policies and procedures. It was revised and amended in
August and October 2019 to reflect the OAG’s strong commitment
to improving records management. The plan focuses on ensuring all
employees are aware of their compliance responsibilities and provided
with training in these areas.
Our core recordkeeping system was successfully upgraded from
TRIM 8.3 to Content Manager 9.3 in March 2020. We commenced an
information classification project to integrate security, classification and
role-based location structures to improve our information management
model. We expect to have it completed by September 2020.
To complement our formal instructor led training, employees have
access to interactive online multimedia training presentations, video
demonstrations and quick reference guidebooks. This year, our
Information Management team resolved over 1,200 internal help desk
requests.
Our external portal facilitates the effective and efficient transfer of
information between audit entities and our auditors. This year, we
received and processed over 480 requests for assistance with portal
functions, including account management and technical assistance. We
are currently looking at ways to improve the process for releasing audit
opinions.
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Disclosures

Compliance with public sector standards and ethical
codes

Government policy requirements
Occupational safety and health and injury management
Measures
Number of fatalities
Lost time injury and disease incidence
rate

2017-181
base year

2018-19
prior year

2019-20
current reporting year

Targets

0

0

0

0

0

0 or 10%
reduction in
incidence rate

1

1

1

1

0

0 or 10%
reduction in
severity rate

Percentage of injured workers returned
to work (i) within 13-weeks

100%

100%

na

Greater than or
equal to 80%

Percentage of injured workers returned
to work (ii) within 26-weeks

na

na

na

Greater than or
equal to 80%

15%

Greater than or
equal to 80%

Lost time injury and severity rate

Percentage of managers trained in
occupational safety, health and injury
management responsibilities including
refresher training within 3-years

85%

85%

Comments towards targets

OSH assessment
(page 29) identified need to
review all OSH training for
employees and managers which
we are currently undertaking

1. This indicator examines a 3-year trend and as such the comparison base is to be 2-years prior to the current reporting period (2017-18).

Table 29: Our OSH performance in 2019-20 against targets

305
130

Office of the Auditor General | Annual Report 2019-2020

Disclosures

Executive approved our OSH and injury management statement of commitment
and annual strategic goals in July 2018. We will report on these goals annually.

Statement of commitment
The OAG is committed to ensuring the health and well-being of employees,
visitors and contractors by providing a safe workplace, eliminating hazards
that could result in injury or disease and implementing initiatives to improve
employee welfare.
We will do this by:
• implementing and maintaining safe systems of work
• undertaking risk management activities to identify, eliminate and/or
manage risks in the workplace
• providing and maintaining safe systems for the use, handling, storage
and transportation of plant, equipment and hazardous substances
• consulting with employees to enhance the effectiveness of the OSH
Management System
• providing all employees with appropriate OSH training, information,
instruction and supervision
• providing adequate resources including finances to facilitate our OSH
responsibilities
• complying with OSH legislation, regulations and relevant Australian
standards.
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Accountability

Employees are responsible for:

Auditor General

• ensuring their work area is without risk to the health and safety of
themselves and others

The Auditor General has responsibility for the implementation
and review of our OSH policy, delegation of OSH management
responsibilities, and the provision and allocation of appropriate
resources.
Executive Management Group
Executive has ultimate responsibility for our OSH performance
especially by providing leadership, support, direction and resources to
ensure we meet our OSH commitments.

• completing their work in the safest manner possible
• adhering to OSH policies and procedures
• reporting hazards and incidents as they are identified
• completing all training in OSH as required.
Visitors and contractors

• sufficient resources are available to meet our OSH commitment and
responsibilities

Visitors and contractors to the OAG should take reasonable care to
protect the safety and health of themselves and others. They should
report all accidents and incidents to security or supervisors as soon
as possible, and in the event of an emergency follow the emergency
evacuation procedures.

• safe systems of work are implemented and used

Contractors are:

• OSH issues are addressed as they arise

• required to comply with all applicable legislation and our OSH policies
and procedures

Assistant Auditor General Business Services will ensure:

• OSH consultative and communication mechanisms are established
• compliance with relevant OSH legislation, regulations and standards
• all employees undertake the required OSH induction training.

• responsible for taking reasonable care while on our premises
• responsible for cooperating with actions taken to protect the health
and safety of themselves and others.

Supervisors and managers will ensure:
• work areas are without risk to employees’ health and safety
• all employees adhere to OSH policies and safe work procedures
• all hazards and incidents are reported in accordance with legislative
requirements; and timely corrective actions are implemented
• resources are available to meet our OSH responsibilities
• their areas of responsibility comply with relevant OSH legislation,
regulations and standards.
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Disclosures

Strategic goals
Outcome

Deliverable

Target

2019-20 Results

Systems of work: The Office of the Auditor General will have systems, policies, procedures and practices that ensure the health and well-being of
employees, visitors and contractors.
1. Effective OSH system

• system records incidents and
accidents and is fit for purpose

2. Appropriate policies, procedures
and plans

• review policies, procedures and plans • all reviewed biennially and at need

• 100% incidents and accidents
recorded for analysis
• 100% incidents and accidents
addressed

• 100%

• 100%

Consultation, communication and training: The Office of the Auditor General will involve employees in OSH to ensure mutual commitment and
understanding of workplace health and well-being.
3. Engaged Office Consultative
Committee (OCC)

• regular meetings of representative
members

• quarterly scheduled and at need

• monthly OCC meetings due to COVID-19

4. Notifications through
• Professional development sessions,
regular communication channels
intranet announcements

• at least quarterly notices

• notifications published regularly through
appropriate communication channels

5. Employee awareness
and training

• OSH awareness training for employees
• OSH for supervisors and managers

• 100% of employees trained
appropriately for role(s)

• 100% of new employees trained
• 15% managers trained
• OSH assessment (page 29) identified need
to review all OSH training for employees and
managers which we are currently undertaking

6. Ergonomic employee
set-ups

• better practice ergonomic practices

• 100% new employee preventative
assessments
• specialist assessments as required

• 100% of new employees have completed an
ergo assessment
• 26 assessments conducted as intensive one-off

7. Visitor and contractor safety

• visitors and contractors supervised for
OSH and managed for evacuations

• 100% visitors and contractors
supervised for OSH and managed
for evacuations

• 100%

Compliance: The Office of the Auditor General will ensure compliance with relevant legislation, regulations and standards.
8. Reporting compliance

• reporting to Audit and Risk
• quarterly ARMC reports
Management Committee (ARMC)
• bi-annual and annual mandatory
• reporting to Public Sector Commission
reporting
and Public Sector Labour Relations

• 100%

9. Safe and hazard free
workplace

• workplace hazard inspections

• annual inspections

• 100%

• assessment and provision of resources

• quarterly assessment of, and for,
resourcing

• 100%

10. Appropriate resourcing
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Appendix 1: Our strategic plan
As this is the final year of the OAG Strategic Plan 2016-2020, our Executive will finalise a new 5-year strategic plan by the end of 2020.

Our people

Motivated, innovative, collaborative, accountable, valued, skilled,
knowledgeable

Our tools

Robust, efficient, user-friendly, flexible, agile, reliant, compliant

Outcomes

Strategies

Outcomes

Strategies

An appropriately
skilled workforce
capable of
meeting current
and future
business needs

•

Maintain an environment where learning opportunities
are readily available; employees actively pursue
learning; and acquired learning can be applied
Maintain a meaningful employee performance review
process
Ensure flexible and adaptive recruitment, contracting
and employment arrangements to match work skills
with demand

Efficient, effective
and responsive
business
operations that
meet current and
emerging needs

•

Invest in organisational capability that will give the
OAG a long-term benefit
Empower employees to complete all of their
responsibilities on an audit or business project
Encourage innovation and acknowledge employees for
being innovative in their approach

Sound information •
systems
that support
•
operational needs

Assist employees wishing to undertake relevant further
studies
Provide opportunities for professional growth within
the OAG
Provide national and international secondment
opportunities
Ensure a safe and healthy working environment

•

•
•

High performing
people who
contribute
to strategic
objectives

•

A work
environment that
is recognised as
a workplace of
choice

•

•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Sound financial
management of
our business

•
•
•

Audit methodology •
tools are current,
reliable and
compliant
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Work within a framework and governance structure
which is current and effective
Respond effectively to changes in our environment by
maintaining a strategic focus
Maintain an appropriate and effective approach to risk
management
Ensure accurate and reliable technical advice is
available
Ensure IT systems are efficient, effective and
supported
Capitalise where possible on our existing systems to
improve our business operations
Have an approach to IT that recognises and addresses
operational and strategic business requirements
Continuously improve internal and external
accessibility and useability of our tools
Maintain a strong, sound and transparent financial
management approach
Use accurate business data that informs management
decision-making
Continuously improve our processes to ensure quality and compliance of internal financial management
practices
Ensure our methodology remains current and
compliant
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Consistent, fair and balanced, independent, transparent, pragmatic,
professional, contemporary
Outcomes

Strategies

Audits completed
in accordance
with auditing
and professional
standards

•
•

Relationships
with audit clients
professionally
managed

•

Our reputation for
independence,
integrity and
impartiality is
maintained

•

A well informed
Parliament and
public

•

Maintain a contemporary and quality audit approach
All reports to go through the OAG quality framework

Communicate, consult and develop quality
relationships with clients

Our products

Value for money, timely, relevant, accurate, quality, innovative
Outcomes

Strategies

Timely, relevant
•
and quality reports
on public sector
performance and
accountability
Value for money
reporting that
addresses issues
of public interest

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

Further enhance transparency and accountability of
our topic selection process and outcomes
Continuously reinforce to employees the OAG
principles of independence, integrity and impartiality
Maintain an awareness of the external perception of
the OAG

Appendix 1

Our approach

Reports and
opinions that
lead to improved
public sector
performance and
accountability

•
•

Table reports on time and on budget

Use benchmarking to ensure audit costs reflect value
for money
Produce reports that are considered valuable and
relevant to Parliament
Ensure that the right audit product is selected to
achieve value for money
Include consideration of topics important to Parliament
and entities when developing forward audit program
Ensure clearly articulated and accessible report
findings and recommendations

Set clear expectations and communicate our role and
purpose to Parliament, entities and the community
Identify and implement strategies to address
Parliament’s needs and expectations
Prepare for performance and legislative reviews
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Appendix 2: Financial audit clients 2019-2020
Audits under
Financial
Management
Act 2006
Departments

Department of Planning, Lands
and Heritage

Office of the Information
Commissioner

Department of Primary
Industries and Regional
Development

Office of the Inspector of
Custodial Services

Department of the Legislative
Assembly

Commissioner for Equal
Opportunity

Department of the Legislative
Council

Department of Biodiversity,
Conservation and Attractions

Department of the Premier and
Cabinet

Department of Communities

Department of the Registrar,
Western Australian Industrial
Relations Commission

Department of Education
Department of Finance
Department of Fire and
Emergency Services

Department of Training and
Workforce Development
Department of Transport

Parliamentary Commissioner for
Administrative Investigations
Parliamentary Services
Department
Police Service
Public Sector Commission
Western Australian Electoral
Commission

Statutory authorities
Agricultural Produce
Commission

Country Housing Authority
Curtin University
Disability Services Commission
East Metropolitan Health Service
Economic Regulation Authority
Edith Cowan University
Energy Policy WA

Forest Products Commission

Department of Water and
Environment Regulation

Department of Justice

Governor’s Establishment

Building and Construction
Industry Training Board

Department of Local
Government, Sport and
Cultural Activities

Mental Health Commission

Central Regional TAFE

Office of the Commissioner for
Children and Young People

Chemistry Centre (WA)
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Corruption and Crime
Commission

Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority

Department of Jobs, Tourism,
Science and Innovation
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Construction Industry Long
Service Leave Payments
Board

Fire and Emergency Services
Superannuation Board

Department of Treasury

Office of the Director of Public
Prosecutions

Commissioner of Main Roads

Animal Resources Authority

Department of Health

Department of Mines, Industry
Regulation and Safety

Combat Sports Commission

Child and Adolescent Health
Service

Gaming and Wagering
Commission of Western
Australia
Gascoyne Development
Commission
Gold Corporation
Goldfields-Esperance
Development Commission
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Metropolitan Redevelopment
Authority

Great Southern Development
Commission

Mid West Development
Commission

Health and Disability Services
Complaints Office

Minerals Research Institute of
Western Australia

Health Support Services

Rottnest Island Authority
Rural Business Development
Corporation

The University of Western
Australia
The Western Australian Museum

School Curriculum and
Standards Authority

Trustees of Public Education
Endowment

Murdoch University

Small Business Development
Corporation

WA Country Health Service

Heritage Council of Western
Australia

North Metropolitan Health
Service

South Metropolitan Health
Service

Housing Authority

North Metropolitan TAFE

South Metropolitan TAFE

Infrastructure WA

North Regional TAFE

South Regional TAFE

Insurance Commission of
Western Australia

Parliamentary Inspector of
the Corruption and Crime
Commission

South West Development
Commission

Keep Australia Beautiful Council
(W.A.)
Kimberley Development
Commission

PathWest Laboratory Medicine
WA
Peel Development Commission

Landcare Trust

Perth Theatre Trust

Law Reform Commission of
Western Australia

Pilbara Development
Commission

Legal Aid Commission of
Western Australia

Professional Standards Council

State Supply Commission
Swan Bells Foundation Inc
The Aboriginal Affairs Planning
Authority
The Anzac Day Trust
The Board of the Art Gallery of
Western Australia

Western Australian Building
Management Authority
Western Australian Coastal
Shipping Commission
Western Australian Energy
Disputes Arbitrator
Western Australian Greyhound
Racing Association
Western Australian Health
Promotion Foundation
Western Australian Institute of
Sport
Western Australian Land
Information Authority

The Burswood Park Board

Western Australian Meat
Industry Authority

The Coal Miners’ Welfare Board
of Western Australia

Western Australian Planning
Commission

Legal Contribution Trust

Public Transport Authority of
Western Australia

Legal Costs Committee

Public Trustee

Local Health Authorities
Analytical Committee

Quadriplegic Centre

The Library Board of Western
Australia

Western Australian Sports
Centre Trust

Racing and Wagering Western
Australia

The National Trust of Australia
(W.A.)

Western Australian Tourism
Commission

Racing Penalties Appeal
Tribunal of Western Australia

The Queen Elizabeth II Medical
Centre Trust

Lotteries Commission
Metropolitan Cemeteries Board
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Appendix 2

Government Employees
Superannuation Board

Western Australian Treasury
Corporation

Young Lives Matter Foundation
UWA Ltd

Kimberley Ports Authority

Wheatbelt Development
Commission

Request audits

Pilbara Ports Authority

WorkCover Western Australia
Authority
Zoological Gardens Authority

Subsidiaries
Australian Pathways Education
Group Pty Ltd
Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd
Homeswest Loan Scheme Trust
Innovative Chiropractic Learning
Pty Ltd
Keystart Bonds Limited
Keystart Housing Scheme Trust
Keystart Loans Limited
Keystart Support Trust
Murdoch College Properties Pty
Ltd
Murdoch Retirement Services
Ltd
The University Club of Western
Australia Pty Ltd
UWA Accommodation Services
Pty Ltd
UWA Sport Pty Ltd
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Alan and Iris Peacocke
Research Foundation

Mid West Ports Authority
Southern Ports Authority

Local government
audits by transition
year
2017-18

Perth USAsia Centre Pty Ltd

Other legislation

Tertiary Institutions Service
Centre Ltd

Annual Report on State
Finances

Shire of Brookton

The Delegate to the Queen
Elizabeth II Medical Centre
Trust

Bunbury Water Corporation

City of Bunbury

Audits under 		
other legislation

Busselton Water Corporation
Horizon Power – Regional Power
Corporation
Synergy – Electricity Generation
and Retail Corporation

Cemeteries Act 1986

Water Corporation

Albany Cemetery Board

Western Australian Land
Authority

Bunbury Cemetery Board
Chowerup Cemetery Board
Dwellingup Cemetery Board
Geraldton Cemetery Board
Kalgoorlie-Boulder Cemetery
Board

Port Authorities
Act 1999
Fremantle Port Authority
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City of Belmont
Shire of Bruce Rock
Bunbury-Harvey Regional
Council
Town of Cambridge
Shire of Capel
City of Cockburn
Town of Cottesloe
Shire of Cranbrook

Western Power – Electricity
Networks Corporation

Shire of Cue

Subsidiaries

Shire of Dandaragan

South West Solar Development
Holdings Pty Ltd
Synergy Renewable Energy
Development Pty Ltd

Shire of Cunderdin
Shire of Denmark
Eastern Metropolitan Regional
Council
Shire of Exmouth

Vinalco Energy Pty Ltd

Shire of Jerramungup

Vinalco Energy Trust

City of Joondalup
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Shire of Wyalkatchem

Shire of Dowerin

Shire of Murchison

Shire of Kellerberrin

Shire of Yalgoo

Shire of Dundas

Shire of Kondinin

Shire of York

Town of East Fremantle

Murchison Regional Vermin
Council

2018-19

City of Fremantle

Shire of Koorda
Shire of Laverton
Shire of Menzies
Shire of Moora
Shire of Morawa
Shire of Narrogin
Shire of Northampton
Shire of Nungarin

City of Albany
Shire of Ashburton
Town of Bassendean
City of Bayswater
Shire of Boddington
Shire of Boyup Brook

Shire of Gnowangerup
Shire of Goomalling
City of Gosnells
City of Greater Geraldton
Shire of Halls Creek
Shire of Irwin
City of Kalamunda

Appendix 2

City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder

Shire of Nannup
City of Nedlands
Shire of Northam
Shire of Northampton
Shire of Nungarin
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Shire of Pingelly
Shire of Serpentine-Jarrahdale

Shire of Perenjori

Shire of BridgetownGreenbushes

City of Perth

Shire of Broome

Shire of Katanning

Pilbara Regional Council

City of Busselton

Shire of Kojonup

Shire of Ravensthorpe

City of Canning

Shire of Kulin

Rivers Regional Council

Shire of Carnamah

City of Kwinana

City of Rockingham

Shire of Christmas Island

Shire of Lake Grace

Shire of Sandstone

Town of Claremont

Shire of Meekatharra

Shire of Cocos (Keeling) Islands

City of Melville

Shire of Coorow

Shire of Merredin

Shire of Tammin

Shire of Corrigin

Shire of Mingenew

Western Metropolitan Regional
Council

Shire of Three Springs

Shire of Cuballing

Town of Mosman Park

Shire of Westonia

City of Wanneroo

Shire of Dalwallinu

Shire of Mount Magnet

Shire of Wickepin

Shire of West Arthur

Shire of Derby-West Kimberley

Shire of Mukinbudin

Shire of Williams

Shire of Woodanilling

Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup

Shire of Mundaring

Shire of Wiluna

City of South Perth
City of Stirling

City of Karratha

South Metropolitan Regional
Council
City of Subiaco
City of Swan
Shire of Upper Gascoyne
Town of Victoria Park
Shire of Victoria Plains
City of Vincent
Shire of Wagin
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2019-20

2020-21

City of Armadale

Shire of Collie

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River

Shire of East Pilbara

Shire of Beverley

Shire of Esperance

Shire of Broomehill-Tambellup

Shire of Gingin

Shire of Carnarvon

Shire of Kent

Shire of Chapman Valley

City of Mandurah

Shire of Chittering

Shire of Ngaanyatjarraku

Shire of Coolgardie

Shire of Plantagenet

Shire of Dardanup

Shire of Quairading

Shire of Dumbleyung

Tamala Park Regional Council

Shire of Harvey

Shire of Toodyay

Shire of Leonora

Shire of Wandering

Shire of Manjimup

Shire of Waroona

Mindarie Regional Council

Shire of Wongan-Ballidu

Shire of Mount Marshall

Shire of Wyndham-East
Kimberley

Shire of Murray
Shire of Narembeen

Shire of Yilgarn

Town of Port Hedland
Shire of Shark Bay
Shire of Trayning
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Appendix 3: Guidance issued to public sector entities in April 2020

316
Office of the Auditor General | Annual Report 2019-2020

141

Appendix 4: Acronyms
AAS

Australian Accounting Standards

JAC

Joint Audit Committee

ACAG

Australasian Council of Auditors General

KPI

key performance indicator

AFP

Australian Federal Police

LG

local government

AQMC

Audit Quality Monitoring Committee

MOU

memorandum of understanding

ARMC

Audit and Risk Management Committee

NAIDOC

CA ANZ

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand

National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance
Committee

DAIP

disability access and inclusion plan

OAG

Office of the Auditor General

DoF

Department of Finance

OCC

Office Consultative Committee

EFOC

Estimates and Financial Operations Committee

OSH

occupational safety and health

Executive

Executive Management Group

PAC

Public Accounts Committee

FTE

full time equivalent employee

PDR

performance development and review

GCC

general computer control

PID

public interest disclosure

GESB

Government Employees Superannuation Board

TAFE

technical and further education

GSS

Gold State Superannuation Scheme

TI

Treasurer’s Instructions

GST

Goods and Services Tax

W3C

World Wide Web Consortium

IPSAM

Integrated Public Sector Audit Methodology

WA

Western Australia

IS

information systems

WSS

West State Superannuation Scheme

IT

information technology
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Appendix 5: Glossary
Accountability is traditionally
established when Parliament
confers responsibility on public
sector entities to account
through a Minister of the
Crown for all that is done in the
exercise of their authority, the
manner in which it is done and
the ends sought to be achieved.
Annual Report on State
Finances is a report
prepared in accordance with
the Government Financial
Responsibility Act 2000 that
provides the State’s whole-ofgovernment financial results for
the financial year and outlines
material differences between
these results and the financial
forecasts contained in the State
Budget for that financial year.
Assurance audit or financial
audit is audit work performed
to enable an opinion to be
expressed on the financial
statements of a State or local
government entity. For State
government entities, it also
includes audit work to enable
an opinion to be expressed
on their controls and key
performance indicators.

Audit includes to examine,
investigate, inspect and review.
Clear audit opinion is
expressed when the audit
concludes, based on the
audit evidence obtained, that,
in all material respects, the
financial statements are free
from material misstatement
and, if necessary, the key
performance indicators are
relevant and appropriate and
fairly represent indicated
performance, or controls are
adequate.
Corporatised entities operate
under enabling legislation in a
similar manner to companies
under the Corporations Act
2001.
Department means a
department of the public sector
established under the Public
Sector Management Act 1994.
Effectiveness indicators are
key performance indicators
that provide information on
the extent to which entity
level government desired
outcomes have been achieved,
or contributed to, through the
delivery of services.

Efficiency indicators are
key performance indicators
that generally relate services
to the level of resource inputs
required to deliver them.
Financial statements are
a structured set of financial
information including
explanatory notes derived
from accounting records to
communicate for a period
of time an entity’s financial
performance and cash flows,
and at a point of time its
financial position, that is useful
to a wide range of users in
making economic decisions.
Focus area audit are audits
which assess how well public
sector entities perform common
business practices and related
controls. They are carried out
as an extension of our annual
financial audits.
A follow-up audit reviews
the extent to which
recommendations from a
previous performance audit
have been implemented,
generally 3 to 5 years after
tabling a report.

A follow-on audit examines
the progress in implementing
recommendations from
a previous report and
has additional scope in
covering significant issues or
developments in the area or
activity.
Key performance indicator
(KPI) is information about
critical or material aspects
of service performance or
outcome achievement.
Key performance indicator
audit is an audit performed
to enable an opinion to be
expressed about whether or not
the key performance indicators
are relevant and appropriate
having regard to their purpose
and fairly represent indicated
performance.
A local government entity
(LG entity) is one of the 139
local governments or 9 regional
councils in Western Australia.
Management letter is a letter
to senior management of an
entity that conveys the audit
findings and results of an audit.
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It may include recommendations
for improvements in controls
and other matters.
Outcomes are the
effect, impact, result on
or consequence for the
community, environment or
target clients of government
services.
Performance audits are audits
that examine efficiency and
effectiveness of public sector
entities.
Public sector entities is the
collective term for all Western
Australian State and local
government entities.

Statutory authority means
a person or body specified in
Schedule 1 of the Financial
Management Act 2006. These
entities are established by
Parliament under legislation for
specified purposes.
Treasurer’s Instructions (TI)
are prescribed requirements
at a minimum level with
respect to matters of financial
administration that have the
force of law and must be
observed by State government
entities under the Financial
Management Act 2006.

Service means the supply of
an activity or good to a user
external to the entity providing
the service. Services comprise
programs and outputs.
A State government entity
is a Western Australian
government department
or agency, parliamentary
department, statutory authority,
university or State training
provider, superannuation fund,
corporatised entity, cemetery
board or subsidiary entity
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Our auditors out and about
Our people travel across Western Australia to conduct audits of State and local government entities. This year some of the places our
teams visited included Geraldton for the Central Regional TAFE financial audit, the Cocos (Keeling) Islands for their local government
financial audit and Broome for our performance audit on waste management.
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Office of the
Auditor General
for Western Australia
Street address		
7th Floor, Albert Facey House			
469 Wellington Street Perth		
Mail to
PO Box 8489				
Perth BC WA 6849
T 08 6557 7500
E info@audit.wa.gov.au
www.audit.wa.gov.au
@ OAG_WA
Office of the Auditor General
for Western Australia
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Item 6.5 ATTACHMENT 1

TOWN OF MOSMAN PARK - STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER - SUMMARY - NOVEMBER 2020
#

Identified Risk

1 Disruption to community service

2 Town’s reputation is damaged

# Cause

4 Damage/Loss of environment

6 Inability to influence expenditure

3

12

High

b Industrial relations issues
- jurisdictional uncertainty
- staff on strike
c Changes in technology/disrupters/cyber attacks

2

3

6

Moderate

3
3
3
3
2

3
3
4
2
5

9
9
12
6
10

Moderate
Moderate
High
Moderate
High

4
1
2

3
5
4

12
5
8

High
Moderate
Moderate

3
2
2
2
3
2
2
4
3
3

3
3
3
5
3
4
3
1
2
2

9
6
6
10
9
8
6
4
6
6

Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
High
Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
Moderate

3
3
2
2

3
3
3
5

9
9
6
10

Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
High

a Inconsistency in record keeping and poor/inconsistent use of Synergy, results in
loss of records for FOI purposes, records not easily found

3

4

12

High

a Mismanagement/negligence of community infrastructure
b Non-compliance with Bushfire, Health Acts and Building Codes
c Poor planning for public events and projects

1
2
2

5
5
5

5
10
10

Moderate
High
High

a Media hype

a Environmental changes including major natural disasters, man-made disasters,
asbestos contamination
b Crime
c Terrorism
d Inadequate maintenance due to anticipated infrastructure deterioration not
reflective of actual deterioration
e Limited or no grants from State or Federal Government
a
b
c
d

Urban forest/bushland not maintained
Disease
Erosion of coastal dunes
Erosion of riverwall

a
b
c
d

Councillor or staff significant fraud/misappropriation of assets
Non-compliance with Local Government Act
Non-compliance with Fair Work Commission, EEO
Poor management and understanding of planning related legislation eg. Building
Act, Swan and Canning Rivers Act
a Poor contractual arrangements
b Legal Challenges

7 Corruption of Councillors or staff

a Low ethical standards

8 Death and disability of staff, contractors, councillors,
or volunteers on-the-job
9 Poor record keeping and systems management

a Non-compliance with OSH Act

10 Death and disability of members of the public

Risk
Assessment

4

e Contamination/salinity issues with or limited groundwater
5 Financial Loss

Residual
Risk

a Ineffective/inefficient organisation: lack of resourcing (IT and staffing), poor
relationships, poor leadership, rates increases insufficient/rate capping

b Significant PR issues: volunteers, Councillors, staff, residents
c Political influence of prominent residents
3 Damage/ deterioration to Town’s infrastructure

Likelihood Consequence
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